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Creating opportunities
and adding value in Central Asia

Who We Are
An international natural resources group with its main
operations in Kazakhstan and the surrounding countries of
Central Asia. We are one of the leading copper companies
in the world but also have significant interests in zinc, silver,
gold, power generation and petroleum.

Our Vision
Is to develop ourselves as a leading natural resources company
in Central Asia, combining international best practice with the
exceptional mineral opportunities available in the region.

Our Objective
Is to deliver value for shareholders and maintain a strong social
commitment to our workers and the communities around us.
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Directors’ Report: Business Review

Operational and non-financial
• Demand for copper remained steady

throughout the year

• Production of copper cathode
equivalent increased to 343 kt,
slightly ahead of 2007

• Progress in diversification
• Stake in ENRC PLC increased to 26.0%

from 14.6%
• Acquisition of Ekibastuz GRES-1,

making Kazakhmys the largest
power producer in Kazakhstan

Financial
• Group EBITDA excluding special items

down 12% to $2,056 million

• EPS based on Underlying Profit of $2.27

• Net debt of $1,628 million at year end

• Gross debt of $2,200 million

• Cash and deposits of $572 million

• Undrawn committed credit facilities
of $200 million

• ENRC holding valued at $2.17 billion1

1 As at 27 March 2009.
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Kazakhmys at a glance: Our Divisions

Creating value and opportunity

Our core business is the production
and sale of copper, which is a fully
integrated process from mining
ore through to the production of
finished copper metal. Kazakhmys
is the 10th largest producer
of copper in the world. The
production and sale of finished
copper represents around 80%
of Group mining revenue.

Group Copper and other metals

Top10
Global copper production
ranking

20%
The largest power supplier in
Kazakhstan, providing over 20%
of national power production

Copper
Kazakhmys Copper has 20 mines and 10
concentrators spread across four regional
units: Zhezkazgan, Balkhash, Karaganda
and the East Region. Zhezkazgan and
Balkhash each have a copper smelter,
with Balkhash including a precious metals
refinery and zinc refinery. There are two
low-risk copper development projects
at Aktogay and Boschekul. This wide
range of long-life copper assets gives
the Group a high degree of flexibility
in planning production.

In the Karaganda Region there are two
coal mines which supply the Copper
Division’s three captive power plants.
Each region produces a different range
of by-products – most of the silver comes
from Zhezkazgan, while zinc and gold are
mainly produced by the other regions.

Gold
Kazakhmys Gold is a separate division,
consisting of two gold mines in eastern
Kazakhstan and three gold/silver
development projects in Kazakhstan
and neighbouring countries.

• Production will be reduced in 2009
to around 300 kt of copper cathode
equivalent, reflecting lower metal prices.

• $200 million of cost savings and
$250 million of capital expenditure
savings identified for 2009.

• 4 higher-cost mines suspended at start
of 2009, with matching adjustments in
processing facilities.

• Copper sales contracts for 2009
complete.

Operational outlook:

343kt
of copper cathode equivalent
produced in 2008

137kt
of zinc in concentrate produced

16,752koz
of silver produced, of which 16,710 koz
was by-product in the Copper Division

180koz
of gold produced, of which 124 koz
was by-product in the Copper Division

Principal operations
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Power Petroleum MKM

Principal operations

In April 2007 the Group acquired
Dostan-Temir, which holds the petroleum
exploration rights for a 602 km2 block
in western Kazakhstan. A programme
of seismic testing and drilling work is
underway to define the reservoir prior
to further drilling. Drilling of the first well
will be completed in early 2009 and there
are plans for two more during the year.

Principal operations

MKM, based in Germany, was acquired
in 2004. MKM is a standalone operation,
which purchases copper from
independent traders, and produces and
sells a variety of semi-finished copper
and copper alloy products. These consist
of wire, flat tubes and bar products for
a wide range of industrial uses. MKM has
been concentrating on the sale of higher
value products and on improvements
in working capital management.

Principal operations

On 29 May 2008 the Group concluded
the acquisition of the Ekibastuz GRES-1
coal-fired power plant, the largest power
station in Kazakhstan. This plant
originally with eight turbines, has a
potential capacity of 4,000 MW, but
currently just five turbines are working
with an operating capacity of 2,250 MW.
As the market develops, the Group
intends to invest in the plant and return
it to its original nameplate capacity.
The Group also has three captive plants
managed within the Copper Division. In
total, the Group currently provides over
20% of Kazakhstan’s power generation.

Operational outlook:

• Demand may reduce in 2009 with lower
economic activity.

• Government of Kazakhstan is:

• developing the electricity infrastructure
to create a more self sufficient power
market; and

• committed to creating an environment
that encourages investment in power
production.

• 3D seismic testing is complete meeting
licence obligations.

• Interpretation of data scheduled
to be finalised by the end of June 2009.

• Results of the first well expected during
the first half of 2009.

• Construction and auto markets likely
to remain weak in 2009.

• Infrastructure product market may
be supported by stimulus packages.

Operational outlook: Operational outlook:

10,402GWh
of electricity produced at Ekibastuz
GRES-1 compared to 8,864 GWh in 2007

2.42KZT/kWh
average tariff, an increase of 24%

4
out of 4 shallow wells completed
meeting licence obligations

GVA1

increased 6% to €161 million

€6.7million
record profit before tax2 for the year

Deep well programme
on track

1 Turnover less input cost of copper
2 Under German accounting standards
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Kazakhmys at a glance: Our Markets

Well positioned for key markets
Operating environment
Kazakhstan has several key advantages for
future development. The land is naturally
resource rich, with extractable deposits of
a wide range of natural resources. The location
and transport links are ideal for supplying
several key commodity and power markets,
including China, Europe and Russia.

Germany

UK
Strong relationships with key clients
Kazakhmys has developed long-term relationships with key
customers in the surrounding markets. These relationships
help provide a stable flow of sales.

Competitive position
The integrated structure and broad asset base of Kazakhmys,
combined with proximity to end markets, makes the Group
a relatively low-cost provider of its principal products and
creates flexibility in both production and sales.

Diversification
Diversification is a key part of the Group’s strategy. In 2008 the
Group acquired Ekibastuz GRES-1, the largest power station in
Kazakhstan, and increased its holding in ENRC, the Kazakh bulk
commodities company, to 26%.

Low-risk growth projects
The Group has several key low-risk growth projects – particularly
the copper projects at Boschekul and Aktogay and the
expansion potential of the Ekibastuz GRES-1 power plant.

Power

Location of operations: Kazakhstan

• 4 power plants
• 3 coal mines

Main markets:
• Kazakhstan has a fragmented
power market due to
insufficient infrastructure.
• Currently work is taking place
to improve the connections
between the generating
capacity in the North and the
demand in the South.

• There are three captive
power plants that supply
power to the Group’s copper
operations.
• Ekibastuz GRES-1 sells power
to third parties, with around
85% to domestic customers
and the balance to Russia.

Copper

Location of operations: Kazakhstan

• 20 mines
• 10 concentrators
• 2 copper smelters

Main markets:
• Around 80% of copper is sold
under annual contracts, which
fix volume but not price.
• Sales are generally divided
between China and Europe,
and Kazakhstan is an ideal
location for serving both of
these markets.

• Customers are a mix of end
users and traders.
• Most customer relationships
are long term and the Group
has been selling into China
for over 10 years.
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Copper
mine/project

Coal mine

Power plant

Gold
mine/project

Petroleum
project

Gold Petroleum MKM

Location of operations: Kazakhstan,
Kyrgyzstan and Tajikistan

• 3 mines
• 3 development
projects

Main markets:
• Refinery in Balkhash treats most of the
Group’s by-product precious metals
which are then sold to Europe.
• The Gold Division has a gold doré
processing plant and the output is
sold to European fabricators.

Location of operations: Kazakhstan

• 1 exploration block

Main markets:
• The operations are still in the
development stage.
• Substantial existing infrastructure for
local market and export, given the
major oil and gas development projects
in Kazakhstan.

Location of operations: Germany

• 1 finishing and
refining operation

Main markets:
• MKM sells a range of semi-finished
copper and copper alloy products.
• Sold to a wide range of fabricators,
for use in construction, infrastructure,
automotive and other industrial uses.
• Principal markets are in Europe and
the Middle East.
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2008 was a solid operational year for
the Group. Production of copper, at
343 kt of copper cathode equivalent
from our own mines, was slightly
above 2007 and the target we set at
the start of the year. Our growth and
diversification initiatives included the
acquisition of Ekibastuz GRES-1, the
largest power plant in Kazakhstan, and
an increase in our holding in ENRC PLC
to 26.0%

Vladimir Kim Chairman

Chairman’s Statement
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2008 summary
2008 was a solid operational year for the Group. Production of
copper, at 343 kt of copper cathode equivalent from our own
mines, was slightly above 2007 and the target we set at the start
of the year. Our growth and diversification initiatives included
the acquisition of Ekibastuz GRES-1, the largest power plant in
Kazakhstan, and an increase in our holding in ENRC PLC to 26.0%.
Good progress was made on the pre-feasibility studies at our
major growth projects.

External conditions changed significantly during the year as the
problems that started in the financial markets spread to the wider
economy. These changes were seen in the copper price, which
started the year at $6,666 per tonne, before reaching a high of
$8,985 per tonne at the beginning of July. Copper finished the
year at $2,902 per tonne. Despite solid production and sales, the
reduction in price had a direct impact on revenues. Volatile input
prices also served to squeeze profit margins.

Strategy
Our long-term strategy remains the same as that set at our
Listing in 2005 – to optimise the performance of our assets,
deliver our growth projects and to take advantage of natural
resource opportunities in Central Asia. The strategy is being
applied flexibly, to take account of current conditions. During
2009 the primary focus will be on the first part of our strategy,
asset optimisation. The aim is to conserve cash and ensure
the long-term growth and success of the Group.

We will reduce our capital expenditure in 2009 and will cut back
or suspend production at operations where margins do not justify
extraction of resources in the current price environment. This will
reduce copper output in 2009 but help maintain profit margins
and preserve our resources. We have begun a change management
programme within our Copper Division. This programme will aim
to further improve production techniques and reduce costs in
addition to those reductions already identified.

Funding
Balance sheet strength and credit availability have become areas
of focus across stock markets. At the end of the year, we reported
cash and deposits of $572 million plus an undrawn committed
credit facility of $200 million. Net debt was $1,628 million at
the year end.

8.5 kt of copper product has been hedged for each month in
2009. This is an action that the Group has not previously taken.
These transactions will offset the negative impact if copper prices
fall below $3,000 per tonne, at the cost of sacrificing upside
should the price rise above $4,000 per tonne.

Growth projects and diversification
The major copper growth projects, at Aktogay and Boschekul,
have made good progress over the year, supported by Fluor
as consulting engineers. Both projects will complete their
pre-feasibility studies in the first half of 2009, at which point
they will be evaluated by the Board. Neither project will incur
significant cash expenditure in the current year.

We increased our holding in ENRC PLC and are now their largest
shareholder with a 26.0% stake compared to 14.6% at the start
of the year. Most of the increase resulted from a share swap with
the Government of Kazakhstan, resulting in the Government
becoming a shareholder of Kazakhmys, with an interest of 15%.

ENRC is a major mining company, listed in London, but operating
in Kazakhstan. They have a different suite of metals from us,
producing iron ore, aluminium and ferrochrome. Longer term

we believe that this holding diversifies our earnings and presents
us with strategic options.

In May 2008 we completed the purchase of the Ekibastuz GRES-1
power station. Combined with our three existing power plants,
we are now the largest power provider in Kazakhstan, with over
20% of the country’s generating capacity. Lower economic activity
may impact demand in the Kazakh power market in 2009, but the
power market is typically more stable than commodity markets
and our low-cost position is attractive. Longer term, we believe
that the power sector has significant potential, with the need for
higher tariffs to allow capital investment in power plants and
infrastructure. Ekibastuz, with its significant dormant capacity,
is central to the future growth of the Kazakh power market.

In October 2008 we announced that we had signed a
memorandum of understanding with Samruk-Energy JSC, the
Government investment company which invests in energy related
projects. The intention is to consider a strategic partnership and
joint ownership of Ekibastuz. Such a partnership could bring benefits
of access to additional coal resources and greater integration with
Kazakhstan’s energy development and transmission programmes.
Should any agreement be reached, it will be subject to appropriate
regulatory and shareholder approval.

2009 sales
In 2009 our contracted sales of copper cathode, our principal
product, should again be evenly split between Chinese and
European markets. The successful completion in January 2009
of the annual sales contracts with our customers, for material to
be delivered in 2009, indicates that there is still demand for our
products even in the current slow economic environment. These
contracts account for around 80% of anticipated production and
are backed by some key long-term relationships. I should like
to thank our customers for their continued support.

Corporate and social responsibility
The success of our Group is principally due to the efforts of our
employees and on behalf of the Board I would again like to thank
them for their support over the year. In this challenging environment
we have agreed with the Government of Kazakhstan to try to limit
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Our long-term strategy remains
unchanged:

• to optimise the performance
of our assets;

• to deliver our growth projects;

• to take advantage of natural
resource opportunities in
Central Asia.

For 2009 our primary focus is on
asset optimisation.

Our strategy
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Chairman’s Statement continued

redundancies that might arise from production cutbacks. We
believe this is in the best interests, and long-term success,
of the Group and will help social stability.

It is disappointing to report that there has been an increase to 32
fatalities in 2008, compared to 23 in 2007. 2009 has had a poor
start to the year, with 8 fatalities to date. Several initiatives are
being developed, including the completion of the training school
in Satpayev and the appointment of several new specialists.
Health and safety remains a key area of concern for the Board.

We continue to play a major role in the communities around us
and in 2008 spent $121 million on community related projects.
We have also carried out some major environmental initiatives,
including the commissioning of an acid plant in Balkhash, which
will reduce emissions. At Ekibastuz we will be investing around
$160 million on precipitators at the eight turbines, which again
will improve air quality.

The Board
In November we announced the appointment of Daulet
Yergozhin to the Board, as a representative of the Government,
following the share swap mentioned above. In December
we sadly announced the death of Jim Rutland, our Senior
Independent Director and chairman of the Audit Committee.
Jim played a vital part in helping to prepare Kazakhmys for
its IPO and, since Listing, in ensuring the Group’s compliance
with International Financial Reporting Standards and with the
Combined Code on Corporate Governance.

On 5 March 2009 we announced the appointment of Peter
Hickson as a non-executive Director and we will appoint a further
non-executive Director in due course, to maintain the balance
of the Board.

Share price and dividends
As noted above, metal prices were higher in the first part of the
year and this was reflected in a dividend paid at the half year of
14.0 US cents per share. Given the subsequent reduction in prices,
the continued market uncertainty and the emphasis on conserving
cash, the Board does not recommend the payment of a final
dividend. This is in keeping with the dividend policy set at
the time of Listing, to take account of the profitability of the
business and cash requirements. Since Listing we have returned
$1,349 million to shareholders, including a special dividend of
$235 million and a share buy-back programme of $391 million
commenced in 2007, when metal prices were higher.

The share price followed the trends in the copper price over
the year, which is to be expected, as 98% of EBITDA from
managed businesses excluding special items came from the
Copper Division. The share price was 231 pence at the end
of 2008, compared to a high of 1,943 pence on 19 May 2008.
At 27 March 2009, our holding in ENRC PLC was worth
$2.17 billion representing 73% of our total market capitalisation.

Outlook
We believe that the long-term outlook for copper is positive.
A significant number of new projects around the world are now
unlikely to be delivered, which will reduce future supply and put
upward pressure on prices. On the demand side, the wide range
of uses for copper gives it a strong base for long-term growth.
The Power Division also has excellent potential, with a clear need
for capacity and tariffs to rise in Kazakhstan. Our strategy remains
unchanged and Kazakhstan and Central Asia continue to offer
exceptional opportunities in the development of resources.
2009 will undoubtedly be a challenging year and in the current
environment we are committed to pursuing our strategy and
business management in a prudent manner, to conserve cash
and to ensure that we are positioned to deliver value to all
of our stakeholders in the future.



Chief Executive’s Review

Copper and power production summary for 2008
As mentioned in the Chairman’s Statement, 2008 was a solid
operational year for the Group. The first quarter of 2008 saw
severe winter conditions and metal production throughout the
first half was lower than 2007, but a combination of focused
management and improved equipment availability meant that the
targets were recovered during the second half of the year. Ore
extraction in 2008 increased by 5% to 35,675 kt. The rise in ore
output is reflected in the higher copper in concentrate production,
which increased 7% to 371 kt.

Copper cathode equivalent production, from own material,
was 343 kt, ahead of 2007 and previous guidance. Cathode
production of 340 kt was in line with 2007 but an additional 3.5 kt
of copper in concentrate (cathode equivalent of 3.3 kt) was sold
without being converted to metal. These trial sales of copper
concentrate were started in 2008. The concentrate market offers
considerable potential, particularly in China, where there is spare
smelting capacity. We need to develop our understanding of this
market, especially as our new growth projects move forward.

The 17% increase in generated electricity at Ekibastuz GRES-1,
during 2008, was driven by growing demand from the market
within Kazakhstan during the first half of the year. However, major
industrial customers reduced electricity consumption at the end
of 2008, as they lowered production in response to lower metal
prices. This reduction resulted in a decrease in demand and
output during the latter part of 2008 and demand in 2009 is likely
to be below the level of 2008.

www.kazakhmys.com 9
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Oleg Novachuk Chief Executive



Key risks
The significant risks faced by the Group are set out on pages
48 to 50, including the framework that is used to identify and
monitor risk. Mining and the commodities industry always
carry particular geological, political and environmental risks,
all of which are carefully monitored. A failure of financial

markets to increase liquidity will continue to impact on
economic growth, metals prices and our ability to fund
projects. This will restrict our cash flows and, therefore,
we will continue to seek to conserve cash, rather than
pursuing our broader strategy.

Return on capital employed (ROCE)
%

19

38

61

37

33

08

07

06

05

04

Copper equivalent production
from own material kt

343

341

368

339

405

08

07

06

05

04

Cash costs of copper after
by-product credits USc/lb

116

33

9

34

27

08

07

06

05

04

Group EBITDA excluding special items
$ million

2,056

2,336

2,308

1,074

791

08

07

06

05

04

Free Cash Flow
$ million

715

895

1,327

450

405

08

07

06

05

04

Earnings per share based on
Underlying Profit (EPS) $

2.27

3.02

3.00

1.31

0.93

08

07

06

05

04

Relevance to Kazakhmys
We monitor how efficiently we use our
capital with the objective of delivering
ROCE in excess of our weighted average
cost of capital

How we measure it
Profit from all operations before taxation
and finance items, excluding special
items, as a percentage of the average of
opening and closing capital employed

Relevance to Kazakhmys
We consider this measure as the
main operational indicator as copper
is a homogeneous product with a
world-wide market

How we measure it
Copper cathode equivalent produced
from own ore either as refined copper
cathodes or as recoverable copper in
concentrate or residues

Relevance to Kazakhmys
EPS tells how much net profit is
attributable to equity shareholders

How we measure it
Profit before special items, and their
resulting tax and minority interest
impact, divided by the weighted
average number of ordinary shares
in issue during the period

Relevance to Kazakhmys
We monitor the Group’s cash flows
which can be used to fund returns to
shareholders and invest in the future
growth and development of the business

How we measure it
Net cash flow from operating activities
less sustaining capital expenditure on
tangible and intangible assets

Relevance to Kazakhmys
Measures the performance of the Group
in maintaining its low-cost base whilst
maximising revenues through the sale
of by-products

How we measure it
Total of Kazakhmys Copper cash
operating costs excluding purchased
concentrate less by-product revenues,
divided by the volume of copper
cathodes sold

Relevance to Kazakhmys
We regard this as a measure of the
underlying profitability of the Group

How we measure it
EBITDA is earnings before interest,
taxation, depreciation, depletion and
amortisation, as adjusted for special
items in subsidiaries, and including the
share of EBITDA of the associate

The Group delivers its strategy against the objectives set out on page 13.
It also uses a range of performance indicators to measure the growth and
performance of the Group over time.
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Measuring our progress



In March 2009 we announced the early completion of the
agreement with AES, the previous owners of Ekibastuz GRES-1,
who had continued to manage the facility under contract. Full
management of Ekibastuz GRES-1 and the Maikuben West coal
mine will transfer to Kazakhmys in the second quarter of 2009,
ahead of the previously arranged time of December 2010. The
earnout fees payable to AES under the contract have been
reduced accordingly.

Financial summary for 2008
As mentioned in the Chairman’s Statement, copper pricing was
firm for the first 10 months of the year, with an average LME price
of $7,638 per tonne and a range of $3,686 to $8,985 per tonne.
Pricing declined sharply in the last two months of 2008 to
$2,902 per tonne at the year end. There is a graph detailing the
movement in the copper price on page 22. The average realised
price for the year was $6,714 per tonne, compared to $7,175 per
tonne in 2007 and this resulted in copper turnover of $2.6 billion
compared to $2.8 billion for the year before. Overall revenue for
the Group declined 2% to $5,151 million.

Costs rose sharply through the year, reflecting the general
trend in commodity prices and inflationary impacts in Kazakhstan.
Coupled with a reduction in by-product revenues, these factors
led to an average unit cash cost during the year of 116 US cents
per lb, compared to 33 US cents per lb in 2007. Although some of
the input costs have now started to decline, this had not occurred
at the end of 2008, which squeezed profitability in the last quarter
of the year. This is seen in Group EBITDA, excluding special items,
which fell 12% to $2,056 million.

Reflecting the current economic environment and lower asset
values in the sector, there have been impairment charges of
$400 million, principally relating to the Copper and Gold
Divisions. These are non-cash items and do not materially impact
the core business. Further details are set out in the Financial
Review commencing on page 38. There has also been a release
of $146 million of deferred tax liabilities following the introduction
of a new tax regime in Kazakhstan.

EPS, excluding special items, declined 25% to $2.27 per share.
This reflects the squeeze on profit margins and was impacted by
the increased number of shares in issue during the period.

Our principal five-year debt facility, of $2.1 billion, was arranged
in February 2008. The principal will be repaid at $44 million per
month, starting from March 2009. Interest on the facility was set
at 125 basis points (or 1.25%) over US$ LIBOR, however, most of
this has been switched to a fixed rate of just under 2.3% for 2009.
If debt markets return to more normal conditions, we will seek to
place some of this debt on a longer-term maturity.

Credit risk from customers has been a major issue in many
markets over the past six months. The Group has not experienced
any rise in credit issues and the payment terms that we use for
selling our commodities, where material is paid for in advance
or with letters of credit from reputable banks, suggest that we
should be able to manage this risk even in the event of continued
economic weakness.

In 2008 the Government of Kazakhstan developed a new tax code,
details of which are set out on page 40. A main aim of the code
was to reduce corporation tax and encourage broader commercial
development in Kazakhstan. For mining companies, a new Mineral
Extraction Tax (MET) largely offsets the reduction in corporation tax
and replaces the existing royalty payments. Being revenue based,
the new tax is relatively insensitive to profitability and becomes
particularly aggressive at current metal prices. The Government
has adopted a pragmatic approach in this environment and is also

consulting with industry representatives on an appropriate basis
for deferring the MET. Unprofitable mines will probably pay a lower
MET, at a level similar to previous royalty payments. The headline
rate of corporation tax in 2009 will be 20%, falling to 15% in 2011,
compared to 30% in 2008.

Copper Division production and cost outlook for 2009
Cathode output from own material in 2009 is likely to reduce by
around 10% to 15%, due to several actions that we are taking,
following a general review of operations. Output has been
suspended at four mines, Belousovsky, North Nurkazgan, Kounrad
and Akbastau, which in 2008 accounted for 15% of copper in ore.
Other higher cost mines are being kept under review.

Total capital expenditure in the Copper Division was $592 million
in 2008. Expenditure has been significantly revised for 2009 and
is likely to be $250 million lower. Capital expenditure has been at
relatively high levels in the past two years, with a particular focus
on capital equipment, so that a reduction in spending in 2009
should not impact on short-term output.

As mentioned above, input costs have started to decline,
specifically fuel and steel, after some sharp price inflation during
2008. Labour costs were also rising during the first half of 2008,
with Kazakh inflation running at an annual rate of around 19%
at mid year. By the year end, Kazakh inflation had declined to an
annual rate of 9.5%. Wage increases will be kept to a minimum
in 2009, given the less competitive labour market.

Current conditions predict that unit costs in 2009 should be
comparable with 2008. Lower input costs, operational efficiencies
and lower volumes should reduce costs by at least $200 million.
This excludes the impact of the Kazakh tenge (KZT) devaluation
set out below. In addition to mine suspensions, the operational
review also considered processing and smelting. In several
regions, the flow of material is being adjusted to minimise
transportation costs. Both concentrating and smelting capacities
will be reduced to match the lower ore output and to enhance
productivity. The zinc refinery at Balkhash has been suspended
as zinc concentrate can be sold more profitably than in-house
produced metal. Some of the copper smelting facilities were due
for maintenance shutdowns in 2009 and these have been brought
forward to match ore throughput.

Costs in 2009 will also benefit from the devaluation of the KZT,
compared to the US$, which took place in February 2009. In 2008,
the currencies traded at approximately KZT120:$1. A new band
has been set by the National Bank of Kazakhstan at KZT150:$1.
As around 40% of costs in the Copper Division are paid in KZT,
this should create cost savings in the region of $100 million. This
will be slightly offset by lower profitability of around $15 million
from the Power Division, where tariffs and revenues are set in KZT.

Two factors are likely to work against unit costs in 2009. The revenue
received from by-products may be affected by lower metal prices.
Zinc had an average LME price of $1,870 per tonne in 2008,
compared to a current price of $1,283 and silver was $15 per
ounce compared to a current price of $13. Gold prices are slightly
higher than last year’s price of $872 per ounce. Cash costs will be
negatively impacted if by-product prices remain below the average
level of last year. The reduction in copper cathode output to
300 kt, will spread fixed costs over a smaller volume, again working
against the cost reductions seen elsewhere.

The implementation phase of our operational improvement
programme within our Copper Division was launched in February
2009. There are currently eight work streams, which are focused
on the East Region. This programme will require modest capital

www.kazakhmys.com 11

D
irecto

rs’R
ep

o
rt:B

usiness
R

eview



12 Kazakhmys Annual Report and Accounts 2008

investment, but it will improve production techniques and reduce
costs with a relatively short pay-back period. The programme
has been in development since early 2008, but in the current
environment has become particularly important.

Alongside this programme we are working with Worley Parsons
to develop our project management capability. This includes
access to specialists to help improve in-house skills, particularly
in the delivery of our capital projects.

Production of other metals within the Copper Division
in 2008 and outlook for 2009
Copper rod is produced to demand and output reflected strong
demand from the Chinese market during 2008. Rod production
currently has a relatively low profit margin when set against
cathode sales and may be reduced in the current economic
climate. The annual production of zinc in concentrate and zinc
metal benefited from an increase in extraction of zinc bearing
ores in the East Region.

As mentioned above, the zinc refinery has been suspended. This
closure will not impact the availability of material for sale, as there
continues to be good demand for zinc concentrate in Central Asia
and China. The total output of zinc in concentrate in 2009 is
unlikely to differ significantly from 2008.

The apparent decrease in annual silver production is due to a high
level of work in progress at the year end, compared to last year.
This will be processed in 2009. Silver output in 2009 is expected
to decline due to lower ore volumes.

Gold production in 2008 was assisted by production from the
Akbastau mine, which opened in early 2008, and higher output
of gold rich ores at the Orlovsky mine. Total gold output in 2009
is likely to be similar to 2008.

Copper growth projects
The Group has two major copper growth projects, Aktogay and
Boschekul. These are both in pre-feasibility stage, which are being
managed by our project team alongside Fluor. Work has been
continuing over the year defining the ore bodies and improving
the estimates of development cost and economic return.

The pre-feasibility study for Aktogay should be completed in the
first half of 2009 and Boschekul by the start of the second quarter.

On completion of the pre-feasibility studies the Board will review
whether to take the projects forward to feasibility stage, which
would last around 12 months, before a final decision after the
completion of feasibility studies, on whether to develop the
mines. These projects are suitable for partnership and project
financing. In the current environment, the move to feasibility
stage may be delayed unless partners and external sources of
committed funding are identified. It is unlikely that the Group
would incur capital expenditure of more than $25 million for
the growth projects in the current year.

Kazakhmys Power outlook for 2009
As mentioned above, demand may reduce in 2009 reflecting
lower economic activity in Kazakhstan.

In 2009, capital investment of less than $100 million will focus
on the overhaul of Unit 5 bringing it to 500 MW capacity and
the installation of electrostatic precipitators, which reduce ash
emissions allowing increased power generation and improved
air quality. Negotiations are continuing to secure suitable
project finance partners for the remainder of the programme,
which includes the rehabilitation and refurbishment of the
non-operational Units (1, 2 and 8) and the installation of
precipitators in all units.

MKM
MKM managed its business well in 2008, in a difficult trading
environment. The strategy of focusing on higher value products
and improved management of working capital has been
successful. 2009 will probably continue to be challenging, with
little sign of any improvement in the construction and auto sectors.
The infrastructure markets may be supported by the considerable
stimulus packages being put together by numerous governments.

Kazakhmys Gold
Annual ore extraction was in line with the previous year due to
increased output from the Mizek Oxide mine earlier in 2008 offset
by the closure of the Zhaima mine in September 2008. Zhaima
finished mining operations in late 2008, as the ore body was
exhausted, though processing of the extracted Zhaima ore will
continue into 2009.

Output in 2009 may be slightly lower than in 2008, with the
absence of production from Zhaima. The feasibility study at
Bozymchak, in Kyrgyzstan, is nearing completion and the project
shows robust economics. Funding alternatives are being evaluated
and until these are decided there will be limited further financial
commitment. It would take at least 18 months to complete the
project, so that the earliest production could be in the second
half of 2010.

At the Akjilga silver project in Tajikistan, further work is being
carried out defining the ore body, before moving towards
a formal scoping study.

The total resources of gold equivalent at Kazakhmys Gold have
increased from 2.3 Moz to 2.5 Moz. The main impact being drilling
works carried out at Bozymchak.

Kazakhmys Petroleum
The main focus of the exploration activity is the Eastern Akzhar
section, where the 3D seismic survey remains on track. The
processing of the field data was completed at the end of August
2008 and is now being followed by the interpretation of data
which is scheduled to be finalised in early 2009. The results of the
survey will be used to plan the location of future new deep wells
in 2009 and 2010.

Whilst the 3D seismic data is being analysed, drilling of a duplicate
well started at the end of July 2008. At the year end, 4,511 metres
out of a projected 5,200 metres had been drilled. The duplicate
well is scheduled to be completed and tested in early 2009.

ENRC
With the holding of ENRC increased to 26%, the stake is now equity
accounted, so that our share of their earnings is included in our
consolidated earnings. This accounting treatment does not affect
the cash contribution of the holding, which remains dependent
on dividends paid by ENRC which were $38 million in 2008.

Summary operational outlook
The long-term outlook for copper remains positive, but 2009 will
be a challenging year. In order to protect margins and preserve
the long-term strength of the business, we are taking decisive
action across the Group. Mining output has been reduced and
power output will be lowered in response to market demand.
Capital expenditure and cost savings have been found across
all our businesses. New capital commitments will be kept to
a minimum and we are actively seeking financing opportunities
for our projects, which may extend some project timetables.
We believe that this will assist the business now and position
us well for an upturn as and when it comes.

Directors’ Report: Business Review
Chief Executive’s Review continued
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We aim to be a leading natural resources company in Central Asia,
combining international best practice with the exceptional mineral
opportunities available in the region. Our long-term strategy is based
around three key objectives, with asset optimisation our priority for 2009.
Underpinning these priorities is our commitment to operating responsibly.

East Region
Our change programme,
launched in 2009, aims to
improve productivity and
reduce costs

Asset optimisation
to control costs through improved
efficiency and targeted expansion

Boschekul
This copper project
offers significant growth
potential for the Group

Organic growth
to secure the long-term success of
the Group by delivering our major
growth projects

Power
The acquisition of
Ekibastuz gives us access
to the rapidly growing
electricity market

Diversification
to diversify our earnings base through
the expansion of resource assets in
Central Asia

16

18

14

Satpayev
Our new training facility
is helping us to raise
standards in health and
safety.

Responsibility
behind our strategy is a commitment
to operate responsibly taking account
of our employees, the environment
and communities around us

20

Our strategy in action



14 Kazakhmys Annual Report and Accounts 2008

Optimising
performance:
East Region

Our strategy in action
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East
Region

“The change programme is a
key part of our strategy of
optimising our assets and will
be important to the future
development of the Group.”

Vladimir Jumanbayev
Head of the Corporate
Development Centre

The idea of a change programme was
established in early 2008 and the first pilot
projects were launched in early 2009. We
are reviewing existing working methods,
to define new approaches and as a result,
improve productivity and reduce costs.
The change team consists of around 40
people and members have a wide range
of skills, from mining to project
management. I was previously Chief
Financial Officer of the Copper Division
and the team is principally drawn from
experienced Kazakhmys employees,
though we have also recruited some
additional individuals with specific

international experience in key areas such
as metallurgy, production, maintenance
and human resources.

As Kazakhmys is such a large organisation,
the change programme will start in the
East Region, where we will test and
develop new operating and management
techniques – before taking these to the
rest of the organisation.

The programme consists of three stages.
The project initiation was completed in
August 2008, during which the scope
and basic plan of the programme was
established. In the second, or design

and planning stage, the projects were
identified and developed. At this point,
specific teams were created to lead their
projects in 2009. During 2010, successful
change initiatives will be rolled out across
the other regions of Kazakhmys.

We believe that the change programme
will be a key part of our strategy of
optimising our assets and will be
important to the future development
of the Group. It is a great challenge as
it requires changes in working culture,
as much as technical procedures, but
the potential rewards are significant.
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Organic growth:
Boschekul

Our strategy in action
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Boschekul

Kazakhmys Projects is responsible for all
new major mining developments within
Kazakhmys and is based in Karaganda –
the industrial centre of Kazakhstan. We
have a total team of 81 people, and work
alongside our key external contractors
including Fluor, SRK and AMC. The same
team manages the project at Aktogay.

Boschekul is a major copper growth
project, 270 km east of Astana. It is
currently in the pre-feasibility stage which
will be complete in the first half of 2009.

The eastern part of the ore body has
the potential to increase the resource
to around 1,300 MT of ore with 4.0 MT
of copper. We are currently carrying
out an extensive drilling programme
to report the total resource under
international classification standards.

From this work we will be able to obtain
sufficient data to define the resource
body and develop the optimum mine
plan, utilising 3D block modelling software.
At present we envisage a 25 to 30 MT

per annum open pit mine and onsite
concentrator, which, in addition to
copper concentrate, will also produce
gold and molybdenum in concentrate
as by-products.

Approval of the pre-feasibility study by
the Board, would then lead to a feasibility
study, which will take up to 12 months.

4.0m
coppertonnes of

from
1,300 million tonnes of ore

“Boschekul is a copper
project in the early
stages of development,
with significant growth
potential.”

Alexander Li
Deputy Head of Kazakhmys Projects
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Diversification:
Power

Our strategy in action
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Ekibastuz

produced
in 2008

10bn
kWh

The electricity market has been growing
rapidly in Kazakhstan and although
growth may slow down in this economic
environment, the current expectation
for our production in 2009 is around
9 billion kWh.

Ekibastuz is the key plant in the country
for allowing Kazakh capacity to expand
to match demand, particularly as the
resource industry continues to grow.
When constructed, Ekibastuz GRES-1
was the largest power station in the Soviet
Union and remains today a significant
global power producer, employing
around 995 people.

Last year Ekibastuz GRES-1 generated
10.4 billion kWh which represented
14% of all the electricity generated
in Kazakhstan. 85% of this was sold in
the local market and the remainder was
exported to Russia. The station was built
to run on coal from the local Bogatyr coal
mine, which is able to extract around
47 MT per annum.

To increase capacity at Ekibastuz will
require capital investment of over $1billion.
This includes around $160 million to be
spent on precipitators which will improve
air quality, benefiting the local community
and allowing increased output.

Nikolay Korobovsky
General Director – Ekibastuz GRES-1

“The acquisition of
Ekibastuz in 2008 has
been key to Kazakhmys’
diversification strategy.”

Potential capacity to meet
expected growth in demand

Ekibastuz GRES-1
current capacity
2,250MW

Ekibastuz GRES-1
potential capacity
4,000MW
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Operating
responsibly

Our strategy in action



Satpayev

“The new Kazakhmys
training facility in Satpayev
is a key development in
raising standards in health
and safety.”

In 2008 the Training Centre in Satpayev
moved to a new building and came
together with the new Technological
College, both funded and constructed by
Kazakhmys. The new college, which cost
$5 million, is unique in Kazakhstan in both
its size and facilities.

I came to the Kazakhmys Training Centre
in 2007 after 25 years of experience in
electrical engineering in the mining
industry. I started in 1976 as a tunnelling
mechanic and worked at the Zhezkazgan
Complex for many years.

We currently train around 900 students
each year at the Centre in a wide range
of mining specialities. The Centre also
provides additional professional retraining
for Kazakhmys employees. As well as
operational training, the Centre helps
provide health and safety training for
employees and aims to improve health
and safety in the Zhezkazgan Complex
facilities through research and the
incorporation of best practice. The
curriculum includes initial health and

safety training for all newly recruited
workers at the Zhezkazgan Complex,
and the regular operational retraining of
all Zhezkazgan employees. We will train
around 24,000 workers a year, which
includes at least one annual course
for every regional employee.

We have some excellent facilities
including virtual simulators for training
operators of load-haul-dump units,
dump-trucks and excavators. There is a
training ground covering all technological
processes of ore mining including practice
overground and underground operations,

with a ‘dummy’ underground mine,
equipped with relevant mining
equipment. There is much work to be
done on health and safety, but raising
training standards, particularly amongst
new recruits, is an important first step.

www.kazakhmys.com 21

Kozhakhmet Abishev
Deputy Director, responsible
for field work (training)

workers trained
each year

24,000
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Copper
The copper market rebounded in the first half of 2008 reversing
the decline in prices seen towards the end of 2007. Strong
underlying fundamentals of continued demand growth,
particularly from China, were supported by supply side events,
such as the labour strikes in Chile and lower than expected mine
production due to power and equipment shortages. These factors
helped LME copper prices rise from $6,666 per tonne at the start
of 2008 to a high of $8,985 per tonne in July.

Copper prices moved lower in August as global growth slowed
and the US dollar strengthened. During the remainder of the year,
copper prices fell as concerns over the level of growth in China,
one of the key drivers of the recent commodity boom, intensified.
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Global economy
The first half of 2008 was dominated by concerns over
the health of the world economy, with evidence of slowing
growth and rising unemployment. There were record prices
for food, fuel and other commodities. The second half of the
year saw the global slowdown spread to China and a further
deterioration in the European and North American economies.
Concerns over the ability of certain financial institutions to
continue to operate has led to government interventions and
a significant reduction in the availability of credit. Equity markets
around the world reflected a lack of confidence in the economic
outlook, recording large falls in value during 2008. Commodity
markets have also been impacted, with the price rises of the
past few years reversed over the second half of 2008.

The outlook for 2009 is challenging with a near term recovery
largely dependent on the effectiveness of policymakers’
stimulus packages in restoring confidence.

The Kazakhstan economy
Kazakhstan’s economy has grown strongly over the past
decade with economic and structural reforms undertaken since
1991 supporting the country’s natural resource and agriculture
sectors. This period of growth has enabled Kazakhstan’s
Government to accumulate a substantial foreign currency
reserve, with which it has been providing support to those
sectors particularly impacted by the downturn, including ongoing
measures to support the domestic banks. The availability of
international money market capital for Kazakhstan’s banks has
reduced, making refinancing more challenging. The decline
in oil prices and commodities has had a direct impact on
Kazakhstan’s economy with sharply reduced tax revenues
being paid to the Government. The construction sector,
which had been enjoying a boom over the past few years,
has also slowed significantly.

The Kazakhstan tenge has been trading at 120 KZT to the US
dollar throughout 2008, following a slow appreciation over the
previous couple of years. In February 2009, the National Bank
announced that it would support the tenge at a lower level of
150 KZT to the US dollar, resulting in the devaluation of the
tenge to this level.

Kazakhmys’ earning streams will
benefit from increasing diversification.
The medium-term outlook for copper
remains attractive.

Copper overview

• Copper is one of the best heat and electricity conductors
among metals

• It is 100% recyclable, with infinite recyclable life

• It is corrosion resistant

Copper consumption can be divided into three main product
groups: copper wire rod, copper products and copper alloy
products. Copper wire rod accounts for an estimated 53% of
total global consumption. In general, copper and copper alloy
products are consumed in five sectors: construction, electrical
and electronic products, industrial machinery and equipment,
transportation equipment and consumer goods.

35%

32%

12%

11%

10%

Source: Brook Hunt

Global copper consumption by sector

Construction

Electronic products

Industrial machinery

Transport

Consumer products
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An outflow of fund capital from commodities into cash and
government bonds contributed to copper finishing the year at
$2,902 per tonne, a 68% fall from the high during the year. The
average copper price only declined by 2% from $7,126 per tonne
in 2007 to $6,952 per tonne in 2008, which highlights the disparity
between the strength in copper in the first half of 2008 and the
weakness in the second half.

The global consumption of refined copper is estimated to have
increased by 0.6% in 2008 to 18.0 MT with production estimated
to have grown by 2.3% to 18.5 MT. Chinese refined copper
consumption is forecast to be 8% higher in 2008 at 5.0 MT
growth, albeit at a slower rate than the 16% achieved in 2007.

The Brook Hunt forecast for 2009, which includes China’s
announced RMB 4 trillion ($586 billion) stimulus package
to accelerate infrastructure development, is for growth in
consumption of 5% to 5.2 MT. With Chinese refined copper
production expected to be 4.5 MT, an import requirement
of 0.7 MT is anticipated.

In western Europe, Kazakhmys’ other main market, consumption
is expected to contract by 3% from 3.5 MT in 2008 to 3.4 MT
in 2009. This forecast reflects the impact of the current economic
environment on western Europe’s economy, including continued
weakness in the car manufacturing and construction sectors.
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Source: Brook Hunt
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Global refined copper consumption
kt

17,936

18,032

17,919

17,445
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16,968

17,029

Actual
Estimated

Source: Brook Hunt

Kazakhmys utilises its proximity and train links to China and good
infrastructure links to Europe to sell into both markets. Sales into
both markets will continue in 2009 to a combination of traders
and end users. Kazakhmys contracted the majority of its 2008
cathode production under annual agreements. The pricing of
sales were based on the LME price plus a premium to reflect the
terms of trade. During 2008, Kazakhmys sold a small quantity
of copper concentrate into China on a trial basis. Further sales
of copper concentrate are expected to be made in 2009.

2004

2005

2006

2007

2008
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2010

Western Europe refined copper consumption
kt

3,354

3,501

3,661

3,923

3,321

3,565

3,797

Actual
Estimated

Source: Brook Hunt
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Zinc
The general downward trend in the price of zinc, which began in
2006, persisted through 2008 as the market moved to oversupply.
This was accentuated by the economic downturn in the second
half of the year as zinc is mainly used to galvanise steel, which
suffered from a substantial slump in demand.

The average LME price in 2008 was $1,870 per tonne, a
42% decline from the average of $3,250 per tonne in 2007.
Zinc finished the year at $1,121 per tonne, down 53% from
$2,384 per tonne at the beginning of the year.

The zinc market is expected to be oversupplied in 2009 despite
reductions in output with current prices below the cost of
production for a number of mines. The demand for zinc will be
largely determined by the speed of recovery in the US, Japan,
Europe and China.

During 2008, Kazakhmys sold zinc metal principally into China and
Europe, and sold zinc concentrate locally within Kazakhstan and
into China. In 2009, the zinc metal smelter has been suspended,
with Kazakhmys taking advantage of favourable commercial terms
to sell zinc concentrate in greater volumes into China. The pricing
for both zinc metal and zinc concentrate is based on the LME
price at the time of sale.

Precious metals
Gold prices in 2008 reflected the metal’s status as a safe haven
in times of economic uncertainty. Gold was the only one of
Kazakhmys’ main metals to record a price increase in 2008, rising
3% from the beginning of 2008, and an average price 25% higher
than in 2007 at $872 per ounce. The metal reached a high of
$1,011 per ounce during March 2008 when inflationary pressures
and economic concerns peaked.
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Gold prices are forecast to remain well supported at current levels,
although weaker physical demand and slowing inflation may limit
any further price gains. Gold output from Kazakhmys Copper which
is produced as a by-product will be sold to traders based in Europe
in 2009 under annual contracts, with pricing based on the LBMA
price at the time of sale. In 2009, Kazakhmys Gold will sell gold
doré under contract to a third party with the gold content of the
doré priced with reference to the LBMA, less certain refining charges.

Silver enjoyed high prices over the first half of the year before
falling back during the second half of 2008 due to weak industrial
demand. The LBMA silver price ended 2008 at $10.8 per ounce,
a decline of 28% from $14.9 per ounce at the beginning of the
year. The silver price averaged $15.0 per ounce in 2008 which
was above the average for 2007 of $13.4 per ounce.

With silver’s high industrial usage, the prices are expected to
remain depressed until industrial output recovers. Kazakhmys will
sell silver to both end users and traders based in Europe in 2009,
principally under annual contracts, with pricing based on the
LBMA price at the time of sale.
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Sensitivity analysis on prices
Fluctuations in commodity prices can have a significant impact
on Kazakhmys Copper’s revenue and earnings. Any changes
in commodity prices have a direct effect on the revenues of the
Kazakhmys Copper business, with consequential impacts on
earnings and the cash cost of copper resulting from changes
in by-product credits.

The approximate effect on the profit before taxation and finance
items resulting from a 10% movement in commodity prices is
shown in the table below. These sensitivities are based on 2008
figures and assume that all other variables remain constant. They
are estimated calculations only.

Kazakhmys Copper commodity price sensitivity

Average realised price Impact of 10%
during the year ended movement

31 December % price on profit
2008 2007 movement $ million1

Copper 6,714 7,175 (6%) 236
Zinc 1,787 3,237 (45%) 15
Silver 14.66 13.27 10% 20
Gold 878 695 26% 8

1 Profit before taxation and finance items.

Kazakhmys Power
The electricity market in Kazakhstan is divided into three grids:
northern, southern and western. Kazakhmys’ Ekibastuz GRES-1
coal-fired power station is located in the northern grid, also home
to many electricity intensive industrial users within Kazakhstan.
The northern and southern grids are linked by a transmission line,
although the current capacity restriction requires the south to
import energy from abroad with the northern grid exporting
excess electricity to Russia. The western grid operates
independently and is not connected to either the northern or
southern grids. A consortium including KEGOC is planning to
link the western grid and also to increase the capacity of the
transmission line between the northern and southern grids.

During the 1990s, electricity generation capacity in Kazakhstan
decreased but this was reversed from 2000 as investments were
made into the power supply to support the growing economy.
However, the rate of consumption growth has been outstripping
supply increases, such that Kazakhstan faces moving from being
a net exporter of power to becoming a net importer unless
substantial investment is made.

Historically, Kazakhstan has had some of the cheapest electricity
in the world with heavily regulated tariffs. To encourage investment,
tariffs have been moving upwards, however they are subject to
considerable regulation with an effective tariff freeze imposed
in the first quarter of 2008 on all domestic sales. The tariff freeze
was lifted in the second quarter, moving industrial customers
in the northern grid to market prices. Prices to southern users
remain controlled and the rate of increase that can be applied
to northern residential customers is restricted. In 2009, legislation
has been enacted which formalises the regulation of the
Kazakhstan electricity market, allowing price ceilings to be set.

The Ekibastuz coal-fired power plant has a current available
capacity of 2,250 MW and generated 14% of Kazakhstan’s total
electricity output in 2008. Ekibastuz GRES-1 sells power in
Kazakhstan under a combination of annual and quarterly contracts.
Approximately 15% of Ekibastuz GRES-1 electricity was sold into
Russia in 2008. The devaluation of the Russian rouble had made
electricity export sales from Kazakhstan less competitive towards
the end of 2008, however the recent devaluation of the tenge
may enable sales to Russia to continue in 2009.

In late 2008, the slowdown in global economic growth led
to major cutbacks in output from a number of energy intensive
industrial plants in Kazakhstan. This led to the growth in
tariffs slowing as excess supply has come on to the market.

In the current economic climate there is expected to be pressure
on demand and tariff growth along with increased competition
in the electricity market during 2009. In the longer term, once
industrial demand recovers, the outlook for tariff and demand
growth in the electricity market remains encouraging, reflecting
the limited supply and growth in demand from the industrial and
consumer sectors.

Ekibastuz GRES-1 has three dormant generating units which
can be brought on-stream at a much lower cost and in a shorter
timeframe than greenfield development. While Kazakhmys is
well placed to take advantage of demand growth in the electricity
market, generation capacity will only be increased where
economic conditions support such an investment.
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Comparison of global electricity prices in 2007
USc/kWh

15.74

13.16

12.62

11.43

22.89

11.16

10.35

9.28

8.54

7.11

6.95

6.60

6.18

3.56

2.50

1.80

Source: NUS Consulting Group, Deutsche Bank (5 February 2008)

www.kazakhmys.com 25

D
irecto

rs’R
ep
o
rt:B

usiness
R
eview



Review of Kazakhmys Copper
Copper Division at a glance

Operations comprise:
Mines1 20

Concentrators 10

Smelters1 2 copper, 1 precious metals,
1 zinc, 1 rod

Railways 1,000 km

Power stations 3

1 Following the fall in commodity prices, operations have been suspended
at three mines and the zinc smelter.

Kazakhmys Copper production summary
Copper
kt (unless otherwise stated) 2008 2007

Ore output 35,675 33,967
Copper grade (%) 1.26 1.22

Copper cathodes from own concentrate 340 341
Copper cathodes from own concentrate
equivalent1 343 341
Copper cathodes from purchased
concentrate 38 39
Copper rod production 48 36

1 Includes copper sold as concentrate.

Ore extraction grew by 5% in 2008 driven by an improved
performance from the majority of Kazakhmys Copper’s 20 mines.
The measures taken to address equipment availability in late 2007
and during 2008, including the creation of strategic stocks of spare
parts, were effective in reducing downtime and raising output.

The growth in ore volumes in 2008 was achieved against
a backdrop of reduced output from the South mine following
flood damage in September 2007 (2008: 3.3 MT, 2007: 5.2 MT),
West Nurkazgan largely exhausting open pit extraction (2008:
0.6 MT, 2007: 1.8 MT) and Kosmurun also exhausting open pit
extraction (2008: 0.3 MT, 2007: 1.5 MT). In response to these
factors, Kazakhmys Copper brought into production a number of
new assets including Akbastau, an open pit mine in the Karaganda
Region (2008: 2.4 MT, 2007: nil), Abyz mine, closed for the past
two years and re-opened in 2008 (2008: 0.4 MT, 2007: nil) and
the addition of the new open pit operations at the North mine
in Zhezkazgan (2008: 3.8 MT, 2007: 2.4 MT).

The copper grade was higher than in 2007 as output from the
Karaganda Region grew 10% at a copper grade of 2.13% and
East Region production was 15% higher at a grade of 2.82%,
including 24% more ore from the Orlovsky mine at a grade of
4.99%. The decision to focus on the extraction of copper rich
ores in 2008 was partially at the expense of by-product content.

The improved operational
performance in 2008 led to ore output
rising 5%. Copper cathode equivalent
production, from own concentrate,
was higher than the prior year.

Summary of EBITDA excluding special items

$ million 2008 2007

Group 2,056 2,336

Kazakhmys Copper 1,597 2,234

Kazakhmys Gold 19 6

Kazakhmys Power 42 –

Kazakhmys Petroleum (1) (1)

MKM (1) 34

Share of EBITDA of ENRC 429 –

Corporate unallocated (29) 63

Group EBITDA in 2008 was $2,056 million, 12% lower than
in 2007. Despite equity accounting ENRC’s earnings from
the middle of 2008, this result reflects a weaker second half
performance as commodity prices fell rapidly for Kazakhmys
Copper. Kazakhmys Power, acquired in May 2008, made a
positive contribution to the Group’s EBITDA in the period.
MKM, the downstream copper processing business, recorded
negative EBITDA as a result of the revaluation of inventory
under IFRS as the copper price fell from $6,666 per tonne at the
beginning of January to $2,902 per tonne at the end of 2008.

Kazakhmys Copper accounted for 78% of Group EBITDA
in 2008, down from 96% in 2007 with the addition of EBITDA
from the ENRC holding and Kazakhmys Power. Going forward,
an increased contribution from Kazakhmys Power and a full
year’s equity accounted earnings from ENRC should result
in an increased diversification of earnings.

Summary of EBITDA excluding special items

Kazakhmys Copper

ENRC

Other

78%

21%

1%
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Copper in own concentrate production was 7% greater than
in the prior year reflecting the higher volumes of ore extracted
and the change in copper grade. The production of cathodes
from own material was in line with the prior year as stocks of own
concentrate finished the year higher. For the first time in recent
years, copper concentrate was sold rather than processed into
cathode with 3.5 kt of copper in concentrate shipped into China
on a trial basis. This is equivalent to 3.3 kt of copper cathodes,
which, if produced internally, would have resulted in own cathodes
marginally exceeding output in 2007.

Purchased concentrate is acquired locally in Kazakhstan
dependent on commercial terms and the availability of processing
capacity. In the reduced pricing environment, negotiations are
continuing with suppliers on the pricing formula, the outcome of
which will determine if copper concentrate is acquired in 2009.

The Zhezkazgan smelter is undergoing a technical review, which
has resulted in one of its two furnaces being closed in 2009.
The copper concentrate that is not processed at Zhezkazgan
due to capacity constraints will be shipped by rail to the Balkhash
smelter for processing or sold as copper concentrate into the
Chinese market.

Copper rod, which is produced to customer order, increased
markedly in 2008 reflecting demand from China. Output in 2009
is expected to be significantly below that of 2008 as downward
pressure on rod premiums will result in cathodes being sold rather
than processed further into rods.

The decline in commodity prices during 2008 has led Kazakhmys
Copper to review mining operations at a number of sites. North
Nurkazgan open pit (part of the Nurkazgan mine), Kounrad and
Belousovsky mines have been suspended due to their relative
high cost of production. Akbastau, whilst still profitable at current
prices, has been suspended ahead of construction of a new
concentrator on the site which will process ore from both the
Akbastau and Kosmurun underground mines when they are
complete. In addition, a number of changes to ore transportation
routes have been made to reduce costs. In 2009, the cutback
in operations may lead to a reduction in own copper cathodes
output to approximately 300 kt.

Zinc
kt (unless otherwise stated) 2008 2007

Zinc grade (%) 3.10 3.87

Zinc in concentrate 137 133
Zinc metal 48 45

In 2008, the East Region, from where over 80% of zinc metal is
extracted, saw ore output rise significantly leading to the higher
production of zinc in concentrate compared to the prior year.
The Karaganda Region, Kazakhmys Copper’s other zinc producing
region, reported zinc metal in ore output at a similar level to the
prior year but at a much lower zinc grade. The ore from the newly
opened Akbastau mine, with an average grade of 0.63%, halved
the region’s grade from 2007 to 2008.

Processing bottlenecks in 2008 particularly impacted ore from the
Abyz mine which has been stockpiled at the Karagaily concentrator.
Kazakhmys Copper is working to fine tune the concentrating process
at Karagaily to maximise the recovery of all the metals contained
in Abyz ore, which is especially rich in gold and zinc by-products.

Of the 137.3 kt of zinc in concentrate produced in 2008, 41.4 kt
was produced on a toll manufacturing basis by a third party from
Artemyevsky mine ore. This arrangement will continue whilst it
remains attractive compared to internal processing alternatives
at the Nikolayevsky concentrator. A significant quantity of zinc
in concentrate was sold in 2008 as the zinc refinery’s output level
was at its operating capacity. In 2009, taking into consideration
the pricing available for zinc concentrate, the zinc refinery’s
operations have been suspended with all zinc production to
be sold as concentrate.

Precious metals
koz (unless otherwise stated) 2008 2007

Average silver grade (g/t) 21.05 20.52
Silver own production 16,710 18,985

Average gold grade (g/t) 0.85 0.90
Gold own production 124 113

Silver output from the precious metals refinery at Balkhash was
12% below the level achieved in 2007, largely due to the timing of
processing of work in progress material. Silver metal in ore output
from Zhezkazgan was also slightly lower than in 2007, however this
was made up by the East Region where Artemyevsky and Orlovsky
mines in particular recorded higher silver production than in the
prior year.

Gold production in 2008 benefited from a large increase in output
from the Orlovsky mine, where the gold grade rose from 0.59 g/t
to 0.98 g/t and ore volumes were 24% higher at 1,528 kt. In the
Karaganda Region, the exhaustion of open pit mining at the
Kosmurun mine was compensated by gold output from the
Akbastau and Abyz mines, although delays in processing ore at the
Karagaily concentrator resulted in a build-up of ore to be cleared
in 2009. Due to higher production in 2008 from Akbastau, a mine
with a low gold grade, the overall average gold grade declined.

Support services
Kazakhmys Copper’s vertical integration includes three coal-fired
power and heating plants at Karaganda, Balkhash and Zhezkazgan,
with a total capacity of 900 MW. The Karaganda plant supplies
energy to Kazakhstan’s national grid enabling other Kazakhmys
Copper operations to receive electricity at only the cost of
transmission. The total output in 2008 decreased compared to
2007 from 6,409 GWh to 5,910 GWh. The power and heating
plants are supplied fuel by Kazakhmys Copper’s two coal mines.

The transportation department’s assets include over 1,000 km
of railway, a fleet of 100 locomotives and 800 wagons which are
managed on an outsourced basis to transport ore, concentrate
and cathodes. In the East and Karaganda Regions there is less
railroad infrastructure and Kazakhmys Copper operates road
haulage fleets. A number of these routes have been outsourced
to third party suppliers.
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EBITDA
Included within EBITDA is $143 million of income arising from
closing out LME forward copper contracts in December 2008. This
hedging programme was undertaken in August 2008 to manage
a Quotational Period difference on intra-group purchases and
third party sales. The gain arose as copper prices fell sharply over
this period. All the positions were closed by the year end.

The growth in commodity prices over the past few years has led
to continued inflationary pressures within the natural resources
sector. In addition, Kazakhstan’s rapid economic growth in recent
years has created competition for skilled workers. Rising costs and
5% greater ore output volumes, particularly from higher cost
mines, have led to Kazakhmys Copper’s cost of sales, excluding
purchased concentrate, to increase in 2008. A lesser factor in cost
inflation was the appreciation of the tenge by 1.8% against the US
dollar when comparing the average exchange rate in 2008 to 2007.

Within cost of sales, fuel costs rose sharply, partly driven by the oil
price which in 2008 peaked at $145 per barrel and also by greater
consumption. This was compounded by the East Region, which
has less rail infrastructure requiring greater transportation by truck,
raising output, as did the Akbastau mine which has a long road
haulage route. During early 2008, winter outages at Kazakhmys’
power stations also required considerable fuel to restart the boilers.

The cost of consumables used in the production process rose
significantly as input prices were historically high during most of
2008. For example, steel balls, used in the milling process, track
the price of steel which spiked during 2008. Chemical reagents
used in concentrating, lubricants and other oil based products,
also saw historically high pricing.
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Kazakhmys Copper financial summary

$ million (unless otherwise stated) 2008 2007

Sales revenues: 3,227 3,588

Copper cathodes 2,272 2,516
Copper rods 314 251
Zinc (metal and concentrate) 149 325
Silver 251 256
Gold 109 80
Other 132 160

Average realised price of copper ($/tonne) 6,714 7,175

EBITDA excluding special items 1,597 2,234

Net cash costs excluding
purchased concentrate (USc/lb) 116 33
Gross cash costs excluding
purchased concentrate (USc/lb) 191 130

Capital expenditure 592 470
Sustaining 362 230
Expansionary 230 240

Revenues

Kazakhmys Copper’s sales revenues decreased by 10% from
$3,588 million in 2007 to $3,227 million in 2008. The volumes
of copper cathodes and rods sold were in line with the prior year,
reflecting similar production volumes, however the realised
copper price was 6% lower at $6,714 per tonne. This average
realised copper price was lower than the LME average of
$6,952 per tonne as 54% of cathode and rod sales occurred in
the second half of the year, when the LME average copper price
was only $5,831 per tonne.

The sale of greater volumes of zinc metal and zinc concentrate
compared to the prior year did not offset the 45% lower zinc
realised price as revenues from zinc fell by $176 million. Revenues
from silver benefited from a higher average LBMA price in 2008 of
$15.0 per ounce, although reduced sales volumes led to 2% lower
silver revenues. Gold revenues rose by 36% to $109 million, driven
by a combination of improved sales volumes and the LBMA gold
average for 2008 being 25% higher than in the prior year.

Other revenue is made up of a number of products including
power, coal, lead dust, heating, sulphuric acid and copper
concentrate, of which a small quantity of the latter was sold
into China on a trial basis in 2008.

Copper cathodes

Copper rods

Zinc

Silver

70%

10%

5%

8%

Gold

Other

3%

4%
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Overheads within cost of sales, which include the cost of services
bought in, were subject to suppliers reacting to the continued
strength in commodity prices and demand for their services by
raising prices. As noted earlier, the growth in output at mines with
long road haulage routes contributed to higher costs as volumes
increased, but also associated costs, such as tyres and spare parts,
rose in 2008. Repair expenses were impacted by mining
equipment inflation.

Wage inflation in Kazakhstan was high in 2008 and cost of sales
include the full-year impact of a general salary increase awarded
in late 2007. This was followed by a further salary increase in early
2008 targeted at production staff as the rebound in commodity
prices and continued competition for workers led to considerable
pressure to raise wages.

Selling, general and administrative expenses rose on the prior
year largely due to an increase in social spending. Kazakhmys
Copper supported the creation of a new technical school in
Astana, which should provide skilled labour in the future, as well
as sponsoring the 10th anniversary of Astana city. This spending
reflects the Group’s social commitment in Kazakhstan.

In the fourth quarter of 2008, input prices started to reduce as
suppliers passed on the cost reductions seen in commodity prices.
At the same time the competition amongst mining companies
for services, supplies and capital equipment slowed significantly
allowing Kazakhmys Copper to seek to renegotiate terms with
many of its suppliers.

In common with other miners, the focus over the past few years
has been on maximising production during a period of historically
high commodity prices. During the second half of 2008, Kazakhmys
Copper management developed a number of cost savings initiatives
including suspending output at selected high cost mines, changing
ore routes to reduce transportation costs and carrying out a
detailed review of the usage of consumables. The level of social
spending is under review and cutbacks are expected in this area
in 2009.

The fall in input prices, the cost saving measures taken by
Kazakhmys Copper and the recent devaluation of the tenge
are expected to result in an improved cost position in 2009.

Cash costs
The net cash cost of copper excluding purchased concentrate
rose from 33 US cents per lb in 2007 to 116 US cents per lb in 2008.
The sales volumes in both periods were comparable, but the
higher cash operating costs, together with a fall in by-product
credits, resulted in the cash cost rising significantly.
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Capital expenditure
Sustaining
In 2008, the sustaining capital expenditure increase was largely
focused on mining equipment, the spend on which had been
stepped up in the prior year and contributed to the improved
performance in ore output. Sustaining capital expenditure was
incurred across the operations including the concentrators and
smelters, as well as the support services such as the power
stations and transportation.

Following a substantial spend on new equipment in 2007 and 2008,
a planned reduction in sustaining capital expenditure in 2009
should not have a material impact on achieving the production
plan. Reductions in the cost of capital equipment are expected,
which should also assist in lowering capital expenditure in 2009.

Expansionary
Near and mid-term projects
The Taskura and East Sary-Oba open pits at the North mine
were opened in early 2008 and, also in the Zhezkazgan Complex,
further work was carried out at the Zhomart mine to raise its
output capacity. In the Balkhash Complex, the $130 million
sulphuric acid plant was completed which should lead to a six
fold reduction in sulphur dioxide emissions at the smelter when
it is fully ramped up. The sulphuric acid produced is a valuable
by-product required for a wide range of uses in Kazakhstan.

In the Karaganda Region, the Nurkazgan concentrator was
completed and its ramp up is underway. The West Nurkazgan
underground mine was being developed during 2008 and is
expected to commence output later in 2009. The Karaganda
power station is currently undergoing the installation of a
replacement turbine, acquired in 2008. This will increase its
output and is intended to reduce future capital requirements
at the Balkhash and Zhezkazgan power stations.

The East Region incurred expansionary capital expenditure on
a number of mines to increase their production capacity and
efficiency, including the introduction of conveyors at the Orlovsky
mine. Investments were made at concentrators to improve their
recovery rates, particularly of by-products. During 2008, Kazakhmys
Copper developed a limestone open pit, including the installation
of infrastructure and crushing equipment. This project will provide
limestone for the treatment of any unsold sulphuric acid.

In 2009, the capital programme for discretionary expenditure
has been significantly curtailed following the deterioration in the
commodity markets. There are a number of mid-term growth
projects under consideration including the development of the
Kosmurun underground mine and associated concentrator, East
Sary-Oba, Itauz and Shatyrkul mines, however these projects will
only proceed in 2009 should commodity markets recover and
financing becomes available. The development of the West
Nurkazgan underground mine is expected to continue in 2009.

Growth projects
Kazakhmys Copper has two major long-term expansion projects
comprising the large copper porphyry pits at Boschekul and
Aktogay. A specialist internal team, Kazakhmys Projects, has
been established to assess and develop these deposits, working
alongside the engineering group Fluor, who is acting as the study
contractor. Financing options for both these projects are currently
being explored and large capital commitments are being avoided
until funding is put in place.

Boschekul
The Boschekul sulphide ore deposit, located in the north of
Kazakhstan, has measured and indicated resources of 176 MT
of ore with 1.3 MT of copper although additional drilling work on
the eastern section of the deposit could increase the recognised
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resources significantly. During 2008, the pre-feasibility study has
progressed and is expected to complete in the second quarter of
2009, after which the project is expected to move to feasibility study.

Aktogay
The Aktogay oxide and sulphide ore bodies, in the east of
Kazakhstan, have measured and indicated resources of 1,528 MT of
ore with 6.0 MT of copper. The feasibility study to exploit the oxide
ore which makes up 5% of the total copper content was completed
in 2008. The capital cost of the oxide ore project is currently under
review and is likely to proceed only if the main sulphide project
goes ahead. The sulphide project is undergoing a pre-feasibility
study which is expected to complete in the first half of 2009.

Review of Kazakhmys Gold
Gold Division at a glance

Location of operations Kazakhstan, Tajikistan, Kyrgyzstan

3 mines Mizek Oxide, Mukur and Zhaima

3 growth projects Bozymchak, Mizek Sulphide and
Akjilga

Gold produced in 2008 56 koz

Silver produced in 2008 42 koz

Kazakhmys Gold production summary
6 months ended

31 December
2008 2007

Ore output (kt) 2,014 1,206
Average gold grade (g/t) 1.50 1.52
Gold doré production (koz) 56 33

Kazakhmys Gold completed its first full year in 2008 as part of the
Kazakhmys Group following its acquisition in July 2007. One of
the three mines in operation during the year, Zhaima, ceased ore
output in late 2008 as the ore body is now exhausted, although
residual ore will be processed in 2009. The Mizek Oxide reserve is
expected to be fully exploited by the end of 2009, although residual
ore is expected to be processed until 2011, after which future
production will be limited to Mukur and the development projects.

Further exploration was conducted at the Mukur mine which enabled
more targeted stripping work, thereby improving the stripping ratio
and maintaining gold grades. The gold grade improved at the Mizek
mine due to the extraction of high grade ores.

Gold doré production, which is undertaken using the heap
leaching process, was 9% above the prior year due to the higher
gold grades and the processing of material brought forward from
2007 at the Mukur mine.

Kazakhmys Gold financial summary
6 months ended

31 December
$ million (unless otherwise stated) 2008 2007

Sales revenue 49 25

Average realised price ($/ounce) 878 695

EBITDA excluding special items 19 6

Cash cost ($/ounce) 440 354

Capital expenditure 13 8
Sustaining 3 –
Expansionary 10 8

Revenues
The revenue for the year of $49 million was almost entirely
generated from gold sales. 55.2 koz of gold was sold in the year
at an average realised price of $878 per ounce, compared to
an average LBMA price of $872 per ounce.

EBITDA
EBITDA for 2008 was $19 million, with the cash cost per ounce
increasing by 24% from the 6 months ended 31 December 2007.
Kazakhmys Gold experienced inflationary pressures similar to
those noted for Kazakhmys Copper, however these were partially
offset by reductions in fuel consumption. The volume of stripping
works was increased in 2008 as the mines became more mature.

The development projects in Kyrgyzstan and Tajikistan incurred
almost $2 million of expenses, which were not capitalised in 2008.

In 2009, there will be lower sales volumes as the Zhaima mine will
cease ore output having a negative impact on revenues. Input
costs should be lower and the devaluation of the tenge against the
US dollar will reduce the cost base when presented in US dollars.

Capital expenditure
In 2008, the Gold Division’s capital expenditure was relatively low
as the main focus of development activities were the pre-feasibility
and feasibility studies on its major development project, Bozymchak,
a technical study for Mizek Sulphide and continued exploration
work at Akjilga.

Sustaining
The three operating mines required $3 million of sustaining capital
expenditure in 2008, principally for the purchase of replacement
mining equipment.

Expansionary
Costs were incurred for all three growth projects, with the main
focus on Bozymchak.

Bozymchak
The pre-feasibility study for the Bozymchak gold and copper
deposit located in south western Kyrgyzstan was successfully
completed in 2008 and the feasibility study is nearing completion.
Orders were placed for certain long-lead items, however
additional major procurement has now been temporarily
suspended whilst Kazakhmys explores financing options. Drilling
work carried out in 2008 resulted in the addition of 8.0 MT of
probable reserves at a grade of 1.42 g/t.

Mizek Sulphide
The Mizek site is located in north east Kazakhstan, approximately
340 km from Semey. Technical studies are continuing, however
the procurement of long-lead items, including the construction
of the power lines, have been placed on hold subject to results
of technical studies and financing being secured.

Akjilga
The Akjilga silver and copper deposit is located in Tajikistan.
Drilling equipment was acquired and further exploration work
is being undertaken which will continue in 2009.
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Review of Kazakhmys Power
Power Division at a glance

Location of operations North Kazakhstan

Divisional operations include Ekibastuz GRES-1 power plant
Maikuben West coal mine

Power plant nameplate
capacity 4,000 MW

Power plant current capacity
(as at 31 December 2008) 2,400 MW

Electricity generated in 2008 10,402 GWh

Average 2008 coal
consumption per net
kWh produced 0.73 kg

Kazakhmys completed the acquisition of the Ekibastuz coal-fired
power plant and the Maikuben West coal mine on 29 May 2008.
Both businesses are located in north eastern Kazakhstan.

Ekibastuz GRES-1 is the largest power station in Kazakhstan with
a nameplate capacity of 4,000 MW. Output is provided by up to
eight units, of which only five are operational at the current time.
As at 31 December 2008, the plant’s available capacity (net of
house load) was 2,250 MW. Conditional on future electricity tariff
increases in Kazakhstan, Kazakhmys intends to restore the plant
to its original nameplate capacity.

The power station is located 25 km from the Bogatyr mine,
the principal source of coal supply in north eastern Kazakhstan.
The Bogatyr mine is jointly owned by United Company RUSAL
and Samruk-Energo JSC, the energy division of the Kazakh
Government’s investment holding company, and supplies
approximately 80% of Ekibastuz’s coal needs. The balance of
Ekibastuz GRES-1 coal needs is met by the Maikuben West coal
mine which is 65 km from the power station. The Maikuben West
coal mine is an open cast coal mine with reserves of over 20 years
producing approximately 4 MT per annum.

Under the terms of the sale and purchase agreement, Kazakhmys
retained AES Corporation, the previous owner, on a management
service contract for the power station and coal mine during 2008.

Kazakhmys Power production summary

2008 2007

Net power generated (GWh) 10,402 8,864
Net power generated
attributable to Kazakhmys1 (GWh) 5,774 –
Net dependable capacity (MW) 2,013 1,913

Coal extraction (kt) 3,600 3,420
Coal extraction attributable
to Kazakhmys1 (kt) 2,170 –

1 Period from acquisition on 29 May 2008.

Ekibastuz GRES-1’s net power generation was 5,774 GWh in the
period since Kazakhmys acquired ownership and the total output
for 2008 was 17% higher than in the prior year. The growth in
output is demand driven, with power consumption from industrial
and domestic users rising in Kazakhstan until the fourth quarter.

At the start of 2008, Ekibastuz GRES-1 had spare capacity to
materially increase production in response to greater demand.

Output dropped back after the winter period ended, before rising
again in May and June as other stations carried out maintenance
work. In the fourth quarter, output was expected to grow due to
a combination of greater demand and cold weather, but, due to
industrial users scaling back production, the power station
operated at a reduced capacity level.

The completion of refurbishment work on Unit 6 during 2008 led
to the average net available capacity rising from 1,913 MW to
2,013 MW (net of house load), ending the year with an available
capacity of 2,250 MW (net of house load). The extensive
maintenance work performed during 2008 led to operational
efficiencies at the plant, lowering the fuel consumption to net
generation ratio and raising the duration of unit running times
without forced outages.

During 2009, further operational improvements are expected
as the overhaul of Unit 5 is undertaken. Output will be demand
dependent with the outlook for the first part of 2009 lower than
the same period in 2008.

Kazakhmys Power financial summary
$ million (unless otherwise stated) 2008

Sales revenues1 156

Average tariff price (KZT/kWh) 2.42

Average cost (KZT/kWh) 1.72

EBITDA excluding special items1 42

Capital expenditure1 39
Sustaining 4
Expansionary 35

1 Period from acquisition on 29 May 2008. Comparatives are not shown for the
period prior to Kazakhmys ownership.

Revenues
The electricity generated by Ekibastuz GRES-1 is sold externally
to a combination of business and residential customers.
Approximately 15% of the output is exported to Russia under
long-term contracts, with the balance sold within the Kazakhstan
domestic market. Of the Kazakhmys Power revenue, $123 million
was attributable to electricity sales, with the remaining $33 million
from external coal sales made by the Maikuben West coal mine.
The average electricity tariff for 2008 was 2.42 KZT/kWh, up from
1.95 KZT/kWh in 2007, driven by further deregulation of the
electricity market and strong demand from within Kazakhstan.
The rate of tariff increases slowed at the end of 2008 due to
a weakening in demand from industrial users. The decline in
commodity prices has led to some large industrial users cutting
output which may lead to the rate of tariff increase slowing in 2009.
The Maikuben West coal mine enjoyed an average coal price
increase to 1,171 KZT/tonne, up from 896 KZT/tonne in 2007.

EBITDA
EBITDA is primarily generated by Ekibastuz GRES-1, which made
up over 85% of the Power Division’s EBITDA. The growth in
electricity tariffs over 2008, as noted above, has led to an EBITDA
of $42 million since acquisition for the Power Division. The main
cost at the power station is externally sourced coal from the
nearby Bogatyr mine, the price of which rose rapidly in 2008.
Diesel costs also increased over the prior year, although this was
partially reversed in the last few months of 2008 as oil prices fell.
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Cash cost
The cash cost per kilowatt hour of electricity is calculated over
the total of net electricity produced. Coal is the main cost at the
power station comprising approximately 40% of all cash costs.
The remaining 60% is made up of transmission costs, which rose
substantially in 2008, emission taxes, fuel, water, labour, repair
and administrative costs.

Capital expenditure
The capital expenditure programme at Ekibastuz GRES-1 and the
Maikuben West coal mine was being managed by AES Corporation
in 2008 under the terms of a management service contract
entered into at the time of acquisition. The main focus of the
capital expenditure programme is the modernisation and
expansion of the capacity of the power plant.

The plant has five operating generating units and three dormant
units. A refurbishment programme is underway on the five operating
units to restore them to their original design capacity of 500 MW
each and improve their efficiency, reliability, safety and environmental
performance. As the dormant units have been cannibalised to
provide replacement parts to the operating units, bringing them
into operation will require the substantial replacement of almost
all component parts. The replacement of the dormant units forms
part of the medium-term capital expenditure programme for the
power station which when complete should restore the station
to its nameplate capacity of 4,000 MW.

In addition, the programme will also involve a number of
environmental improvements to the power plant, with the
installation of electrostatic precipitators to reduce ash emissions
to international benchmark standards and improvements to ash
disposal systems. Environmental improvements will also improve
the efficiency of the plant thereby increasing output capacity.

Sustaining
Sustaining capital expenditure in 2008 comprised minor
repairs at Ekibastuz GRES-1 and the purchase of replacement
equipment at the Maikuben West coal mine. The maintenance
work in 2009 is not expected to be significantly different from
that carried out in 2008.

Expansionary
The first phase of the modernisation of three of the five operating
generating Units (4, 6 and 7) at Ekibastuz GRES-1 was completed
when the major overhaul of Unit 6 was finished in 2008,
comprising the major part of the capital expenditure in the year.
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The overhaul of Unit 5 is planned for 2009. When complete, this
will bring all of the five operating units to their full design capacity
of 500 MW. The work is scheduled to take place over seven
months during 2009. The capital expenditure programme for 2009
also includes the initial spend on the installation of electrostatic
precipitators to reduce ash emissions from the power station.

Review of Kazakhmys Petroleum
Petroleum Division at a glance

West Kazakhstan, fringe
Location of the block of the Caspian depression

2 key exploration areas:
Subsalt section in
Eastern Akzhar Explored via deep wells
Suprasalt section in
Northern Elimessai Explored via shallow wells

Planned number of shallow wells 4
Number of shallow wells
completed in 2008 4

Planned number of deep wells
to complete in 2009 2
Number of deep wells
completed in 2008 0

Kazakhmys Petroleum financial summary

$ million 2008 2007

EBITDA excluding special items (1) (1)

Capital expenditure (expansionary) 42 7

Kazakhmys Petroleum has the exploration rights to a 602 km2

exploration block located to the south of Aktobe in western
Kazakhstan. This region is home to numerous oil and gas
operations located on the eastern fringes of the Caspian depression
and is in close proximity to existing oil and gas pipelines.

The exploration block is divided into two sections: the subsalt
section, Eastern Akzhar, and the suprasalt section, Northern
Elimessai. The subsalt section is the most promising and is the
main focus of the exploration work, however both sections require
testing under the terms of the exploration licence.

Eastern Akzhar
A 3D seismic survey, started in 2007, was completed during 2008.
The field data collected has been analysed to determine the most
promising locations for future deep wells to be constructed in
2009 and beyond.

A duplicate well of a deep well drilled in the 1980s was drilled
in the second half of 2008 and will be completed in March 2009.
The results of the well will subsequently be studied. The location
of future deep wells will be determined from analysis of the 3D
seismic survey data.

The drilling rig currently operating in the exploration block is
expected to be retained throughout 2009 and into 2010 to drill
further deep wells.

Northern Elimessai
During 2008, the obligations under the exploration contract have
been fulfilled on the Northern Elimessai section, with the completion
of the shallow well drilling programme. This programme did not
reveal petroleum which could be commercially extracted.

No further exploration work is required or planned for this section.
All the costs associated with this section have been written off
in the period.
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Flat products have performed well with strips and plates
growing in sales volumes and GVA per tonne, as demand from
infrastructure projects has remained robust. The downturn seen
at the end of 2008 has impacted all of the product groups within
flat products, though not to the same extent as wire products.

The performance of the tubes and bars section has been mixed,
with the high price of copper driving substitution in sanitary tubes,
despite the recent falls in prices. Whilst industrial tube volumes
have held up, this has been at the expense of lower margins.
Partially offsetting the weakness in sales of tubes, sales of bars
within electricity infrastructure projects have increased by 9% on
the prior period as demand for bars across all of MKM’s markets
led to capacity constraints.

EBITDA
Whilst total GVA was higher than the prior year, EBITDA fell by
$35 million. EBITDA was negatively impacted by a large IFRS
inventory adjustment of $48 million, effectively revaluing stock
based on the lower copper price at the end of the year. The
inventory adjustment was only $3 million in 2007. Excluding the
impact of the IFRS inventory adjustment and inventory write-offs,
presented in Euros to reflect underlying performance, EBITDA
increased by €2 million to €30 million, reflecting the strong start
to 2008.

Costs in MKM were carefully controlled in 2008, with staff and
material cost increases kept low. Utilities costs were driven slightly
higher by a combination of production volume growth and gas
price rises. Distribution costs rose as markets outside western
Europe drove sales volume increases.

Capital expenditure
The capital expenditure in 2008 was split across all the major
product lines as MKM completed a combination of maintenance
and de-bottlenecking projects. Where orders were consistently
received for certain specification products, MKM committed a low
level of capital spend to ensure that these product lines can be
manufactured as efficiently as possible.

No major projects are planned in 2009 with the level of capital
expenditure expected to be comparable to that in 2008.

EBITDA
The negative EBITDA is due to the expensing of off-site
operating costs, in particular the office expenses in Almaty
and management salaries.

Review of MKM
MKM at a glance

Location of operations Germany (Hettstedt)

Line of business Copper and copper alloy
semi-finished products

Main industries supplied Automotive, construction
and manufacturing

Main market Europe

Main products Wire, flats, tubes and bars

MKM financial summary
$ million (unless otherwise stated) 2008 2007

GVA1 (€ million) 161 152

Wire section (€ million) 38 37
Flat section (€ million) 80 71
Tubes and bars (€ million) 43 44

EBITDA excluding special items (1) 34

Capital expenditure 11 1

1 GVA is Gross Value Added which is calculated as turnover less the input cost of
copper cathode, i.e. MKM’s ‘value add’. It is not a statutory reporting measure.
The GVA figures are presented in Euros, MKM’s operating currency.

MKM is the Group’s downstream copper business in Germany,
producing and selling copper and copper alloy semi-finished
products. The business is structured in three business units: wire
products, flat products (strips, plates and sheets) and tubes and
bars. The production volumes are principally sales driven with
additional capacity available for most general product specifications.

GVA
Gross Value Added (GVA) is considered a more appropriate
performance measure than revenue as it excludes the cost of
copper. GVA is effectively the conversion charge that customers
pay in excess of the copper cathode cost.

The 2008 financial year started off strongly with first-half sales
volumes of 150 kt, 9% higher than the comparative period albeit
against a worsening economic backdrop. The weakness in the
European housing market led to a reduction in construction
projects. The relative strength of the Euro against the US dollar in
the first half of the year made MKM’s exports outside Europe less
competitive. The price of copper held up for longer in 2008 than
other commodities, leading to product substitution, for example,
zinc and aluminium strips or plastics for tubes. The second half
of 2008, whilst bringing a lower copper price, has seen a marked
downturn in demand for MKM’s products, with customers
reluctant to enter into orders for 2009 and being willing to run
down inventories.

Wire products, containing wire rod and drawn wires, continue to
make up over half of MKM’s sales by volume. Growth in eastern
Europe contributed to a strong performance over most of 2008
with MKM’s core markets in western Europe largely flat. At the end
of 2008, orders from the automobile industry were significantly
scaled back and contracted sales volumes for 2009 are well below
the 2008 level.
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Corporate Responsibility

Kazakhmys recognises that the highest
practicable standards of health, safety,
environmental and community practices
are vital to its success, and are a key
responsibility of all employees.

Our commitment to corporate responsibility
The trust and confidence of those with whom the Group deals,
together with its reputation, are amongst its most important
assets. Along with its commitment to competitiveness and
performance, Kazakhmys continues to recognise that the highest
practicable standards of health, safety, environmental and
community practices are vital to its success, and are a key
responsibility of all employees. Further policies and procedures
in these areas continue to be developed and embedded in the
business, helping to identify relevant risks and opportunities and
to establish a clear framework for our business approach against
which performance can be assessed.

This report is in a number of sections, the first of which describes
our operations in the context of the Kazakhstan economy. The
second part describes our management approach towards
corporate responsibility, and the third part describes the nature
of our key corporate responsibility impacts – our health and safety
performance, the development of the skills and expertise of our
employees, our environmental performance and our support for
our communities.

Our place in the Kazakhstan economy
To place Kazakhmys’ operations within Kazakhstan into a proper
context, it is necessary to describe the contribution of Kazakhmys
to the Kazakhstan national economy. Kazakhstan has a developing
economy, which is moving at pace towards governance standards
traditionally expected of companies that operate in more
developed economies. The following figures are based on 2008
estimated data (the latest national figures available).

As a percentage of Kazakhstan’s national gross domestic product,
the total of the Group’s wages and salaries, and corporate and
income taxes represented approximately 0.3%. Similarly, as a
percentage of Kazakhstan’s national investment, Kazakhmys’
total capital expenditure (of both a business and social nature)
represented approximately 1.3%. The total workforce represented
approximately 0.8% of Kazakhstan’s employed workforce.

If these figures were to be calculated at the local level of
Kazakhmys’ sites in Kazakhstan relative to each of their local
communities, their importance would be significantly higher.
Even though Kazakhmys represents approximately 1% of the
Kazakhstan economy, it recognises the importance of building
on the leadership role it has taken in Kazakhstan on matters
of corporate responsibility, as evidenced by winning first prize
in the 2008 Presidential Corporate Responsibility competition.

However, as a UK-listed company we recognise the need to
achieve international best practice standards. To achieve this
aim, we continue to implement more progressive initiatives
and policies and to ensure that all our employees have a clear
understanding of how they are expected to behave.

Our management approach towards corporate responsibility
Corporate responsibility and business strategy
Our overall business objective is to create value for shareholders
by building an effectively managed, regionally focused, diversified
natural resources company.

To support this objective and help ensure effective and
sustainable operational activities, it is essential for corporate
responsibility objectives to be aligned to the Group’s goals.
This is achieved in a number of ways, including:

• training managers in the best international management practices
in areas such as human resources and procurement management;

• maintaining the commitment and support of employees by
ensuring standards of health and safety management are
monitored and raised;

• developing our employees’ potential;

• retaining the commitment and support of local communities
by ensuring Kazakhmys’ presence is a source of positive
influence; and

• ensuring Kazakhmys conducts its business and interacts with
its employees, investors, customers, suppliers, government
agencies and the local communities in which it operates
in a responsible manner.

Kazakhmys’ approach to managing corporate responsibility brings
real benefits to the Group:

• it builds relationships. Kazakhmys benefits from the trust of
employees, customers, suppliers and opinion formers, as well
as local communities and government bodies. This impacts
positively on our ability to conduct business;

• it improves our reputation. A commitment to raising corporate
responsibility performance helps the Group to attract and retain
employees with the requisite skills and abilities. It also enhances
the Group’s reputation with other stakeholders; and

• it helps preserve value. By ensuring the Group identifies,
evaluates and mitigates corporate responsibility risks that could
damage Kazakhmys’ reputation and financial performance.

Managing health, safety and the environment
The key elements of health, safety and environmental
management at Kazakhmys are:

• a Group Health, Safety and Environment Committee (GHSE)
which comprises David Munro (chairman), Philip Aiken and
Peter Hickson (from 5 March 2009); James Rutland was a
member until 5 December 2008. The Group Chief Executive,
and the Chief Executive Officer and other senior managers of
Kazakhmys Corporation LLC are invited to attend Committee
meetings, and it receives advice from external independent
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safety and environmental experts. The Committee is responsible
for setting standards, monitoring performance and providing
guidance to operational management on health, safety and
environmental matters. The Committee met three times in
2008, with all meetings being held in Kazakhstan. Meetings
included a number of visits to operations and discussions with
local management;

• a Fatal Accident Review Panel which consists of the members
of the GHSE Committee, the Chief Executive Officer and other
senior managers of Kazakhmys Corporation LLC and Jeff Smith
(chairman of Wardell Armstrong LLP), the independent safety
expert. This panel reviews in detail the incident investigation
process, the actions being taken to prevent a similar incident
occurring and plans for enhancing overall safety management
from the lessons learnt;

• an operational HSE committee chaired by the Chief Executive
Officer of Kazakhmys Corporation LLC and comprising senior
operational and HSE managers. It is responsible for reviewing
incidents, recommending improvements in systems, and
implementing risk reduction and training programmes; and

• Group safety and environmental policies and codes of conduct
for doing business. These, combined with the Group’s internal
controls, offer the Company and its investors the reassurance
that a practical system exists for identifying and managing
corporate responsibility opportunities and risks.

Our key corporate responsibility impacts
Health and safety performance and activities
Kazakhmys’ activities involve working on the surface and
underground with large, heavy equipment, explosives and
chemicals, sometimes at extreme temperatures. It also faces
normal industrial hazards such as driving vehicles, working at
heights and operating machinery with dangerous moving parts.

The Board is committed to preventing accidents that represent
a risk to people, the environment and Kazakhmys’ facilities.
It believes all work-related accidents are preventable and that
all employees have a responsibility to ensure this is achieved.

Our goal remains no injury incidents and no harm to people and
is encapsulated in the Group safety policy which is published in
English and Russian and sets out required standards and objectives
for operating safe and efficient businesses. To assist in embedding
the policy, employees in Kazakhstan are also given a pocket guide
to the Group safety policy, covering 16 key safety rules.

Sadly, 32 employees lost their lives in 27 separate incidents
at Kazakhmys operations in 2008 (2007: 23 fatalities), with
the majority of these being due to falls from height, rock fall,
electrocution, falling objects and moving machinery.

The cause of every fatal accident is investigated and reported
to the GHSE Committee, and reviewed by the Fatal Accident
Review Panel. In Kazakhstan, a State-appointed commission also
investigates all fatal accidents. Kazakhmys is aware that it has
a moral as well as a legal responsibility toward employees affected
by accidents at work and makes payments to the family of the
victim of a fatal incident to endeavour to ensure that they do not
suffer financial hardship. The Board remains determined to use
its powers to eliminate fatalities from its operations. Additional
Fatal Risk Protocols will be adopted in 2009 to direct attention
to identified risks and risk mitigation activities.

Our goal of no injury incidents and no harm to people commits
the Group to make significant strides to improve its approach
to health and safety management and to develop a safety focused
culture. Group and local health and safety programmes, safety

audits and formal accident investigations, together with continued
investment in training and safety equipment systems form the key
elements of our drive to continually raise standards and develop
a safety focused culture throughout the Group.

Investing in health and safety training of employees at all levels
of the Group is key to developing improved performance.
Training helps employees develop their skills and capabilities
and to strengthen the safety culture further. During the year new
training facilities were opened in Satpayev. These facilities provide
traditional classroom training and training on simulators as well
as practical operational and safety training at surface and
underground purpose-built training sites. Since opening in
April 2008, over 4,500 employees have completed a 20 hour
safety training programme.

A key part of the Group’s change management programme
is the introduction of a tailored safety management system
developed to international standards. This system will enable
the establishment of strong systems and performance standards
as well as raising safety awareness and assisting with the
establishment of a strong safety culture amongst all our
employees. The system will be initially introduced in the East
Region prior to it being rolled out across the rest of the Group.

As part of health and safety management, work-related accident
statistics are recorded. These are based on Kazakhstan regulatory
reporting requirements, which are not in line with international safety
measurement definitions. The Group continues to focus on achieving
an internationally recognised industry measure as a basis for
comparison with our peers and to report upon in external reports.
As part of this process, we have had an increase in the number
of serious and slight injuries, which has allowed remedial action
to take place to prevent similar or more serious injuries occurring.

The occupational health of our employees in Kazakhstan,
particularly those engaged in potentially harmful and dangerous
work, is of considerable importance. All employees are given
medical examinations both on recruitment and at regular intervals
during their employment to prevent and detect occupation-
related diseases at an early stage. Incidents of occupational
diseases affecting employees are measured across the Group,
including dust-induced lung disease and vibration sickness.
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The new, purpose-built surface and underground training
facilities provide occupational and safety training to new and
existing workers.
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During 2008 a number of actions and initiatives were undertaken
across the Group to improve health and safety, including:

• opening of new training facilities in Satpayev;

• opening of a new technical college to assist in the development
of employees’ technical and safety skills. Since opening in
September 2008, over 7,000 employees have completed a range
of courses at the college covering mine surveying, underground
mining equipment and welding. A further 5,000 employees have
received technical training at other Kazakhmys facilities;

• commencement of the roll out of a lock-out system for electrical
equipment and a detailed review of electrical safety at the
Balkhash Complex;

• development of a programme to improve the monitoring
of employees’ health to better identify, treat and reduce the
occurrence of occupation-related diseases;

• recruitment of an experienced Group HSE Manager; and

• accreditation of 19 sites to ISO 9001 and 15 sites to
OHSAS 18001.

Our key health and safety management actions for 2009 include:

• introduction of a new health and safety management
programme in the East Region, with a view to rolling it
out across the Group;

• all senior managers and engineers to undertake a NEBOSH
certificate training course to improve safety awareness and
to provide the skills to better assess hazards and discharge
workplace safety responsibilities;

• introduction of further Fatal Risk Protocols to address significant
risks; and

• adoption and implementation of a five-year safety plan setting
out a number of steps to improve safety performance and
embed a safety-focused culture.

Developing our employees
With a workforce of over 67,000 people, Kazakhmys is committed
to improving the conditions in which employees operate and to
optimise their performance.

The Group continues to develop and maintain policies for all
aspects of employment, the overall objective being to optimise
performance through recruitment and retention of effective,
well motivated employees in every sector of its business.

Each operating company has responsibility for designing human
resources policies appropriate to their country of origin which
attract, retain and motivate the highest quality of staff. To this end,
Kazakhmys Corporation LLC and Kazakhmys Gold employees have
individual employment agreements which cover, among other
matters, base remuneration. These businesses also negotiate
collective employment agreements, which primarily cover social
benefits, with representatives of their unions that represent
substantially all of the employees. In Germany, employees are
represented by a work’s council and approximately 55% of
employees are members of the IG Metall union. The Group
attaches considerable importance to keeping its employees
informed on matters affecting their jobs and the progress of the
business. Although there are various information channels including
a Group newspaper, an intranet site and emails, the primary one
is face-to-face communication between managers and their staff.

Kazakhmys aims to ensure that all employees perform to their
highest potential. To this end, employees have the opportunity
to participate in training and development in a number of fields
related to their role. For example, each year a number of
employees are selected to attend courses at universities and
mining schools in Kazakhstan and around 900 employees a year
will receive training in a wide range of mining specialities at the
newly built technical college. In addition, the Group provides
a number of medical, dental, leisure and holiday facilities in
Kazakhstan at either no cost or at subsidised rates to its employees,
their families and pensioners.

The Group contributes to defined contribution pension schemes
in Kazakhstan, Germany and the UK. The pension scheme in
Kazakhstan is utilised by certain of its employees to contribute the
required amounts under Kazakhstan law. The Company has two
share plans for below Board senior executives, details of which
are set out on page 61.

Kazakhmys is committed to promoting diversity across the Group,
both in recognition of the inherent value of diversity and to ensure
Kazakhmys’ businesses reflect the diversity of the local population.
To this end, Kazakhmys is committed to providing equal
opportunity in recruitment, promotion, career development,
training and reward to all employees without discrimination
and continues to be supportive of the employment of disabled
persons in accordance with their abilities and aptitudes, provided
that they can be employed in a safe working environment.

Managing environmental impacts
Whilst acknowledging that mining by its nature impacts the
environment, Kazakhmys aims to carry out its activities in an
environmentally friendly manner, focusing on the responsible
use and management of water, energy and waste, minimising
air pollution and undertaking appropriate land rehabilitation.
Through the implementation of an environmental policy which
provides a framework for establishing effective management
practices, Kazakhmys aims to minimise any adverse effects
its activities may have on the environment.

Installation of electrostatic precipitators at all six power units
between 2009 and 2013 are anticipated to reduce gas emissions
by a factor of four.
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Our environmental indicators
Water
Water is an important natural resource and its availability in
many parts of the world has come under pressure as consumption
continues to grow. Effective water management is critical to the
long-term viability of a number of our operations, as they are
located in environmentally sensitive areas. Our total water usage
increased by around 34% to 240,624 megalitres in 2008 (2007:
179,500 megalitres) principally as a result of the commissioning
of the sulphuric acid plant at the Balkhash Complex.

Emissions
Kazakhmys recognises that climate change is a real international
and community issue and is committed to contribute to finding
and implementing solutions to the challenges it poses. Our
monitoring of emissions includes those of sulphur dioxide (SO2),
nitrogen oxides (NOX), carbon dioxide (CO2), arsenic, ash and dust.

In 2008, SO2 emissions from our metallurgical operations were
492,970 tonnes (2007: 706,591 tonnes). The reduction of SO2

emissions is one of our key environmental targets and the
Group has been pursuing a number of initiatives to reduce these
emissions. In June 2008 production commenced at a $130 million
sulphuric acid plant at the Balkhash Complex, with the ramp up
to full production of 1.2 MT of sulphuric acid per annum to be
completed by the end of 2009. The commissioning of the plant
will lead to a six fold reduction in sulphur dioxide emissions at
the Complex and provide the Group with an important source
of a valuable by-product which is required for a wide range of
uses in Kazakhstan.

Kazakhmys recognises that greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions
have as important an environmental impact as SO2 emissions.
GHG emissions result from energy combustion at our operations
(including electricity and heat production), from our vehicles
and through our strip coal mining processes. In 2008, CO2

equivalent emissions decreased to 9.2 MT (2007: 9.6 MT).

As part of the modernisation and investment programme
launched by Kazakhmys following its acquisition in May 2008
of the Ekibastuz GRES-1 power plant, the largest power plant
in Kazakhstan, new electrostatic precipitators will be installed
at all six power units between 2009 and 2013 at a total cost of
$94 million. The precipitators will catch 99.85% of ash in the air
and are anticipated to reduce gas emissions by a factor of four.
Further investments focused on the environmentally sensitive
improvement of operations and capacity expansion of the plant
will be made over the coming years.

Land disturbance
Kazakhmys recognises the need to minimise disturbance of land
as a result of its operations. Local legislation requires rehabilitation
of site operations that have closed down. As a condition of its
subsoil use contracts and licences, a provision is set aside for this
purpose, which amounted to $48 million as at 31 December 2008
(2007: $44 million).

Waste
The generation of waste from the mining process, including
tailings, waste rock and overburden, constitutes the most visibly
intrusive aspect of our industry. Since 2006, Kazakhmys has
increased the amount of waste rock backfilling in its underground
mines. The Group continues to explore the available opportunities
to beneficially reuse and recycle its waste. In 2008, Group
operations generated 120 MT of waste (2007: 120 MT).

Environmental actions and initiatives
During 2008 a number of actions and initiatives were undertaken
across the Group to reduce our environmental impact, including:

• commissioning of the Balkhash sulphuric acid plant; and

• as part of the programme to develop a base line study and
five-year environmental plan, environmental audits of all major
sites in Kazakhstan were commenced in 2008.

Our key environmental management actions for 2009 include:

• installation of the first of six electrostatic precipitators at the
Ekibastuz power plant; and

• preparation of a five-year environmental plan and base line
study. The plan will be produced to international standards and
will set out a number of environmental KPIs, enabling the Group
to establish objectives and targets for meeting international
standards for emissions and use of resources.

Supporting our communities
Kazakhmys is committed to supporting local communities and
remains sensitive to their needs. Kazakhmys believes it is able to
benefit communities most by concentrating its efforts on projects
which are closely related to its operations, allowing it to
strengthen links with local communities.

Given the importance of our operations in the regions where we
operate, it is fair to say that ‘our complexes are the communities’.
Being seen to have a responsible social approach is important to
maintaining ongoing positive relationships with these communities
and their representatives.

Kazakhmys works with local communities to ensure that they
benefit from our presence on an enduring basis. In 2008,
Kazakhmys spent a total of over $120 million on social responsibility
costs and investment activities, including infrastructure
investments, support for local groups, provision for disadvantaged
individuals and support for local government services.

During the year, Kazakhmys carried out a number of community
projects, including assistance with:

• the construction of a $30 million boarding school for over 300
orphans in Astana. The school will be equipped with the latest
teaching technology, computer labs as well as a swimming pool
and gymnasium and provide professional training in areas such
as construction, transport, metalwork and catering;

• the upgrading and expansion of a sports centre in Zhezkazgan
serving approximately 800 local people and employees a
day; and

• the sponsorship of the Kazakh Olympic team.

In addition to the significant infrastructure investments and
support for organisations, Kazakhmys contributes to a number
of local community activities, including artistic and cultural
performances, and local events such as the celebrations of the
10th anniversary of Astana being the capital city of Kazakhstan.

As well as supporting sport and educational facilities and
organisations, Kazakhmys provides support for individuals in their
communities, such as providing financial assistance for medical
treatment, and subsidising the costs of influenza immunisation
and dental care. It also provides support for community bodies
such as veterans and disability groups.
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Basis of preparation
With the exception of the change in revenue recognition
accounting policy as explained below, the financial statements
presented on pages 71 to 132 have been prepared in accordance
with IFRS using consistent accounting policies as those adopted
in the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2007.
Following best practice within the metals and mining industry, the
Group has updated its revenue recognition accounting policy such
that final pricing adjustments on sales contracts are considered to
be embedded derivatives which need to be fair valued separately.
The impact for the year ended 31 December 2008 has been to
reduce profit after tax by $6 million with an insignificant impact on
basic and diluted earnings per share. The change in accounting
policy does not have a significant impact on the comparative
numbers for the year ended 31 December 2007.

Income statement
A summary of the consolidated income statement is shown below:
$ million (unless otherwise stated) 2008 2007

Revenues 5,151 5,256
Operating costs excluding depreciation,
depletion, amortisation and special items (3,524) (2,920)

Segmental EBITDA
excluding special items 1,627 2,336
Special items:
Less: impairment of property,
plant and equipment (120) (26)
Less: impairment of goodwill (46) –
Less: impairment of mining assets (126) –
Less: provisions against inventories (88) –
(Less)/add: (loss)/gain on disposal of
property, plant and equipment (2) 2

Less: depreciation, depletion
and amortisation (349) (264)

Operating profit 896 2,048
Share of profits from associate 255 –

Profit before finance items and taxation 1,151 2,048
Net finance expenses (65) (22)

Profit before tax 1,086 2,026
Income tax expense (176) (599)

Profit for the year 910 1,427
Minority interests (1) (11)

Profit attributable to equity shareholders
of the Company 909 1,416

EPS – basic and diluted $1.85 $3.04

EPS based on Underlying Profit $2.27 $3.02

Revenues and EBITDA
2008 has been a year of contrast for the Group as strong
commodity prices seen across the Group’s main products for the
first nine months of the year gave way to a sudden collapse in
prices in the fourth quarter as the impact of the global economic
slowdown spread beyond the financial sector. Average market
prices for copper for the first nine months of the year were
$7,966 per tonne, significantly higher than in 2007, but fell by
more than half to $3,940 per tonne for the last quarter with
the LME copper price finishing the year at $2,902 per tonne.

Sales volumes of copper cathodes and copper rods were in line
with the prior year at 385 kt reflecting consistent production
volumes across the years. Sales volumes were particularly strong
in the fourth quarter offsetting the sharp fall in commodity prices
to a limited degree. However, revenues from copper cathodes
and copper rods fell by $181 million compared to 2007 as a
higher proportion of sales took place in the second half of 2008
when copper prices were lower than the first half of 2008.
Revenues from zinc metal and zinc concentrate fell by more
than half to $149 million compared to 2007 in spite of higher
sales levels, reflecting the continued weakness shown in zinc
prices which were 43% lower than the prior year.

Despite the first time contribution from Kazakhmys Power
following its acquisition in May 2008, and a full year of revenue
from Kazakhmys Gold in 2008, revenues for the Group fell by
2% for the year compared to 2007.

Inflationary pressures within Kazakhstan and the impact of global
mining industry inflation continued to be significant factors on
costs during the year across all of our businesses. Within Kazakhstan,
the consumer price index inflation rate was running in excess of
10% per annum for the majority of the year, and mining industry
inflation continued at levels significantly above the historic
average. An easing of inflation rates was only seen in the fourth
quarter of the year as the global economic downturn impacted
the domestic Kazakh economy. Consequently, cost pressures
were seen in particular for fuel, which was driven by the record
price of oil, mining consumables, transportation and employee
remuneration. In addition, social spending increased compared
to 2007 reflecting the Group’s commitment to employees and
communities in Kazakhstan in a period of elevated commodity
prices. Input costs are expected to reduce in 2009 following the
devaluation of the tenge in February 2009, a continued reduction
in the consumer price index and mining inflation rates amidst the
economic downturn, and several cost control initiatives being
implemented across our businesses.

Special items
In light of the current economic environment, management
have taken a number of operational decisions which have resulted
in a series of impairment charges being recognised in the Group
accounts. The significant impairment charges recognised in the
consolidated income statement are:

• an impairment charge of $75 million has been recognised
following management’s decision to cease production at the
Kazakhmys Copper zinc refinery in light of adverse changes
in assumptions about future zinc prices and operating costs;

• an impairment charge of $158 million has been recognised
in relation to the Kazakhmys Gold Division following a general
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change in its long-term strategy, with the outlook for existing
mines and development projects being less attractive than
originally anticipated at the time of acquisition;

• impairment of inventories include an amount of $73 million
and $15 million in respect of Kazakhmys Copper and MKM,
respectively. For Kazakhmys Copper, the impairment primarily
relates to the impairment of stockpiled ore which is not going
to be processed in the foreseeable future as the processing is
uneconomic at current commodity price levels. Within MKM,
a provision has been recognised to record inventory at the lower
of cost and net realisable value. This primarily relates to finished
goods held in stock at the end of the year which have been
written down reflecting the fall in copper price in December; and

• an impairment charge of $57 million has also been recognised
within Kazakhmys Copper on the property, plant and equipment
and mining assets associated with the closure of certain mines
which are loss making in a period of sustained commodity price
weakness and are unlikely, in management’s best estimate,
to re-open in the foreseeable future.

Total special items amounted to $382 million compared to
$24 million in 2007.

Equity accounting
Following the share exchange with the Government of Kazakhstan
in July 2008 whereby the Group increased its interest in ENRC
PLC to 22.2% and further market purchases of shares which
increased the Group’s interest to 26.0%, the Group equity
accounted for its interest in ENRC which is classified as an
associate. The share of profits from the associate recognised
in the consolidated income statement, net of tax, is $255 million
based on the results of ENRC for the year ended 31 December
2008 which were published on 25 March 2009.

Under equity accounting, the $38 million of dividend received
from ENRC in November 2008 has not been recognised in the
consolidated income statement, but is instead netted off against
the investment in associate in the consolidated balance sheet.
This treatment differs from December 2007 when the dividend
received from ENRC of $94 million was recognised in the
consolidated income statement due to the different accounting
treatment associated with the Group’s lower shareholding
in ENRC in 2007 in which the Group’s interest was treated as
an available for sale investment.

Based on the 2008 final dividend announced by ENRC on
25 March 2009 of 19 US cents per share, the Group should
receive $64 million in June 2009.

Reconciliation of Group EBITDA excluding special items
$ million 2008 2007

Segmental EBITDA excluding
special items
Kazakhmys Copper 1,597 2,234
MKM (1) 34
Kazakhmys Power 42 –
Kazakhmys Gold 19 6
Kazakhmys Petroleum (1) (1)
Corporate unallocated (29) 63

Total segmental EBITDA excluding
special items 1,627 2,336

Share of EBITDA of associate 429 –

Group EBITDA excluding special items 2,056 2,336

Consistent with other international mining companies, EBITDA
excluding special items has been chosen as the key measure
in assessing the underlying trading performance of the Group.
This performance measure removes depreciation, depletion,
amortisation and non-recurring or variable items in nature which
do not impact the underlying trading performance of the Group.

Segmental EBITDA excluding special items fell by 30% to
$1,627 million compared to the prior year despite the first time
inclusion of Kazakhmys Power following its acquisition in May
2008, and a full year of earnings from Kazakhmys Gold which
was acquired in July 2007. MKM made a loss for the year due to
the volatility in earnings under IFRS as a result of the combined
impact of copper price fluctuations on the valuation of stock and
stock levels. Group EBITDA excluding special items fell by 12% to
$2,056 million. Included within Group EBITDA excluding special
items is the Group’s share of EBITDA of ENRC of $429 million
based on its published results.

Net finance items
Net finance costs were $65 million during the year compared to
$22 million in 2007. This increase is primarily due to $50 million
of interest payments arising from the draw down of the Group’s
pre-export finance debt facility (PXF) which was signed on
29 February 2008 and used to finance the acquisition of
Kazakhmys Power and incremental market share purchases in
ENRC. The PXF carries a margin of US$ LIBOR plus 1.25%.

In December 2008, the Group took out a series of six month
and 12 month interest rate swaps to hedge against the impact
of short-term volatility in US$ LIBOR rates that was seen towards
the end of 2008. At 31 December 2008, $1.4 billion of the
$2.1 billion drawn down under the PXF was covered by these
interest rate swaps and in January 2009, the Group took out
a further 12 month interest rate swap thereby bringing the
estimated cost of servicing the PXF down to 2.29%, including
margin, for 2009.

Falling US$ LIBOR rates during the course of the year, combined
with the lower cash balances in the Group compared to 2007
when the Group was in a net liquid funds position, has meant that
interest income earned on cash and deposit balances has fallen
to $23 million from $94 million in 2007.

The relative stability of the Kazakhstan tenge against the US dollar
during 2008 compared to a strengthening of the tenge in 2007,
at a time when the Group’s US dollar cash balances within
Kazakhstan were higher than in 2008, has given rise to a lower
net exchange loss of $13 million compared to a net exchange
loss of $91 million in 2007.
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Taxation
The effective rate of tax for the year was 16.2% compared to
a rate of 29.6% in the prior year. The overall tax charge was
$176 million, a decrease of $423 million as a result of significant
one-off taxation credits in respect of the release of deferred tax
liabilities and the lower earnings within the Group for the year.
The effective tax rate was also impacted by equity accounting
for the associate.

The Group’s interest in the earnings of ENRC is included, net of
tax, in the consolidated income statement below the Group’s
operating profit in arriving at profit before taxation, thereby
reducing the Group’s effective tax rate by 6.7%.

The income tax expense for the year includes a credit of
$178 million in respect of deferred income tax which arises
due to the impairment of the Kazakhmys Gold business and the
enactment of new tax legislation within Kazakhstan in December
2008, that is effective from 1 January 2009, and which leads to
a phased reduction in the corporate income tax rate from 30%
in 2008 to 15% in 2011. This credit has reduced the effective tax
rate by 16.4% and is primarily made up of the following:

• on acquisition of Kazakhmys Gold in July 2007, a deferred
tax liability of $46 million was recognised arising from the
requirement to provide deferred tax on the acquisition fair
value adjustments, with a corresponding entry to goodwill.
The goodwill recognised on acquisition and a proportion
of the mining assets of the Kazakhmys Gold business have
been impaired during the year and this results in a taxation
credit in the income statement of $32 million;

• on completion of the acquisition of Kazakhmys Power in May
2008, a deferred tax liability of $267 million was recognised
arising from the requirement to provide deferred tax on the
acquisition fair value adjustments, with a corresponding entry
to goodwill. The deferred tax liability was calculated based
on a corporate income tax rate of 30%, the prevailing tax rate
at the date of acquisition. Since the rates included within the
new Kazakh tax legislation were substantially enacted by
31 December 2008, the deferred tax liability on the fair value
adjustments has been recalculated as $141 million resulting
in a taxation credit in the income statement of $126 million; and

• the non-acquisition related deferred tax liabilities within the
Group’s Kazakh businesses have been recalculated taking into
account the lower corporate income tax rates resulting from
the new Kazakh tax legislation. This calculation gives rise to
a $20 million taxation credit in the income statement.

Excluding the impact of these one-off deferred tax adjustments
and the impact of equity accounting, the Group’s effective income
tax rate for the year on underlying earnings would have been
approximately 32%.

Under the tax regime prevailing for the 2008 financial year, excess
profits tax is levied in addition to corporate income tax on the
profits attributable to certain subsoil contracts where the internal
rate of return exceeds 20%. For 2008, excess profits tax of
$28 million was charged to earnings (2007: $37 million), which
represented an incremental 2.6% (2007: 1.8%) to the effective tax
rate. Under the new tax legislation effective from 1 January 2009,
based on the existing production and material flows within the
business, excess profits tax is unlikely to be levied.

Withholding taxes of $41 million have been recognised in 2008
in relation to the unremitted earnings of subsidiaries as at
31 December 2008, which are expected to be remitted to the UK
in the future through dividend distributions from Kazakhstan as a
result of new UK tax legislation in 2009. This is expected to restrict
the deductibility of interest on intra-group financing activities.
This factor contributed an additional 3.8% to the effective tax
rate in 2008. Based on the expected dividend flows in the near
future, an additional charge to the income statement is not
expected for 2009.

Future tax charges are affected by the mix of profits and tax
rates in the various tax jurisdictions in which the Group operates.
As stated above, with the enactment of new tax legislation in
Kazakhstan in December 2008, which is effective from 1 January
2009, there will be a phased reduction in the corporate income
tax rate from 30% in 2008 to 15% in 2011. This reduction in
corporate income tax rates will have the effect of significantly
lowering the Group’s overall future headline effective tax rate
below the current UK statutory corporate income tax rate of 28%.

However, the introduction of a new minerals extraction tax is
likely to offset the benefit arising from the lower corporate income
tax rates. Management has been working with the Government
and other natural resource companies within Kazakhstan on
determining the basis and application of this new tax in a period
of lower profitability. It is expected that for 2009, the minerals
extraction tax will be levied at approximately a similar monetary
value as royalties paid during 2008, which amounted to
$32 million, or approximately 2.9% of profit before tax. The
Government is consulting further with industry representatives to
agree an equitable basis for determining the minerals extraction
tax in a sustained period of lower commodity prices.

Underlying Profit and earnings per share
Profit for the year attributable to equity shareholders decreased
to $909 million from $1,416 million in 2007. Underlying Profit
is seen as a more informed measure of the performance of the
Group as it removes non-recurring or variable non-trading items
from profit attributable for the year, and their resulting tax and
minority interest impacts. It therefore provides a more consistent
basis for comparing the underlying trading performance of the
Group between 2008 and 2007.
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The reconciliation of Underlying Profit from profit attributable
to equity shareholders is set out below:
$ million 2008 2007

Profit attributable to equity
shareholders of the Company 909 1,416
Special items:
Impairment of property,
plant and equipment 120 26
Impairment of goodwill 46 –
Impairment of mining assets 126 –
Provisions against inventories 88 –
Loss/(gain) on disposal of property,
plant and equipment 2 (2)

Release of deferred tax liabilities:
Group restructuring – (31)
Impairment of Kazakhmys Gold (32) –
Change in tax rates on Kazakhmys
Power fair value adjustments (126) –
Change in tax rates on
non-acquisition related deferred
tax liabilities in Kazakhstan (20) –

Minority interest effect of
non-recurring items (1) –

Underlying Profit 1,112 1,409

A description of the special items and the release of deferred tax
liabilities are explained above.

The weighted average number of shares in issue increased from
466.1 million to 490.3 million during the year primarily as a result
of the Company issuing 80.3 million shares to the Government
of Kazakhstan in July 2008 as part of the share exchange whereby
the Company received 98.6 million shares in ENRC. This was
partly offset by the completion of the 2007 share buy-back
programme in January 2008, whereby 5.2 million shares were
purchased and cancelled in January 2008. The impact on earnings
per share is shown below:

$ million (unless otherwise stated) 2008 2007

Net profit attributable to equity
shareholders of the Company 909 1,416
Underlying Profit 1,112 1,409
Weighted average number
of shares in issue (million) 490.3 466.1

EPS – basic and diluted ($) 1.85 3.04

EPS based on Underlying Profit ($) 2.27 3.02

Basic earnings per share decreased by 39% to $1.85. Earnings per
share based on Underlying Profit was $2.27 compared to $3.02 for
the prior year, a decrease of 25%.

Dividends
The Company paid dividends of 41.4 US cents per share
($200 million) during 2008, which comprises the 2007 final
dividend of 27.4 US cents per share ($125 million) and the 2008
interim dividend of 14.0 US cents per share ($75 million). In
response to the sharp reduction in commodity prices for the Group’s
products, continued market uncertainty and the need to meet
funding requirements in the near term, the Directors have not
recommended a final dividend for 2008. This decision is in keeping
with the Group’s dividend policy determined at the time of Listing.

Key financial indicators
The definitions of our key financial indicators are shown in the
Glossary and these measures are set out below:

2008 2007

Group EBITDA excluding
special items ($ million) 2,056 2,336
EPS based on Underlying Profit ($) 2.27 3.02
Free Cash Flow ($ million) 715 895
Return on Capital Employed1 (%) 19 38
Net cash cost of copper after
by-product credits excluding
purchased concentrate1 (USc/lb) 116 33

1 During the year the Group amended the definitions of the above financial
indicators as the Directors believe that the revised indicators provide a more
informed measure of profitability and capital efficiency of the Group.

Cash flows
A summary of cash flows is shown below:
$ million 2008 2007

Segmental EBITDA 1,245 2,312
Write-off of assets and impairment losses 400 30
Loss/(gain) on disposal of property,
plant and equipment 2 (2)
Dividends received from associate 38 –
Foreign exchange loss adjustment (27) (58)
Working capital movements 132 (282)
Interest paid (70) (14)
Income taxes paid (621) (850)

Net cash flows from operating activities 1,099 1,136
Sustaining capital expenditure (384) (241)

Free Cash Flow 715 895
Expansionary and new project
capital expenditure (310) (702)
Interest received 28 121
Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of
liquid funds and borrowings acquired (1,157) (265)
Capital transactions with shareholders (121) (282)
Dividends paid (200) (424)
Acquisition of associate (918) (806)
Proceeds from disposal of property,
plant and equipment 17 8
Proceeds from disposal of
non-current investments 14 3
Other movements (5) (12)

Cash flow movement in
net (debt)/liquid funds (1,937) (1,464)

Summary of the year
Cash flows from operating activities were $1,099 million for the
year, a decrease of $37 million compared to the prior year due
to lower earnings, a marked reduction in tax payments and an
improvement in working capital requirements. Despite higher
levels of sustaining capital expenditure in 2008, Free Cash Flow,
a key performance indicator of the Group’s ability to translate
earnings into cash flow, was a healthy $715 million. Whilst this
is based on the full-year result, Free Cash Flow reduced markedly
in the last quarter of 2008 as commodity prices fell sharply.
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Working capital
Working capital levels for the Group decreased by $132 million
during 2008. This improvement was due to a combination of
factors, including the beneficial working capital impact of lower
copper prices which more than offset higher inventory levels
within MKM, and lower sales in the last two months of the year
for MKM which reduced the level of trade receivables. For the
Kazakhmys Copper business, a reduction in copper cathodes held
as stock at the year end following strong sales in December and
a reduction in the quantity of purchased concentrate held at year
end as previously held purchased concentrate inventory was used
in production and not replenished, also contributed to the
improvement in working capital levels.

During the current economic downturn, management will
continue to focus on working capital management across the
Group’s businesses to ensure cash generation is maximised.

Income taxes
The level of income taxes paid of $621 million during the year
was lower than the prior year of $850 million as a result of lower
earnings in 2008, a one-off catch-up tax payment in early 2007 of
approximately $100 million in relation to income tax and excess
profits tax payable for the 2006 financial year which did not recur
in 2008. Based on the schedule of tax payments on account
for 2008 that was agreed with the tax authorities during the
year, Kazakhmys LLC reported a tax receivable balance of
approximately $100 million at the year end given the reduced
profitability in the last quarter of the year, which was not expected
when agreeing the schedule of tax payments earlier in the year.
This overpayment will be used to reduce tax payments on account
in 2009 or will be refunded by the tax authorities if Kazakhmys LLC
is in a non-tax paying situation.

Despite the lower profitability of the Group during 2008 compared
to 2007, the cash tax payments are considerably higher than the
tax charge shown in the consolidated income statement. This is
primarily due to the significant one-off tax credits in 2008 (see
Taxation section on page 40) due to the change in 2009 tax rates,
as well as the adverse cash impact arising from the relatively high
2008 tax payments on account compared to the tax charge for
the year.

Capital expenditure
During 2008 the Group continued to invest at historically high
levels to improve productivity levels and to grow the business,
with sustaining capital expenditure $143 million higher than the
prior year at $384 million. Purchase prices of items of capital
expenditure also rose compared to the prior year reflecting the
demand for such equipment and the impact of global mining
industry inflation. Despite this increase, in response to market
conditions, the level of discretionary capital expenditure was
reduced towards the end of the year amidst the backdrop of the
economic downturn and this reduction will continue into 2009.

Excluding the impact in 2007 of acquiring the oil and gas
exploration licence within Kazakhmys Petroleum for $450 million,
expansionary and new project capital expenditure for 2008 was
$58 million higher than the prior year at $310 million. Significant
items of capital expenditure during the year included the
continued construction of the West Nurkazgan underground
mine, expenditure on the Balkhash acid plant which opened
in June 2008, expenditure on pre-feasibility studies for Aktogay
and Boschekul, overhaul and modernisation of Unit 6 within
the Ekibastuz power plant which was put back into operation
in November 2008 and continued exploration work within
Kazakhmys Petroleum.

Acquisitions
As explained below, the Group acquired the Ekibastuz coal-fired
power plant and Maikuben West coal mine during the year. Cash
paid on completion of the transaction was $1,097 million with
further deferred amounts of $5 million paid in 2008, less an
amount of $9 million received from the seller in relation to
adjustments to the closing statement under the terms of the sale
and purchase agreement. Net debt of $57 million was acquired
with the businesses, which together with acquisition costs of
$7 million, resulted in a net cash outflow for this acquisition during
2008 of $1,157 million. Following the early completion of the AES
management contract in 2009, additional amounts of $80 million
and $102 million are payable to AES under the earnout in April
2009 and January 2010, respectively.

Additionally, during the year, as explained below, the Group
increased its shareholding in ENRC from 14.6% at 31 December
2007 to 26.0% in three separate tranches at a total cash cost
of $918 million. The share exchange with the Government of
Kazakhstan in July 2008 was a non-cash transaction. The Group
received $38 million of dividends from ENRC in November 2008,
compared with $94 million in December 2007 when the
investment was classified as an available for sale investment and
the dividend receipt was included within Segmental EBITDA.

The acquisition of Kazakhmys Power and incremental shares
in ENRC were funded via the draw down of $2.1 billion from
the pre-export finance debt facility.

Returns to shareholders
Returns to shareholders comprised payment of the 2007 final
dividend of $125 million in May 2008, payment of the 2008
interim dividend of $75 million in October 2008 and completion
of the share buy-back programme in January 2008, as explained
below, at a cost of $121 million during the year.

Balance sheet
Summary of movements
Shareholders’ funds were $7,477 million as at 31 December 2008,
an increase of $1,058 million compared with 2007. This increase
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is primarily due to the retained profit for the year offsetting returns
to shareholders and the impact of equity accounting for the
Group’s interest in ENRC.

Capital employed
A summary of capital employed is shown below:
$ million (unless otherwise stated) 2008 2007

Equity shareholders’ funds 7,477 6,419
Minority interests 20 14
Borrowings 2,200 198

Capital employed 9,697 6,631

Profit before finance items and
taxation excluding special items 1,533 2,072

ROCE1 (%) 19 38

1 During the year the Group has amended the definition of ROCE (see Glossary
on page 148) as the Directors believe that the revised indicator provides a
more informed measure of the capital efficiency of the Group.

Return on capital employed decreased to 19% from 38% in 2007
due to the acquisition of the Power business which is carried in
the accounts at $1,446 million at 31 December 2008 and which
reported a post-acquisition profit before finance items and
taxation of $5 million, and the impact of equity accounting
whereby the Group’s investment in the associate is recorded in
the consolidated balance sheet at $4,045 million at 31 December
2008 with equity accounted earnings in the consolidated income
statement in relation to this investment of $255 million.

Acquisition of ENRC shares
During the year, the Group increased its shareholding in ENRC from
14.6% at 31 December 2007 to 26.0% in three separate tranches:

• on 24 July 2008, the Company issued 80.3 million shares to the
Government of Kazakhstan in exchange for 98.6 million shares
in ENRC, which it received on 28 July 2008. The share price
of the Company as at the date of the share issue was £13.17
per share, and the market value of the shares issued was
$2,110 million. In addition, stamp duty of $10 million was
incurred, taking the total cost of the transaction to $2,120 million;

• between 31 July and 8 August 2008, the Group purchased
a further 35.7 million shares in ENRC for a total cost of
$800 million; and

• between 2 October and 27 October 2008, the Group
purchased a further 12.6 million shares in ENRC for a total
cost of $108 million.

After the completion of these transactions, the total number
of shares held by the Group in ENRC at 31 December 2008
was 334.8 million. The total cash cost of these transactions was
$918 million as the share exchange was a non-cash transaction.

Acquisition of Kazakhmys Power
On 29 May 2008 the Group acquired 100% of the Ekibastuz
coal-fired power plant and the Maikuben West coal mine in
Kazakhstan for a total consideration of $1,264 million, including
deferred consideration and acquisition costs of $176 million on
a discounted basis. As a direct result of this acquisition, property,
plant and equipment and mining assets have increased by over
$1 billion, and provisions have increased by $216 million mainly
attributable to the deferred consideration payable in future
years. Goodwill of $594 million has arisen from the acquisition
of the businesses. This goodwill can be broken down into
two elements:

• goodwill of $327 million representing the difference between
the cost of the acquisition and the fair value of identifiable assets
and liabilities acquired, excluding deferred tax on the fair value
adjustments. This goodwill has arisen as the fair values of the
identifiable assets do not take into account the future capital
expenditure programme of the businesses which should result
in an increased capacity of the power plant from 2,250 MW
to 4,000 MW. A combination of the future capacity increase,
additional tariff increases and the ability for the Group to benefit
from these improvements are the main drivers behind the
goodwill balance arising on this transaction; and

• goodwill of $267 million arising as a consequence of the
requirement to recognise a deferred tax liability on the fair
value adjustments.

Management have performed an impairment test on the
acquisition goodwill at 31 December 2008, and the results
of this exercise show that the goodwill is not impaired.

Net debt/liquid funds
Net debt/liquid funds consists of cash and cash equivalents,
current investments and borrowings. A summary of the net
debt/liquid funds position at 31 December 2008 and 2007
is shown below:
$ million 2008 2007

Current investments 32 57
Cash and cash equivalents 540 439
Borrowings (2,200) (198)

Net (debt)/liquid funds (1,628) 298

The Group’s net debt, net of capitalised arrangement fees of
$21 million, stood at $1,628 million at 31 December 2008
compared to net liquid funds of $298 million at 31 December
2007. The Group moved into a net debt position for the first time
in 2008 following the draw down during the year of $2.1 billion
from the pre-export finance debt facility to finance the acquisition
of Kazakhmys Power and incremental market share purchases
in ENRC. Borrowings within MKM reduced from $196 million to
$121 million reflecting the lower working capital requirements
resulting from the reduction in copper prices and reduced sales
volumes in the last two months of the year. The external debt
acquired within Kazakhmys Power of $159 million on acquisition
was substantially refinanced in June 2008 to take advantage
of the cheaper cost of borrowing outside of Kazakhstan.

On 26 August 2008, a revolving credit facility was arranged
for general corporate purposes and to provide standby liquidity.
At 31 December 2008, this facility was undrawn, and on 30 March
2009, $150 million of the facility was extended for a further six
months to 31 March 2010.

In order to manage counterparty and liquidity risk, surplus funds
within the Group are held predominantly in the UK and funds
remaining in Kazakhstan are utilised mainly for working capital
purposes. The funds within the UK are held within western
European and US financial institutions and their triple ‘A’ rated
managed liquidity funds. At 31 December 2008, $282 million
of cash and cash equivalents was held in the UK and the
Netherlands, with $258 million being held in Kazakhstan.

The Group’s liquidity requirements are met by ensuring adequate
working capital is available within Kazakhstan, surplus funds are
repatriated to the UK on a timely basis and accessing the
revolving credit facility if required.
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Deferred tax
As explained in note 12 to the financial statements on page 101,
the Group’s deferred tax liability decreased to $266 million
due to the impairment of the Kazakhmys Gold business and the
enactment of new tax legislation within Kazakhstan in December
2008. This reduction in tax rates results in the Kazakhmys Power
and Kazakhmys Gold acquisition related deferred tax liabilities, and
the non-acquisition related deferred tax liabilities predominantly
within Kazakhmys Copper, decreasing by $178 million with a
corresponding credit recognised in the income statement.

Share buy-back
At the end of January 2008, the Group completed the share
buy-back programme which commenced on 24 October 2007.
The total number of ordinary shares purchased and cancelled
was 15.1 million, of which 5.2 million were cancelled in 2008.
At an average price of £12.73 per share, this equated to a total
cost of $391 million including expenses, of which $121 million
was incurred in 2008. The average closing price and the volume
weighted average price over the buy-back period were £13.21
per share and £13.08 per share, respectively.

Taxation
Tax strategy and risk management
The Group is subject to taxation in the UK and the various foreign
countries in which it operates. Tax legislation of the jurisdictions
in which the Group operates differs and is subject to interpretation
by management and the government authorities, and as such,
creates a risk of non-compliance with specific tax requirements.
Whilst management believes that the Group is in substantial
compliance with tax legislation and contractual terms entered into
that relate to tax, the complexity and judgemental nature of tax
legislation in certain jurisdictions result in additional risk for the
Group. Specific areas of complexity include the valuation of the
taxable base for excess profits tax purposes, and cross border
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transactions, particularly, the application of transfer pricing policies,
controlled foreign companies issues and the availability of UK tax
credits arising from foreign taxes paid on overseas earnings.

The Group’s core objectives in managing and controlling its tax
affairs and related tax risks are as follows:

• ensuring compliance with applicable rules and regulations
in the jurisdictions in which the Group operates; and

• structuring the business in the most efficient and transparent
manner with the emphasis being on the maximisation of
shareholder value.

The Group takes a responsible and transparent approach to the
management and control of its tax affairs and related tax risks,
and has therefore adopted a tax strategy, which has been
approved by the Board, that is aimed at achieving the above
objectives, thereby aligning it with the Group’s long-term strategy:

• the Group’s tax risks are assessed as part of the Group’s
formal governance processes and are reviewed by the Chief
Financial Officer who reports them to the Audit Committee
on a regular basis;

• significant tax risks, implications arising from those risks and
potential mitigating actions are considered by the Board when
strategic decisions are being taken;

• the tax risks of proposed transactions or new areas of business
are fully considered before proceeding;

• the half year and annual effective tax rate and the composition
of the tax charge are reviewed by the Audit Committee as part
of their remit in reviewing the half year and annual reports;

• the Group builds an equitable relationship with the tax
authorities in the jurisdictions in which it operates;

• the Group takes appropriate tax advice from reputable
professional firms;

• where disputes arise with government authorities with regard
to the interpretation and application of tax legislation, the Group
is committed to addressing the matter promptly and resolving
the matter with the relevant tax authority in an open and
constructive manner; and

• the Group employs professional tax managers within the
corporate head office and the operating businesses, and
provides ongoing technical training to them.

Taxes paid directly to governments by category and region
$ million Central Asia1 UK Germany 2008 total 2007 total

Taxes paid
Corporate income taxes (including excess profits tax) 561 41 19 621 850
Payroll taxes (employer’s obligations) 47 1 9 57 54
Customs and stamp duties 39 10 – 49 36
Taxes on properties 25 – 1 26 18
Royalties and environmental payments 46 – – 46 100
Miscellaneous taxes 3 – – 3 1

721 52 29 802 1,059

Taxes collected and remitted
Withholding taxes on dividends, interest and services 4 – – 4 3
Payroll taxes (employee’s obligations) 34 4 17 55 46

38 4 17 59 49

Total 759 56 46 861 1,108

1 Includes Kazakhstan, Kyrgyzstan and Tajikistan.
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Total tax contribution
During 2008, the Group paid $861 million (2007: $1,108 million)
in taxes across the countries in which it has a presence. Company
taxes, such as corporate income taxes, excess profits tax, royalties
and employer taxes, comprised $802 million (2007: $1,059 million)
of this total. In addition, the Group indirectly contributed
$59 million (2007: $49 million) in employee taxes and withholding
taxes primarily on dividends, which the Group collected on behalf
of government authorities and paid over to them.

Financial risk management
Background
The Board is committed to maintaining a high standard of
financial risk management within the Group. The Group’s policies
with regard to financial risk management are clearly defined and
consistently applied.

The Group’s principal business is the identification, extraction
and processing of mineral resources. The Group does not engage
in trading activities and sales contracts are generally negotiated
with trading companies or end users. In general, the Group does
not hedge its exposure to its principal commodities, although in
periods of high uncertainty or volatility some hedging of revenue
and cost items may be considered prudent in order to reduce
volatility of the Group’s cash flows. The Board may in certain
circumstances authorise commodity hedging in order to guarantee
the longer-term viability of certain marginal cost operations or
to satisfy the specific covenant requirements of independently
financed development projects. Additionally, in limited circumstances
where it is not possible to structure intra-group commodity
transactions on back-to-back pricing terms, commodity futures
may be used to reduce the Group’s economic exposure.

During 2008, the Group established a centralised Treasury
function, operating under the oversight of a Treasury Committee,
chaired by the Chief Financial Officer. During 2008 progress was
made in treasury and risk management functions as the Group
transitioned from a net funds to a net debt position. Further
development and consolidation of treasury activities undertaken
in business units is planned throughout 2009 in order to improve
efficiency in cash management as well as improve overall controls
in financial risk management.

The significant risks identified by Kazakhmys that could materially
affect the Group’s financial conditions, performance, strategy and
prospects are set out in the Risk Factors section commencing on
page 48. Details of the Group’s system of internal control is set
out on page 58.

Financial risks
The principal financial risks arising from the Group’s activities are
those relating to commodity price risk, foreign exchange risk, interest
rate risk, counterparty credit risk, liquidity risks and capital structure.
The Group does not engage in any speculative treasury activity.

Commodity price risk
The Group’s mining revenues and earnings are directly impacted
by fluctuations in the prices of the commodities it produces. The
Group’s principal commodities (copper, zinc, gold and silver) are
priced via reference to global metal exchanges, upon which
pricing is derived from global demand and supply and influenced
by macroeconomic considerations and speculative capital flows.
The pricing of the Group’s principal commodities may also include
a pre-determined margin or discount depending on the terms of
sales contracts. Commodity prices, particularly those derived from
global metal exchanges, may fluctuate significantly and may have
a material impact on the Group’s financial results.

The Group manages potential downside commodity price risk
by focusing on maintaining its low-cost producer status and also
through the wider strategy of revenue diversification. Management
closely monitors the impact of fluctuations in commodity prices
on the business and uses conservative pricing assumptions and
sensitivity analysis for its forecasting and investment appraisals.

MKM is exposed to fluctuations in the price of the metal content
of its products to the extent that metal purchases price at different
dates from finished goods sales. MKM uses the natural hedge
provided by the back-to-back pricing of purchases and sales on
its ongoing operations to manage this pricing exposure. Where
there are temporary mismatches in volumes, commodity futures
are used on a limited basis to ensure MKM’s economic position
is not materially impacted by metal price movements.

The Power business positions the Group as a significant net
generator in the Kazakhstan power market. The Kazakh power
market has a predominance of large industrial electricity users
focused on the natural resource sector, and consequently
electricity demand tends to broadly follow the commodity cycle.
Power tariffs are derived through a complex interaction of
regional demand and supply imbalances, tempered by specific
regulatory interventions to minimise the inflationary pressure on
domestic electricity users. The Group sells its power to a mix of
wholesale and industrial customers through directly negotiated
bilateral contracts.

Foreign currency risk
The presentational currency of the Group is the US dollar,
consistent with the pricing currency of the majority of the Group’s
revenue. Where possible, the Group, excluding MKM, attempts
to conduct its business, maintains its monetary assets and seeks
to source corporate debt capital in US dollars so as to minimise
its exposure to other currencies. The Group retains surplus cash
balances in US dollars for capital expenditure, acquisitions and
returns to shareholders. Working capital balances are maintained
in a mix of US dollars and local currencies depending on
short-term requirements of the business.

Whilst there is a strong correlation between many mining input
costs and the US dollar, a significant portion of the mining business’
operating costs are denominated in local currencies, particularly
the Kazakhstan tenge. Rates of exchange for these currencies
relative to the US dollar could fluctuate significantly and may
materially impact the profitability of the underlying operations.

Due to its geographic location, MKM conducts its business in
Euros and seeks to price its revenues in that currency, being also
the currency in which the majority of its operational costs are
denominated. The Group is exposed on its net investment in
MKM to the extent that movements in the Euro may make that
investment more or less valuable. The Group seeks to mitigate
that risk by raising MKM’s debt financing in Euro, thus matching
the negative exposure of the debt servicing against the positive
exposure of the revenue.

From time to time, acquisitions and capital investments may
expose the Group to movements in other currencies and the Group
will consider hedging such exposures on a case by case basis.

Interest rate risk
The Group’s interest rate management policy is generally to
borrow and invest at floating interest rates. In some circumstances
an element of fixed rate funding may be considered appropriate.
Hedging via interest rate swaps or similar instruments may be
undertaken during periods where the Group’s exposure to
movements in short-term interest rates is more significant,
or in periods when interest rates are perceived to be below
long-term historical averages.
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Counterparty credit risk
The Group is exposed to counterparty credit risk on balances
and commitments due from third parties. The Group has adopted
policies and procedures to control and monitor the distribution
of these exposures to minimise the risk of loss in the event of
non-performance by counterparties.

The Group’s mining business protects its exposure to customer
credit risk by maintaining strong business relationships with
customers and through a combination of documentary credit
instruments and requiring payment prior to delivery. Within the
Kazakhmys Copper Division, cash is received prior to delivery
and transfer of title of the goods for sales to European customers.
Sales to Chinese customers are made under letters of credit which
are obtained prior to delivery and transfer of title of the goods.
MKM manages its customer credit risk with debtor insurance.
The Kazakhmys Power Division receives cash up front or has short
payment terms depending on the nature of the customer. The
Kazakhmys Gold Division has a single long-standing customer with
short payment terms which are agreed via an annual sales contract.

The Group’s cash management policies emphasise security and
liquidity of funds ahead of investment return. The Group’s surplus
funds held outside of Kazakhstan are predominantly invested in
US dollars through money market securities of investment grade
international financial institutions. Maximum exposure and minimum
credit rating limits have been set to ensure credit risk is reduced.

The Group must maintain a level of cash and deposits in
Kazakhstan with local branches of international financial institutions
and well established local Kazakhstan banks. The Group limits
its local cash and deposits to working capital requirements and
transfers surplus funds to banks mainly in the United Kingdom.

Liquidity and capital management
During 2008 the Group moved from a net cash to a net debt
position. The Group’s over-riding objectives when maintaining
capital are to safeguard the business as a going concern,
to maximise returns for shareholders and benefits for other
stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure
in order to lower the overall cost of capital.

The Group does not have a target debt/equity ratio, but has
determined a maximum debt capacity based on a ratio of
long-term ‘normalised’ EBITDA which the Board believes
establishes a sustainable level of gearing through the commodity
cycle. This ratio is reviewed in conjunction with market conditions
and prevailing commodity prices in order to ensure an efficient
capital structure that is balanced against the risks of carrying
excessive leverage.

The Group maintains back-up liquidity for debt maturing
within 12 months by way of a committed revolving credit facility
totalling $200 million and by maintaining cash on the balance
sheet. In addition, the MKM revolving trade finance facility had
unutilised capacity of $23 million available for drawing as at
31 December 2008.

Critical accounting policies and estimates
Summary
The Group’s significant accounting policies are described in note 3
commencing on page 80 of the financial statements.

The application of these policies requires management to
make estimates and exercise judgement. Set out in note 2(h)
commencing on page 80 are key judgements which are likely
to have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised
in the financial statements. Information about significant areas
of estimation uncertainty is also highlighted in that note.

The Directors believe that the following general accounting
policies (as opposed to specific judgements and estimates set out
in note 2(h)) are the critical policies which could have a significant
impact on the financial statements.

Impairment
The Group reviews the carrying value of its non-current
investments to determine whether there is any indication that
those assets are impaired. The assessment of whether an indicator
of impairment has arisen can require considerable judgement,
taking account of future operational and financial plans, commodity
prices, sales demand and the competitive environment. In making
these assessments for impairment, assets that do not generate
independent cash flows are allocated to an appropriate cash
generating unit (‘CGU’). The recoverable amount of those assets,
or CGUs, is measured at the higher of their fair value less costs
to sell and value in use and requires significant estimates and
assumptions to be made about future cash flows. If the carrying
amount of the cash generating unit or asset exceeds its
recoverable amount, then an impairment provision is recognised
to write down the carrying value of the cash generating unit or
the asset to its recoverable amount.

Management applies judgement in allocating assets to CGUs,
in estimating the probability, timing and value of underlying cash
flows and in selecting appropriate discount rates to be applied
within the value in use calculation. Subsequent changes to
CGU allocation or estimates and assumptions in the value in use
calculation could impact the carrying value of the respective assets.

Note 7 commencing on page 97 shows the impairment charges
recognised in the year. Significant assumptions made in performing
the impairment testing of goodwill are set out in note 15
commencing on page 104. Changes in these assumptions may
alter the results of the impairment testing, impairment charges
recognised in the income statement and the resulting carrying
values of assets.

Equity accounting
At 31 December 2008, the Group owned 26.0% of ENRC PLC,
a Kazakhstan-based mining company listed on the London Stock
Exchange. Following the share exchange with the Government of
Kazakhstan in 2008 and subsequent market purchases of shares,
the investment has been recorded as an associate and accounted
for under the equity method (see note 2(h) on page 80). The Group’s
interest in the net assets of ENRC is included in ‘Investment in
associates’ in the consolidated balance sheet and its interest in
the results of ENRC, net of tax, is included in the consolidated
income statement in ‘Share of profits from associate’ below
operating profit.
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Business acquisition
The acquisition of Kazakhmys Power during the year gives rise
to estimates at the date of acquisition in relation to determining
asset and liability fair values and the allocation of the purchase
consideration over the fair value of the assets, liabilities and
mining reserves and resources being acquired. The Group
commissioned external consultants to advise on the fair values
and asset lives of Kazakhmys Power’s assets, with the residue
of the purchase consideration not allocated to specific assets and
liabilities being attributed to goodwill. Changes in assumptions
over future tariff prices, market demand and supply, and economic
and regulatory climates could impact on the carrying value of assets.

The provisional fair values and asset lives determined are subject
to revision within 12 months of the date of acquisition as
permitted by IFRS 3 ‘Business Combinations.’

Useful economic lives of mining assets and ore reserve estimates
The Group’s mining assets, classified within tangible assets,
are depreciated using the unit of production method over the
estimated economically recoverable reserves to which they relate,
or over a shorter period prior to the depletion of the reserves
having regard to the asset’s physical life limitation. The estimation
process for recoverable reserves is complex and involves
significant judgement and assumptions relating to the life of
the mine, and ore reserves may change when new information
becomes available. These include assumptions as to grade
estimates, recovery rates, commodity prices, exchange rates,
production costs, capital costs, processing and reclamation costs
and discount rates. The actual volume of ore extracted and any
changes in these assumptions are accounted for prospectively
as they could affect future depreciation rates and carrying values.

The majority of other items of property, plant and equipment
are depreciated on a straight line basis over their useful economic
lives. Management reviews the appropriateness of useful
economic lives at least annually and any changes could affect
prospective depreciation rates and asset carrying values.

Contingencies
Material contingencies facing the Group are set out in note
35 commencing on page 123 of the financial statements.
A contingent liability arises where:

• a past event has taken place for which the outcome will be
confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or
more uncertain events outside of the control of the Group; or

• a present obligation exists but is not recognised because
it is not probable that an outflow of resources will be required
to settle the obligation.

A provision is made when a loss to the Group is likely to
crystallise. The assessment of the existence of a contingency and
its likely outcome, particularly if it is considered that a provision
might be necessary, involves significant judgement taking all
relevant factors into account. As laws and regulations in
Kazakhstan continue to evolve, for example, in the areas of
taxation, environment and subsoil rights, uncertainties regarding
contingencies are greater than typically found in countries with
more developed legal and regulatory frameworks.

Taxation
The determination of the Group’s obligations for taxes for each
reporting period requires the interpretation of tax legislation.
Whilst management believes that its judgements are appropriate,
significant differences in actual experience may materially affect
the Group’s future tax obligations.

The Group is subject to uncertainties relating to the determination
of its tax liabilities. The tax system and tax legislation in
Kazakhstan have been in force for only a relatively short time
compared to more developed jurisdictions and are subject to
frequent changes and varying interpretations. Management’s
interpretations of such legislation in applying it to business
transactions may be challenged by the relevant tax authorities
and, as a result, the Group may be assessed for additional
tax payments including fines, penalties and interest charges,
which could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s
financial position and results of operations. Such uncertainties
may relate to the valuation of the taxable base for excess profits
tax purposes and the application of transfer pricing policies.
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Managing Group risk

Kazakhmys has significantly improved its risk framework over the past
few years, with good progress being made in better understanding
and managing the Group’s significant risks. Overall management of
these risks is vested in the Board, with the Audit Committee having
delegated authority for reviewing the Group’s risk management
framework. Kazakhmys has a risk management system in place to
support the identification and management of the Group’s significant
risks. The Group’s approach to internal control is business risk driven,
with emphasis on both business and financial risks as explained in
the Governance Framework on pages 54 to 59.

The following, which include two new risks: assets controlled
by third parties and liquidity risk, represent the significant
risks identified by Kazakhmys that could materially affect
the Group’s financial condition, performance, strategies
and prospects. There may be other risks unknown, or
currently believed immaterial, by Kazakhmys which could
turn out to be material. These risks should be carefully
considered in conjunction with the cautionary statement
set out on the inside back cover.

Operational risks

Health, safety and the environment
Mining is a hazardous industry and failure to adopt and embed
health, safety and environmental management systems could result
in harm to Kazakhmys’ employees, the environment and the
communities in which the Group operates as well as fines and
penalties and damage to its reputation. Policies and measures
at a national and international level to tackle climate change will
increasingly affect the business, presenting environmental and
regulatory risks.

Impact
Health, safety and environmental incidents could lead to a number
of adverse consequences, including harm to people, the environment
and communities near Kazakhmys’ operations as well as production
disruption, reputational damage and financial loss.

Action
Kazakhmys recognises that the highest standards of health,
safety, environmental and community practices are vital to
its success, and are a key responsibility of all employees.
The Group’s policies and procedures in these areas are
designed to identify relevant risks and opportunities and
provide a clear framework for doing business. Further details
are set out in the Corporate Responsibility Report
commencing on page 34.

Business interruption
The business of mining, smelting and refining metals and the
production of power involves a number of risks and hazards,
including, but not limited to, geological and technological
challenges, weather and other natural phenomena such as flood
and earthquake, equipment failure and loss of key inputs such
as coal, which can cause material mine or plant shutdowns or
periods of reduced production.

Impact
Any disruption to operational activities could have a negative impact
on the Group’s profitability and cash flows, and may require the
Group to make large unplanned capital expenditures. In addition
to revenue losses, long-term business interruption could result
in a loss of customers.

Action
Work is being carried out across the Group, with the support
of appropriate in-house and third party specialists, to address
operational risk issues. A combined property damage and
business interruption catastrophic insurance programme
is in place to mitigate the financial impact of a major incident
at the Group’s main concentrating, smelting and refining
facilities, and power stations.

Assets controlled by third parties
Some Kazakhmys Group assets are managed by third parties under
management service agreements. Management of these assets may not
comply with the Group’s operating standards, controls and procedures.

Kazakhmys also holds a 26% investment in ENRC PLC. The business
and financial performance of this investment is not controlled by
the Group.

Impact
Failure to adopt equivalent standards, controls and procedures at
these third party managed businesses could lead to higher costs,
reduced output and an adverse impact on Kazakhmys’ results
and reputation.

Decisions made by the board of ENRC PLC could have a material
impact on the reported earnings of Kazakhmys. Furthermore,
changes in market or macroeconomic conditions could impact the
cash flows and the valuation of Kazakhmys’ investment in ENRC PLC.

Action
Management service agreements entered into with third
parties contain clear business objectives and require that
an appropriate level of standards, controls and procedures
is maintained. The operation of assets controlled by third
parties is monitored on an ongoing basis including dialogue
with the management of the third parties.

Kazakhmys monitors the business and financial performance
of its 26% investment in ENRC PLC. The Group has the ability
to exercise its rights as the single largest shareholder of
ENRC PLC to influence the strategic decisions of ENRC PLC.
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New projects
The identification and development of new projects involves many
risks including geological, engineering and regulatory risks. If the
Group fails to adopt an appropriate procurement and project
management strategy, it may experience delays to project schedules
and cost. Regulatory risks include failure to obtain and maintain
applicable permits, licences or approvals from the relevant authorities
to carry out or operate certain works.

There are numerous uncertainties in estimating mineral reserves.
Reserves are estimated using available geological, technical and
economic information. The process involves a number of informed
judgements and assumptions that are valid at the time but may
change when new information becomes available.

Impact
Projects may fail to achieve the desired economic returns due to
an inability to recover mineral reserves and higher than expected
capital and operating costs. Changes in reserves could result in asset
write-offs, negatively impacting the Group’s financial performance.

Action
Prior to an investment decision being made, certain activities
are performed including, where appropriate, feasibility and
other technical studies. The Group ensures that sufficient
expertise, from both in-house and third party specialists, is
utilised on projects throughout their life cycle. Furthermore,
there are procedures in place addressing areas such as
budgeting and management of capital expenditure projects.

Political risk
Most of the Group’s mining and power operations are in Kazakhstan.
Accordingly, the Group is substantially dependent on the economic
and political conditions prevailing in Kazakhstan. As Kazakhstan has
a relatively short history as an independent nation, there remains the
potential for social, political, economic, legal and fiscal instability.

Impact
Political instability or social unrest may lead to a change in
Government policy, which could result in the supportive business
environment in Kazakhstan deteriorating. Changes to Kazakhstan’s
property, tax or mining regimes or other changes that affect the
supportive business environment in Kazakhstan could negatively
affect the Group’s business, financial position and performance.

Action
Kazakhstan’s Government has actively pursued a programme
of economic reform, helping to make it one of the most
politically stable and economically developed countries in
Central Asia. While a number of former Soviet republics have
experienced periods of political instability, this has not been
the case for Kazakhstan. The Board continues to view the
political, social and economic environment within Kazakhstan
favourably, and looking forward, remains optimistic about
the conditions for business in the region.

Subsoil use rights
In Kazakhstan and certain other countries in which the Group
operates, all subsoil reserves belong to the State. Subsoil use rights
are not granted in perpetuity, and any renewal must be agreed before
the expiration of the relevant contract or licence. Rights may be
terminated if the Group does not satisfy its licensing or contractual
obligations, which may include periodic payment of royalties to State
authorities and the satisfaction of mining, development, environmental,
health and safety requirements.

Impact
As many of Kazakhstan’s subsoil use laws have been adopted
relatively recently, the legal consequences of a given breach may not
be predictable. However, non-compliance with the requirements of
subsoil use contracts could potentially lead to regulatory challenges
and subsequently to fines/litigation and ultimately to the loss of
operating licences. The loss of any of the Group’s subsoil use rights
could have a material adverse effect on its mining operations.

Action
The Group’s management makes every effort to engage with
the relevant regulatory authorities and ensure compliance
with all relevant legislation and subsoil use contracts.
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Directors’ Report: Business Review
Risk Factors continued

Financial risks

Commodity prices
Kazakhmys’ results are strongly influenced by commodity prices
which are dependent on a number of factors impacting world
supply and demand. Due to these factors, commodity prices may
be subject to significant fluctuations from year to year. The Group’s
normal policy is to sell its products under contract at prices
determined by reference to prevailing market prices on international
global metal exchanges.

Commodity price fluctuations can also have an impact on demand
for specialist staff, equipment, materials and supplies in the mining
sector, which can cause skills and material shortages and create cost
pressure on the Group’s operating and capital costs, which affect
financial performance.

Impact
Commodity prices can fluctuate widely and could have a material
impact on the Group’s asset values, revenues, earnings and
cash flows. In addition, commodity price increases could cause
supply or capacity constraints in areas such as specialist staff
or mining equipment.

Action
The Group keeps under regular review its sensitivity to
fluctuations in commodity prices, and a sensitivity analysis
showing the impact on profits of a 10% movement in
commodity prices is set out on page 25. The Group
does not as a matter of course hedge commodity prices,
but may hedge a proportion of future cash flows of
certain commodities where the Board determines
it is in the Group’s interest.

Liquidity risk
The Group is exposed to liquidity risks, including risks associated
with refinancing borrowings as they mature, the risk that borrowing
facilities are not available to meet cash requirements, and the risk
that financial assets cannot readily be converted to cash without
the loss of value.

Impact
Failure to manage financing risks could have a material impact
on the Group’s cash flows, earnings and financial position as well
as reducing the funds available to the Group for working capital,
capital expenditure, acquisitions, dividends and other general
corporate purposes.

Action
The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate
committed borrowing facilities and working capital funds.
The Board monitors the net debt level of the Group taking
into consideration the expected outlook of the Group.
Further details are set out in the Financial Review on page 46.

Taxation
As the tax legislation in Kazakhstan has been in force for a relatively
short period of time, tax risks in Kazakhstan are substantially
greater than typically found in countries with more developed
tax systems. Tax law is evolving and is subject to different and
changing interpretations, as well as inconsistent enforcement.
Tax regulation and compliance is subject to review and investigation
by the authorities who may impose severe fines, penalties and
interest charges.

Impact
The uncertainty of interpretation and application, and the evolution,
of tax laws create a risk of additional and substantial payments of tax
by the Group, which could have a material adverse effect on the
Group’s cash flows, earnings and financial position.

Action
The Group makes every effort to comply with tax legislation,
and works closely with the tax authorities to ensure
compliance. Further details are set out in the Financial
Review on page 44.
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1. Vladimir Kim (48)
Chairman since 2005
Joined the Group in 1995 when he was appointed managing
director and chief executive officer of Zhezkazgantsvetmet JSC.
He was elected chairman of the board of directors of that 
company in December 2000 and became Chairman of 
Kazakhmys PLC in September 2005. He is chairman of the 
Nomination Committee. 

2. Oleg Novachuk (38)
Chief Executive since 2007
Joined the Group in 2001 and was appointed Chief Executive in
2007, having been Finance Director since 2005. He was formerly
vice president of financial projects for Kazakhmys Corporation LLC
and the financial adviser to the president of Kazakhmys
Corporation LLC, and chairman of the board of directors 
of Kazprombank JSC. 

 3. David Munro (53)
Development Director from April 2009
Joined the Group in 2005 as a non-executive Director and now
Development Director, having previously been Strategy Director. 
He is a non-executive director of Lonmin plc and was formerly 
chief executive of RMC Group plc, chief development officer of BHP
Billiton plc and an executive director of Billiton plc responsible for 
its global aluminium and base metals businesses. He is chairman 
of the Group Health, Safety and Environment Committee. 

4. Vladimir Ni (76)
Non-executive Director since 2005
Chairman of the board of directors of Kazakhmys Corporation LLC
since 2006, having previously been vice chairman. He is also 
a director of HOZU Corporation LLC.

5. Lord Renwick of Clifton, KCMG (71)
Non-executive Director since 2005
Vice chairman, Investment Banking of JPMorgan Europe and 
vice chairman of JPMorgan Cazenove. He serves on the boards 
of Compagnie Financière Richemont AG, Fluor Limited and GEM
Diamonds Limited. He was formerly British Ambassador to the
United States and to South Africa, and a non-executive director 
of SABMiller plc, BHP Billiton plc, British Airways plc and Liberty
International plc. He is chairman of the Remuneration Committee
and a member of the Nomination Committee.

6. Philip Aiken (60)
Non-executive Director since 2006
Chairman of Robert Walters plc, a non-executive director of
National Grid PLC and a senior advisor to Macquarie Capital
Markets. He was formerly president, UK of BHP Billiton plc, having
previously been group president of BHP Billiton’s energy business,
president, BHP Billiton Petroleum, an executive director of BTR plc
and held a number of senior positions in BOC Group plc. He is the
Senior Independent Director and a member of the Audit, Group
Health, Safety and Environment, and Remuneration Committees.

7. Simon Heale (55)
Non-executive Director since 2007
A non-executive director of The Morgan Crucible Company plc,
Panmure Gordon & Co plc, Marex Group Limited and PZ Cussons
plc. He was formerly chief executive of The London Metal
Exchange, chief operating officer of Jardine Fleming Ltd and
deputy managing director of Cathay Pacific Airways. He is
chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of the
Nomination and Remuneration Committees.

8. Daulet Yergozhin (29)
Non-executive Director since November 2008
Chairman of the tax committee of the Ministry of Finance 
since October 2008 and vice minister of finance of the Republic 
of Kazakhstan since January 2007, having held a number of 
other governmental positions since early 2006. He was formerly 
a non-executive director of ENRC PLC. Prior to his governmental
appointments, he was deputy director of the North-Caspian
project department of JSC NC KazMunaiGas before moving to 
a deputy director general role in JSC ‘Offshore Oil Company
KazMunayTeniz’, a subsidiary of JSC KazMunaiGas. He also
previously worked for KazTransOil JSC.

9. Peter Hickson (63)
Non-executive Director since March 2009
Chairman of Communisis plc and senior independent director 
of London & Continental Railways Ltd. He was previously chairman
of Anglian Water Group Ltd, group finance director of Powergen
plc and a non-executive director of Telent plc, Scottish Power plc
and RAC plc. He is also a trustee of the ORBIS Charitable Trust.
He is a member of the Audit and Group Health, Safety and
Environment Committees.

Other senior management – not pictured

Matthew Hird (36)
Chief Financial Officer since 2007
Joined the Group in 2005 as Group Financial Controller and
Company Secretary. He was formerly senior manager with Deloitte
& Touche’s global mining team, and group reporting manager and
company secretary of Vedanta Resources plc.

Eduard Ogay (39)
Chief Executive Officer of Kazakhmys Corporation LLC since 2006
Joined the Group in 2001 as director of marketing and
international relations. Appointed director of corporate
development in 2005 prior to becoming chief executive officer 
of Kazakhmys Corporation LLC in 2006.
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Introduction
The Board is committed to high standards of corporate
governance in its management of the affairs of the Group
and in its accountability to shareholders.

This section of the Annual Report has been prepared in
accordance with the Combined Code on Corporate Governance
issued by the Financial Reporting Council in June 2006 (the
‘Combined Code’).

The Company’s policies on corporate direction and control ensure
that the Company applies all of the principles of good governance
contained in the Combined Code to the organisational structure
it has adopted to conduct its business, its remuneration policy,
its relations with its shareholders, and the procedures adhered to
in its financial reporting, internal control and assurance processes.

The rest of this section of the Annual Report explains in more
detail how the Company applied the principles, and the nature
of its compliance and any areas of non-compliance with the
provisions, of the Combined Code during the financial year.

Combined Code compliance
During the year, the Company has complied fully with the
provisions of the Combined Code, save in the following respects:

• the Chairman was not independent at the time of his
appointment. This is due to his significant shareholding in the
Company. Vladimir Kim joined the Group in 1995 and has made
a major contribution to its development into an international
company. The Board is unanimously of the opinion that his
continued involvement in an executive capacity is vitally
important to the success of the Group.

• at least half the Board was not independent, for the purposes
of the Combined Code, throughout the period following the
appointment of Daulet Yergozhin and the death of James
Rutland on 19 November 2008 and 5 December 2008,
respectively. To redress the balance of independent Directors
on the Board, the Board has appointed Peter Hickson as an
independent non-executive Director with effect from 5 March
2009 and intends to appoint a further independent
non-executive Director to the Board as soon as possible.

• the Audit Committee did not have at least three members
for a brief period following the death of James Rutland on
5 December 2008. Following the appointment of Peter Hickson
as an independent non-executive Director and a member
of the Audit Committee with effect from 5 March 2009,
the composition of the Committee complied fully with the
requirements of the Combined Code.

Board structure
Effective management and good stewardship are led by the
Board, which currently consists of nine directors, six of whom
served throughout the financial year, with Daulet Yergozhin and
Peter Hickson having been appointed on 19 November 2008 and
5 March 2009, respectively, and James Rutland ceasing to be
a Director on 5 December 2008. Including the Chairman, there are
three executive Directors and six non-executive Directors; this
balance ensures that no individual or small group of Directors can
dominate the decision making process and that the interests of
the minority shareholders are protected. Biographies of all
Directors are set out on page 53.

It is Kazakhmys’ policy that at least half the Board should be
independent non-executive Directors and, therefore, it is the
Board’s intention to appoint a further independent non-executive
Director as soon as possible. Other than Vladimir Ni and Daulet
Yergozhin, the Board considers each of its current non-executive
Directors to be independent in character and judgement. In
reaching its determination of independence, the Board has
concluded that there are no relationships or circumstances likely
to affect, or could appear to affect, the judgement of Philip Aiken,
Simon Heale, Lord Renwick and Peter Hickson. Vladimir Ni is
not considered by the Board to be independent, with effect
from 1 January 2006, following his appointment as chairman of
Kazakhmys Corporation LLC, the Company’s operating company
within the Copper Division in Kazakhstan, and Daulet Yergozhin
is not considered by the Board to be independent from his date
of appointment as he is a representative of the Government
of Kazakhstan, a 15% shareholder in the Company.

The independent non-executive Directors are:

Philip Aiken
Chairman of Robert Walters plc, a non-executive director of
National Grid PLC and a senior advisor to Macquarie Capital
Markets. He was formerly president, UK of BHP Billiton plc, having
previously been group president of BHP Billiton’s energy business,
president, BHP Billiton Petroleum, an executive director of BTR plc
and held a number of senior positions in BOC Group plc.

Simon Heale
A non-executive director of The Morgan Crucible Company plc,
Panmure Gordon & Co plc, Marex Group Limited and PZ Cussons
plc. He was formerly chief executive of The London Metal
Exchange, chief operating officer of Jardine Fleming Ltd and
deputy managing director of Cathay Pacific Airways.

Lord Renwick of Clifton, KCMG
Serves on the boards of Compagnie Financière Richemont AG,
Fluor Limited and GEM Diamonds Limited. He was formerly British
Ambassador to the United States and to South Africa, and
a non-executive director of SABMiller plc, BHP Billiton plc, British
Airways plc and Liberty International plc. He is vice chairman,
Investment Banking of JPMorgan Europe and vice chairman
of JPMorgan Cazenove, who are brokers and financial advisers to
the Company; he has no involvement in the provision of broking
or financial services to the Company.

Peter Hickson
Chairman of Communisis plc and senior independent director of
London & Continental Railways Ltd. He was previously chairman of
Anglian Water Group Ltd, group finance director of Powergen plc
and a non-executive director of Telent plc, Scottish Power plc and
RAC plc. He is also a trustee of the ORBIS Charitable Trust.

The Board has agreed a clear division of responsibilities between
the Chairman and the Chief Executive. The roles of the Chairman,
Chief Executive and other Directors are clearly defined so that no
single individual has unrestricted powers of decision.
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The Chairman is responsible for the strategic direction of the Group,
overseeing the responsibilities of management, leadership of the
Board and the relationships with the Government and business
community in Kazakhstan. As part of the evaluation of the
performance of the Chairman, the Board remains satisfied that the
Chairman is able to fulfil all of the commitments required of his role.

The Chief Executive is responsible for the day-to-day
management of the Group and the implementation of the
strategy approved by the Board.

Non-executive Directors and Senior Independent Director
The non-executive Directors provide a strong independent
element on the Board and a solid foundation for good corporate
governance. Although all Directors are equally accountable
under the law for the proper stewardship of the Company’s
affairs, the non-executive Directors fulfil a vital role in corporate
accountability. They have a particular responsibility to examine
critically the strategies proposed by the executive Directors,
scrutinise the performance of management in meeting agreed
goals and objectives, and play a leading role in the functioning
of the main Board committees. Between them, the current
non-executive Directors bring experience, expertise and
independent judgement from a variety of business sectors
and public life.

Philip Aiken, who succeeded James Rutland, as the Senior
Independent Director with effect from 5 December 2008 is,
together with the other non-executive Directors, available to
discuss matters of concern with shareholders whenever necessary.

Induction, training and information
Following appointment to the Board, all new Directors receive
a comprehensive and structured induction tailored to their
individual requirements. The induction programme, which is
arranged by the Company Secretary, includes visits to the Group’s
businesses and meetings with senior managers and advisers as
appropriate. This facilitates their understanding of the Group,
the key drivers of business performance, the role of the Board
and its committees, the Company’s corporate governance
practices and procedures, and provides them with appropriate
training and guidance as to their duties, responsibilities and
liabilities as a director of a public limited company.

To assist Directors in the performance of their duties, there
are procedures to provide them with appropriate and timely
information, including information between meetings about
developments in the Group’s business and financial performance,
so that they can discharge their duties on strategic, financial,
operational, compliance and governance issues. Directors also
have access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary,
and, in appropriate circumstances, may obtain independent
professional advice at the Company’s expense.

Where appropriate, additional training and updates on particular
issues are arranged. For example, over the last 12 months,
members of the Board have made visits to the Group’s operations
in Kazakhstan and have received specific briefings by management
on the implications of new legislation in the United Kingdom
and Kazakhstan.

To ensure the Board as a whole remains fully informed of
the views of shareholders, the Board receives regular reports
on shareholder sentiment from the Head of Corporate
Communications. Although not part of their induction
programme, all non-executive Directors have a standing invitation
to attend shareholder meetings and analyst presentations, and
shareholders may meet informally with Directors at the Annual
General Meeting.

Conflicts of interest
With effect from 1 October 2008 a director has a duty under the
Companies Act 2006 to avoid a situation in which he has or can
have a direct or indirect interest that conflicts or possibly may
conflict with the interests of the Company. This duty is in addition
to the existing duty that a director owes to the Company to
disclose to the Board any transaction or arrangement under
consideration by the Company. The Companies Act 2006 allows
directors of public companies to authorise conflicts and potential
conflicts where the Articles of Association contain a provision to
that effect. Shareholders approved amendments to the Company’s
Articles of Association at the 2008 Annual General Meeting which
included provisions giving the Directors authority to approve such
situations and to include other provisions to allow conflicts of
interest to be dealt with in a similar way to the position that
existed before 1 October 2008.

The Board has a procedure when deciding whether to authorise
a conflict or potential conflict of interest. Firstly, only independent
Directors (i.e. those who have no interest in the matter being
considered) will be able to take the relevant decision, and
secondly, in taking the decision the Directors must act in a way
they consider, in good faith, will be most likely to promote the
Company’s success. In addition, the Directors will be able to
impose limits or conditions when giving authorisation if they
think this is appropriate.

Furthermore, with effect from 1 October 2008, shareholders
approved further amendments to the Company’s Articles of
Association which include provisions relating to confidential
information, attendance at Board meetings and availability
of Board papers to protect a Director being in breach of duty
if a conflict of interest arises. These provisions will only apply
where the position giving rise to the potential conflict has
previously been authorised by the Directors.

Performance evaluation
A full Board performance evaluation process was undertaken
in late 2008, facilitated by an external consultant, with fully
documented results being presented to the January 2009 Board
meeting. The process was carefully structured but pragmatic,
tailored to bring about a genuine debate of issues that are
relevant and assisted in identifying any potential for improvement
in the Company’s processes. It entailed initial and sign-off
meetings with the Senior Independent Director and the Company
Secretary, individual interviews between each Director (excluding
Daulet Yergozhin who was appointed a Director on 19 November
2008 and James Rutland who ceased to be a Director on
5 December 2008) and the external consultant on the
performance of the Board, its committees, on individual Directors
and the preparation of a composite report. Although the report
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concluded that the Board and the committees are operating and
performing effectively and there remains a high degree of Board
unity, the Board is considering the recommendations contained in
the report to ensure the continued smooth operation of the Board
and its committees, including, for example, succession planning
for the executive team and enhanced internal communication of
the Company’s aims and strategies. Furthermore, the Board is also
satisfied that each of the current non-executive Directors had
sufficient time and commitment to contribute effectively to the
Board and its committees.

During the year the Chairman held a number of meetings with
non-executive Directors without executive Directors being present.
The Senior Independent Director also led the non-executive
Directors in evaluating the performance of the Chairman.

Re-election of Directors
New Directors appointed by the Board must submit themselves
for re-election by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting
following their appointment. Thereafter, the Company’s Articles
of Association require that all Directors stand for re-election
at least every three years.

Board and Committee responsibilities/memberships
The Board
The Board is responsible for approving Group strategy, reviewing
trading performance, ensuring adequate funding, examining
major investments, ensuring the appropriate allocation of financial
resources and monitoring the performance of the executive team.
It is also responsible for providing leadership and support to the
executive management team in creating and sustaining
shareholder value through the management of the Group’s
business, together with delivering expected shareholder returns.
The Board has a formal schedule of matters specifically reserved
for its decisions and has four principal committees to deal with
specific aspects of the Group’s affairs. In addition, the Company
Secretary has a specific responsibility to the Group as a whole
for its sound governance and for guidance to the Board in the
responsible and effective execution of its tasks.

The four principal committees of the Board are the Audit, Group
Health, Safety and Environment, Nomination and Remuneration
Committees. The terms of reference of each committee are
available on the Company’s website (www.kazakhmys.com) and on
request from the Company Secretary at the Company’s registered
office. The terms of reference of each committee are reviewed
annually. Each committee reports on its activities to the next
Board meeting following its meeting.

Audit Committee
The role of the Committee is to review and monitor the integrity
of financial reporting by the Company, to review the Group’s
internal control and risk management systems, to monitor the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal audit function and to oversee
the relationship with the external auditors.

The Audit Committee, which met on five occasions during the year,
currently consists of Simon Heale (chairman from 5 December 2008),
Philip Aiken and Peter Hickson (from 5 March 2009) (all of whom
are considered by the Board to be independent non-executive
Directors). James Rutland was chairman until 5 December 2008.
The secretary to the Committee is Stephen Hodges, Deputy
Company Secretary. Currently Simon Heale, a chartered accountant,
has recent and relevant financial experience; his biography is set
out on page 53. The Chief Executive, Chief Financial Officer,

Company Secretary, Head of Internal Audit and external auditors
are normally invited to attend Committee meetings.

At the end of each meeting the Committee normally meets
separately with the external auditors and Head of Internal Audit,
without management present, to facilitate the discussion of any
matter relating to its remit and any issues arising from audits.
Arrangements have also been adopted to ensure that the Head of
Internal Audit has direct access to the Committee chairman and is
accountable to the Committee. Furthermore, the chairman of the
Committee meets from time to time with the external auditors and
senior management to ensure a full understanding of relevant issues.

During and in respect of the year, the principal activities of the
Committee included the following:

Financial reporting:

• reviewed interim management statements, half-yearly and
annual results, including accounting policies, estimates and
judgements applied in preparing them and the transparency
and clarity of the disclosures within them; and

• received reports from management and the external auditors
on accounting, tax and legal issues.

Internal control:

• received reports from management on the implementation
of enhanced financial reporting procedures and controls,
and IT systems; and

• reviewed the design and effectiveness of the Group’s system
of internal control as set out on page 58.

Risk management:

• reviewed the effectiveness of the Group risk management
framework as described on page 58 and reports arising out
of the risk management process; and

• monitored the Group’s insurance arrangements.

Internal audit:

• approved the internal audit plan and reports from the internal
audit department;

• assessed the effectiveness of the Internal Audit department; and

• approved the terms of reference for the Internal Audit department.

External audit:

• approved the terms of engagement of the external auditors, the
fees paid to them and the plan of the work carried out by them;

• reviewed policies on the independence of the external auditor
and the provision of non-audit services;

• assessed the independence and objectivity of the external
auditors and in this process reviewed a report from the external
auditors on all relationships that might reasonably have a
bearing on their independence and the audit partner and staff’s
objectivity, and the related safeguards and procedures;

• received reports on the findings of the external auditors during
their half-yearly review and annual audit and reviewed the
recommendations made to management by the external
auditors and management’s responses;

• assessed the effectiveness of the external auditors; and

• considered its recommendation as to the re-appointment
of the external auditors.
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Other matters:

• reviewed the Group’s whistleblowing arrangements by which
staff may, in confidence, raise concerns about possible legal,
regulatory or other improprieties in matters of financial
reporting and other matters;

• reviewed the relevant disclosures in this Annual Report; and

• reviewed the Committee’s effectiveness and terms of reference.

The Committee also receives reports on developments in financial
reporting practices, legislative and regulatory changes and other
relevant matters so as to enable it to fulfil its responsibilities.

The Committee’s policy on the provision of non-audit services by
the external auditors and their associates includes the identification
of certain non-audit services which the external auditors are
prohibited from providing and a process through which other
non-audit services are approved. All non-audit services require
the agreement of the Chief Financial Officer before they can be
undertaken, with certain engagements over £50,000 only being
awarded to the external auditors after a competitive tender process.
The non-audit services of the external auditors will only be used
where the Group benefits in a cost-effective manner and the
external auditors maintain the necessary degree of independence
and objectivity. Details of all non-audit services are reported to the
Committee twice a year. The policy will be kept under review and
may be amended from time to time as necessary.

Remuneration Committee
Details of the Committee’s main functions, and its current
policies for Board Directors and senior executives, are given in
the Directors’ Remuneration Report commencing on page 60.
The Committee met twice during the year. The members of the
Committee are Lord Renwick (chairman), Philip Aiken and
Simon Heale.

Nomination Committee
The Committee, which provides a formal and transparent
procedure for the appointment of new Directors to the Board,
generally consults external consultants and advisers on
prospective Board appointments. The Committee keeps under
review the planned and progressive refreshing of the Board and
its committees, assesses the development of Directors including
induction, training and succession planning, considering the
specific experience and skill needed for an appointment.
It recommends to the Board the appointment of all Directors
after having met short-listed candidates and having regard to
the balance and structure of the Board.

Since the publication of the last Annual Report, the Committee
recommended the appointment of two further non-executive
Directors, Daulet Yergozhin and Peter Hickson. For Peter Hickson
a job description was agreed by the Committee, having regard
to the desired balance of skills and experience for the Board
as a whole, before external search consultants were engaged to
prepare a short list of candidates. Only after a rigorous interview
process was he recommended to the Board. Following the
Government of Kazakhstan’s acquisition of a 15% shareholding in
the Company, the Board agreed that the Government should be
entitled to appoint a Director to the Board, for so long as it holds
a significant shareholding in the Company. Pursuant to this right,
the Government proposed Daulet Yergozhin as its representative
whose appointment was considered by the Committee.

The Committee met twice during the year for formal meetings in
addition to the interview sessions referred to above. The members
of the Committee are Vladimir Kim (chairman), Lord Renwick and
Simon Heale. In accordance with the requirements of the
Combined Code the majority of the members are independent
non-executive Directors and the Group Chairman is chairman
of the Committee.

Directors during the year Board Audit Remuneration Nomination GHSE

Vladimir Kim 6/6 – – 2/2 –

Oleg Novachuk 6/6 – – – –

Philip Aiken 6/6 4/5 2/2 – 3/3

Simon Heale 6/6 5/5 2/2 2/2 –

David Munro 6/6 – – – 3/3

Vladimir Ni 6/6 – – – –

Lord Renwick 6/6 – 2/2 2/2 –

James Rutland 6/6 5/5 – – 1/3

Daulet Yergozhin 1/1 – – – –

1 Philip Aiken missed one scheduled Audit Committee meeting owing to a conflict in schedules and James Rutland missed two Group Health, Safety and Environment
Committee meetings owing to ill health.

2 When Directors have not been able to attend meetings owing to a conflict in schedules or other reasons, they receive and read the papers for consideration at that
meeting, and have the opportunity to relay their comments in advance, and if necessary follow up with the relevant chairman on the decisions taken at the meeting.

Attendance at Board and Committee meetings
All Directors are expected to attend each Board meeting and each meeting of the committees of which they are members, unless there
are exceptional circumstances which prevent them from doing so.

The attendance of Directors at scheduled meetings of the Board and of Board committees of which they were members during 2008
is shown below.
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Group Health, Safety and Environment Committee
The principal tasks of the Committee are to evaluate the
effectiveness of the Group’s policies and systems for identifying
and managing health, safety and environmental risks within the
Group, to recommend to the Board the Group’s policies on
health, safety and environmental matters and to ensure that an
effective system of health, safety and environmental standards,
procedures and practices is in place at each of the Group’s
operational sites.

The Committee decided that all meetings held in 2008 and
onward would normally be held in Kazakhstan and would involve
site visits and meetings with senior management responsible
for health and safety, with all visits lasting for two or three days.

The Committee, which met three times during the year in
Kazakhstan, currently consists of David Munro (chairman), Philip
Aiken and Peter Hickson (from 5 March 2009). James Rutland was
a member until 5 December 2008. Details of the Committee’s main
functions and activities during the year are given in the Corporate
Responsibility Report commencing on page 34.

Internal control
The Board has overall responsibility for the Group’s system
of internal control and risk management and for reviewing the
effectiveness of this system. Such a system is designed to identify,
evaluate and manage the significant risks associated with the
Group’s achievement of its business objectives with a view to
safeguarding shareholders’ investments and the Group’s assets.
This system is designed to meet the Company’s particular needs
and the risks to which it is exposed, and is designed to manage
rather than eliminate risk. Because of the limitations inherent in
any system of internal control, such a system can provide
reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material
misstatement or loss.

The Board confirms that, throughout the year ended
31 December 2008 and up to the date of approval of this Annual
Report and Accounts, there have been processes in place for
identifying, evaluating and managing the significant risks faced
by the Group in accordance with the Turnbull Guidance.

The Board has adopted a risk-based approach in establishing
the Group’s system of internal control and in reviewing its
effectiveness. To identify and manage key risks, it has established
a number of Group-wide procedures, policies and standards,
has set up a framework for reporting matters of significance, has
authorised the Audit Committee to review the Group’s strategy
with regard to risk and the effectiveness of the Group’s internal
financial reporting, internal controls and risk management
systems, has developed a system of regular reports from
management and has reserved specific key matters for its
decision. The process is designed to provide assurance by
way of cumulative assessment.

Key elements of the Group’s system of internal control which have
operated throughout the year are:

• Group financial, treasury, operating and administrative policies and
procedures which incorporate statements of required behaviour;

• continuous review of operating and financial performance
of the Group’s businesses;

• monitoring by the Board of a comprehensive reporting
system, including monthly results, annual budgets and
medium-term forecasts;

• well defined procedures for appraisal, approval, control
and review of major capital projects, including acquisitions;

• an established methodology for ranking the level of risk in
each of its business operations and the significant risk issues
associated therewith;

• implementation of appropriate strategies to deal with
significant risks, including measures such as insurance
and use of external specialists;

• a centrally coordinated internal audit programme to support
the Board in its role of ensuring a sound control environment;

• regular reports to the Audit Committee on the adequacy
and effectiveness of internal control; and

• regular reports to the Board and Group Health, Safety
and Environment Committee on health, safety and
environmental matters.

The Board, in conjunction with management, has agreed
a number of activities to further develop the internal control
environment. Progress on these initiatives, alongside the
development of embedded risk management and assurance
processes, is being made. Details of initiatives in the area of
financial risk management can be found in the Financial Review
commencing on page 38, and initiatives in the area of health,
safety and the environment can be found in the Corporate
Responsibility Report commencing on page 34.

All acquired businesses will be brought within the Group’s system
of internal control as soon as practicable and in any event within
12 months of acquisition. ENRC PLC, in which the Group has a
26% shareholding, has not been incorporated into the Group’s
system of internal control.

Internal Audit
Internal Audit advises management on the extent to which
systems of internal control are adequate and effective to manage
business risk, safeguard the Group’s resources, and ensure
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements. It provides
objective assurance on risk and controls to senior management,
the Audit Committee and the Board.

Internal Audit’s work is focused on areas of greatest risk to the
Group and its programme of work is approved by the Audit
Committee. Based on the approved audit plan, Internal Audit has
undertaken a number of audits across operations and functions to
facilitate improvement of the Group’s internal controls. The Head
of Internal Audit reports regularly to the Audit Committee.

Management of risk
The Group, in the course of its business activities, is exposed
to strategic, financial, operational and compliance risks. Overall
management of these risks is vested in the Board, with the Audit
Committee having delegated authority for reviewing the Group’s
risk management framework. The Board has approved a
formalised but pragmatic Group risk management framework.
This framework is designed to provide assurance that risks are
being identified and managed in a manner appropriate to the
Group’s circumstances. It comprises risk identification and
assessment processes, together with risk response and monitoring
activities. The Group Risk Manager coordinates the risk
assessment and identification activities, and facilitates the
development of appropriate responses to identified risks.
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Shareholder communications
The Board recognises the importance of good communications
with shareholders. The Chief Executive and the Chief Financial
Officer are closely involved in investor relations and the Head of
Corporate Communications has day-to-day responsibility for such
matters. In addition to the Annual Report and Accounts which is
available to all shareholders either in hard copy or electronically,
there is a regular dialogue with institutional shareholders, who also
from time to time visit the Group’s operations.

The Company has approved a communications policy which has
been adopted throughout the Group. The executive Directors are
available, through the Head of Corporate Communications, to
discuss the concerns of major shareholders at any time during
the year and the Chairman holds regular meetings with major
shareholders to discuss governance and strategy. Non-executive
Directors, and in particular the Senior Independent Director, will
continue to make themselves available to attend meetings with
shareholders in order to develop an understanding of their views.
The Company responds as necessary to requests from individual
shareholders on a wide range of issues.

The Company issues quarterly production updates and interim
management statements in April and October to the market, and
these together with copies of institutional analyst presentations
each half year, the Group’s preliminary and half-yearly results and
all announcements issued to the London Stock Exchange are
available on the Company’s website (www.kazakhmys.com).
Furthermore, the Company has taken full advantage of the
provisions within the Companies Act 2006 allowing the website
to be used as the primary means of communication with
shareholders where they have not requested hard copy
documentation. The Shareholder Information section on pages
146 and 147 contains further details on electronic communications
together with more general information of interest to shareholders
which is also included on the Company’s website.

The Notice of Annual General Meeting is circulated to all
shareholders at least 20 business days prior to such meeting and
it is Company policy not to combine resolutions to be proposed
at such meeting. All shareholders are invited to attend the
Annual General Meeting at which there is an opportunity for
individual shareholders to question the Chairman and, through
him, the chairmen of the principal Board committees. After the
Annual General Meeting, shareholders can meet informally with
the Directors.

All members of the Board attended the 2008 Annual General
Meeting. At the Annual General Meeting, the Chairman provides
a brief summary of the Company’s activities for the previous year
to the shareholders. All resolutions at the 2008 Annual General
Meeting were voted by way of an electronic poll. This follows best
practice and allows the Company to count all votes rather than
just those of shareholders attending the meeting. As recommended
by the Combined Code, all resolutions were voted separately
and the voting results, which included all votes cast for, against
and those withheld, together with all proxies lodged prior to
the meeting, were indicated at the meeting and the final results
were made available on the Company’s website as soon as
practicable after the meeting. As in previous years, the Form of
Proxy made it clear that a ‘vote withheld’ is not a vote in law and
will not be counted in the calculation of the proportion of votes
for or against a resolution.
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This report is submitted to shareholders by the Remuneration
Committee on behalf of the Board. The report is in a number
of sections, the first of which deals with the Committee and
its remit. The second part provides details of the Company’s
remuneration policy for executive Directors and senior executives.
The third part describes the elements of remuneration for the year
ended 31 December 2008 and the fourth addresses miscellaneous
matters such as service agreements, non-executive Director fees
and policy on external appointments. The last part provides
details of the remuneration and interests in ordinary shares and
performance share awards for the year ended 31 December 2008.

This report has been prepared in accordance with Schedule 7A
to the Companies Act 1985. The report also meets the relevant
requirements of the Listing Rules of the UK Listing Authority and
describes how the Board has applied the Principles of Good
Governance relating to Directors’ remuneration as set out in the
Combined Code on Corporate Governance. As required by the
Companies Act 1985, a resolution to approve this report will be
proposed at the Company’s Annual General Meeting on 15 May
2009 and will be subject to an advisory shareholder vote.

Ernst & Young LLP has audited the report to the extent required
by the Companies Act 1985, being the sections headed
Directors’ emoluments and the related notes under the heading,
Remuneration for the year to 31 December 2008, and the table
entitled Directors’ interests in ordinary shares under the heading
of the same name.

The Committee and its remit
Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee members are Lord Renwick
(chairman), Philip Aiken and Simon Heale all of whom are
regarded by the Board as independent non-executive Directors
and served throughout the year; they all bring a wide range of
experience from other organisations and their biographies are
shown on page 53.

The Company Secretary acts as secretary to the Committee and
the Chairman and Chief Executive are normally invited by the
Committee to attend meetings to provide information and advice.
No executive participated in any discussion relating to his own
remuneration. The Committee has authority to obtain the advice
of external independent remuneration consultants. It is solely
responsible for their appointment, retention and termination and
for approval of the basis of their fees and other terms. In the year
to 31 December 2008, the Committee received advice on
executive compensation and equity-based incentive schemes
from Hewitt New Bridge Street (Hewitt) (previously New Bridge
Street Consultants LLP). Hewitt also provides advice to the
Company on remuneration matters for senior employees including
equity-based incentives.

Role of the Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee’s principal responsibilities are:

• determining and recommending to the Board the framework
for executive remuneration;

• within the agreed framework, setting, reviewing and
determining individual remuneration arrangements for
executive Directors and certain senior managers;

• designing and approving the rules of share incentive plans
operated by the Company, and for overseeing the
administration of such plans, including deciding on the
allocation and issue of shares to executives under long-term
incentive and deferred share bonus plans; and

• approving the service agreements of each executive Director,
including termination arrangements.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are
available on the Company’s website (www.kazakhmys.com)
or on request from the Company Secretary’s department at the
Company’s registered office. The terms of engagement between
the Committee and Hewitt are also available on request.

Remuneration policy
The Committee seeks to ensure that the Company’s remuneration
policies and practices facilitate the recruitment and motivation
of high calibre personnel with the appropriate skills to implement
the Group’s business objectives, while also relating reward to
performance and aligning the interests of executive Directors and
senior executives with those of shareholders. It aims to follow best
practice in relation to its remuneration policy and, in particular,
complies with the Combined Code.

In constructing and reviewing remuneration packages, the
emphasis is on rewarding executive Directors competitively
for their contribution to the Company’s performance and for
enhancing value to shareholders, taking into account market
comparisons, the competitive pressures in the mining sector,
internal relativities and sound risk management practices. External
comparisons, including annual assessments of the relevant senior
executive remuneration market, look at comparable roles in similar
organisations in terms of operations and market capitalisation.
The Committee continues to take a responsible approach toward
benchmarking and aims to set reward opportunity for executive
Directors within the market competitive range, but with a balanced
overall positioning.

The strategy for executive Director remuneration, in general
terms, is to provide a balanced package around the relevant
mid-market level for comparable mining companies, with
a high proportion of total remuneration being awarded through
performance-related elements. In addition to consideration
of market data, when setting salaries, individual judgement is
exercised by the Committee, having regard to an individual’s
experience and responsibilities. Remuneration arrangements and
performance targets are reviewed on a regular basis to achieve
these objectives.

The Committee strives to ensure that the remuneration policy
provides a strong and demonstrable link between incentives and
the Group’s strategy, and sets a performance-biased framework
for remuneration which is consistent with the Group’s scale and
unique circumstances, and which motivates its executive Directors
and senior executives and enables them to share in the long-term
success of the Group, without delivering excessive benefits or
encouraging excessive risk taking.

The Committee intends to continue with the remuneration policy
for 2009 and subsequent years, and will continue to consult on
material changes with major institutional shareholders.

Executive Director remuneration policy
The Remuneration Committee has determined that those
executive Directors who are major shareholders in the Company
should not be eligible to participate in any share plans or other
long-term incentive arrangements. For Vladimir Kim and Oleg
Novachuk, who are both major shareholders, this recognises
that they already have a very strong alignment with the success
of the business, and will benefit directly from any uplift in the
value of the business.

The new contract arrangements for David Munro are set
out below.

Executive Directors are responsible for their own pension
arrangements so that no part of their pension cost is borne
by the Company.
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Senior executive remuneration policy
The Company operates two share plans for below Board senior
executives, the Kazakhmys Long Term Incentive Plan 2007 (LTIP)
and the Kazakhmys Deferred Share Bonus Plan 2007 (DSBP).
Selected senior executives are eligible to participate depending
on seniority. Both plans will be funded through the purchase of
existing shares thereby avoiding any dilution of shareholders.

The policy in relation to base salaries aims to target base salaries
at or around market median. The strategy for incentive pay is
intended to increase the expected value to make the package
market competitive for senior executives, but to retain as
its aim the achievement of a market median value, subject
to the achievement of stretching targets.

This structure provides a balanced, performance-biased executive
remuneration package which takes into account current best
practice on corporate governance, fits with Kazakhmys’ need to
motivate its senior executives and enables them to share in the
long-term success of the Group, without delivering excessive
benefits or encouraging excessive risk taking.

Key features of senior executive equity incentive plans
The key elements of the equity incentive plans are set out below:

LTIP
Under the plan, awards are granted to below Board senior
executives over Company shares worth up to a maximum of one
and a half times base salary each year. Vesting of the awards is
subject to the achievement of demanding performance criteria
based on Kazakhmys’ relative total shareholder return (TSR)
performance. A fixed three year performance period normally
applies to awards.

Under the TSR performance condition, Kazakhmys’ performance
is compared to a comparator group of UK and international mining
companies, with no vesting below median TSR, 30% vesting for
median performance and full vesting for upper quartile
performance; a sliding scale of vesting will be applied for
performance between median and upper quartile.

The composition of the comparator group is reviewed annually
by the Committee. The current group of comparator companies
(applicable for awards granted in 2008) comprises Alcoa Inc,
Anglo American plc, Antofagasta plc, Aquarius Platinum plc, BHP
Billiton plc, Boliden AB, Eurasian Natural Resources Corporation
PLC, First Quantum Minerals Ltd, Freeport-McMoran Copper &
Gold Inc, Korea Zinc Inc, Lonmin plc, Lundin Mining Corporation,
Rio Tinto plc, Sumitomo Metal Mining Co. Ltd, Teck Cominco Ltd,
Vedanta Resources plc, Xstrata plc and Zinifex Ltd.

Since executive Directors are not eligible to participate in the LTIP
and awards may only be satisfied using existing shares sourced via
the Company’s employee benefit trust, shareholder approval has
not been sought for the plan. However, approval will be sought
at such time as an executive Director is selected to participate or
the Company wishes to satisfy awards using newly issued shares
or treasury shares.

DSBP
Deferred share bonus allocations are awarded under the plan,
under which each year one half of the total bonus earned by
eligible below Board senior executives is deferred and invested
in the Company’s shares. Provided the executive remains in
employment the shares will normally be released after two years.

The first deferral took place in April 2008, in respect of the 2007
bonus awards. The next deferral will take place in April 2009.

The current policy for senior executive participation in the
Company’s equity incentive plans is that participants do not
participate in both plans. The LTIP is reserved for the most senior
employees, with the DSBP being operated for the tier below.

Performance graph
The graph below shows the value, at 31 December 2008, of £100
invested in Kazakhmys PLC shares on 6 October 2005 compared
with an equivalent investment in the FTSE 100 Index and FTSE
350 Mining Sector Index. These indices were chosen as they
are broad-based indices of which the Company is a member and
are widely recognised performance comparisons for large UK
mining companies.

Elements of remuneration for executive Directors
The principal components of remuneration for executive Directors
are base salary, benefits in kind and an annual bonus opportunity.

Base salary and benefits in kind
Base salaries are reviewed each year and are effective from
1 January each year. The Committee seeks to establish a base
salary for each executive Director, determined by individual
performance and experience, the size and nature of the role,
comparator group relativities, internal relativities and Kazakhmys’
performance. Base salaries paid to executive Directors are
adjusted to take account of the absence of any pension provision.
Benefits include use of a car for business purposes (for Vladimir
Kim and Oleg Novachuk) and medical insurance.

Vladimir Kim and Oleg Novachuk have both elected to have their
salaries reduced with effect from 31 March 2009 to £930,000 and
£750,000, respectively. Their remuneration consists entirely of
base salary, benefits in kind and an annual bonus opportunity, and
they are required to make their own pension provision. For David
Munro who entered into a new contract on 30 March 2009, his
salary in his new role will be £600,000 per annum reflecting the
more active direct role he will play in modernising and improving
the Company’s operations in Kazakhstan.
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Annual bonus opportunity
At the beginning of each year, the Committee reviews the annual
performance bonus scheme to ensure it remains competitive,
continues to incentivise the executive Directors and aligns their
interests with those of shareholders.

The annual bonus opportunity comprises four discrete elements:
a financial performance component, an operational performance
component (including safety), a strategic development measure
(including execution of new projects) and a shareholder return
measure. In determining the actual bonus payments, the
Committee takes into consideration such factors as performance
related to the Group’s financial KPIs, operational performance
against budget, safety performance, business development
activities and performance against industry peers. Payments are
made in return for the achievement of stretching objectives.

Bonuses (which for executive Directors are payable wholly in cash)
are disclosed for the year in which they are earned although they
are not due and payable until the following March/April after the
release of the audited financial results. The maximum
performance-related bonus payable to executive Directors is
120% of base salary, and has been set by reference to the bonus
potential of those executives performing similar roles in
comparable mining and metals companies quoted on the London
Stock Exchange. Lower limits are, in general, applicable to other
senior staff. For the achievement of target performance, 60%
of maximum entitlement is payable. No element of the bonus
is guaranteed.

In 2008, for Vladimir Kim and Oleg Novachuk the operational
performance component (including safety) was 40 percentage
points of the maximum bonus entitlement with the other three
elements making up the remainder in equal proportions. For
David Munro, the strategic development measure was
60 percentage points, the operational performance element
(including safety) 30 percentage points and the remaining two
measures 15 percentage points each.

Bonuses earned by executive Directors in 2008 were 35% of base
salary for Vladimir Kim and Oleg Novachuk, and 40% of base
salary for David Munro. These payments reflected poor total
shareholder return and safety performance but satisfactory
financial and operational performance.

David Munro – Terms of New Contract
David Munro is a highly talented, sought-after and experienced
mining executive and his new role is of key importance to the
Group in terms of the design and implementation of a major
programme of change in Kazakhstan. Accordingly, as part of
the negotiations on David Munro’s new contract, to facilitate his
retention and to create a strong alignment with shareholders’
interests, the Committee has agreed, following consultation with
the Company’s major institutional shareholders and the main
shareholder bodies over the terms of his new contract, to make
David Munro, in his case only, a special once-only share option
grant under Listing Rule 9.4.2R(2) (the ‘Option’).

The terms of the Option are:

• the Option will be granted by deed over eight times his salary
worth of the Company’s shares at an option price per share set
by the Committee on grant, and equal to the middle market
quotation of a share immediately prior to the date of grant.
The Option will be granted as soon as reasonably practicable
following the commencement of David Munro’s new contract;

• the option is not transferable, except on death, and is
not pensionable.

Satisfying the Option
It is intended that the Option will be satisfied using existing shares
acquired by the trustees of the Company’s employee benefit trust
in the open market.

The Option may, on exercise, be satisfied as a share appreciation
right, in which circumstance David Munro will not be required to
pay the aggregate option price on exercise and only shares worth
an amount on exercise equal to the gross gain will be transferred
to David Munro. The Committee may also determine to satisfy
the Option (in whole or part) in cash.

Vesting period and performance conditions
The Option may normally be exercised during the 12 month period
commencing on the third anniversary of the date of grant, subject
to the extent that the performance condition has been satisfied and
the Committee has determined that in his new role David Munro
has made a significant contribution to an uplift in the share price.

To focus David Munro’s interests on creating shareholder value,
the performance condition will measure growth in share price on
an ‘end to end’ basis over a fixed three year period commencing
on the date of grant. The base share price will be equal to the
option price and the required share price will be calculated using
the same method used to determine the option price (i.e. the
middle market quotation immediately prior to the end of the
performance period). The vesting schedule will be as follows:

Percentage increase Percentage of the
in share price over Option that will
the performance period become exercisable

Equal to or greater than 50% 100%

Between 30% and 50% Between 33% and 100%
on a straight-line basis

30% 33%

Less than 30% Nil

To the extent that the above targets are not satisfied on the
third anniversary of grant, the Option will lapse (i.e. there will
be no retesting).

The Committee may, in its discretion, vary the performance
conditions if an event has occurred which causes the Committee
to consider that it would be appropriate to amend the
performance conditions, provided the Committee considers the
varied conditions are fair and reasonable and not materially less
challenging in the circumstances than the original conditions
would have been but for the event in question.

Rights of early exercise
The Option will normally lapse upon David Munro ceasing to be a
Director or employee within the Kazakhmys Group. However, in the
event that David Munro is a ‘good leaver’ (e.g. death, disability,
ill-health, retirement or any other reason the Committee permits)
prior to the first anniversary of the date of grant or ceases for any
reason other than for cause or gross misconduct on or after the
first anniversary of the date of grant the Committee will, in its
discretion, determine whether or not the Option may be capable
of being exercised from either the date of early cessation or the
third anniversary of the date of grant. In these circumstances,
the Option will only become exercisable to the extent that the
performance condition has, in the opinion of the Committee,
been satisfied at the time of cessation (having regard to the
shortened performance period) or, to the extent that the Option
may be exercised from the third anniversary of grant, over the
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full three year performance period, and the Committee has
determined he has made a significant contribution to an uplift in
the share price. The Committee may, in its discretion, reduce the
total number of shares over which the Option may be exercised
in the event that David Munro ceases to be a Director or employee
within the Kazakhmys Group.

In the event of a takeover, scheme of arrangement or demerger
of the Company the Option will become capable of exercise early,
but only to the extent that the performance conditions have been
satisfied at that time (or, in the opinion of the Remuneration
Committee, would have been satisfied had the event in question
not occurred).

In the event of an internal corporate reorganisation the Option
will be replaced by an equivalent new option over shares in a new
holding company unless the Committee decides that the Option
should become exercisable on the basis which would apply in the
case of a takeover.

Other
Any shares allotted or transferred when the Option is exercised
will rank equally with shares then in issue (except for rights arising
by reference to a record date prior to their allotment or transfer).
In the event of any variation of the Company’s share capital or in
the event of a demerger, payment of a special dividend or similar
event which materially affects the market price of the shares, the
Committee may make such adjustment as it considers appropriate
to the number of shares subject to the Option and/or the option
price payable. The Option will not confer any shareholder rights
until the Option has been exercised and shares have been
transferred to David Munro. The Committee will not amend the
arrangement in any respect to the advantage of the recipient
other than a minor alteration made to benefit the administration
of the arrangement, to take account of a change in legislation
or to obtain or maintain favourable tax, exchange control or
regulatory treatment for David Munro or for any company in the
Kazakhmys Group.

Change management plan
During the negotiations on David Munro’s new contract,
it was agreed that a key part of the programme of change
to be developed and implemented by him across the Group’s
businesses in Kazakhstan would be a plan to deliver a percentage
(up to 10%) of the net cost savings based on the cost of sales for
these businesses of approximately $900 million over the next
three years to around 600 managers in the Group. This plan is
designed to drive the right behaviour and identify efficiencies
throughout the Group’s processes. It was also agreed that David
Munro would be entitled to participate in the rewards generated
from this change process of which he is the lead architect.
However, any annual bonuses David Munro receives over the next
three years will be deducted from any eventual pay-out under the
change management plan.

Full details of any payments made under the change management
plan will be disclosed in the Directors’ Remuneration Report.

Pensions
The Company does not provide pension benefits on behalf of any
executive Directors. The absence of any pension provision is taken
into account when setting base salaries.

Other remuneration matters
Service agreements
The Company’s policy is that executive Directors will be employed
on a contract that can be terminated by the Company on giving
no more than one year’s notice, with the Director required to give

up to six months’ notice of termination. The contracts of Vladimir
Kim and Oleg Novachuk are terminable by either the Company
or the executive on three months’ notice. These were granted
to them on 26 September 2005. The contract of David Munro
is terminable by either the Company or him giving six months’
notice. The contract was granted to him on 30 March 2009.

The Committee continues to believe that, in the event of early
termination, it is more appropriate to consider the specific
circumstances of each case. This includes, where appropriate,
phased payment of compensation over a fixed period or until
the executive Director finds a new position, if earlier, and
mitigation of payment of compensation through providing a legal
obligation on the part of the outgoing executive Director to seek
new employment, rather than explicitly provide for compensation
payments in service contracts.

Policy on external appointments
The Committee believes that the Company can benefit from
executive Directors holding one approved non-executive
directorship of another company, offering Directors the
opportunity to broaden their experience and knowledge.
Company policy is to allow Directors to retain fees paid from any
such appointment. David Munro is a non-executive director of
Lonmin plc and is a member of its Remuneration Committee and
Safety and Sustainability Committee. In this capacity he receives
a total annual fee of £67,500 which he retains.

Non-executive Directors
Non-executive Directors do not have service contracts but
each has a letter of appointment with the Company. Each letter
of appointment provides for a one-month notice period.
Non-executive Directors are normally appointed for two
consecutive three-year terms with any third term of three years
being subject to rigorous review and taking into account the need
progressively to refresh the Board. They are subject to re-election
at the AGM following their appointment and subsequently at
intervals of no more than three years. Their dates of appointment
are shown in their respective biographies on page 53.

Fees for the non-executive Directors are approved by the Board,
upon the recommendation of the executive Directors.

Reduction of non-executive Director fees
Fees for the non-executive Directors were set at the time of the
IPO at £120,000 per annum, taking account of the need to attract
individuals of the right calibre and reflecting the time commitment
required from them, including attending Board and Committee
meetings in Kazakhstan and regularly visiting the operations there.
The Board has considered further the fees for the non-executive
Directors and has approved that, with effect from 31 March 2009,
the base fee for non-executive Directors should be reduced to
£84,000 per annum, with an additional £12,000 per annum for
the Senior Independent Director and the Chairmen of the Audit
and Remuneration Committees and £6,000 per annum for any
members of the GHSE and Audit Committees who are not paid
as the Senior Independent Director or Committee chairmen. No
additional fee will be paid to the Chairman or members of the
Nomination Committee. Except for Vladimir Ni (see note 3 in the
table below), non-executive Directors receive no benefits other
than their fees and are not eligible to participate in either the
annual bonus plan or in any share incentive plan, nor receive
any pension benefits from the Company.
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Annual
Base performance Total Total

salary/fees Benefits1 bonus 2008 2007
Directors’ emoluments £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Chairman
Vladimir Kim2 1,029 34 360 1,423 1,699

Chief Executive
Oleg Novachuk 819 35 287 1,141 1,295

Executive Director
David Munro 525 1 210 736 901

Non-executive Directors
Philip Aiken 120 – – 120 120
Simon Heale 120 – – 120 120
Vladimir Ni3 385 – – 385 370
Lord Renwick 120 – – 120 120
James Rutland4 120 – – 120 120
Daulet Yergozhin5 14 – – 14 –

Former Directors
Yong Keu Cha6 – – – – 436

Total 3,252 70 857 4,179 5,181

1 Benefits include all taxable benefits arising from employment by the Company, including provision of a car for business purposes (for Vladimir Kim and
Oleg Novachuk) and medical insurance.

2 Vladimir Kim received an aggregate salary of £1,029,000 per annum. Of this salary, $1,006,054 was paid by Kazakhmys Corporation LLC and the balance was paid
by the Company. An adjustment is made to his salary each year to ensure that his aggregate salary for the year equates to his salary denominated in UK pounds
sterling as a result of exchange rate differences.

3 Vladimir Ni’s salary consists of two components: a non-executive Director’s fee of £120,000 per annum in respect of his duties as a non-executive Director of the
Company and a salary of $500,000 (£265,000) per annum in respect of his duties as chairman of Kazakhmys Corporation LLC.

4 Jim Rutland ceased to be a Director on 5 December 2008.
5 Daulet Yergozhin was appointed a non-executive Director on 19 November 2008. As a minister of the Government of Kazakhstan, he is not permitted to receive
fees personally.

6 Yong Keu Cha stood down as Special Adviser to the Board on 31 December 2007. In 2007, he received a base salary of £400,000 and benefits in kind. No
compensation payments were made to him when he stood down. No payments were made to him in 2008. Payments made to Yong Keu Cha are disclosed
under former directors.

Remuneration for the year to 31 December 2008
The total emoluments of the Directors who held office at 31 December 2008 for the year to that date were as shown in the table below.
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Annual
Base performance Total
salary bonus 2008

Senior managers’ emoluments £000 £000 £000

Matthew Hird1 409 163 572
Eduard Ogay 523 – 523

Total emoluments 932 163 1,095

1 Matthew Hird has waived any increase in base salary for 2009.

Matthew Hird, Chief Financial Officer, is entitled to participate in a defined contribution pension scheme operated for all UK-based staff
(excluding executive Directors). Eduard Ogay, Chief Executive Officer of Kazakhmys Corporation LLC, is a member of a defined
contribution pension scheme operated for the majority of Kazakhstan-based employees to allow them to contribute the required
pension amounts under Kazakh law.

LTIP awards for senior executives
Senior executives, excluding executive Directors, are entitled to participate in the Kazakhmys Long Term Incentive Plan 2007. Awards
under this plan were granted for nil consideration over a total of 66,202 shares on 7 April 2008, when the prevailing market price was
1,697p; these awards will vest on 7 April 2011 to the extent that the performance condition set out on page 61 is satisfied. Awards
granted under the plan included 19,208 awards to Matthew Hird. Further details of the Company’s senior executive equity incentive
plans are given in note 27 on page 112.

Directors’ interests in ordinary shares
The interests of the Directors who held office at 31 December 2008 in the Company’s ordinary shares as at that date and 1 January 2008
are shown in table below.

Directors’ interests Ordinary shares at Ordinary shares at
in ordinary shares 1 January 2008 31 December 2008

Philip Aiken – 4,000
Simon Heale – 5,000
Vladimir Kim 208,183,588 208,183,588
David Munro 41,211 41,211
Vladimir Ni 11,686,855 11,686,855
Oleg Novachuk 34,923,423 34,923,423
Lord Renwick 4,000 4,000

1 No changes in Directors’ interests occurred in the period between 1 January 2009 and 30 March 2009.

2 The market value of the Company’s shares in the year was in the range of 173.8p to 1,943p.

On behalf of the Board

Lord Renwick
Chairman, Remuneration Committee
30 March 2009

Senior managers’ remuneration
The emoluments for the year ended 31 December 2008 of Matthew Hird, Chief Financial Officer, and Eduard Ogay, Chief Executive
Officer of Kazakhmys Corporation LLC, the Group’s senior managers, were as shown in the table below.
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Principal activities
Kazakhmys PLC is the holding company of the Kazakhmys Group.
The principal activities of the Group are the production of copper
and other metals as by-products, including zinc, silver and gold,
and power generation. A list of main subsidiary undertakings,
and their principal activity, is given in note 47 on page 131.

Directors
The Directors of the Company who served during the year were
as indicated on page 53, together with James Rutland who ceased
to be a Director on 5 December 2008. Details of Directors’
interests in shares can be found in the Directors’ Remuneration
Report on page 65.

Daulet Yergozhin and Peter Hickson were appointed to the
Board as non-executive Directors on 19 November 2008 and
5 March 2009, respectively. Newly appointed Directors are required
to retire at the first Annual General Meeting (AGM) following
their appointment and to seek election by shareholders. They
will therefore both be seeking election by shareholders at the
2009 AGM.

In addition, Directors are subject to re-election by shareholders
every three years. However, no Directors are subject to retirement
by rotation at the forthcoming AGM.

During the year no Director had any interest in any shares or
debentures of the Company’s subsidiaries, or any material
interests in any contract with the Company or a subsidiary being
a contract of significance in relation to the Company’s business.

Directors’ indemnity and insurance
Kazakhmys maintains liability insurance for its Directors and
officers. The Company has also granted indemnities to each of the
Directors, Matthew Hird (Chief Financial Officer) and the Company
Secretary to the extent permitted by law. These indemnities are
uncapped in amount, in relation to certain losses and liabilities
which they may incur to third parties in the course of acting as
a Director (or officer or company secretary as the case may be)
of the Company or any of its associated companies. Neither the
indemnity nor insurance cover provides cover in the event that
a Director (or officer or company secretary as the case may be)
is proved to have acted fraudulently or dishonestly.

The indemnity is categorised as a ‘qualifying third-party
indemnity’ for the purposes of the Companies Act 2006 and will
continue in force for the benefit of Directors (or officer or company
secretary as the case may be) on an ongoing basis.

Dividend
As noted in the Chairman’s Statement on page 8, the Board
does not recommend the payment of a final dividend given the
fall in commodity price, the continued market uncertainty and
the emphasis on conserving cash. The total dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2008 comprises the interim dividend of
14.0 US cents per share paid on 24 October 2008.

Annual General Meeting
The Company’s Annual General Meeting will be held at 12.15pm
on Friday 15 May 2009 at The Lincoln Centre, 18 Lincoln’s Inn
Fields, London WC2A 3ED. Details of the meeting venue and
the resolutions to be proposed, including amendments to the
Articles of Association, together with explanatory notes, are set
out in a separate Notice of Meeting which accompanies this
Annual Report and Accounts.

A summary of the business carried out at the AGM will be
published on the Company’s website (www.kazakhmys.com).

Share capital
The Company’s authorised share capital as at 31 December 2008
was £150 million comprising 750 million ordinary shares of
20 pence each. The Company’s issued share capital as at that date
was 535,240,338 ordinary shares of 20 pence, each credited as
fully paid. Further details of the Company’s authorised and issued
share capital are shown in note 26 on pages 111 and 112.

The Company’s shares are listed on the London and Kazakhstan
stock exchanges.

Purchase of own shares
The Company was given authority at the 2008 AGM to make
market purchases of up to 45,495,428 of its own ordinary shares
of 20 pence each at a maximum market price per share of 105%
of the average closing price of the Company’s shares (as derived
from the London Stock Exchange’s Daily Official List) for the five
trading days prior to the relevant buy-back. This authority will
expire at the conclusion of the 2009 AGM and approval from
shareholders will be sought at that meeting to renew the authority
for a further year. During the year ended 31 December 2008,
the Company completed the share buy-back programme of up
to $400 million announced in September 2007, having purchased
15,079,577 ordinary shares of 20 pence each at an average price
of £12.73 per share. Of these shares, 5,169,000 (representing
1.12% of the ordinary shares in issue on 1 January 2008) had
been bought back and cancelled for a total consideration
of £61,708,631 ($121 million), including expenses, during
the year ended 31 December 2008.

Major shareholdings
As at 30 March 2009, the Company had been notified under
Rule 5 of the Disclosure and Transparency Rules of the Financial
Services Authority of the following interests of 3% or more
in its ordinary share capital:

Percentage of
Number of total ordinary

ordinary shares share capital
of 20 pence held as at

Name of holder each held 30 March 2009

Cuprum Holding B.V. 135,944,325 25.4

State Privatisation
Committee of the
Ministry of Finance of
the Republic of Kazakhstan 80,286,050 15.0

Tobermory Holding
Europe B.V. 50,735,450 9.5

Harper Finance Limited 29,706,901 5.5

Perry Partners S.A. 21,503,813 4.0

1 Vladimir Kim holds a 100% interest in Cuprum Holding B.V. Tobermory
Holding Europe B.V. and Perry Partners S.A.

2 Oleg Novachuk holds a 100% interest in Harper Finance Limited.

Relationship agreement
In September 2005, Cuprum Holding B.V., Perry Partners S.A.,
Harper Finance Limited (together the Major Shareholders),
Vladimir Kim, Yong Keu Cha and Oleg Novachuk (together the
Beneficial Owners) and the Company entered into a relationship
agreement to regulate the ongoing relationship between them.
The principal purpose of the relationship agreement is to ensure
that the Group is capable of carrying on its business for the benefit
of the shareholders of the Company as a whole. Under the terms
of the agreement, it shall terminate in respect of a Beneficial
Owner if such Beneficial Owner ceases to control at least
a shareholding of 10% of the Company. As of 14 December 2006
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and 2 April 2007, Yong Keu Cha and Oleg Novachuk, respectively,
ceased to be bound by the terms of the relationship agreement,
their holdings having fallen below 10%.

Political and charitable donations
The Group did not give any money for political purposes in the
United Kingdom nor did it make any donations to EU political
organisations or incur any EU political expenditure during the year.
The Group made charitable donations of $5.3 million during the year
(2007: $4.8 million). Further details of payments for charitable and
community purposes made during the year are given on page 37.

Suppliers
It is the Company’s policy that payments to suppliers are made
in accordance with the terms and conditions agreed between
the Company and its suppliers, provided that all relevant trading
terms and conditions have been complied with.

The average creditor payment period for the year ended 31
December 2008 for the Company was 6.0 days (2007: 9.4 days).

Market value of land and buildings
Land acquired prior to 1 January 2002, is carried in the balance
sheet at deemed cost resulting from a revaluation, which was
undertaken as at 1 January 2002 as part of the Group’s transition
to reporting under IFRS. Land and buildings acquired since
1 January 2002 are recorded at cost. It is not practical to estimate
the market value of land, buildings and mineral reserves and
resources at each balance sheet date.

Policy on derivatives and financial instruments
The Group’s objectives and policies on financial risk management,
and information on the Group’s exposures to foreign currency,
credit, commodity, price, liquidity and interest rate risks can be
found in note 34 commencing on page 116.

Significant agreements – change of control
The following significant agreement contains certain termination
and other rights for the counterparties upon a change of control
of the Company. The terms of a $2.1 billion pre-export finance
debt facility (the ‘Facility’) dated 29 February 2008 between
the Company and the financial institutions named in the Facility
provide that if any person (excluding Vladimir Kim or Oleg
Novachuk) or group of people acting in concert secures control
of the Company: (i) a lender under the Facility shall not be obliged
to fund a loan; and (ii) if a body of lenders representing more than
two-thirds of the amount of the Facility so require, the parties
shall enter into negotiations for a period of not more than 30 days
with a view to agreeing alternative terms for continuing the Facility.
If no alternative basis has been agreed during such period then
the lenders may cancel the commitments of the lenders to lend
the Facility and declare all outstanding amounts due and payable.

Going concern
The Group’s business activities, together with the factors likely
to impact its future growth and operating performance are set out
in the Business Review on pages 2 to 50. The financial position of
the Group, its cash flows, financial risk management policies and
available debt facilities are described in the Financial Review on
pages 38 to 47. In addition, note 34 commencing on page 116
sets out the Group’s objectives, policies and processes for
managing its capital structure, liquidity position and financial risks
arising from exposures to commodity prices, interest rates and
foreign exchange.

As described in the Market Overview commencing on page 22,
the global economic downturn has resulted in a significant fall in

commodity prices during the fourth quarter of 2008 and into 2009.
Whilst the Group has good access to customers in the key markets
of China and Europe as a result of its advantageous geographical
position, a period of sustained commodity price weakness will
significantly reduce the profitability of the Group and cash
generation from the operating businesses compared to 2008.

As a result of acquisitions made during 2008, the Group has
moved to a net debt position of $1,628 million as at 31 December
2008. Of the outstanding debt balance of $2,200 million at
31 December 2008, $626 million is repayable over the next 12
months to March 2010. Further details of the repayment profile
can be found in note 30 on page 115.

In response to market conditions, the Group has implemented
a series of cost cutting measures in the operating businesses,
including a significant reduction in discretionary capital
expenditure for 2009. The Directors have also not recommended
the payment of a final dividend for 2008. Advanced negotiations
over the sale of a proportion of Ekibastuz GRES-1 are taking place
which, if successful, should generate significant proceeds which
will be used to reduce the Group’s debt. In addition, the Group’s
future borrowing requirements are being discussed with
its bankers, its major shareholders and the Government of
Kazakhstan. The Group’s major capital expenditure projects
will only proceed to the extent that committed financing is
fully secured.

As at 31 December 2008, the Group has available funds
totalling $572 million, and an undrawn revolving credit facility of
$200 million of which $150 million has been put on a committed
basis to 31 March 2010. The Group also holds a 26% stake in
ENRC (a FTSE 100 company listed on the London Stock Exchange)
which, at 27 March 2009, had a market value of $2,165 million.

The Directors believe that the Group’s current cash position and
available credit lines, the cost cutting measures implemented
within the operating businesses, together with the curtailment in
discretionary capital spending, anticipated sales proceeds from the
disposal of a proportion of Ekibastuz GRES-1 and other potential
asset disposals, all provide sufficient cover to meet the Group’s
anticipated cash flow requirements. After making enquiries, the
Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Group has
adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the
foreseeable future. Accordingly, they continue to adopt the going
concern basis in preparing the financial statements.

Memorandum and Articles of Association
The following description summarises certain provisions of the
Company’s Memorandum of Association and of its Articles of
Association and applicable English law concerning companies
(the Companies Acts 1985 and 2006). This summary is qualified
in its entirety by reference to the Company’s Articles of
Association and the Companies Acts.

The Company’s Articles of Association may only be amended by
a special resolution at a general meeting of shareholders. Where
class rights are varied, such amendments must be approved by
the members of each class of shares respectively.

At the 2009 AGM a special resolution will be put to shareholders
proposing amendments to the existing Articles of Association
primarily in order to accommodate the provisions of the
Companies Act 2006, to take account of the implementation of
the EU Shareholder Rights Directive and to increase the number
of Directors the Company is permitted to appoint. If adopted,
the changes will be reflected in the summary of the Articles of
Association which will appear in the 2009 Annual Report
and Accounts.
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Rights attaching to shares
The rights attaching to the ordinary shares of the Company are
defined in the Company’s Articles of Association. The Articles of
Association may be changed with the agreement of shareholders.
A shareholder whose name appears on the register can choose
whether his shares are evidenced by share certificates or held
in electronic form in CREST (the electronic settlement system
in the UK).

Voting rights
Members may attend any general meeting of the Company.
On a show of hands every member (or his representative) who
is present in person or by proxy has one vote on each resolution
and on a poll every member (or his representative) who is present
in person or by proxy shall have one vote on each resolution for
each share of which he is the holder.

At any general meeting a resolution put to a vote of the meeting
shall be decided on a show of hands, unless (before or on the
declaration of the result of the show of hands) a poll is duly
demanded. Subject to the provisions of Companies Acts, a poll
may be demanded by the chairman of the meeting or by at least
five members present in person or by proxy and entitled to vote
at the meeting or a member or members present in person or by
proxy representing not less than one tenth of the total voting
rights of all the members having the right to vote at the meeting
or a member or members present in person or by proxy holding
shares conferring a right to vote at the meeting, being shares on
which an aggregate sum has been paid up equal to not less than
one tenth of the total sum paid up on all the shares conferring that
right. As a result of changes introduced by the Companies Act
2006 to allow multiple proxies appointed by a single member
to vote on a show of hands, resulting in the potential for a vote
on a show of hands to be unrepresentative of the wishes of the
meeting of the Company, all substantive resolutions at general
meetings will be put to a poll vote.

Any form of proxy sent by the Company to shareholders in
relation to any general meeting must be received whether in
written form or electronic form, not less than 48 hours before the
time appointed for holding the meeting or adjourned meeting at
which the person named in the appointment proposes to vote.

Dividend rights
Shareholders may by ordinary resolution declare dividends
but the amount of the dividend may not exceed the amount
recommended by the Board. The Board can declare and pay
interim dividends. The Board may declare and pay such interim
dividends (including any dividend payable at a fixed rate) of the
amounts and on the dates and for the periods it decides provided
the distributable profits of the Company justify such payment. If at
any time the share capital of the Company is divided into different
classes, the Board may pay such interim dividends on shares which
rank after shares conferring preferential rights with regard to
dividend as well as on shares conferring preferential rights, unless
at the time of payment any preferential dividend is in arrears.

If a dividend has not been claimed for 12 years after the
date such dividend became due for payment, it may be invested
or otherwise made use of by the Board for the benefit of
the Company.

Transfer of shares
The Board may refuse to register a transfer of a certificated share
which is not fully paid (or renunciation of a renounceable letter
of allotment), provided that refusal does not prevent dealings in
shares in the Company from taking place on an open and proper
basis. The Board may also refuse to register a transfer unless

(i) it is in respect of only one class of shares, (ii) it is in favour of
a single transferee or not more than four joint transferees, (iii) the
instrument of transfer is lodged, duly stamped (if so required) and
delivered for registration to the office or such other place as the
Board may determine accompanied by the certificate for the
shares to which it relates and such other evidence as the Board
may reasonably require to prove the title of the transferor or
person renouncing to make the transfer.

Transfers of uncertificated shares must be carried out using
CREST and the Board can refuse a transfer of an uncertificated
share in accordance with the regulations governing the operation
of CREST.

The Board may decide to suspend the registration of transfers,
for up to 30 days a year, by closing the register to shareholders.
The Board cannot suspend the registration of transfers of any
uncertificated shares without gaining consent from CREST.

Electronic and web communications
The Company’s Articles of Association allow for communications
to its members to be made in electronic form and, in addition,
they also deem documents or information made available on the
Company’s website in accordance with the Companies Act 2006,
validly sent or supplied by the Company. These provisions require
the members to ‘opt-in’ to receive documents or information
in paper form, making electronic communications the default
method of communication. The provisions require the Company
to consult with members as to whether they wish to receive
information by means of the Company’s website.

Employee benefit trust
In order to hedge its obligations under the Kazakhmys Long Term
Incentive Plan 2007 and the Kazakhmys Deferred Share Bonus
Plan 2007, the Company intends to fund an employee benefit
trust to acquire shares in the Company. Shares used to satisfy
the obligations under both plans will be purchased on the open
market thereby avoiding any dilution of shareholders. Where
shares are held by the employee benefit trust, the trustee will
abstain from voting.

Winding up
In the event the Company is wound up, the liquidator may, with
the sanction of a special resolution of the Company and any other
sanction required by law, divide among the members in specie
all or any part of the assets of the Company and he can value any
assets and determine how the division shall be carried out as
between the members or different classes of members. The
liquidator may also vest the whole or any part of the assets in
trustees on such trusts for the benefit of the members, but no
member shall be compelled to accept any assets on which there
is a liability.

Variation of rights
If at any time the share capital of the Company is divided into
shares of different classes, the rights attached to any share or
class of shares in the Company may be varied or abrogated in
such manner (if any) as may be provided by such rights or, in the
absence of any such provision, either with the consent in writing
of the holders of not less than three quarters in nominal value of
the issued shares of the class or upon the adoption of a resolution
passed at a separate general meeting of the holders of shares
of that class.

The rights or privileges attached to any class of shares shall be
deemed not to be varied or abrogated by the creation or issue
of any new shares ranking equally with or subsequent to those
already issued or by the reduction of the capital paid up on such
shares or by the purchase or redemption by the Company of its
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own shares in accordance with the provisions of the Companies
Acts and the Company’s Articles of Association.

Powers of the Directors
The Directors are responsible for the management of the business
of the Company and may exercise all powers of the Company
subject to applicable legislation and regulation and the
Memorandum and Articles of Association.

The Directors are empowered to exercise all the powers of
the Company to borrow money up to an aggregate amount
of $5 billion.

A resolution to increase the maximum number of Directors
from 10 to 12 shall be proposed at the forthcoming AGM.

Notification of the acquisition or disposal of major
shareholdings
Rule 5 of the Disclosures and Transparency Rules requires
disclosure to the issuer by (a) holders of shares with voting rights
attached, (b) those entitled to exercise voting rights, and (c) those
holding financial instruments which result in a right to acquire
shares with voting rights already in issue, when their interests reach,
exceed or fall below 3%, and every percentage point above 3%.

Audit information
As required by Section 234ZA of the Companies Act 1985, each
of the Directors has approved this report and confirmed that so
far as he is aware, there is no relevant audit information (being
information needed by the auditors in connection with preparing
their audit report), of which the Company’s auditors are unaware,
and he has taken all steps that he ought to have reasonably taken
as a Director to make himself aware of any relevant audit
information and to establish that the Company’s auditors are
aware of that information.

Auditors
Having reviewed the independence and effectiveness of the
auditors, the Audit Committee has recommended to the Board
that the existing auditors, Ernst & Young LLP, be reappointed.
Ernst & Young LLP have indicated their willingness to continue
in office and ordinary resolutions reappointing them as auditors
and authorising the Directors to set their remuneration will be
proposed at the 2009 AGM.

Responsibilities of the Directors for the preparation
of the financial statements
The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report
and the Group and parent company financial statements
in accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare Group and parent
company financial statements for each financial year. Under that
law they are required to prepare the Group financial statements
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union and applicable law and
have elected to prepare the parent company financial statements
on the same basis.

The Group and parent company financial statements are required
by law and IFRSs as adopted by the European Union to present
fairly the financial position of the Group and the parent company
and the performance for that period; the Companies Act 1985
provides in relation to such financial statements that references
in the relevant part of that Act to financial statements giving a true
and fair view are references to their achieving a fair presentation.

In preparing each of the Group and parent company financial
statements, the Directors are required to:

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them
consistently;

• make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

• state whether they have been prepared in accordance with
IFRSs as adopted by the European Union; and

• prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis
unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Group and the
parent company will continue in business.

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting
records that disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the
financial position of the parent company and of the Group and
that enable them to ensure that their financial statements comply
with the Companies Act 1985. They have general responsibility
for taking such steps as are reasonably open to them to safeguard
the assets of the Group and to prevent and detect fraud and other
irregularities, and have adopted a control framework for
application across the Group.

Under applicable law and regulations, the Directors are also
responsible for preparing a Directors’ Report, a Directors’
Remuneration Report and a Governance Framework that comply
with that law and those regulations.

Responsibility statement
The Directors confirm to the best of their knowledge that:

• the consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards;

• the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of
the Company and the undertakings included in the
consolidation taken as a whole; and

• the Annual Report and Accounts includes a fair review of the
development and performance of the business and the position
of the Company and the undertakings included in the
consolidation taken as a whole, together with a description
of the principal risks and uncertainties that they face.

The Directors’ Report comprising pages 1 to 69, and including
the sections of the Annual Report and Accounts referred to in
these pages, has been approved by the Board and signed on
its behalf by:

Robert Welch
Company Secretary
30 March 2009

Registered Office
6th Floor, Cardinal Place
100 Victoria Street
London
SW1E 5JL

Registered in England and Wales No. 5180783
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We have audited the Group and parent company financial
statements (the ‘financial statements’) of Kazakhmys PLC for the
year ended 31 December 2008 which comprise the Consolidated
Income Statement, the Consolidated and Company Balance
Sheets, the Consolidated and Company Cash Flow Statements,
the Consolidated and Company Statement of Changes in Equity
and the related notes 1 to 49. These financial statements have
been prepared under the accounting policies set out therein. We
have also audited the information in the Directors’ Remuneration
Report that is described as having been audited.

This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body,
in accordance with Section 235 of the Companies Act 1985.
Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to
the Company’s members those matters we are required to state
to them in an auditors’ report and for no other purpose. To the
fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume
responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the
Company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this
report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of Directors and auditors
The Directors’ responsibilities for preparing the Annual Report,
the Directors’ Remuneration Report and the financial statements in
accordance with applicable United Kingdom law and International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European
Union are set out in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities.

Our responsibility is to audit the financial statements and the
part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited in
accordance with relevant legal and regulatory requirements
and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland).

We report to you our opinion as to whether the financial
statements give a true and fair view and whether the financial
statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report
to be audited have been properly prepared in accordance with
the Companies Act 1985 and, as regards the Group financial
statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation. We also report to
you whether in our opinion the information given in the Directors’
Report is consistent with the financial statements.

In addition we report to you if, in our opinion, the Company has
not kept proper accounting records, if we have not received all
the information and explanations we require for our audit, or if
information specified by law regarding Directors’ remuneration
and other transactions are not disclosed.

We review whether the Corporate Governance Statement reflects
the Company’s compliance with the nine provisions of the 2006
Combined Code specified for our review by the Listing Rules of
the Financial Services Authority, and we report if it does not. We
are not required to consider whether the Board’s statements on
internal control cover all risks and controls, or form an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s corporate governance procedures
or its risk and control procedures.

We read other information contained in the Annual Report
and consider whether it is consistent with the audited financial
statements. The other information comprises only the Business
Review, the Directors’ Report, the Corporate Governance Report
and the unaudited part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report.
We consider the implications for our Report if we become aware
of any apparent misstatements or material inconsistencies with
the financial statements. Our responsibilities do not extend to
any other information.

Basis of audit opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International
Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the Auditing
Practices Board. An audit includes examination, on a test basis,
of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration
Report to be audited. It also includes an assessment of the
significant estimates and judgements made by the Directors in
the preparation of the financial statements, and of whether the
accounting policies are appropriate to the Group’s and Company’s
circumstances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the
information and explanations which we considered necessary
in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable
assurance that the financial statements and the part of the
Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited are free from
material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other
irregularity or error. In forming our opinion we also evaluated the
overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the financial
statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report
to be audited.

Opinion
In our opinion:

• the Group financial statements give a true and fair view,
in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union,
of the state of the Group’s affairs as at 31 December 2008
and of its profit for the year then ended;

• the Company’s financial statements give a true and fair
view, in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European
Union as applied in accordance with the provisions of the
Companies Act 1985, of the state of the Company’s affairs
as at 31 December 2008;

• the financial statements and the part of the Directors’
Remuneration Report to be audited have been properly
prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985 and,
as regards the Group financial statements, Article 4 of the
IAS Regulation; and

• the information given in the Directors’ Report is consistent
with the financial statements.

Ernst & Young LLP
Registered Auditor
London, United Kingdom
30 March 2009

Independent Auditor’s Report
to the Shareholders of Kazakhmys PLC
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Consolidated income statement  
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$ million (unless otherwise stated) Notes 2008 2007

Revenues 5  5,151  5,256 
Cost of sales 6(a)  (3,397)  (2,832)
Gross profit   1,754  2,424 
Selling and distribution expenses 6(b)  (152)  (81)
Administrative expenses 6(c)  (462)  (360)
Other operating income 6(d)  205  136 
Other operating expenses 6(e)  (49)  (41)
Impairment losses 7  (400)  (30)
Operating profit   896  2,048 
Share of profits from associate 19  255  – 
Profit before finance items and taxation   1,151  2,048 
 Analysed as:  
 Profit before finance items and taxation before special items   1,533  2,072 
 Special items   (382)  (24)
Finance income 11  138  260 
Finance costs 11  (203)  (282)
Profit before taxation   1,086  2,026 
Income tax expense 12(a)  (176)  (599)
Profit for the year   910  1,427 
Attributable to:  
Equity shareholders of the Company   909  1,416 
Minority interests   1  11 
   910  1,427 
Earnings per share attributable to equity shareholders of the Company  
Basic and diluted ($) 13(a) 1.85 3.04 
EPS based on Underlying Profit ($) 13(b) 2.27 3.02 
Dividends  
Dividends per share (US cents) 14  41.4  89.3 
Total amount of dividends 14  200  419 
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Consolidated balance sheet 
At 31 December 2008 
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$ million Notes 2008 2007

Assets  
Non-current assets  
Intangible assets 15  1,126  568 
Tangible assets   3,601  2,517 
 Property, plant and equipment 16  3,326  2,129 
 Mining assets 17  275  388 
Available for sale investments 18  –  2,401 
Investment in associate 19  4,045  – 
Other non-current investments 20  5  12 
   8,777  5,498 
Current assets  
Inventories 21  734  815 
Prepayments and other current assets 22  238  212 
Income taxes reclaimable   126  – 
Trade and other receivables 23  233  333 
Investments 24  32  57 
Cash and cash equivalents 25  540  439 
   1,903  1,856 
TOTAL ASSETS   10,680  7,354 
Equity and liabilities  
Share capital 26(a)  200  170 
Share premium   2,648  570 
Capital reserves 26(b)  449  2,088 
Retained earnings   4,180  3,591 
Equity attributable to shareholders of the Company   7,477  6,419 
Minority interests   20  14 
Total equity    7,497  6,433 
Non-current liabilities  
Deferred tax liability 12(b)  266  283 
Employee benefits 28  40  37 
Provisions 29 198  98 
Borrowings 30  1,702  196 
   2,206  614 
Current liabilities  
Provisions 29  133  14 
Borrowings 30  498  2 
Trade and other payables 31 306  224 
Income taxes payable   36  65 
Derivative financial instruments   2  – 
Dividend payable   2  2 
   977  307 
TOTAL LIABILITIES   3,183  921 
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES   10,680  7,354 

These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 30 March 2009. 

Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors 

Oleg Novachuk 
Chief Executive 

Matthew Hird 
Chief Financial Officer 
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$ million Notes  2008 2007

Assets  
Non-current assets  
Tangible assets   –  7 
Investments 37  6,298  2,819 
   6,298  2,826 
Current assets  
Inventories 38  –  16 
Prepayments and other current assets   8  6 
Income taxes reclaimable   23  – 
Trade and other receivables 39  22  251 
Cash and cash equivalents   137  134 
   190  407 
TOTAL ASSETS   6,488  3,233 
Equity and liabilities  
Share capital 26(a)  200  170 
Share premium   2,648  570 
Capital reserves 41  785  783 
Retained earnings   (754)  286 
Equity attributable to shareholders of the Company   2,879  1,809 
Current liabilities  
Intercompany borrowings 42  3,546  1,265 
Trade and other payables 43  63  153 
Income taxes payable   –  6 
TOTAL LIABILITIES   3,609  1,424 
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES   6,488  3,233 
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Consolidated cash flow statement 
Year ended 31 December 2008 
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$ million Notes  2008 2007

Cash flows from operating activities     
 Cash inflow from operations before interest, income taxes and dividends from associate 32  1,752  2,000 
 Interest paid    (70)  (14)
 Income taxes paid    (621)  (850)
 Dividends from associate    38  – 
Net cash inflow from operating activities    1,099  1,136 
      
Cash flows from investing activities     
 Interest received    28  121 
 Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment    17  8 
 Purchase of intangible assets 15  (12)  (459)
 Purchase of property, plant and equipment 16  (654)  (455)
 Investments in mining assets 17  (28)  (30)
 Licence payments for subsoil contracts    (3)  (3)
 Proceeds from disposal of non-current investments    14  3 
 Acquisition of non-current investments    (2)  (9)
 Proceeds from disposal of assets held for trading    –  52 
 Investment in short-term bank deposits (net)    25  1,133 
 Acquisition of available for sale investments    –  (806)
 Acquisition of associate    (918)  – 
 Payment of deferred consideration arising from business acquisition    (5)  – 
 Acquisition of subsidiaries (net of cash acquired)    (993)  (259)
Net cash flows used in investing activities    (2,531)  (704)
      
Cash flows from financing activities      
 Purchase of minority interests    –  (12)
 Purchase of Company’s issued share capital    (121)  (270)
 Proceeds from borrowings (net of arrangement fees of $21 million)    2,122  – 
 Repayment of borrowings    (268)  (112)
 Dividends paid by the Company    (200)  (419)
 Dividends paid by subsidiary to minority interests    –  (5)
Net cash flows from/(used in) financing activities    1,533  (818)
      
 Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents    101  (386)
 Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year    439  786 
 Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents    –  39 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 33  540  439 
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$ million Notes  2008 2007

Cash flow from operating activities  
 (Loss)/profit before taxation   (720)  640 
 Interest income   (3)  (19)
 Interest expense   62  6 
 Depreciation of tangible assets   –  1 
 Impairment loss   991  – 
 Unrealised foreign exchange gain   –  (16)
 Dividend income   (322)  (581)
Operating cash flows before changes in working capital   8  31 
 Decrease in inventories   16  8 
 Decrease/(increase) in prepayments and other current assets   5  (1)
 Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables   86  (32)
 Decrease in trade and other payables   (140)  (37)
Cash flows used in operations before interest and income taxes paid and dividends received    (25)  (31)
 Income taxes paid   (29)  (15)
 Dividends received   256  759 
Net cash inflow from operating activities   202  713 
  
Cash flows from investing activities  
 Interest received   5  19 
 Purchase of tangible assets   –  (3)
 Purchase of minority interests in subsidiary   –  (12)
 Capital contributions into subsidiary undertakings   (2,310)  (1,588)
Net cash flows used in investing activities   (2,305)  (1,584)
  
Cash flows from financing activities  
 Purchase of Company’s issued share capital   (121)  (270)
 Proceeds from intercompany borrowings   2,427  1,265 
 Dividends paid   (200)  (419)
Net cash flows from financing activities   2,106  576 
  
 Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents   3  (295)
 Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of year   134  429 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of year 44  137  134 
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 Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company 

$ million Notes 
Share 

capital
Share 

premium
Capital 

reserves1
Retained 
earnings Total 

Minority 
interests

Total 
equity

At 1 January 2007   173  504  266  2,916   3,859   32  3,891 
    
Profit for the year   –  –  –  1,416   1,416   11  1,427 
Unrealised gain on available for  

sale investments  –  –  1,595  –   1,595   –  1,595 
Currency translation differences   –  –  223  –   223   –  223 
Total income and expense for the year  –  –  1,818  1,416   3,234   11  3,245 
Shares issued pursuant to acquisition  

of minority interest in subsidiary  
(net of issue costs of $1 million) 26(a)  1  66  –  (52)  15   (27)  (12)

Purchase of Company’s issued share capital 26(a)  (4)  –  4  (270)  (270)  –  (270)
Equity dividends paid by the Company 14  –  –  –  (419)  (419)  –  (419)
Equity dividends paid by subsidiary  

to minority shareholders   –  –  –  –   –   (2)  (2)
At 31 December 2007   170  570  2,088  3,591   6,419   14  6,433 
    
Profit for the year   –  –  –  909   909   1  910 
Unrealised gain on available for sale 

investments  –  –  1,041  –   1,041   –  1,041 
Impairment of associate recognised  

against unrealised gain on available  
for sale investment in equity   –  –  (2,636)  –   (2,636)  –  (2,636)

Share of gains/(losses) of associate  
recognised in equity   –  –  (11)  –   (11)  5 (6)

Movement in cash flow hedges   –  –  1  –   1   –  1 
Currency translation differences   –  –  (36)  –   (36)  –  (36)
Total income and expense for the year  –  –  (1,641)  909   (732)  6  (726)
Shares issued pursuant to acquisition of 

interest in associate (net of issue costs  
of $10 million) 26(a)  32  2,078  –  –   2,110   –  2,110 

Purchase of Company’s issued share capital 26(a)  (2)  –  2  (121)  (121)  –  (121)
Share-based payment 27  –  –  –  1   1   –  1 
Equity dividends paid by the Company 14  –  –  –  (200)  (200)  –  (200)
At 31 December 2008   200  2,648  449  4,180   7,477  20  7,497 
1 Refer to note 26(b) for an analysis of ‘Capital reserves’ 
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$ million Notes
Share

capital
Share 

premium
Capital  

reserves1 
Retained 
earnings

Total
equity

At 1 January 2007   173  504  779   353  1,809 
Profit for the year   –  –  –   622  622 
Shares issued pursuant to acquisition of minority interest  

in subsidiary (net of issue costs of $1 million)   1  66  –   –  67 
Purchase of Company’s issued share capital 26(a)  (4)  –  4   (270)  (270)
Equity dividends paid by the Company 14  –  –  –   (419)  (419)
At 31 December 2007   170  570  783   286  1,809 
Loss for the year   –  –  –   (720)  (720)
Shares issued pursuant to acquisition of interest  

in associate (net of issue costs of $10 million)   32  2,078  –   –  2,110 
Purchase of Company’s issued share capital 26(a)  (2)  –  2   (121)  (121)
Share-based payment 27  –  –  –   1  1 
Equity dividends paid by the Company 14  –  –  –   (200)  (200)
At 31 December 2008  200  2,648  785   (754)  2,879 
1 Refer to note 41 for an analysis of ‘Capital reserves’ 
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1. CORPORATE INFORMATION 
(a) OOrganisation and operation 
Kazakhmys PLC (the ‘Company’) is a public limited company 
incorporated in the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern 
Ireland. The Company’s registered address is 6th Floor, Cardinal 
Place, 100 Victoria Street, London SW1E 5JL, United Kingdom. 
The Group comprises the Company and its consolidated divisions 
as set out below. 

The Group operates in the natural resources industry. The Group’s 
operations are primarily conducted through the Company’s principal 
division, Kazakhmys Copper, whose major business is the mining and 
processing of copper ore into copper cathodes and copper wire, 
and the refining and sale of precious metals and other by-products 
of its copper mining process. 

In line with the Group’s strategy of diversifying away from the core 
Copper business, the Group now operates in a number of divisions 
within the natural resources sector, the principal activities of which 
are as follows as at 31 December 2008:  

Operating division Principal activity 
Primary country 

of operations

Kazakhmys Copper 
 

Mining and  
processing copper 

Kazakhstan
 

MKM Copper processing Germany
Kazakhmys Power Power generation Kazakhstan
Kazakhmys Gold 

 
Mining and  

processing gold 
Kazakhstan

 
Kazakhmys Petroleum 

 
Oil and gas  
exploration 

Kazakhstan
 

The legal names of the constituent companies within the above 
divisions are shown in note 47 on page 131. 

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 
The financial statements set out on pages 71 to 132 have been 
prepared using consistent accounting policies. The Company has 
taken the exemption under section 230(4) of the Companies Act 
1985 and has not published the Company income statement and 
related notes. 

(a) GGoing concern 
The Group’s business activities, together with the factors likely to 
impact its future growth and operating performance are set out  
in the Business Review on pages 2 to 50. The financial position of 
the Group, its cash flows, financial risk management policies and 
available debt facilities are described in the Financial Review on 
pages 38 to 47. In addition, note 34 commencing on page 116 
sets out the Group’s objectives, policies and processes for 
managing its capital structure, liquidity position and financial risks 
arising from exposures to commodity prices, interest rates and 
foreign exchange. 

As described in the Market Overview commencing on page 22,  
the global economic downturn has resulted in a significant fall in 
commodity prices during the fourth quarter of 2008 and into 2009. 
Whilst the Group has good access to customers in the key markets 
of China and Europe as a result of its advantageous geographical 
position, a period of sustained commodity price weakness will 
significantly reduce the profitability of the Group and cash 
generation from the operating businesses compared to 2008. 

As a result of acquisitions made during 2008, the Group has moved 
into a net debt position of $1,628 million as at 31 December 2008.  
Of the outstanding debt balance of $2,200 million at 31 December 
2008, $626 million is repayable over the next 12 months to March 
2010. Further details of the repayment profile can be found in  
note 30 on page 115. 

In response to market conditions, the Group has implemented a 
series of cost cutting measures in the operating businesses, including 
a significant reduction in discretionary capital expenditure for 2009. 
The Directors have also not recommended the payment of a final 
dividend for 2008. Advanced negotiations over the sale of a 
proportion of Ekibastuz GRES-1 are taking place which, if successful, 
should generate significant proceeds which will be used to reduce the 
Group’s debt. In addition, the Group’s future borrowing requirements 
are being discussed with its bankers, its major shareholders and the 
Government of Kazakhstan. The Group’s major capital expenditure 
projects will only proceed to the extent that committed financing is 
fully secured. 

As at 31 December 2008, the Group has available funds totalling 
$572 million, and an undrawn revolving credit facility of $200 million, 
of which $150 million has been put on a committed basis to 31 March 
2010. The Group also holds a 26% stake in ENRC (a FTSE 100 
company listed on the London Stock Exchange) which, at 27 March 
2009, had a market value of $2,165 million. 

The Directors believe that the Group’s current cash position and 
available credit lines, the cost cutting measures implemented 
within the operating businesses, together with the curtailment in 
discretionary capital spending, anticipated sales proceeds from the 
disposal of a proportion of Ekibastuz GRES-1 and other potential 
asset disposals, all provide sufficient cover to meet the Group’s 
anticipated cash flow requirements. After making enquiries, the 
Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Group has 
adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the 
foreseeable future. Accordingly, they continue to adopt the going 
concern basis in preparing the financial statements. 

(b) BBasis of accounting  
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a 
historical cost basis, except for certain classes of property, plant and 
equipment which have been revalued at 1 January 2002 to determine 
deemed cost as part of the first-time adoption of International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) at that date, available for sale 
investments and derivative financial instruments which have been 
measured at fair value. The consolidated financial statements are 
presented in US dollars ($) and all financial information has been 
rounded to the nearest million dollar ($ million) except when 
otherwise indicated. 

(c) BBasis of consolidation  
The consolidated financial statements set out the Group’s financial 
position as at 31 December 2008 and the Group’s financial 
performance for the year ended 31 December 2008. 

Subsidiaries are those enterprises controlled by the Group. Control 
exists when the Group has the power, directly or indirectly, to 
govern the financial and operating policies of an enterprise so as  
to obtain benefits from its activities. Subsidiaries are consolidated 
from the date on which control is transferred to the Group and cease 
to be consolidated from the date on which control is transferred  
out of the Group. On acquisition of a subsidiary, the purchase 
consideration is allocated to the assets, liabilities and contingent 
liabilities on the basis of their fair value at the date of acquisition. 
The excess of the cost of the acquisition over the fair value of the 
Group’s share of identifiable net assets of the subsidiary acquired  
is recognised as positive goodwill. Negative goodwill arises where 
the fair value of the Group’s share of identifiable net assets of the 
subsidiary exceeds the cost of the acquisition. Negative goodwill  
is recognised directly in the income statement. 

The financial statements of subsidiaries are prepared for the same 
reporting year as the Company, using consistent accounting policies. 
All intercompany balances and transactions, including unrealised 
profits arising from intra-group transactions, have been eliminated in 
full. Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealised 
gains except that they are only eliminated to the extent that there  
is no evidence of impairment.  
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Minority interests primarily represent the interests in Kazakhmys 
LLC not held by the Company. The Company applies the equity 
concept method of consolidation and accounts for the acquisition 
of minority interests within equity. 

Refer to note 47 for a list of the Company’s significant subsidiaries. 

(d) SStatement of compliance  
The consolidated financial statements of the Company and all  
its subsidiaries have been prepared in accordance with IFRS as 
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB)  
and interpretations issued by the International Financial Reporting 
Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) of the IASB, as adopted by the 
European Union, and in accordance with the provisions of the 
Companies Acts 1985 and 2006.  

(e) EEarly adoption of standards and interpretations 
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Group has 
applied the following standards and interpretations before their 
effective dates: 

• IFRS 2 ‘Share-based Payment – Vesting Conditions and 
Cancellations (Amended).’ The Group adopted the amendment 
to IFRS 2 on 1 January 2008 which clarifies the definition of a 
vesting condition and prescribes the treatment of an award 
that is effectively cancelled because a non-vesting condition  
is not satisfied; 

• IAS 23 ‘Borrowing Costs (Revised)’. The Group adopted IAS 23 
(Revised) on 1 January 2008 which requires all borrowing costs 
to be capitalised if they are directly attributable to the acquisition, 
construction or production of a qualifying asset; and 

• IAS 32 ‘Financial Instruments: Presentation’ and IAS 1 ‘Presentation 
of Financial Statements – Puttable Financial Instruments and 
Obligations Arising on Liquidation.’ The Group adopted IAS 32 
and IAS 1 on 1 January 2008 which allow a limited scope 
exception for puttable financial instruments to be classified  
as equity if they fulfil a number of specified features. 

Adoption of these standards and interpretations did not have any 
significant effect on the financial position or performance of the 
Group. They did however give rise to additional disclosures which 
are reflected in these consolidated financial statements. 

(f) NNew standards and interpretations not yet adopted 
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Group has 
not applied the following relevant standards and interpretations 
that have been issued but are not yet effective:  

• IFRS 3 ‘Business combinations (Revised)’ which is effective  
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009. IFRS 3 
(Revised) introduces a number of changes in the accounting for 
business combinations occurring after this date that will impact 
the amount of goodwill recognised, the reported results in the 
period that an acquisition occurs and future reported results; 

• IFRS 8 ‘Operating segments’ which is effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009. Upon adoption 
of IFRS 8, the Group will have to disclose additional financial 
and descriptive information about its reportable segments. The 
Group has concluded that the amendment will have no impact 
on the financial position of performance of the Group; 

• IAS 1 ‘Presentation of Financial Statements (Revised)’ which  
is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2009. The standard separates owner and non-owner changes  
in equity. The statement of changes in equity will include only 
details of transactions with owners, with non-owner changes  
in equity presented as a single line. In addition the standard 
introduces the statement of comprehensive income: it presents 
all items of recognised income and expense, either in one 
single statement, or in two linked statements. The Group is  
still evaluating whether it will have one or two statements; 

• IAS 27 ‘Consolidated and separate financial statements 
(Revised)’ which is effective for annual periods beginning on  
or after 1 July 2009. IAS 27 (Revised) requires that a change in 
the ownership interest of a subsidiary (without loss of control)  
is accounted for as an equity transaction. Therefore such 
transactions will no longer give rise to goodwill, nor will it  
give rise to a gain or loss. Furthermore, the amended standard 
changes the accounting for losses incurred by the subsidiary  
as well as the loss of control of a subsidiary; 

• Amendments to IFRS 1 and IAS 27 – ‘Cost of an Investment  
in a Subsidiary, Jointly Controlled Entity or Associate’, which  
is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2009. When an entity reorganises the structure of its group  
by establishing a new entity as its parent, the amendments 
require the new parent to measure cost as the carrying amount 
of its share of the equity items shown in the separate financial 
statements of the original parent at the date of the reorganisation. 
The new requirements affect only the parent’s separate financial 
statements and do not have an impact on the consolidated 
financial statements; 

• IAS 39 ‘Financial instruments: recognition and measurement – 
eligible hedged items.’ These amendments to IAS 39 were 
issued in July 2008 and become effective for financial years 
beginning on or after 1 July 2009. The amendment addresses 
the designation of a one-sided risk in a hedged item, and the 
designation of inflation as a hedged risk or portion in particular 
situations. It clarifies that an entity is permitted to designate  
a portion of the fair value changes or cash flow variability  
of a financial instrument as a hedged item. The Group has 
concluded that the amendment will have no impact on the 
financial position or performance of the Group; 

• Improvements to IFRSs. The IASB’s improvements project  
is an annual project that provides a mechanism for making  
non-urgent but necessary amendments to IFRSs. There are  
a number of amendments to standards following the 2007 
improvements project which may result in consequential 
changes to accounting policies and other note disclosures.  
The Group does not expect the impact of any changes to the 
financial statements arising from this project to be significant; 

• Amendments to IAS 39 and IFRS 7 – ‘Reclassification of Financial 
Instruments’ which is effective for annual periods beginning on or 
after 1 July 2009. The amendment permits an entity to reclassify 
non-derivative financial assets (other than those designated  
at fair value through profit or loss by the entity upon initial 
recognition) out of the fair value through profit or loss category 
in particular circumstances. The amendment also permits an 
entity to transfer from the available for sale category to the loans 
and receivables category a financial asset that would have met 
the definition of loans and receivables (if the financial asset had 
not been designated as available for sale), if the entity has the 
intention and ability to hold that financial asset for the 
foreseeable future; 

• IFRIC 16 ‘Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation‘, 
which is effective for annual periods beginning on or after  
1 July 2008. IFRIC 16 clarifies issues related to risk from the 
foreign currency exposure to the functional currencies of the 
foreign operation, holding a hedging instrument in a hedge of  
a net investment in a foreign operation, and determining the 
amounts to be reclassified from equity to profit or loss when the 
entity disposes of the investment. The Group has concluded that 
the interpretation will have no impact on the financial position or 
performance of the Group; and 
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• IFRIC 17 ‘Distributions of Non-cash Assets to Owners’, which is 
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009. 
IFRIC 17 clarifies the terms as to the recognition of dividends 
payable and their measurement for non-cash items. This 
interpretation is not expected to have any effect on the Group 
as it does not distribute any non-cash assets to shareholders. 

These standards and interpretations will be adopted by the Group 
on the date that they become effective. The Directors do not 
anticipate, in light of the circumstances prevailing at the date  
of approval of this Annual Report, that the adoption of these 
standards and interpretations in future periods will have a material 
impact on the reported income or net assets of the Group in the 
period of initial application although the manner in which certain 
information is presented in the consolidated financial statements 
may change. 

(g) CChange in accounting policies 
Following best practice within the metals and mining industry, the 
Group has updated its revenue recognition accounting policy from 
that published in the 2007 Annual Report such that final pricing 
adjustments on sales contracts are considered to be embedded 
derivatives which need to be separately fair valued. The impact on 
the year ended 31 December 2008 has been to decrease profit 
after tax by $6 million. The impact on basic and diluted earnings 
per share is insignificant. The change in accounting policy does not 
have a significant impact on the comparative numbers for the year 
ended 31 December 2007. The updated revenue recognition 
accounting policy is shown in note 3(o). 

(h) SSignificant accounting judgements and estimates  
(i) JJudgements 
Determining many of the amounts included in the consolidated 
financial statements involves the use of judgements. These 
judgements are based on management’s best knowledge of the 
relevant facts and circumstances having regard to prior experience, 
but actual results may differ from the amounts included in the 
consolidated financial statements. The Directors believe that the 
following judgements, apart from those involving estimates, are 
likely to have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised 
in the consolidated financial statements. 

Equity accounting 
At 31 December 2008, the Group owned 26.0% of ENRC PLC,  
a Kazakhstan-based mining company listed on the London Stock 
Exchange. Following the share exchange with the Government in 
2008 and subsequent market purchases of shares, the investment 
has been recorded as an associate and accounted for under the 
equity method. IAS 28 ‘Investments in Associates’ states that there 
is a rebuttable presumption that significant influence exists where 
an investor holds more than 20% of the voting power of the 
investee. Although Kazakhmys does not have representation on 
the board of ENRC, the Directors believe that the Group has the 
ability to exercise significant influence by virtue of its substantial 
shareholding, whereby the Group owns in excess of 25% of the 
issued share capital of ENRC and is the single largest shareholder. 
This interest, coupled with the composition of the ENRC 
shareholder base, confers the Group with certain additional rights 
and influence under the Companies Act 2006 and the Listing Rules 
of the UK Listing Authority. Furthermore this position is supported 
by the nature of the relationship and ongoing dialogue between 
senior representatives of ENRC and the Group. In the Directors’ 
judgement, it is appropriate to account for ENRC as an associate.  

The Group acquired its shareholding in ENRC in four tranches  
from October 2007 to October 2008. In determining the fair value  
of the identifiable net assets of ENRC management, in conjunction 
with external advisers, has performed a fair value exercise of ENRC’s 
assets and liabilities on a discounted cash flow basis. The fair value 

derived from this exercise equates to the fair value of the 
identifiable net assets (in accordance with the requirements of IAS 
28 ‘Investments in Associates’ and IFRS 3 ‘Business Combinations’), 
and the Directors believe that this is an appropriate and reliable 
basis for accounting for the piecemeal acquisition of ENRC. 

Useful economic lives and impairment indicators 
Tangible and intangible assets are depreciated over their useful 
economic lives. Management reviews the appropriateness of useful 
economic lives at least annually and any changes could affect 
prospective depreciation rates and hence, asset carrying values. 
Management also reviews the carrying value of the Group’s tangible 
and intangible assets to determine whether there is any indication  
of impairment such that the carrying values of the assets may not be 
recoverable. The assessment of whether an indicator of impairment 
has arisen can require considerable judgement taking account of 
future operational and financial plans, commodity prices, sales 
demand and the competitive environment. The carrying value of the 
assets of a cash generating unit is compared with the recoverable 
amount of those assets, that is, the higher of net realisable value and 
value in use, which is determined on the basis of discounted future 
cash flows. This involves management estimates on commodity 
prices, market demand and supply, economic and regulatory 
climates, long-term mine plans and other factors. Any subsequent 
changes to cash flows due to changes in the factors referred to 
above could impact the carrying value of the assets. 

The current global economic downturn has resulted in management 
undertaking a series of impairment tests. These tests have resulted 
in the following impairment charges being recognised in the 
consolidated income statement: 

• Zinc smelter – an impairment charge has been recognised 
following management’s decision to cease production at the 
Kazakhmys Copper zinc smelter in light of adverse changes  
in assumptions about future zinc prices and operating costs. 
Accordingly, the carrying value has been fully impaired; 

• Kazakhmys Gold – an impairment charge has been recognised 
following a general change in the long-term strategy of the 
division, with the outlook for existing mines and development 
projects being less attractive than originally anticipated at the 
time of the acquisition; and 

• Kazakhmys Copper mining assets – an impairment charge  
has been recognised in relation to the closure of certain mines 
which are loss making in a period of sustained commodity price 
weakness and are unlikely, in management’s best estimate,  
to reopen in the foreseeable future. 

Specific factors relating to these impairments can be found in  
note 7. 

Allocation of excess purchase consideration 
Business combinations require judgement and estimates to  
be made at the date of acquisition in relation to determining  
asset and liability fair values and the allocation of the purchase 
consideration over the fair value of the assets and liabilities. 

In respect of mining company acquisitions, such as the acquisition 
of Kazakhmys Gold in July 2007 and the Maikuben West coal mine 
in May 2008, excess purchase consideration is typically allocated to 
the mining reserves and resources being acquired. The estimate of 
reserves is subject to assumptions relating to life of the mine and 
may change when new information becomes available. Changes in 
reserves as a result of factors such as production costs, recovery 
rates, grade of reserves or commodity prices could impact 
depreciation rates, asset carrying values and environmental and 
restoration provisions. Changes in assumptions over long-term 
commodity prices, market demand and supply, and economic and 
regulatory climates could also impact the carrying value of assets. 

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION CONTINUED 
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In respect of non-mining company acquisitions, such as the 
acquisition of the Ekibastuz power plant in May 2008, the purchase 
consideration is allocated to the fair value of specific assets and 
liabilities acquired, and any excess purchase consideration is then 
recognised as goodwill, which is tested annually for impairment. 
Changes in assumptions over future tariff prices, market demand 
and supply, and economic and regulatory climates could impact  
on the carrying value of assets, including the goodwill. 

Determination of excess profits taxation 
The determination of the Group’s obligations and expenses for 
taxes requires an interpretation of tax legislation. Excess profits  
tax (EPT) is imposed on the Group in addition to Kazakh corporate 
income tax on certain profitable subsoil contracts. EPT is based  
on an approximation of the internal rate of return (IRR) with EPT 
being applicable only where the cumulative IRR exceeds 20%. In 
determining the IRR for each subsoil contract, there is considerable 
judgement involved as to the allocation of profit amongst the 
Group’s subsoil contracts, the nature of deductions for capital 
expenditure and the timing of those deductions. The Directors 
believe the Group’s judgements are reasonable and in compliance 
with Kazakh legislation, although there is a risk that the tax 
authorities will have a different interpretation of tax legislation. 

Accounting for potential transfer pricing liabilities 
For the years ended 31 December 2006, 2007 and 2008, Kazakhmys 
LLC sold its exported products to Kazakhmys PLC (2006 and 2007) 
and Kazakhmys Sales Ltd (2008), a wholly owned subsidiary of 
Kazakhmys PLC, under an exclusive purchasing agreement at the 
prevailing LME or LBMA prices, with a discount to LME or LBMA 
prices permitted by Kazakh transfer pricing legislation and reflecting 
the commercial and credit risks borne by the UK operations. 
Management believes that these prices, and accompanying discount 
where applicable, reflect the balance of commercial and credit risks 
shared between Kazakhmys LLC and the UK operations. 

Management has recognised the nature of the transfer pricing 
legislation promulgated in Kazakhstan and the UK in determining 
any consequential tax liabilities in these jurisdictions resulting from 
the sale of exported products from Kazakhmys LLC to the UK 
operations for 2006, 2007 and 2008. The Directors believe the 
Group’s judgements are reasonable and in compliance with UK 
and Kazakh transfer pricing legislation, although there is a risk that 
the tax authorities will have a different interpretation of tax legislation. 

(ii) EEstimation uncertainty 
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in 
conformity with IFRS requires management to make estimates  
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and 
liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and 
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting 
period. Actual outcomes could differ from these estimates.  

In particular, information about significant areas of estimation 
uncertainty made by the Directors in preparing the consolidated 
financial statements is shown below:  

• Note 4 – Business acquisition. Assumptions and estimates are 
required when determining the fair value of the net assets and 
liabilities of the business acquired, including the timing of cash 
flows and selecting an appropriate discount rate; 

• Notes 7 and 15 – Impairment losses. Notes 7 and 15 outline 
the significant assumptions made in performing impairment 
tests; 

• Note 12 – Income taxes. Management make estimates in 
relation to the level of taxes payable which may then be 
audited by the tax authorities; 

• Note 17 – Mining assets. Estimated recoverable reserves and 
resources are used to determine the depreciation of mining 
assets, in accounting for mine stripping costs and in performing 
impairment testing; 

• Note 29 – Provisions. Estimates are made regarding the timing 
of future payments; and 

• Note 35 – Commitments and contingencies. These require 
management to make estimates as to amounts payable and  
to determine the likelihood of cash outflows in the future. 

(i) CComparative figures 
Where a change in the presentational format of the consolidated 
financial statements has been made during the year, comparative 
figures have been restated accordingly.  

Certain balances previously reported within ‘Equity attributable to 
shareholders of the Company’ as at 31 December 2007 have been 
reclassified in respect of the share buy-back transactions that took 
place during 2007. These reclassifications have no impact on either 
‘Equity attributable to shareholders of the Company’ or ‘Total equity.’ 

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
The following significant accounting policies have been applied  
in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements.  
These accounting policies have been consistently applied across  
the Group. 

(a) FForeign currency translation  
The functional currency for each entity in the Group is determined 
as the currency of the primary economic environment in which  
it operates. Transactions in currencies other than the functional 
currency are initially recorded at the functional currency rate ruling 
at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rate of 
exchange ruling at the balance sheet date. Exchange gains and 
losses on settlement of foreign currency transactions translated at 
the rate prevailing at the date of the transactions, or the translation 
of monetary assets and liabilities at period end exchange rates, are 
taken to the income statement. Non-monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at historical cost 
are translated to the functional currency at the foreign exchange 
rate ruling at the date of the transaction.  

The functional currencies of the Company and Kazakhmys Sales 
Ltd, which became the primary UK trading entity with effect from  
1 January 2008, is the US dollar ($) as the majority of the operating 
activities are conducted in US dollars. The functional currency  
of Kazakhmys LLC, Kazakhmys Power, Kazakhmys Gold and 
Kazakhmys Petroleum is the Kazakhstan tenge (KZT) and of MKM is 
the Euro (€). On consolidation, income statements of subsidiaries 
are translated into US dollars, at average rates of exchange. 
Balance sheet items are translated into US dollars at period end 
exchange rates. Exchange differences on the retranslation are 
taken to a separate component of equity. Exchange differences  
on foreign currency borrowings financing those net investments 
are also dealt with in equity. All other exchange differences are 
charged or credited to the income statement in the year in which 
they arise. The following foreign exchange rates against the US 
dollar have been used in the preparation of the consolidated 
financial statements: 

 
31 December 

2008 
Average 

2008 
31 December

2007
Average

2007

Kazakhstan tenge 120.77 120.30 120.30 122.55
Euro 0.71 0.68 0.68 0.73
UK pounds sterling 0.69 0.54 0.50 0.50
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(b) IIntangible assets  
(i) GGoodwill  
On the acquisition of a subsidiary, or of an interest in a joint venture, 
associate, or joint arrangement, the purchase consideration is 
allocated to the assets and liabilities on the basis of their fair value  
at the date of acquisition. Those mineral reserves and resources that 
are able to be reliably valued are recognised in the assessment of 
fair values on acquisition. Other potential reserves, resources and 
mineral rights for which, in the Directors’ opinion, values cannot  
be reliably determined, are not recognised. When the cost of 
acquisition exceeds the fair value attributable to the Group’s share  
of the identifiable net assets the difference is treated as purchased 
goodwill. Goodwill is stated at cost less impairment losses. Goodwill 
is not amortised, rather it is tested annually for impairment. Goodwill 
is allocated to the cash generating unit or group of cash generating 
units expected to benefit from the related business combination for 
the purpose of the impairment testing. An impairment loss in respect 
of goodwill is not reversed.  

(ii) OOther intangible assets  
Other intangible assets, including mineral licences, which are 
acquired by the Group and which have finite useful lives, are stated 
at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. 
Intangible assets acquired as part of an acquisition of a business 
are capitalised separately from goodwill if the fair value can be 
measured reliably on initial recognition, subject to the constraint 
that, unless the asset has a readily ascertainable market value, the 
fair value is limited to an amount that does not create or increase 
any negative goodwill arising on the acquisition.  

(iii) AAmortisation  
Intangible assets, other than goodwill, primarily comprise mineral 
licence acquisition costs, which are amortised on a unit of production 
basis. Amortisation for other intangible assets, which have expected 
useful lives of three to ten years, is computed under the straight-line 
method over the estimated useful lives of the assets.  

(c) RResearch and development  
Expenditure on research activities, undertaken with the prospect of 
gaining new scientific or technical knowledge and understanding, 
is recognised in the income statement as incurred.  

Expenditure on development activities, whereby research findings 
are applied to a plan or design for the production of new or 
substantially improved products and processes, is capitalised if  
the product or process is technically and commercially feasible and 
the Group has sufficient resources to complete development. The 
expenditure capitalised includes the cost of materials, direct labour 
and an appropriate proportion of overheads. Other development 
expenditure is recognised in the income statement as incurred. 
Capitalised development expenditure is stated at cost less 
accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.  

(d) TTangible assets 
(i) PProperty, plant and equipment 
Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses. The cost of a tangible fixed 
asset comprises its purchase price and any costs directly attributable 
to bringing it into working condition for its intended use. The cost  
of self-constructed assets includes the cost of materials, direct labour 
and an appropriate proportion of production overheads. The cost  
or ‘deemed cost’ of property, plant and equipment (hereafter 
referred to as ‘cost’) at 1 January 2002, the date of Kazakhmys LLC’s 
transition to IFRS, was determined by reference to its depreciated 
replacement cost at that date in accordance with IFRS 1. 

 

The cost of each item of property, plant and equipment is 
depreciated over its useful life. Each item’s estimated useful life 
has due regard to both its own physical life limitations and the 
present assessment of economically recoverable reserves of the 
mine property at which the item is located. Estimates of remaining 
useful lives are made on a regular basis for all mine buildings, 
machinery and equipment, with annual reassessments for major 
items. Depreciation is charged to the income statement on a 
straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the individual 
asset or on a unit of production basis depending on the type  
of asset. Changes in estimates, which affect unit of production 
calculations, are accounted for prospectively. Depreciation 
commences on the date the assets are used within the business. 
Freehold land is not depreciated.  

The expected useful lives are as follows: 

Buildings 15-40 years 
Plant and equipment 4-25 years 
Fixtures and fittings 3-15 years 

(ii) CConstruction in progress  
Assets in the course of construction are capitalised as a separate 
component of property, plant and equipment. On completion, the 
cost of construction is transferred to the appropriate category.  

Construction in progress is not depreciated.  

(iii) RRepairs and maintenance 
Expenditure incurred to replace a component of an item of property, 
plant and equipment that is accounted for separately, is capitalised 
with the carrying amount of the replaced component being written 
off. Repairs and maintenance expenditure is capitalised if future 
economic benefits will arise from the expenditure. All other  
repairs and maintenance expenditure is recognised in the income 
statement as incurred.  

(iv) GGovernment grants  
Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there  
is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all 
attaching conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates  
to an expense item, it is recognised as income over the periods 
necessary to match the grant on a systematic basis to the costs that 
it is intended to compensate. Where the grant relates to an asset, 
the fair value is credited to the cost of the asset and is released to 
the income statement over the expected useful life in a consistent 
manner with the depreciation method for the relevant asset.  

(v) LLeasing and hire purchase commitments  
Finance leases, which transfer to the Group substantially all the 
risks and rewards of ownership of the leased items, are capitalised 
at the commencement of the lease. Plant and equipment acquired 
by way of finance lease is stated at an amount equal to the lower 
of its fair value and the present value of the minimum lease 
payments at inception of the lease, less accumulated depreciation 
and impairment losses. The capital elements of future obligations 
under leases and hire purchase contracts are included as liabilities 
in the balance sheet. Lease payments are apportioned between 
the finance charge and reduction of the lease liability so as to 
achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of  
the liability. Finance charges are charged directly against income. 
Capitalised lease assets are depreciated over the shorter of the 
estimated useful life of the asset or the lease term. All other leases 
are treated as operating leases and the cost is expensed to the 
income statement as incurred. 

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
CONTINUED 
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(vi) MMining assets  
Costs of acquiring mineral properties are capitalised on the balance 
sheet in the year in which they are incurred. Costs associated with a 
start-up period for significant developments are capitalised during 
the commissioning period (development expenditure) where  
the asset is incapable of operating at normal levels without a 
commissioning period. Mineral properties are amortised using 
proven developed and undeveloped reserves. 

Mine development costs are, upon commencement of production, 
depreciated using a unit of production method, which is the ratio  
of commodity production in the period to the estimated quantities 
of commercial reserves over the life of the mine (using proven 
developed reserves as determined by the local geological 
classification system) based on the estimated economically 
recoverable reserves to which they relate. 

Mine stripping costs incurred in order to access the mineral-bearing 
ore deposits are deferred prior to the commencement of 
production. Such costs are amortised over the remaining life of the 
mine on a unit of production basis using proven developed reserves. 

The cost of removal of the waste material during a mine’s 
production phase is deferred if the stripping activity permits  
an increase in the output of the mine in future periods through 
providing access to additional sources of reserves that will be 
produced in future periods. Capitalised stripping costs are 
amortised in systematic manner over the reserves that directly 
benefit from the specific stripping activity. 

Exploration and evaluation expenditure for each area of interest, 
other than that acquired through a purchase of transaction, is 
carried forward as an asset provided that one of the following 
conditions is met:  

• such costs are expected to be recouped through successful 
exploration and development of the area of interest or, 
alternatively, by its sale; or 

• exploration and evaluation activities in the area of interest have 
not yet reached a stage which permits a reasonable assessment 
of the existence or otherwise of economically recoverable 
reserves, and active and significant operations in relation to  
the area are continuing.  

Exploration expenditure which fails to meet at least one of the 
conditions outlined above is written off. Administrative and general 
expenses relating to exploration and evaluation activities are 
expensed as incurred. A significant portion of exploration and 
evaluation expenditure relates to mineral licences, which are 
classified and accounted for as intangible assets.  

Identifiable exploration and evaluation assets acquired in a 
purchase transaction are recognised as assets at their cost of 
acquisition from another mining company. Exploration assets are 
reassessed on a regular basis and these costs are carried forward 
provided that at least one of the conditions outlined above is met.  

Exploration and evaluation assets attributable to producing 
interests are amortised on a unit of production basis. 

(e) OOil and gas assets 
(i) EExploration, evaluation and production assets 
The Group adopts the successful efforts method of accounting for 
oil and gas exploration and appraisal costs. All licence acquisition, 
exploration and evaluation costs are initially capitalised in cost 
centres by well, field or exploration area, as appropriate. Directly 
attributable administration costs are capitalised insofar as they 
relate to specific exploration and development activities. Pre-licence 
costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.  

All capitalised licence acquisition, exploration and evaluation  
costs are then written off unless commercial reserves have been 
established, or the determination process has not been completed 
and there are no indications of impairment.  

All field development costs are capitalised as property, plant and 
equipment. Property, plant and equipment related to production 
activities are amortised on a unit of production basis. 

(ii) CCommercial reserves 
Commercial reserves are proven and probable oil and gas 
reserves, which are defined as the estimated quantities of  
crude oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids which geological, 
geophysical and engineering data demonstrate with a specified 
degree of certainty to be recoverable in future years from known 
reservoirs and which are considered commercially producible. 
There should be a 50% statistical probability that the actual 
quantity of recoverable reserves will be more than the amount 
estimated as proven and probable reserves. 

(iii) DDepletion and amortisation – discovery fields 
All expenditure carried within each field is amortised from the 
commencement of production on a unit of production basis, which  
is the ratio of oil and gas production in the period to the estimated 
quantities of commercial reserves over the life of the field, generally 
on a field-by-field basis. Costs used in the unit of production 
calculation comprise the net book value of capitalised costs plus the 
estimated future field development costs. Changes in the estimates 
of commercial reserves or future field development costs are dealt 
with prospectively.  

(f) IImpairment  
The Group conducts annual internal assessments of the values of 
goodwill and capitalised exploration and evaluation expenditure. 
Values of mine properties and property, plant and equipment are 
assessed for impairment when indicators of such impairment exist. 
If any indication of impairment exists an estimate of the asset’s 
recoverable amount is calculated. The recoverable amount is 
determined as the higher of the fair value less costs to sell for  
the asset and the asset’s value in use. In assessing value in use,  
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present 
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to 
the asset. This is determined for an individual asset, unless the 
asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent 
of those from other assets or groups of assets. If this is the case, 
the individual assets are grouped together (into cash generating 
units (CGUs) for impairment purposes. Such CGUs represent the 
lowest level for which there are separately identifiable cash inflows 
that are largely independent of the cash flows from other assets  
or other groups of assets.  

If the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its recoverable amount, 
the asset is impaired and an impairment loss is charged to the 
income statement so as to reduce the carrying amount to its 
recoverable amount (i.e. the higher of fair value less cost to sell 
and value in use). 

Impairment losses related to continuing operations are recognised 
in the income statement in those expense categories consistent 
with the function of the impaired asset. 

For assets excluding goodwill, an assessment is made at each 
reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously 
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have 
decreased. If such indication exists, the Group makes an estimate 
of the recoverable amount. 
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A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there 
has been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s 
recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. 
If this is the case, the carrying amount of the asset is increased  
to its recoverable amount. The increased amount cannot exceed 
the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of 
depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset 
in prior years. Such reversal is recognised in the income statement. 
Impairment losses recognised in relation to goodwill are not 
reversed for subsequent increases in its recoverable amount. 

(i) CCalculation of recoverable amount  
The recoverable amount of assets is the greater of their value  
in use and fair value less costs to sell. In assessing value in use,  
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present 
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to 
the asset. For an asset that does not generate cash inflows largely 
independent of those from other assets, the recoverable amount  
is determined for the cash generating unit to which the asset 
belongs. The Group’s cash generating units are the smallest 
identifiable groups of assets that generate cash inflows that are 
largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or 
groups of assets.  

(ii) RReversals of impairment  
An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in  
the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An 
impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s 
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that  
would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation,  
if no impairment loss had been recognised.  

(g) IInvestment in associate 
Entities in which the Group has the ability to exercise significant 
influence and which are neither subsidiaries nor joint ventures,  
are associates, and are accounted for using the equity method  
of accounting. There is a rebuttable presumption of the ability  
to exercise significant influence when the Group holds between 
20% and 50% of the voting power of another entity. 

Under the equity method of accounting, the investment in the 
associate is recognised on the balance sheet on the date of 
acquisition at cost representing the fair value of the purchase 
consideration and therefore includes any goodwill on acquisition. 
The carrying amount is adjusted by the Group’s share of the  
post-acquisition profit or loss net of any impairment losses and 
dividends receivable from the associate. Where there has been  
a change recognised directly in the equity of the associate, the 
Group recognises its share of such changes in equity. 

Adjustments are made in the consolidated financial statements  
to eliminate the Group’s share of unrealised gains and losses on 
transactions between the Group and its associate. The carrying 
value of the associate is reviewed on a regular basis and if an 
impairment in value has occurred, it is written off in the period  
in which those circumstances are identified. The Group’s share  
of an associate’s losses in excess of its interest in that associate  
is not recognised unless the Group has an obligation to fund  
such losses. 

The Group discontinues its use of the equity method from the  
date on which it ceases to have the ability to exercise significant 
influence, and from that date, accounts for the investment in 
accordance with IAS 39 (with its initial cost being the carrying 
amount of the associate at that date), provided the investment 
does not then qualify as a subsidiary or joint venture. 

The Group’s income statement reflects the share of associate’s 
results after tax and the Group’s statement of changes in equity 
includes any amounts recognised by the associate outside of the 
income statement based on the actual published results of ENRC. 

The carrying amount of an available for sale investment at the date 
it becomes an associate is considered to be its cost in applying the 
equity method. Consequently, no adjustment is made to reverse 
previous fair value adjustments. Dividend income continues to be 
recognised in profit or loss up to the date the investment becomes 
an associate. Any gain recognised within other comprehensive 
income remains there until the associate is either impaired or 
disposed of. 

(h) PParent company’s investments 
Non-current investments are held at cost. The Company assesses 
investments for impairment whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying value of an investment may 
not be recoverable. If any such indication of impairment exists, the 
Company makes an estimate of the recoverable amount. Where the 
carrying amount of an investment exceeds its recoverable amount 
the investment is considered impaired and is written down to its 
recoverable amount. 

(i) IInventories  
Raw materials and consumables are stated at the lower of cost and 
net realisable value on a first-in first-out (FIFO) basis. Cost includes  
all costs incurred in the normal course of business in bringing each 
product to its present location and condition. Cost for raw materials 
and consumables is the purchase price and for work in progress and 
finished goods is the cost of production, including the appropriate 
proportion of depreciation and overheads. The cost of work in 
progress and finished goods is based on the weighted average  
cost method. In the case of work in progress and finished goods, 
cost includes an appropriate share of overheads based on normal 
operating capacity.  

Net realisable value is based on estimated selling price in the 
ordinary course of business less any further costs expected to  
be incurred to completion and disposal.  

(j) TTrade and other receivables  
Trade receivables are carried at original invoice price (which is the 
fair value of the consideration receivable) less provision made for 
impairment of these receivables. A provision for impairment of trade 
receivables is established when there is objective evidence that the 
Group will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the 
original terms of the receivables. The amount of the provision is the 
difference between the original carrying amount and the recoverable 
amount, being the present value of expected cash flows receivable. 
The amount of the provision is recognised in the income statement. 

(k) CCash and cash equivalents  
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and in hand, 
short-term deposits held on call or with maturities less than three 
months at inception and highly liquid investments that are readily 
convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject to 
insignificant risk of changes in value, and bank overdrafts.  

(l) BBorrowings  
Borrowings are initially recognised at the fair value of the consideration 
received less directly attributable transaction costs. After initial 
recognition, borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method. 

(m) EEmployee benefits  
(i) LLong-term employee benefits  
Kazakhmys LLC provides long-term employee benefits to 
employees before, on and after retirement, in accordance with  
a labour union agreement. Such benefits are valued consistent  
with an unfunded defined benefit plan in accordance with IAS 19, 

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
CONTINUED 
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‘Employee Benefits’. The agreement provides for one-time 
retirement grants, financial aid, dental care, medical benefits, 
sanatorium visits, annual financial support to pensioners, free 
tickets for city buses, privilege tickets for shuttle buses and  
funeral aid. 

MKM provides for part-time work for older employees. There are 
no long-term employee benefits provided in the United Kingdom. 

The future benefit that employees have earned is discounted to 
determine the present value. The discount rate is the yield at the 
balance sheet date on high quality corporate bonds that have 
maturity dates approximating the terms of the Group’s benefit 
obligations. The calculation is performed by a qualified actuary. 

The Group recognises actuarial gains and losses falling outside a 
‘corridor’ of the greater of 10% of the benefit obligation or 10% of 
the assets, amortised over the expected average future working 
lifetime of employees in the arrangements. The expense in relation 
to these long-term employee benefits is charged to the income 
statement so as to match the cost of providing these benefits  
to the period of service of the employees. 

(ii) SShare-based payments 
Certain employees of the Group receive part of their remuneration in 
the form of share-based payment transactions, whereby employees 
render services in exchange for shares or rights over shares (equity 
settled transactions). The cost of equity-settled transactions with 
employees is measured at fair value at the date at which they are 
granted. The fair value of share awards with market-related vesting 
conditions is determined by an external consultant and the fair value 
at the grant date is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting 
period based on the Group’s estimate of shares that will eventually 
vest. The estimate of the number of awards likely to vest is reviewed 
at each balance sheet date up to the vesting date at which point  
the estimate is adjusted to reflect the current expectations. No 
adjustment is made to the fair value after the vesting date even  
if the awards are forfeited or not exercised. 

(iii) TTrust activities  
Assets held in trust or in a fiduciary capacity are not treated as assets 
of the Group and, accordingly, are not included in the consolidated 
financial statements. Transactions entered into with these trust 
activities are expensed in the consolidated financial statements. 

(iv) SSocial programmes  
The Group is obliged to contribute towards social programmes for 
the benefit of the local community at large. The Group’s contributions 
towards these programmes are expensed to the income statement 
as incurred.  

(n)   Provisions  
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation 
(legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, and it is probable 
that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation 
and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount. If the effect  
of the time value of money is material, provisions are determined 
by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate  
that reflects current market assessments of the time value of 
money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. 
Where discounting is used, the increase in the provision due  
to the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost.  

(i) SSite restoration costs  
Site restoration provisions are made in respect of the estimated 
future costs of closure and restoration, and for environmental 
rehabilitation costs (which include the dismantling and demolition 
of infrastructure, removal of residual materials and remediation  
of disturbed areas) in the accounting period when the related 
environmental disturbance occurs. The provision is discounted 
where material and the unwinding of the discount is included  

in finance costs. At the time of establishing the provision, a 
corresponding asset is capitalised where it gives rise to a future 
benefit and depreciated over future production from the mine to 
which it relates. The provision is reviewed on an annual basis for 
changes in cost estimates, discount rates or life of operations.  

(ii) PPayments for licences 
In accordance with the terms of subsoil use contracts, provision is 
made for future licence payments when the Group has a present 
obligation to repay the costs of geological information provided 
for licensed deposits. The amount payable is discounted to its 
present value. 

(iii) OOther  
Other provisions are accounted for when the Group has a legal  
or constructive obligation for which it is probable there will be an 
outflow of resources, for which the amount can be reliably estimated.  

(o) RRevenue  
Revenue represents the value of goods and services supplied to 
third parties during the year. Revenue is measured at the fair value 
of consideration receivable, and excludes any applicable sales tax. 
Mining royalties are included within cost of sales. 

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the 
economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue can be 
reliably measured. Revenue associated with the sale of goods is 
recognised in the income statement when all significant risks and 
rewards of ownership are transferred to the customer, usually when 
title and any insurance risk has passed to the customer and the 
goods have been delivered as per the contractual delivery terms  
or when any services have been provided. 

Almost all sales agreements for copper cathodes, copper rods and 
zinc metal are provisionally priced (i.e. the selling price is subject  
to final adjustment at the end of a quotation period, typically the 
average price either for the month or the month following delivery 
to the customer), based on the LME market price for the relevant 
quotation period stipulated in the contract. Such a provisional  
sale contains an embedded derivative which is required to be 
separated from the host contract. The host contract is the sale of 
commodity at the provisional invoice price, and the embedded 
derivative is the forward contract for which the provisional sale is 
subsequently adjusted. At each reporting date, the provisionally 
priced metal sales are marked-to-market using forward prices, with 
adjustments (both gains and losses) being recorded in revenue in 
the consolidated income statement and in trade receivables in the 
consolidated balance sheet. 

(p) FFinance income  
Finance income comprises interest income on funds invested and 
foreign exchange gains. Interest income is recognised as it accrues, 
calculated in accordance with the effective interest rate method. 

(q) FFinance costs  
Finance costs comprise interest expense on borrowings, the 
accumulation of interest on provisions and foreign exchange 
losses. All interest and other costs incurred in connection with 
borrowings are expensed as incurred as part of finance costs.  

(r) BBorrowing costs 
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction 
or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily 
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended 
use or sale, are added to the costs of those assets, until such time 
as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. 

All other borrowing costs are recognised in the income statement 
in the period in which they are incurred. 
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(s) IIncome tax  
Income tax for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Income 
tax is recognised in the income statement except to the extent that it 
relates to items charged or credited directly to equity, in which case 
it is recognised in equity. Excess profits tax is treated as income tax 
and forms part of the income tax expense.  

Current tax expense is the expected tax payable on the taxable 
income for the year and any adjustment to tax payable in respect 
of previous years.  

Deferred tax is provided using the balance sheet liability method, 
providing for temporary differences between the carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the 
amounts used for taxation purposes. The following temporary 
differences are not provided for: 

• those arising on the initial recognition of an asset or liability  
in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the 
time of the transaction, affects neither accounting profit nor 
taxable profit or loss; and 

• investments in subsidiaries where the timing of the reversal of 
the temporary difference can be controlled and it is probable 
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the 
foreseeable future.  

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates  
that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised  
or the liability is settled, based on the tax rates (and tax laws) that 
have been enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet 
date. Deferred excess profits tax is calculated with respect to 
temporary differences in respect of assets allocated to contracts  
for subsoil use at the expected rate of excess profits tax to be  
paid under the contract.  

A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is 
probable that future taxable profits will be available against which 
the asset can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reduced to the 
extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit  
will be realised.  

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable 
right exists to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities 
and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the 
same taxation authority. 

(t) DDividends  
Dividends are recognised as a liability in the period in which they  
are approved by shareholders. Dividends receivable are recognised 
when the Group’s right to receive payment is established. 

(u) FFinancial instruments  
(i) RRecognition  
The Group recognises financial assets and liabilities on its balance 
sheet when it becomes a party to the contractual provisions of  
the instrument.  

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported 
in the balance sheet when there is a legally enforceable right to set  
off the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a  
net basis, or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.  

(ii) MMeasurement  
When financial assets and liabilities are initially recognised, they 
are measured at fair value being the consideration given or 
received plus directly attributable transaction costs. Any gain or 
loss at initial recognition is recognised in the income statement. 

In determining estimated fair value, investments are valued at 
quoted bid prices on the trade date. When quoted prices on  
an active market are not available, fair value is determined by 
reference to price quotations for similar instruments traded.  

The Group classifies investments depending upon the intent of 
management at the time of the purchase. Investments with fixed 
maturities and fixed or determinable payments that management 
has both the positive intent, and the ability to hold to maturity are 
classified as held-to-maturity. 

Loans and receivables are loans and receivables created by  
the Group providing money to a debtor. Loans and receivables 
comprise loans and advances other than purchased loans. 

Held-to-maturity investments and originated loans and receivables 
are initially recognised in accordance with the policy stated above 
and subsequently re-measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method. Allowance for impairment is estimated on a  
case-by-case basis. 

Assets held for trading are financial assets held for short-term 
trading purposes, and are measured at fair value through profit  
or loss. 

Available for sale investments are non-derivative financial assets 
and include investments that are held for sale, although there is  
no time frame in which management is required to sell them. They 
are included in non-current assets unless management intends to 
dispose of the investment within 12 months of the balance sheet 
date, in which case they are included within current assets. These 
assets are recorded at fair value with the unrealised movements in 
fair value being recognised directly in equity until disposal or sale, 
at which time, those unrealised movements from prior periods are 
recognised in profit or loss. 

Commodity futures are initially recognised at fair value. Any  
gains and losses arising from changes in fair value are recognised 
immediately in the income statement in the period in which  
they occur. 

The Group uses derivative financial instruments such as interest  
rate swaps to hedge risks associated with interest rate fluctuations. 
These are designated as cash flow hedges. At the inception of the 
hedge relationship, the Group documents the relationship between 
the hedging instrument and the hedged item, along with its risk 
management objectives and its strategy for undertaking various 
hedge transactions. Furthermore, at the inception of the hedge and 
on an ongoing basis, the Group documents whether the hedging 
instrument that is used in a hedging relationship is highly effective  
in offsetting changes in cash flows of the hedged item. 

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives  
that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges are deferred  
in equity. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is 
recognised immediately in profit or loss, and is included in the 
‘other operating income’ or ‘other operating expenses’ line of  
the income statement. 

Amounts deferred in equity are recycled in profit or loss in the 
periods when the hedged item is recognised in profit or loss, in the 
same line of the income statement as the recognised hedged item. 
However, when the forecast transaction that is hedged results in 
the recognition of a non-financial asset or a non-financial liability, 
the gains and losses previously deferred in equity are transferred 
from equity and included in the initial measurement of the cost of 
the asset or liability. 

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
CONTINUED 
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Hedge accounting is discontinued when the Group revokes the 
hedging relationship, the hedging instrument expires or is sold, 
terminated, or exercised, or no longer qualifies for hedge accounting. 
Any cumulative gain or loss deferred in equity at that time remains in 
equity and is recognised when the forecast transaction is ultimately 
recognised in profit or loss. When a forecast transaction is no longer 
expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss that was deferred  
in equity is recognised immediately in profit or loss. 

(iii) DDerecognition  
A financial asset is derecognised when the Group loses control 
over the contractual rights that comprise that asset. This occurs 
when the rights are realised, expire or are surrendered. A financial 
liability is derecognised when it is extinguished. 

Held-to-maturity instruments and originated loans and receivables 
are derecognised on the date they are transferred by the Group. 

(iv) IImpairment of financial assets 
The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is 
any objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial 
assets is impaired. A financial asset or group of financial assets is 
deemed to be impaired if, and only if, there is objective evidence 
of impairment as a result of one or more events that has occurred 
after the initial recognition of the asset (an incurred ‘loss event’) 
and that loss event has an impact on the estimated future cash 
flows of the financial asset or group of financial assets that can  
be reliably estimated. 

For available for sale financial investments, the Group assesses  
at each balance sheet date whether there is objective evidence 
that an investment or group of investments is impaired. In the case 
of equity investments classified as available for sale, objective 
evidence would include a significant or prolonged decline in the 
fair value of the investment below its cost. Where there is evidence 
of impairment, the cumulative loss – measured as the difference 
between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any 
impairment loss on that investment previously recognised in the 
income statement – is removed from equity and recognised in  
the income statement. Impairment losses on equity investments 
are not reversed through the income statement and increases in 
their fair value after impairment are recognised directly in equity. 

(v) BBusiness combinations 
On the acquisition of a subsidiary, the purchase method of 
accounting is applied whereby the purchase consideration is 
allocated to the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent 
liabilities (identifiable net assets) on the basis of fair values at the 
date of acquisition. Those mineral reserves and resources that  
are able to be reliably valued are recognised in the assessment  
of fair values on acquisition. 

The cost of the business combination is the aggregate of: (a) the fair 
values at the date of exchange, of assets given, liabilities incurred or 
assumed, and equity instruments issued by the acquirer in exchange 
for control of the acquiree; and (b) cost directly attributable to the 
business combination. 

Goodwill is initially measured at cost being the excess of the cost 
of the business combination over the Group’s interest in the net 
fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. 

If the fair value attributable to the Group’s share of the identifiable 
net assets exceeds the fair value of the consideration, the Group 
reassesses whether it has correctly identified and measured the 
assets acquired and liabilities assumed and recognises any additional 
assets or liabilities that are identified in that review. If that excess 
remains after reassessment, the Group recognises the resulting  
gain in the income statement on the acquisition date. 
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4. BUSINESS ACQUISITION 
(a) YYear ended 31 December 2008 – Ekibastuz power plant and Maikuben West coal mine 
On 29 May 2008 the Group acquired 100% of the Ekibastuz coal-fired power plant and the Maikuben West coal mine in Kazakhstan. The 
businesses were acquired for a total consideration of $1,264 million. The consideration comprises an initial cash consideration paid on  
29 May 2008 of $1,097 million, deferred consideration payments with a present value of $169 million, acquisition costs of $7 million less an 
amount received of $9 million from the seller on 1 December 2008 in relation to adjustments to the closing statement under the terms  
of the sale and purchase agreement. The net cash outflow, net of cash acquired from the acquisition was $993 million. At the acquisition 
date, the combined net identifiable assets and liabilities of the businesses, including fair value adjustments, were as follows: 

$ million 

Carrying value 
at acquisition 

date 

Fair value 
adjustments at 

acquisition date

Fair value at  
acquisition  

(restated)1

Assets  
Intangible assets2  6   (5)  1 
Property, plant and equipment2  131   858  989 
Mining assets2  1   45  46 
Inventories  17   1  18 
Trade and other receivables  26   8  34 
Cash and cash equivalents  102   –  102 
Liabilities  
Deferred tax liability3  (12)  (267)  (279)
Provisions  (14)  (33)  (47)
Borrowings  (159)  –  (159)
Trade and other payables  (35)  –  (35)
Net identifiable assets  63   607  670 
Goodwill arising on acquisition  594 
Total acquisition cost   1,264 
1 Restated from the 2008 half-yearly accounts. 
2 Fair value adjustments have been made to reflect initial estimates of the fair values of intangible assets, property, plant and equipment and reserves and resources. 
3 The increase in the deferred tax liability largely reflects the tax effect of the fair value adjustments. 

The most significant fair value adjustment is in relation to property, plant and equipment. The fair value of property, plant and 
equipment was determined by an external professionally qualified valuer using a combination of market values and depreciated 
replacement cost based on the existing capacity of the power plant whilst taking into account future tariff increases as derived from  
the Company’s acquisition model. 

Goodwill of $594 million has arisen from the acquisition of the businesses and will be tested at least annually for impairment. This goodwill 
can be broken down into two elements: 

• goodwill of $327 million representing the difference between the cost of the acquisition and the fair value of identifiable assets and 
liabilities acquired, excluding deferred tax on the fair value adjustments. This goodwill has arisen as the fair values of the identifiable 
assets do not take into account the future capital expenditure programme of the businesses which should result in an increased 
capacity of the power plant from 2,250 MW to 4,000 MW. A combination of the future capacity increase, additional tariff increases 
and the ability for the Group to benefit from these improvements are the main drivers behind the goodwill balance arising on this 
transaction; and 

• goodwill of $267 million arising as a consequence of the requirement to recognise a deferred tax liability on the fair value adjustments. 
The deferred tax liability, which gives rise to the goodwill, has been calculated based on a corporate income tax rate of 30%, the 
prevailing tax rate at the date of acquisition. 

Subsequent to the date of acquisition, in December 2008 the Government passed new tax legislation effective from 1 January 2009 
which will lead to a phased reduction in the corporate income tax rate in Kazakhstan from 30% in 2008 to 15% in 2011. Since these new 
rates were substantially enacted by 31 December 2008, the deferred tax liability on the fair value adjustments has been recalculated as 
$141 million. This results in a taxation credit in the income statement of $126 million, which has been included within special items in the 
calculation of Underlying Profit due to its non-recurring nature (see note 13). 

From the date of acquisition, the Ekibastuz power plant and the Maikuben West coal mine have contributed profit after tax of  
$129 million to the profit after tax of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2008, which includes a one-off deferred taxation credit 
in the income statement of $126 million. If the acquisition had taken place at the beginning of the year, the profit after tax of the Group 
would have been $1 million higher at $911 million and revenues would have been $108 million higher at $5,259 million. 
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(b) YYear ended 31 December 2007 – Eurasia Gold Inc. 
On 5 July 2007 the Group acquired 96.34% of the ordinary shares of Eurasia Gold Inc. (Eurasia Gold – subsequently renamed Kazakhmys 
Gold) a company listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange. Since the offer was accepted by holders of more than 90% of the Eurasia  
Gold shares, Kazakhmys Gold Inc., an indirectly wholly owned subsidiary of Kazakhmys PLC exercised its right under the compulsory 
acquisition provisions of the Business Corporations Act (British Columbia) to acquire the outstanding Eurasia Gold shares not already 
owned by Kazakhmys Gold Inc. at the same price of CA$0.85 for each Eurasia Gold share. On 12 September 2007, the Group 
completed the compulsory acquisition, thereby taking its interest in Eurasia Gold to 100%. 

Eurasia Gold was purchased for a total consideration of $271 million in cash. The fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired was 
$225 million and goodwill of $46 million was recognised as a consequence of the requirement to recognise a deferred tax liability on  
the fair value adjustments. Upon acquisition, the Group acquired cash of $12 million and borrowings of $6 million. 

During 2008, the Group has impaired the mining assets and goodwill included in Kazakhmys Gold – see note 7(b). 

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION 
A segment is a distinguishable component of the Group that is engaged either in providing products or services in a particular business 
sector (business segment), or in providing products or services within a particular economic environment (geographical segment), which 
is subject to risks and rewards that are different from those of other segments. Segment information is presented in respect of the Group’s 
primary basis of segmentation in business segments, which are based on the Group’s management and internal reporting structures. 

Segment results, assets and liabilities include items directly attributable to a segment as well as those that can be allocated on a 
reasonable basis. Unallocated items comprise corporate head office assets and liabilities, borrowings, income taxes payable, deferred 
taxes and dividends payable/receivable. 

The Group’s principal operations are based in Kazakhstan, with MKM being based in Germany.  

The Group’s activities principally relate to: 

• Kazakhmys Copper operations which involve the production and sale of: 
– Copper cathodes, rod and copper metal in concentrate; 
– Zinc metal and zinc metal in concentrate; 
– Gold and silver; and 
– Other by-product metals (lead, rhenium, selenium, cadmium and sulphuric acid); 

• German copper processing operation; 
• Kazakhstan power generation operation; 
• Central Asian gold production, exploration and development activity; 
• Kazakhstan oil and gas exploration and development activity. 

Segmental information is also provided in respect of revenues, by destination and by product. Segmental information relating to 
employees is provided in note 8. 

(a) BBusiness segments 
In the year ended 31 December 2008, the Group operated the following five business segments: Kazakhmys Copper, MKM, Kazakhmys 
Power, Kazakhmys Gold and Kazakhmys Petroleum. In the year ended 31 December 2007 the Group operated four business segments: 
Kazakhmys Copper, MKM, Kazakhmys Gold and Kazakhmys Petroleum. 

Kazakhmys Copper 
The Kazakhmys Copper business, which involves the processing and sale of copper and other metals, is managed as one business 
segment. The products are subject to the same risks and returns, exhibit similar long-term financial performance and are sold through 
the same distribution channels. The Group processes substantially all the copper ore it produces and utilises most of the copper 
concentrate it processes. The Group has a number of activities that exist solely to support the mining operations including power 
generation, coal mining and transportation. These other activities generate less than 10% of total revenues (both external and internal) 
and the related assets are less than 10% of total assets. 

The Kazakhmys Copper segment includes a UK company, Kazakhmys Sales Ltd, which consists of a trading function responsible for the 
purchases of exported products from the Kazakhmys Copper operations in Kazakhstan, application of an appropriate mark-up and then 
onward sale to third parties. During 2007, the UK trading function was part of Kazakhmys PLC. 

For the purposes of business segmental reporting, the UK trading function is regarded as a sales function on behalf of the Kazakhmys 
Copper business and consequently the assets and liabilities related to those trading operations, i.e. trade creditors and trade 
receivables, are included within the Kazakhmys Copper business segment. 

MKM 
MKM operates in Germany, where it manufactures copper and copper alloy semi-finished products. MKM faces different risks from the 
Group’s other businesses and is therefore shown as a separate business segment. 
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5. SEGMENT INFORMATION CONTINUED 
Kazakhmys Power 
In May 2008, the Group acquired the Ekibastuz coal-fired power plant and the Maikuben West coal mine. The principal activities of the 
Kazakhmys Power segment, representing the Ekibastuz and Maikuben West businesses, is the sale of electricity to external customers. 
This segment does not include the power stations and coal mines which are part of the Kazakhmys Copper segment as the output from 
those power stations and coal mines is primarily used within the Kazakhmys Copper business, and the level of external sales is 
comparatively insignificant. 

Kazakhmys Gold 
In July 2007 the Group acquired Eurasia Gold Inc. (subsequently renamed Kazakhmys Gold). The principal activities of Kazakhmys Gold 
are the mining and processing of gold ore into refined ore and exploration and development activity in the precious metal sector within 
the Central Asian region. 

Kazakhmys Petroleum 
In April 2007 the Group acquired Dostan-Temir LLP (subsequently renamed Kazakhmys Petroleum), a company which holds a licence to 
conduct oil and gas exploration and development activity in the East Akzhar Exploration Block in western Kazakhstan. 

(i) IIncome statement information 
 

 Year ended 31 December 2008
 
$ million 

Kazakhmys 
Copper MKM

Kazakhmys 
Power

Kazakhmys 
Gold

Kazakhmys 
Petroleum 

Corporate 
unallocated Total

Sales to external customers  3,227  1,719  156  49  –   –  5,151 
Gross profit  1,639  36  62  17  –   –  1,754 
Operating costs  (304)  (60)  (55)  (7)  (1)  (31)  (458)
Impairment losses  (221)  (17)  (2)  (158)  (2)  –  (400)
Segmental operating results  1,114  (41)  5  (148)  (3)  (31)  896 
Share of profits from associate1   255 
Profit before finance items and taxation    1,151 
Net finance costs and income tax expense    (241)
Profit for the year    910 
1 Share of profits from associate is net of tax. 

 
 

 Year ended 31 December 2007
 
$ million 

Kazakhmys 
Copper MKM

Kazakhmys 
Gold

Kazakhmys 
Petroleum 

Corporate 
unallocated1 Total

Sales to external customers  3,588  1,643  25  –   –  5,256 
Gross profit  2,359  61  4  –   –  2,424 
Operating (costs)/income  (354)  (50)  (3)  (1)  62  (346)
Impairment losses  (28)  (1)  –  (1)  –  (30)
Segment results  1,977  10  1  (2)  62  2,048 
Net finance costs and income tax expense    (621)
Profit for the year    1,427 
1 Includes dividend received of $94 million from ENRC PLC. 
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(ii) BBalance sheet information 
  

 At 31 December 2008

$ million 
Kazakhmys 

Copper MKM
Kazakhmys 

Power
Kazakhmys 

Gold
Kazakhmys 
Petroleum 

Corporate 
unallocated Total

Assets  
Tangible and intangible assets  2,277  150  1,631  137  520   12  4,727 
Non-current investments  4  1  –  –  –   –  5 
Intragroup investments  –  –  –  –  –   6,249  6,249 
Operating assets1  888  233  27  22  1   36  1,207 
Current investments  32  –  –  –  –   –  32 
Cash and cash equivalents  330  –  26  14  5   165  540 
Segment assets  3,531  384  1,684  173  526   6,462  12,760 
Income taxes reclaimable   126 
Investment in associate   4,045 
Elimination   (6,251)
Total assets   10,680 
Liabilities  
Employee benefits and provisions  122  7  214  2  26   –  371 
Operating liabilities2  240  28  24  2  3   15  312 
Segment liabilities  362  35  238  4  29   15  683 
Deferred tax liability   266 
Borrowings   2,200 
Income taxes payable   36 
Elimination   (2)
Total liabilities   3,183 
1 Operating assets include inventories, prepayments and other current assets and trade and other receivables. 
2 Operating liabilities include trade and other payables, derivative financial instruments and dividends payable by subsidiaries. 

 At 31 December 2007

$ million 
Kazakhmys 

Copper MKM
Kazakhmys 

Gold
Kazakhmys 
Petroleum 

Corporate 
unallocated Total

Assets  
Tangible and intangible assets  2,125  172  295  482   11  3,085 
Non-current investments  10  2  –  –   2,401  2,413 
Intragroup investments  –  –  –  –   1,980  1,980 
Operating assets1  1,039  386  17  1   149  1,592 
Current investments  57  –  –  –   –  57 
Cash and cash equivalents  217  7  14  21   180  439 
Segment assets  3,448  567  326  504   4,721  9,566 
Elimination   (2,212)
Total assets   7,354 
Liabilities  
Employee benefits and provisions  112  9  2  26   –  149 
Operating liabilities2  304  41  2  1   110  458 
Segment liabilities  416  50  4  27   110  607 
Deferred tax liability   283 
Borrowings   198 
Income taxes payable   65 
Elimination   (232)
Total liabilities   921 
1 Operating assets include inventories, prepayments and other current assets and trade and other receivables. 
2 Operating liabilities include trade and other payables and dividends payable by subsidiaries. 
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5. SEGMENT INFORMATION CONTINUED 
(iii) EEarnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA) excluding special items1 by business segments 
 

 Year ended 31 December 2008

$ million 
Kazakhmys 

Copper MKM
Kazakhmys 

Power
Kazakhmys 

Gold
Kazakhmys 
Petroleum 

Corporate 
unallocated Total

Operating profit/(loss)  1,114  (41)  5  (148)  (3)  (31)  896 
Special items:  
 Add: impairment of property, 
 plant and equipment  118  –  –  –  2   –  120 
 Add: impairment of goodwill  –  –  –  46  –   –  46 
 Add: impairment of mining assets  14  –  –  112  –   –  126 
 Add: provisions against inventory  73  15  –  –  –   –  88 
 Add: loss on disposal of property, 
 plant and equipment  1  –  1  –  –   –  2 
Profit/(loss) before finance items and 

taxation excluding special items  1,320  (26)  6  10  (1)  (31)  1,278 
Add: depreciation and depletion  274  25  36  9  –   2  346 
Add: amortisation  3  –  –  –  –   –  3 
Segment EBITDA excluding special items  1,597  (1)  42  19  (1)  (29)  1,627 
Share of EBITDA of associate  –  –  –  –  –   429  429 
Group EBITDA excluding special items  1,597  (1)  42  19  (1)  400  2,056 
1 EBITDA excluding special items is defined as profit before interest, taxation, depreciation, depletion and amortisation, as adjusted for special items. Special items 

are those items which are non-recurring or variable in nature and which do not impact the underlying trading performance of the business.  
 

 Year ended 31 December 2007

$ million 
Kazakhmys 

Copper MKM
Kazakhmys 

Gold
Kazakhmys 
Petroleum 

Corporate 
unallocated2 Total

Operating profit/(loss)  1,977  10  1  (2)  62  2,048 
Special items:  
 Add: impairment of property, plant and equipment  25  –  –  1   –  26 
 Less: gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment  (2)  –  –  –   –  (2)
Profit/(loss) before finance items and taxation excluding 

special items  2,000  10  1  (1)  62  2,072 
Add: depreciation and depletion  231  24  5  –   1  261 
Add: amortisation  3  –  –  –   –  3 
Group EBITDA excluding special items  2,234  34  6  (1)  63  2,336 
1 EBITDA excluding special items is defined as profit before interest, taxation, depreciation, depletion and amortisation, as adjusted for special items. Special items 

are those items which are non-recurring or variable in nature and which do not impact the underlying trading performance of the business.  
2 Includes dividend received of $94 million from ENRC PLC. 

(iv) NNet liquid funds/(debt) by business segments  
 

 At 31 December 2008

$ million 
Kazakhmys 

Copper MKM
Kazakhmys 

Power
Kazakhmys 

Gold
Kazakhmys 
Petroleum 

Corporate 
unallocated Total

Cash and cash equivalents  330  –  26  14  5   165  540 
Current investments  32  –  –  –  –   –  32 
Borrowings1  (11)  (121)  (171)  (4)  –   (3,687)  (3,994)
Inter-segment borrowings2  11  –  171  4  –   1,608  1,794 
Net liquid funds/(debt)  362  (121)  26  14  5   (1,914)  (1,628)
1 Borrowings of Corporate unallocated are presented net of capitalised arrangement fees of $21 million. 
2 Borrowings of Corporate unallocated include amounts borrowed from the Kazakhmys Copper segment and amounts lent to the Kazakhmys Power and Kazakhmys 

Gold segments. 
 

 At 31 December 2007

$ million 
Kazakhmys 

Copper MKM
Kazakhmys 

Gold
Kazakhmys 
Petroleum 

Corporate 
unallocated Total

Cash and cash equivalents  217  7  14  21   180  439 
Current investments  57  –  –  –   –  57 
Borrowings  –  (196)  (2)  –   (1,265)  (1,463)
Inter-segment borrowings1  –  –  –  –   1,265  1,265 
Net liquid funds/(debt)  274  (189)  12  21   180  298 
1 Borrowings of Corporate unallocated include amounts borrowed from the Kazakhmys Copper segment. 
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(v) CCapital expenditure, depreciation and impairment losses by business segments 
 Year ended 31 December 2008

$ million 
Kazakhmys 

Copper MKM
Kazakhmys 

Power
Kazakhmys 

Gold
Kazakhmys 
Petroleum 

Corporate 
unallocated Total

Property, plant and equipment  559  10  38  8  42   –  657 
Mining assets  24  –  –  5  –   –  29 
Intangible assets  9  1  1  –  –   4  15 
Capital expenditure  592  11  39  13  42   4  701 
Depreciation and depletion  274  25  36  9  –   2  346 
Amortisation  3  –  –  –  –   –  3 
Depreciation, depletion and amortisation  277  25  36  9  –   2  349 
Impairment losses  221  17  2  158  2   –  400 
 
 Year ended 31 December 2007

$ million 
Kazakhmys 

Copper MKM
Kazakhmys 

Gold
Kazakhmys 
Petroleum 

Corporate 
unallocated Total

Property, plant and equipment  432  11  2  7   3  455 
Mining assets  28  –  2  –   –  30 
Intangible assets  10  –  4  476   4  494 
Capital expenditure  470  11  8  483   7  979 
Depreciation and depletion  231  23  6  –   1  261 
Amortisation  3  –  –  –   –  3 
Depreciation, depletion and amortisation  234  23  6  –   1  264 
Impairment losses  28  1  –  1   –  30 
 
(b) GGeographical segments  
(i) IIncome statement information  
 Year ended 31 December 2008
$ million Central Asia1 Germany UK Netherlands Total

Revenues2  
Segment sales  3,366  1,719  2,923   –  8,008 
Inter-segment sales  (2,857)  –  –   –  (2,857)
Sales to external customers  509  1,719  2,923   –  5,151 
Gross profit  1,652  36  66   –  1,754 
Operating (costs)/income  (478)  (60)  78   2  (458)
Impairment losses  (383)  (17)  –   –  (400)
Segmental operating results  791  (41)  144   2  896 
Share of profits from associate3   255 
Profit before finance items and taxation   1,151 
Net finance costs and income tax expense   (241)
Profit for the year   910 
1 Includes Kazakhstan, Kyrgyzstan and Tajikistan. 
2 Revenues are analysed by origin of sale. Refer to note 5(d) where revenue is analysed by location of customer. 
3 Share of profits from associate is net of tax.  

 Year ended 31 December 2007
$ million Central Asia1 Germany UK Netherlands2 Total

Revenues3  
Segment sales  3,523  1,643  3,196   –  8,362 
Inter-segment sales  (3,106)  –  –   –  (3,106)
Sales to external customers  417  1,643  3,196   –  5,256 
Gross profit  2,279  61  84   –  2,424 
Operating (costs)/income  (334)  (50)  (56)  94  (346)
Impairment losses  (29)  (1)  –   –  (30)
Profit before finance items and taxation  1,916  10  28   94  2,048 
Net finance costs and income tax expense   (621)
Profit for the year   1,427 
1 Includes Kazakhstan, Kyrgyzstan and Tajikistan. 
2 Includes dividend received of $94 million from ENRC PLC. 
3 Revenues are analysed by origin of sale. Refer to note 5(d) where revenue is analysed by location of customer. 
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5. SEGMENT INFORMATION CONTINUED 
(ii) BBalance sheet information 
 Year ended 31 December 2008
$ million Central Asia1 Germany UK Netherlands Total

Assets  
Tangible and intangible assets  4,554  150  5   18 4,727 
Non-current investments  4  1  8,068   2,014  10,087 
Operating assets2  1,066  233  135   –  1,434 
Current investments  32  –  –   –  32 
Cash and cash equivalents  258  –  240   42  540 
Segment assets  5,914  384  8,448   2,074  16,820 
Income tax reclaimable   126 
Investment in associate   4,045 
Elimination   (10,311)
Total assets   10,680 
Liabilities  
Employee benefits and provisions  364  7  –   –  371 
Operating liabilities3  221  28  290   –  539 
Segment liabilities  585  35  290   –  910 
Unallocated liabilities   302 
Borrowings   2,200 
Elimination   (229)
Total liabilities   3,183 
1 Includes Kazakhstan, Kyrgyzstan and Tajikistan. 
2 Operating assets include inventories, prepayments and other current assets and trade and other receivables. 
3 Operating liabilities include trade and other payables, derivative financial instruments and dividends payable by subsidiaries. 

 Year ended 31 December 2007
$ million Central Asia1 Germany UK Netherlands Total

Assets  
Tangible and intangible assets  2,902  172  7   4  3,085 
Non-current investments  10  2  2,819   3,176  6,007 
Operating assets2  1,063  386  274   –  1,723 
Current investments  57  –  –   –  57 
Cash and cash equivalents  204  7  134   94  439 
Segment assets  4,236  567  3,234   3,274  11,311 
Elimination   (3,957)
Total assets   7,354 
Liabilities  
Employee benefits and provisions  140  9  –   –  149 
Operating liabilities3  301  41  153   90  585 
Segment liabilities  441  50  153   90  734 
Unallocated liabilities   348 
Borrowings   198 
Elimination   (359)
Total liabilities   921 
1 Includes Kazakhstan, Kyrgyzstan and Tajikistan. 
2 Operating assets include inventories, prepayments and other current assets and trade and other receivables. 
3 Operating liabilities include trade and other payables and dividends payable by subsidiaries. 

(iii) NNet liquid funds/(debt) by geographical segments 
 Year ended 31 December 2008
$ million Central Asia1 Germany UK Netherlands Total

Cash and cash equivalents  258  –  240   42  540 
Current investments  32  –  –   –  32 
Borrowings  (287)  (121)  (3,608)  –  (4,016)
Inter-segment borrowings  287  –  1,529   –  1,816 
Net liquid funds/(debt)  290  (121)  (1,839)  42  (1,628)
1 Includes Kazakhstan, Kyrgyzstan and Tajikistan. 
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 Year ended 31 December 2007
$ million Central Asia1 Germany UK Netherlands Total

Cash and cash equivalents 204 7  134  94 439 
Current investments  57  –  –   –  57 
Borrowings  (2)  (196)  (1,265)  –  (1,463)
Inter-segment borrowings  –  –  1,265   –  1,265 
Net liquid funds/(debt) 259 (189)  134  94 298 
1 Includes Kazakhstan, Kyrgyzstan and Tajikistan. 

(iv) CCapital expenditure, depreciation and impairment losses by geographical segments 
 Year ended 31 December 2008
$ million Central Asia1 Germany UK Netherlands Total

Property, plant and equipment 647 10  –  – 657 
Mining assets  29  –  –   –  29 
Intangible assets   3  1  –   11  15 
Capital expenditure 679 11  –  11 701 
Depreciation and depletion  319  25  2   –  346 
Amortisation  3  –  –   –  3 
Depreciation, depletion and amortisation 322 25  2  – 349 
Impairment losses 383 17  –  – 400 
1 Includes Kazakhstan, Kyrgyzstan and Tajikistan. 

 
 Year ended 31 December 2007
$ million Central Asia1 Germany UK Netherlands Total

Property, plant and equipment  441  11  3   –  455 
Mining assets  30  –  –   –  30 
Intangible assets   490  –  –   4  494 
Capital expenditure  961  11  3   4  979 
Depreciation and depletion  237  23  1   –  261 
Amortisation  3  –  –   –  3 
Depreciation, depletion and amortisation  240  23  1   –  264 
Impairment losses  29  1  –   –  30 
1 Includes Kazakhstan, Kyrgyzstan and Tajikistan. 
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5. SEGMENT INFORMATION CONTINUED 
(c) SSegmental information in respect of revenues 
Revenues by product are as follows: 

$ million 2008 2007

Kazakhmys Copper 
Copper cathodes  2,272  2,516 
Copper rods  314  251 
Silver in granules  251  256 
Gold bullion  109  80 
Zinc metal  88  124 
Zinc metal in concentrate  61  201 
Other by-products  70  86 
Other revenue  62  74 
  3,227 3,588 
MKM 
Wire  783  763 
Sheet steel and steel strips  571  509 
Tubes and bars  337  319 
Metal trade  28  52 
  1,719 1,643 
Kazakhmys Power 
Electricity generation  123  – 
Coal  33  – 
  156 –
Kazakhmys Gold 
Gold doré  49  25 
  49 25 
Total revenues  5,151 5,256 

(d) RRevenues by destination 
 Year ended 31 December 2008
$ million Europe China Kazakhstan Other Total

Sales to third parties   3,401  1,038  345   367  5,151 
 
 

 Year ended 31 December 2007
$ million Europe China Kazakhstan Other Total

Sales to third parties   3,138  1,460  150   508  5,256 

6. COST OF SALES, SELLING AND DISTRIBUTION EXPENSES, ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES AND OPERATING INCOME/EXPENSES 
The following tables analyse the major components of cost of sales, selling and distribution expenses, administrative expenses and 
operating income/expenses: 

(a) CCost of sales  
$ million 2008 2007

Raw materials  2,290  2,118 
Employee salaries and payroll taxes  384  275 
Depreciation, depletion and amortisation  313  240 
Production overheads  254  164 
Utilities  83  67 
Royalties and other taxes  32  27 
Change in work in progress and finished goods  41  (59)
  3,397  2,832 

(b) SSelling and distribution expenses 
 

$ million 2008 2007

Transportation expenses  80  55 
Port charges  25  2 
Electricity dispatch  13  – 
Raw materials  8  6 
Employee salaries and payroll taxes  8  7 
Other  18  11 
  152  81 
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(c) AAdministrative expenses 
$ million 2008 2007

Employee salaries and payroll taxes 153 123 
Social responsibility costs  71  38 
Levies and charges  44  33 
Legal and professional  32  45 
Depreciation and amortisation  28  24 
Medical and social support  22  15 
Utilities  20  5 
Personal injury claims  19  13 
Supplies  16  10 
Business travel  14  12 
Transportation  9  8 
Communication  6  4 
Social contributions  3  6 
Bank fees  3  3 
Other  22  21 
 462 360 

(d) OOther operating income 
$ million 2008 2007

Gain on forward copper hedging contracts 143 –
Supplies  14  13 
Sanatorium, medical and canteen  11  2 
Gain on disposal of securities  5  1 
Utilities  4  2 
Dividend income from available for sale investments  –  94 
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment  –  2 
Other  28  22 
 205 136 

(e) OOther operating expenses  
$ million 2008 2007

Supplies  15  13 
Sanatorium, medical and canteen  12  8 
Utilities  4  4 
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment  2  – 
Other  16  16 
  49  41 

7. IMPAIRMENT LOSSES  
$ million 2008 2007

Impairment of goodwill – note 7(b)  46  – 
Impairment of other intangible assets  2  – 
Impairment of property, plant and equipment: 
 Zinc smelter – note (7a)  75  – 
 Other – note 7(c)  45  26 
Impairment of mining assets: 
 Kazakhmys Gold – note 7(b)  112  – 
 Other – note 7(c)  14  – 
Provisions against inventories – note 7(d)  88  – 
Provisions against trade and other receivables  14  2 
Provisions against prepayments and other current assets  4  2 
  400  30 
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7. IMPAIRMENT LOSSES CONTINUED 
(a) ZZinc smelter 
Included within impairment of property, plant and equipment is an impairment charge of $75 million relating to the Balkhash zinc 
smelter, which is included within the Kazakhmys Copper segment, and is part of this segment’s zinc cash generating unit. An impairment 
charge has been recognised following management’s decision to cease production at the zinc smelter in light of adverse changes  
in assumptions about future zinc prices and operating costs. The carrying value of the zinc smelter as at 31 December 2008 was $75 million,  
and in light of management’s decision to cease production, the entire carrying value has been impaired. 

(b) KKazakhmys Gold 
Impairment of mining assets includes an amount of $112 million relating to the impairment of Kazakhmys Gold. An impairment charge 
has been recognised following a general change in the long-term strategy of the division, with the outlook for existing mines and 
development projects being less attractive than originally anticipated at the time of the acquisition. The value in use was assessed by 
reference to cash flow forecasts discounted at a pre-tax rate of 10%. Furthermore, goodwill of $46 million recognised on the acquisition 
of Kazakhmys Gold (as a result of the requirement to provide deferred tax on the acquisition fair value adjustments) has also been 
written off during the year. See note 15(a) for details on the assumptions used in the Kazakhmys Gold impairment test. 

(c) KKazakhmys Copper mining assets and property, plant and equipment 
An impairment charge has been recognised within the Kazakhmys Copper segment on the property, plant and equipment and mining 
assets associated with the closure of certain mines which are loss making in a period of sustained commodity price weakness and are 
unlikely, in management’s best estimate, to reopen in the foreseeable future. 

(d) KKazakhmys Copper and MKM inventories 
Impairment of inventories include an amount of $73 million and $15 million in respect of Kazakhmys Copper and MKM, respectively.  
For Kazakhmys Copper, the impairment primarily relates to the impairment of stockpiled ore which is not going to be processed in the 
foreseeable future as its processing is uneconomic at current commodity price levels. Within MKM, a provision has been recognised to 
record inventory at the lower of cost and net realisable value. This primarily relates to finished goods held in stock at the end of the year 
which have been written down reflecting the fall in copper price in December. 

8. EMPLOYEE INFORMATION 
$ million 2008 2007

Wages and salaries  522  386 
Social security costs  38  29 
Post-employment benefits  3  4 
  563  419 

Other non-monetary employee benefits (including sanatorium visits, medical services, nourishment and treatment expenses) are also 
provided by Kazakhmys LLC, and are included in the income statement in the expense line relating to the nature of the cost.  
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The average weekly number of employees during the year was as follows: 

 2008 2007

Kazakhmys Copper 
Mining  14,838  14,701 
Concentration  5,378  5,176 
Smelting  5,775  6,027 
Transport  4,769  5,484 
Maintenance and services  20,574  20,235 
Construction  3,199  3,476 
Administration, social sphere and other  8,122  7,592 
  62,655  62,691 
MKM 
Production  677  662 
Maintenance and services  219  219 
Administration and other  156  164 
  1,052  1,045 
Kazakhmys Power 
Production  597  – 
Maintenance and services  983  – 
Administration and other  386  – 
  1,966  – 
Kazakhmys Gold 
Production  1,122  1,436 
Administration and other  171  131 
  1,293  1,567 
Kazakhmys Petroleum 
Production  40  23 
Administration and other  21  13 
  61  36 
Head office (Company) 
Corporate  128  97 
  128  97 
Total employees  67,155  65,436 
Analysed as 
Central Asia1  66,049  64,342 
Germany  1,052  1,045 
UK  46  42 
Netherlands  2  1 
China  6  6 
  67,155  65,436 
1 Includes Kazakhstan, Kyrgyzstan and Tajikistan. 

9. KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL 
In accordance with IAS 24 ‘Related party disclosures’, key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility 
for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Group, directly or indirectly. Key management personnel of the Group are 
deemed to be the Directors of the Company, the Chief Financial Officer of the Company and Chief Executive Officer of Kazakhmys LLC. 

Compensation for key management personnel (including Directors) comprises salaries, annual bonuses, share awards and benefits-in-kind  
and amounted to $8 million during the year (2007: $10 million). 

Disclosures on Directors’ remuneration required by the Companies Acts 1985 and 2006 and those specified for audit by the Directors’ 
Remuneration Report Regulations 2002 are included in the Directors’ Remuneration Report and form part of these consolidated  
financial statements. 
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10. AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION 
The auditor’s remuneration for services provided to the Group during the year ended 31 December 2008 was $5.0 million  
(2007: $3.9 million), made up as follows: 

$ million 2008 2007

Ernst & Young LLP 
Audit   2.9  2.2 
Assurance-related services  0.4  0.4 
Transaction advisory services   1.7  1.3 
Total remuneration  5.0  3.9 

Group 
For the year ended 31 December 2008, Ernst & Young LLP and its associates rendered assurance-related services relating to the review  
of the half-yearly report amounting to $0.4 million (2007: $0.3 million) and review of the special interim accounts for the Company 
amounting to $nil (2007: $0.1 million). Ernst & Young LLP and its associates also provided transaction advisory services of $1.7 million  
(2007: $1.3 million) principally relating to provision of due diligence services in respect of the acquisition of Kazakhmys Power and  
the acquisition of additional shares in ENRC PLC arising from the share exchange with the Government in July 2008. 

Company 
The auditor’s remuneration attributable to the Company was $3.2 million (2007: $2.7 million), which related to $1.2 million for audit 
services (2007: $1.1 million), $0.3 million for assurance-related services (2007: $0.3 million) and $1.7 million for transaction advisory 
services (2007: $1.3 million). 

11. FINANCE INCOME AND FINANCE COSTS 
$ million 2008 2007

Finance income 
Interest income  23  94 
Foreign exchange gains  115  166 
Total finance income  138  260 
Finance costs 
Interest expense  (66)  (14)
Interest on employee obligations  (4)  (3)
Unwinding of discount on provisions  (5)  (8)
Finance costs before foreign exchange losses  (75)  (25)
Foreign exchange losses  (128)  (257)
Total finance costs  (203)  (282)

12. INCOME TAX  
(a) IIncome statement 
Major components of income tax expense for the years presented are:  

$ million 2008 2007

Current income tax 
Corporate income tax – current period (UK)  5  18 
Corporate income tax – current period (overseas)  446  696 
Corporate income tax – prior periods  (9)  (28)
Excess profits tax – current period  27  52 
Excess profits tax – prior periods  –  (9)
  469  729 
Deferred income tax 
Corporate income tax – current period  (281)  (115)
Corporate income tax – prior periods  (13)  (9)
Excess profits tax – current period  1  (6)
  (293)  (130)
Income tax expense  176  599 
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A reconciliation of the income tax expense applicable to the accounting profit before tax at the statutory income tax rate to the income 
tax expense at the Group’s effective income tax rate is as follows: 

$ million 2008 2007

Profit before taxation  1,086  2,026 
At statutory income tax rate of 28.5%1 (2007: 30.0%)  310  608 
Tax effect of share of profits from associate  (73)  – 
Overprovided in previous years – deferred income tax  (13)  (9)
Overprovided in previous years – current income tax  (9)  (28)
Unrecognised/(use of previously unrecognised) tax losses  9  (31)
Effect of domestic tax rates applicable to individual Group entities  16  (1)
Release of deferred tax liability due to change in future tax rates  (146)  (11)
Unremitted overseas earnings  41  – 
Non-deductible expenses/(non-taxable income):  
 Non-taxable income on zinc plant  (6)  (26)
 Non-deductible expenses  19  60 
Excess profits tax  28  37 
At effective income tax rate of 16.2% (2007: 29.6%)  176  599 
1 The UK statutory income tax rate for January to March 2008 was 30% and for April to December 2008 was 28%, giving a weighted average full-year rate of 28.5%  

for 2008. 

Corporate income tax is calculated at 28.5% (2007: 30.0%) of the assessable profit for the period for the Company and its UK 
subsidiaries and 30.0% for the operating subsidiaries in Kazakhstan. The MKM tax rate is calculated at 28.5% (2007: 37.3%) and relates 
to German corporate income tax and trade tax. 

Excess profits tax is levied on profitable subsoil contracts where the cumulative internal rate of return for the current year exceeds 20%  
in a given period. The effective rate for excess profits tax for those subsoil contracts liable to this tax is 19% (2007: 15%). 

The effective tax rate is lower than the statutory rate due to the taxation credit in respect of deferred income tax (see below), and the 
impact of equity accounting for the associate. The Group’s interest in the earnings of ENRC is included, net of tax, in the consolidated 
income statement below the Group’s operating profit in arriving at profit before taxation, thereby reducing the effective tax rate. 
Excluding the impact of these deferred tax adjustments and the impact of equity accounting, the Group’s effective income tax rate  
for the year would be 31.7%. 

The income tax expense for the year includes a credit of $178 million in respect of deferred income tax. This credit arises due to the 
impairment of the Kazakhmys Gold business and the enactment of new tax legislation within Kazakhstan in December 2008, which  
is effective from 1 January 2009, that leads to a phased reduction in the corporate income tax rate from 30% in 2008 to 15% in 2011.  
This credit is primarily made up of the following: 

• on the acquisition of Kazakhmys Gold in July 2007, a deferred tax liability of $46 million was recognised arising from the requirement 
to provide deferred tax on the acquisition fair value adjustments, with a corresponding entry to goodwill. The goodwill recognised 
on acquisition and a proportion of the mining assets of the Kazakhmys Gold business have been impaired during the year and this 
results in a taxation credit in the income statement of $32 million; 

• as described in note 4, on completion of the acquisition of Kazakhmys Power in May 2008, a deferred tax liability of $267 million was 
recognised arising from the requirement to provide deferred tax on the acquisition fair value adjustments, with a corresponding entry 
to goodwill. The deferred tax liability was calculated based on a corporate income tax rate of 30%, the prevailing tax rate at the date 
of acquisition. Since the rates included within the new Kazakh tax legislation, effective from 1 January 2009, were substantially 
enacted by 31 December 2008, the deferred tax liability on the fair value adjustments has been recalculated as $141 million resulting 
in a taxation credit in the income statement of $126 million; and 

• the non-acquisition related deferred tax liabilities within the Group’s Kazakh businesses have been recalculated taking into account 
the lower corporate income tax rates resulting from the new Kazakh tax legislation, effective from 1 January 2009. This calculation 
gives rise to a $20 million taxation credit in the income statement. 

Future tax charges are affected by the mix of profits and tax rates in the various tax jurisdictions in which the Group operates. As stated 
above, with the enactment of new tax legislation in Kazakhstan in December 2008, which is effective from 1 January 2009, there will be  
a phased reduction in the corporate income tax rate from 30% in 2008 to 15% in 2011. This reduction in corporate income tax rates will 
have the effect of significantly lowering the Group’s overall future effective tax rate below the current UK statutory corporate income tax 
rate of 28%. 
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12. INCOME TAX CONTINUED 
(b) RRecognised deferred tax assets and liabilities 
The amounts of deferred taxation assets/(liabilities) provided in the financial statements are as follows: 

$ million 2008 2007

Intangible assets  (6)  (24)
Property, plant and equipment  (201)  (180)
Mining assets  (11)  (35)
Inventories  12  (20)
Trade and other receivables  (1)  10 
Provisions  16  27 
Taxes payable  1  2 
Tax losses  4  5 
Unremitted overseas earnings  (80)  (69)
   (266)  (284)
Deferred excess profits tax – property, plant and equipment  –  (8)
Deferred excess profits tax – taxes paid and accrued  –  9 
   –  1 
Deferred tax liability, net  (266)  (283)

The deferred tax assets shown in the table above arise within Kazakhmys LLC and are offset against deferred tax liabilities arising in the 
same entity and in the same jurisdiction. 

The movement in the net deferred tax liability in the financial statements is as follows: 

$ million 2008 2007

As at 1 January  283  348 
Business acquisition  279  47 
(Credited)/charged to the income statement  (293)  (130)
Net exchange adjustment  (3)  18 
As at 31 December  266  283 

(c) UUnrecognised deferred tax assets 
Deferred tax assets not recognised in the accounts are as follows: 

$ million 2008 2007

Kazakhstan – tax losses 
Total losses carried forward  10  – 
Germany – tax losses 
Corporate income tax  31  33 
Trade tax  19  21 
Total losses carried forward  50  54 
UK 
Excess foreign tax credits  63  55 
Total  123  109 

Details of the Group’s tax losses arising in the jurisdictions in which it operates are as follows:  

(i) KKazakhstan 
At 31 December 2008, Kazakhmys LLC has corporate income tax losses on certain mines that can be carried forward and used against 
future taxable profits arising from those mines. Under Kazakhstan tax legislation, tax losses from loss making mines may not be offset 
against the taxable profits of profitable mines. Kazakhmys LLC expects that certain mines will be in a tax loss making position for the 
foreseeable future and will have no taxable profits against which the losses can be offset. Therefore, no deferred tax asset has been 
recognised in respect of the tax losses associated with these mines. 

(ii) GGermany 
MKM has at 31 December 2008 corporate income tax losses that can be carried forward and used against future taxable profits, subject 
to restrictions set out under German tax legislation. There is no time restriction over the utilisation of tax losses.  

Due to the past history of tax losses, there is insufficient certainty that a taxable profit will arise against which the losses can be offset. 
For these reasons, no deferred tax asset has been recognised.  

(iii) UUnited Kingdom  
The payment of the dividends from Kazakhmys LLC to the Company has created excess foreign tax credits of $63 million (2007:  
$55 million) which have arisen due to the higher effective tax rate in Kazakhstan compared to the UK as well as withholding taxes 
payable on dividends remitted from Kazakhstan to the UK. These excess foreign tax credits do not expire. During 2008, the  
Company utilised excess foreign tax credits of $38 million (2007: $nil) in respect of dividends received from ENRC PLC. 
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(d) UUnrecognised deferred tax liability  
The Group has not recognised all of the deferred tax liability in respect of the distributable reserves of its subsidiaries because it controls 
them and only part of the temporary differences are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.  

The gross temporary differences in respect of the undistributed reserves of the Group’s subsidiaries, as shown in their statutory accounts 
prepared in accordance with applicable accounting standards, are as follows: 

$ million 2008 2007

Undistributed reserves of subsidiaries 3,033 2,636

13. EARNINGS PER SHARE  
(a) BBasic and diluted EPS 
Basic EPS is calculated by dividing profit for the year attributable to equity shareholders of the Company by the weighted average 
number of ordinary shares of 20 pence each outstanding during the year. The Company has no dilutive potential ordinary shares.  

The following reflects the income and share data used in the EPS computations: 

$ million 2008 2007

Net profit attributable to equity shareholders of the Company  909  1,416 
 
Number 2008 2007

Number of shares 
Weighted average number of ordinary shares of 20 pence each for EPS calculation 490,289,985  466,073,506 
EPS – basic and diluted ($) 1.85 3.04 

The weighted average number of shares has increased due to the issue of 80,286,050 ordinary shares of 20 pence each to the 
Government in exchange for 98,604,884 shares in ENRC PLC on 24 July 2008, offset by the completion of the share buy-back 
programme in January 2008. 

(b) EEPS based on Underlying Profit 
The Group’s Underlying Profit is the profit for the year after adding back items which are non-recurring or variable in nature and which 
do not impact the underlying trading performance of the business and their resultant tax and minority interest effects, as shown in the 
table below. EPS based on Underlying Profit is calculated by dividing Underlying Profit by the number of ordinary shares of 20 pence 
each outstanding during the year. The Directors believe EPS based on Underlying Profit provides a more consistent measure for 
comparing the underlying trading performance of the Group. 

The following shows the reconciliation of Underlying Profit from the reported profit and the share data used in the computations for  
EPS based on Underlying Profit: 

$ million 2008 2007

Net profit attributable to equity shareholders of the Company  909  1,416 
Special items: 
 Impairment of goodwill – note 7(b)  46  – 
 Impairment of property, plant and equipment: 
 Zinc smelter – note 7(a)  75  – 
 Other – note 7(c)  45  26 
 Impairment of mining assets: 
 Kazakhmys Gold – note 7(b)  112  – 
 Other – note 7(c)  14  – 
 Provisions against inventories – note 7(d)  88  – 
 Loss/(gain) on disposal of property, plant and equipment  2  (2)
Release of deferred tax liabilities: 
 Group restructuring  –  (31)
 Impairment of Kazakhmys Gold – note 12(a)  (32)  – 
 Change in tax rates on Kazakhmys Power fair value adjustments – note 12(a)  (126)  – 
 Change in tax rates on non acquisition-related deferred tax liabilities in Kazakhstan – note 12(a)  (20)  – 
Minority interest effect of non-recurring items  (1)  – 
Underlying Profit  1,112  1,409 
 
Number 2008 2007

Weighted average number of ordinary shares of 20 pence each for EPS based  
on Underlying Profit calculation 490,289,985 466,073,506 

EPS based on Underlying Profit – basic and diluted ($) 2.27 3.02 
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14. DIVIDENDS PAID AND PROPOSED 
(a) DDividend paid 
The dividends paid during the years ended 31 December 2008 and 2007 are as follows: 

 
Per share
US cents

Amount
$ million

Year ended 31 December 2008 
Final dividend in respect of year ended 31 December 2007  27.4  125 
Interim dividend in respect of year ended 31 December 2008  14.0  75 
  41.4  200 
Year ended 31 December 2007 
Final dividend in respect of year ended 31 December 2006  25.7  120 
Interim dividend in respect of year ended 31 December 2007  13.6  64 
Special dividend in respect of year ended 31 December 2007  50.0  235 
  89.3  419 
 
(i) YYear ended 31 December 2008 
On 8 May 2008 the Company paid the final dividend of $125 million in respect of the year ended 31 December 2007 to shareholders  
on the register as at 4 April 2008. This final dividend was sourced by way of payment of an interim dividend in respect of the year ended 
31 December 2007 by Kazakhmys LLC. 

On 31 October 2008, the Company paid an interim dividend of $75 million in respect of the year ended 31 December 2008 to 
shareholders on the register as at 3 October 2008. This interim dividend was largely sourced by way of payment of the final dividend in 
respect of the year ended 31 December 2007 by Kazakhmys LLC. 

(ii) YYear ended 31 December 2007 
On 14 May 2007, the Company paid the final dividend of $120 million in respect of the year ended 31 December 2006 to shareholders 
on the register as at 13 April 2007. This final dividend was sourced by way of payment of the interim dividend in respect of the year 
ended 31 December 2006 by Kazakhmys LLC. 

On 5 October 2007, the Company paid interim and special dividends of $299 million in respect of the year ended 31 December 2007 to 
shareholders on the register as at 14 September 2007. These dividends were sourced by way of payment of the final dividend in respect 
of the year ended 31 December 2006 and an interim dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December 2007 by Kazakhmys LLC. 

15. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 
$ million Goodwill Licences Other Total

Cost  
At 1 January 2007  –  28   8  36 
Business acquisition  46  –   –  46 
Additions  –  486   8  494 
Net exchange adjustment  –  2   –  2 
At 31 December 2007  46  516   16  578 
Business acquisition  594  1   –  595 
Additions  –  7   8  15 
Goodwill impairment  (46)  –   –  (46)
Net exchange adjustment  –  (1)  –  (1)
At 31 December 2008 594  523   24  1,141 
Amortisation  
At 1 January 2007  –  4   3  7 
Amortisation charge  –  2   1  3 
At 31 December 2007  –  6   4  10 
Amortisation charge  –  2   1  3 
Impairment  –  –   2  2 
At 31 December 2008  –  8   7  15 
  
Net book value 
At 31 December 2008 594  515   17  1,126 
At 31 December 2007  46  510   12  568 

During the year ended 31 December 2008, the Group acquired licences totalling $7 million (2007: $486 million). Included within the 
amount for 2007 is $450 million in relation to the purchase of Kazakhmys Petroleum and the related four year oil and gas exploration 
licence, which was treated as an asset acquisition. Of the $7 million of additions in 2008, $3 million (2007: $35 million) was capitalised by 
the Group in respect of contractual reimbursements to the Government for geological information and social commitments. These latter 
amounts are non-cash items and are recorded within provisions for payments of licences. 

The amortisation charge for the year is allocated to production expenses $2 million (2007: $2 million) and administrative expenses  
$1 million (2007: $1 million) as appropriate. 
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Impairment testing – Goodwill 
The Group performs goodwill impairment testing on an annual basis and when there are indicators of impairment. In assessing whether 
goodwill has been impaired, the carrying amount of the cash generating unit to which goodwill is allocated to, is compared to its 
recoverable amount. 

Goodwill of $46 million arose on the acquisition of Kazakhmys Gold in 2007 (see note 4(b)) and $594 million on the acquisition of 
Kazakhmys Power in 2008 (see note 4(a)). 

(a) KKazakhmys Gold 
The $46 million of goodwill relating to Kazakhmys Gold arose as a consequence of the requirement to recognise a deferred tax liability 
on the fair value adjustments, and was allocated to Kazakhmys Gold’s four cash generating units as follows: (i) Kazakhstan operating 
mines – $6 million, (ii) Mizek sulphide development project (Kazakhstan) – $14 million, (iii) Bozymchak development project (Kyrgyzstan)  
– $20 million, and (iv) Akjilga development project (Tajikistan) – $6 million. 

During the year, the Group has undertaken an impairment review of the Kazakhmys Gold segment, and the goodwill of $46 million 
arising on the acquisition has been impaired in full in addition to mining assets of $112 million following a general change in the  
long-term strategy of the division, with the outlook for existing mines and development projects being less attractive than originally 
anticipated at the time of the acquisition (see note 7(b)). 

The recoverable amount has been determined based on a combination of ‘value in use’ and ‘fair value less costs to sell’ calculations and is 
based on the cash flows expected to be generated from existing operations and development projects. Cash flows are projected for periods 
up to the date that mining and refining is expected to cease based on management’s current expectations. For current operations,  
the completion dates are based on recent assessments of the reserves and resources available and annual ore extraction rates, and  
are expected to cease by the end of 2011. For the development projects, the commencement dates for mining (between 2011 and 
2014) reflect management’s expectations of the life of mine given current financing constraints, the time required to complete technical 
studies and to develop infrastructure and facilities at the mines for production to commence. Mining will cease at the development 
projects at dates between 2016 and 2027 depending on the project, and cash flows have been forecast to these dates. 

The key assumptions used in the recoverable amount calculations are: 

• recoverable amount of reserves and resources; 
• commodity prices; 
• discount rates; 
• timing of capital expenditure; 
• inflation; and 
• exchange rates. 

Economically recoverable reserves and resources are based on management’s expectations based on the availability of reserves at  
mine sites, technical studies and exploration and evaluation work undertaken by in-house and third party specialists. 

Long-term commodity prices are based on external market consensus forecasts. Specific prices are determined from information 
available in the market after considering the nature of the commodity produced and long-term market expectations. The long-term  
gold and silver prices used in the impairment test, based on market consensus, were $750/oz and $11.50/oz, respectively. 

The discount rate used in the recoverable amount calculations represents the pre-tax rate that reflects the Group’s current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the cash generating unit. 

Management have estimated the timing of capital expenditure on the development projects based on the Group’s current and future 
financing plans and the results of technical studies completed to date. 

Long-term inflation rates for the countries that the operating mines and development projects are located in have been used in the 
calculations. These are based on information available in the market and country specific research. Long-term inflation rates used for 
Kazakhstan, Kyrgyzstan and Tajikistan in the impairment test were 4.9%, 5.9% and 9.7%, respectively. 

In assessing the ‘fair value less costs to sell,’ another key assumption is foreign exchange rates. These are based on external market 
consensus forecasts, and specific rates are determined from information available in the market after considering long-term market 
expectations and the countries in which the cash generating unit operates. The range of KZT/$ exchange rates used in the impairment 
test is between KZT121/$1 and KZT150/$1. 

(b) KKazakhmys Power 
Management has performed an impairment test of the goodwill arising from the acquisition of Kazakhmys Power at the year end as 
required by IAS 36 ‘Impairment of assets’ using a ‘fair value less costs to sell’ basis. Goodwill of $594 million arose on the acquisition  
of Kazakhmys Power and is allocated to the division’s two cash generating units as follows: (i) Ekibastuz power plant – $573 million,  
and (ii) Maikuben West coal mine – $21 million. 
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15. INTANGIBLE ASSETS CONTINUED 
The acquisition goodwill can be broken down into two elements: 

• goodwill of $327 million representing the difference between the cost of the acquisition and the fair value of identifiable assets and 
liabilities acquired, excluding deferred tax on the fair value adjustments. This goodwill has arisen as the fair values of the identifiable 
assets do not take into account the future capital expenditure programme of the businesses which should result in an increased 
capacity of the power plant from 2,250 MW to 4,000 MW. A combination of the future capacity increase, additional tariff increases 
and the ability for the Group to benefit from these improvements are the main drivers behind the goodwill balance arising on this 
transaction; and 

• goodwill of $267 million arising as a consequence of the requirement to recognise a deferred tax liability on the fair value 
adjustments. The deferred tax liability, which gives rise to the goodwill, has been calculated based on a corporate income tax rate  
of 30%, the prevailing tax rate at the date of acquisition. 

The key assumptions used in the impairment test are: 

• electricity generation volumes; 
• tariff prices; 
• discount rates; 
• timing of capital expenditure; and 
• inflation and exchange rates. 

Electricity generation volumes are based on management’s expectations based on supply and demand dynamics within Kazakhstan and 
the timing of capital expenditure required to increase the capacity of the power station. 

Tariff prices are based on management’s expectations with reference to commentary given by the Government with regards to setting 
tariff prices in the future and increase from $0.020/KWh in 2008 to 0.030/KWh in 2012. The Department of Energy has stated that they 
expect tariff prices to reach $0.035/KWh by 2010. However, for the purposes of the impairment test, a more conservative approach has 
been adopted with tariff prices not expected to exceed this level until 2014. Tariff prices are assumed to increase at the long-term 
inflation rate for all years after 2012. 

The discount rate used in the recoverable amount calculations represents the pre-tax rate that reflects the Group’s current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the two cash generating units. The discount rates used in the 
impairment test for the Ekibastuz power plant and Maikuben West coal mine were 12.4% and 15.8%, respectively. 

Management have estimated the timing of capital expenditure based on the Group’s current and future financing plans and the results 
of technical studies completed at the time of acquisition. 

Long-term inflation and exchange rates for Kazakhstan have been used in the calculations. These are based on information available  
in the market and country specific research. A long-term inflation rate of 4.9% for Kazakhstan has been used in the impairment test.  
The range of KZT/$ exchange rates used is between KZT121/$1 and KZT150/$1. 

Based on the results of the impairment test, the goodwill arising on the acquisition of Kazakhmys Power is not impaired. 

Sensitivity to changes in assumptions 
If the values of the key assumptions were to move by the following amounts, then fair value less costs to sell would equal the carrying 
value of each cash generating unit. All changes are assumed to happen in isolation: 

Ekibastuz power plant cash generating unit: 

• if electricity sales volumes were to decrease by 3.2% for each year, then the recoverable amount would equal the carrying amount; 
• if the rate of growth in tariff prices was less than forecast such that tariff prices grew at a rate of 3.1% less than that assumed for each 

year, then the recoverable amount would equal the carrying amount; 
• if the discount rate increased from 12.4% to 13.5%, then the recoverable amount would equal the carrying amount. 

Maikuben West coal mine cash generating unit: 

• if coal sales volumes were to decrease by 1.3% for each year, then the recoverable amount would equal the carrying amount; 
• if the rate of growth in coal prices was less than forecast such that coal prices grew at a rate of 1.2% less than that assumed for  

each year, then the recoverable amount would equal the carrying amount; 
• if the discount rate increased from 15.8% to 16.3%, then the recoverable amount would equal the carrying amount. 
 



Financial Statem
ents

 

www.kazakhmys.com 107 

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

$ million 
Land and 
buildings

Plant and 
equipment Other 

Construction
in progress Total

Cost  
At 1 January 2007  896  1,266  250   309  2,721 
Business acquisition  4  3  2   –  9 
Additions  15  64  42   334  455 
Transfers  19  21  –   (40)  – 
Reclassifications  –  47  (47)  –  – 
Disposals  (5)  (6)  (2)  –  (13)
Net exchange adjustment  62  75  18   21  176 
At 31 December 2007  991  1,470  263   624  3,348 
Business acquisition  642  323  1   23  989 
Additions  40  224  96   294  654 
Capitalised depreciation  –  –  –   3  3 
Transfers  274  126  6   (406)  – 
Reclassifications  (1)  3  (2)  –  – 
Disposals  (9)  (31)  (4)  (12)  (56)
Net exchange adjustment  (8)  (14)  (3)  (3)  (28)
At 31 December 2008  1,929  2,101  357   523  4,910 
Depreciation and impairment  
At 1 January 2007  270  527  109   –  906 
Depreciation charge  53  154  22   –  229 
Reclassifications  –  41  (41)  –  – 
Disposals  (2)  (4)  (1)  –  (7)
Impairment  7  7  2   10  26 
Net exchange adjustment  19  37  9   –  65 
At 31 December 2007  347  762  100   10  1,219 
Depreciation charge  68  193  31   –  292 
Reclassifications  –  1  (1)  –  – 
Disposals  (6)  (28)  (3)  –  (37)
Impairment  82  26  –   12  120 
Net exchange adjustment  (3)  (6)  (1)  –  (10)
At 31 December 2008  488  948  126   22  1,584 
  
Net book value  
At 31 December 2008  1,441  1,153  231   501  3,326 
At 31 December 2007  644  708  163   614  2,129 
 
(a) DDeemed cost of assets within Kazakhmys LLC 
For the purpose of the transition to IFRS in 2002, the Directors commissioned an independent company which held a State licence to 
conduct valuations, to carry out an independent appraisal of property, plant and equipment as of 1 January 2002 to determine their 
deemed cost at that date.  

The deemed cost of property, plant and equipment as of 1 January 2002 was determined primarily with reference to depreciated 
replacement cost. The Directors believe that the deemed cost reflected the economic conditions of the Group’s property, plant and 
equipment at that time. 

(b) CCost of assets within acquired businesses 
The cost of property, plant and equipment acquired through business acquisitions since the IFRS transition date in 2002 is based on  
the results of IFRS fair value exercises undertaken at the time of acquisition. 

(c) IImpairment 
During 2008, property, plant and equipment of $120 million (2007: $26 million) was impaired, all of which relates to the Kazakhmys 
Copper segment. Included within this amount is an impairment charge of $75 million relating to the Balkhash zinc smelter (see note 7). 

(d) FFully depreciated assets 
At 31 December 2008, the cost of fully depreciated property, plant and equipment within Kazakhmys LLC was $333 million  
(2007: $228 million), within MKM was $41 million (2007: $30 million), and within other Group entities was $8 million (2007: $nil). 

(e) MMKM investment grants and subsidies 
Within MKM there were no significant investment grants and subsidies received from the German government in 2008 and 2007. As at 
31 December 2008, gross carrying value of property, plant and equipment previously subsidised by the German government amounted 
to $13 million (2007: $16 million). 
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16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT CONTINUED 
(f) RReclassifications 
The Group has reviewed the presentation of impairment losses within the above table and has showed them within depreciation rather 
than cost. As a result of this change in presentation, the comparative numbers for 2007 have been amended with no impact on the total 
net book value. 

17. MINING ASSETS 

$ million 

Mine 
development 

costs 

Mine
stripping

costs Total

Cost  
At 1 January 2007  114   46  160 
Business acquisition  239   –  239 
Additions  2   28  30 
Disposals  (1)  (19)  (20)
Net exchange adjustment  6   3  9 
At 31 December 2007  360   58  418 
Business acquisition  –   46  46 
Additions  19   9  28 
Capitalised depreciation  –   1  1 
Disposals  (3)  (45)  (48)
Net exchange adjustment  (3)  (1)  (4)
At 31 December 2008  373   68  441 
Depletion and impairment  
At 1 January 2007  16   1  17 
Depletion charge  13   19  32 
Disposals  (1)  (19)  (20)
Net exchange adjustment  1   –  1 
At 31 December 2007  29   1  30 
Depletion charge  14   44  58 
Disposals  (3)  (45)  (48)
Impairment  115   11  126 
At 31 December 2008  155   11  166 
  
Net book value  
At 31 December 2008  218   57  275 
At 31 December 2007  331   57  388 

During 2008, mining assets of $126 million (2007: $nil) were impaired, analysed between $112 million (2007: $nil) for the Kazakhmys 
Gold segment and $14 million (2007: $nil) for the Kazakhmys Copper segment (see note 7). 

18. AVAILABLE FOR SALE INVESTMENT 
$ million 2008 2007

At 1 January  2,401  – 
Additions  –  806 
Revaluation to fair value  1,041  1,595 
Reclassification of available for sale investment to investment in associate  (3,442)  – 
At 31 December  –  2,401 

The available for sale investment relates to the Group’s shareholding in ENRC (prior to this investment being treated as an associate) 
and the fair value is determined by reference to the published price quotation on the London Stock Exchange. 

As explained below in note 19, following the share exchange with the Government, the investment was reclassified from being an 
available for sale investment to an investment in associate. The unrealised gain on the available for sale investment, included within 
capital reserves, was correspondingly released through equity against the investment in associate. 

19. INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATE 
On 26 October 2007, the Group acquired an 18.8% interest in ENRC at a price of $806 million. At the time of the listing of ENRC on the 
main board of the London Stock Exchange in December 2007, new shares were issued by ENRC to which the Group did not subscribe 
and hence the Group’s interest in ENRC reduced from 18.8% to 14.6% taking into account the full exercise of the over-allotment option. 
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At 31 December 2007, the Group’s 14.6% shareholding in ENRC was classified as an available for sale investment and was recorded at  
a fair value of $2,401 million. 

On 24 July 2008, the Company issued 80,286,050 ordinary shares of 20 pence each to the Government in exchange for 98,607,884 shares 
in ENRC, which it received on 28 July 2008. The share price of the Company as at the date of the share issue was £13.17 per share, and the 
market value of the shares issued was $2,110 million. In addition stamp duty of $10 million was incurred, taking the total cost of the transaction 
to $2,120 million. Following completion of these transactions, the Group’s shareholding in ENRC increased to 22.2%. 

Between 31 July and 8 August 2008, the Group purchased for a total cost of $800 million, a further 35,733,717 shares in ENRC thereby 
taking the Group’s total holding in ENRC to 25.0% of the issued share capital. 

Between 2 October and 27 October 2008, the Group purchased, for a total cost of $108 million, a further 12,647,009 shares in ENRC 
thereby taking the Group’s total holding in ENRC to 334,824,860 or 26.0% of the issued share capital. 

After the completion of these transactions, the total number of shares held by the Group in ENRC at 31 December 2008 was 334,824,860. 

$ million 2008

Investment in associate 
At 1 January  – 
Reclassified from available for sale investment  3,442 
Additions  3,028 
Share of profits from associate1  255 
Net share of losses of associate recognised in equity (6)
Impairment recognised against unrealised gain on available for sale investment in equity  (2,636)
Dividends received  (38)
At 31 December  4,045 
1 Share of profits from associate is net of tax. 

At 31 December 2008, the Group’s 26.0% in ENRC had a market value of $1,600 million which is determined by reference to the 
published price quotation on the London Stock Exchange.  

Following the piecemeal acquisition of the associate, the Group’s investment in associate has been impaired by $2,636 million. This 
impairment charge has been recognised directly in equity against the unrealised gain on the available for sale investment, and there  
is no impact on the consolidated income statement. The impairment arose due to the requirements of IFRS 3 ‘Business combinations’  
and IAS 28 ‘Investments in associates’ which requires the cost of acquisition of each tranche to be compared to the fair value of the  
net identifiable assets of the acquiree. With the exception of the acquisition of the final tranche of ENRC shares in October 2008, the 
acquisitions in July and August 2008 were undertaken prior to the sharp decrease in commodity prices and share prices of listed natural 
resource companies, at a time when the prevailing market value of ENRC has since been considered to have been at an elevated level 
compared to ENRC’s recoverable amount at that time. The Group’s cost of investment in associate in excess of the value-in-use has 
therefore been impaired and this has been recognised against the unrealised gain within equity (from when the shareholding was classified  
as an available for sale investment) arising prior to the time when the Group equity accounted its investment in ENRC. The recoverable 
amount used in assessing the impairment charge is based on a value in use methodology using a discounted cash flow model. The future  
cash flows are discounted using a pre-tax discount rate of 13%. 

In light of the current volatility in share prices, particularly those of natural resource industry companies and the £/$ exchange rate, the 
Directors do not believe that the Group’s investment in the associate is impaired at 31 December 2008 as the Directors’ assessment  
of ENRC’s recoverable amount, using long-term forecasts and assumptions, supports ENRC’s carrying value at 31 December 2008. 

The accounting period end of ENRC is 31 December. 

The following is a summary of the financial information of the Group’s investment in ENRC based on ENRC’s published results:  

$ million 2008

Share of associate’s balance sheet 
Total assets 2,604
Total liabilities (446)
Net assets 2,158 
Carrying amount of the investment  4,045 
 
$ million 2008

Share of associate’s revenue and profit 
Revenue 721
Operating profit 372
Profit before finance items and taxation 370
Net finance costs and share of loss of joint venture (16)
Income tax expense (99)
Profit for the period 255 
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20. OTHER NON-CURRENT INVESTMENTS 

$ million 
Unlisted

investments
Long-term 
securities 

Long-term
deposits Total

Cost  
At 1 January 2007  2  4   2  8 
Additions  5  2   2  9 
Disposals  –  (1)  (2)  (3)
At 31 December 2007  7  5   2  14 
Additions  –  –   2  2 
Disposals  (5)  (4)  (2)  (11)
At 31 December 2008  2  1   2  5 
Provision for impairment  
At 31 December 2007  2  –   –  2 
Disposals  (2)  –   –  (2)
At 31 December 2008  –  –   –  – 
  
Net book value  
At 31 December 2008  2  1   2  5 
At 31 December 2007  5  5   2  12 
 
(a) UUnlisted investments 
The Group has a 10.26% interest in Kazenergocable JSC amounting to $1 million (2007: $1 million). Kazenergocable JSC is a company 
involved in the production of copper-based products in Kazakhstan. 

(b) LLong-term securities 
As at 31 December 2008 corporate bonds held for trading amounting to $1 million (2007: $2 million) were held by MKM in order to fund 
future obligations arising from part-time contracts for older employees. 

As at 31 December 2007 Kazakhmys Pension Fund JSC held corporate bonds and securities of listed companies held to maturity 
amounting to $3 million. This company was sold during 2008. 

(c) LLong-term deposits 
As required by the Group’s site restoration obligations, the Group is obliged to deposit cash in restricted special purpose bank accounts 
that have been classified as long-term deposits. 

21. INVENTORIES 
$ million 2008 2007

Raw materials and consumables  318  287 
Work in progress  312  286 
Finished goods  194  272 
Gross value of inventories  824  845 
Inventories provision  (90)  (30)
  734  815 

The carrying amount of inventory that has been written down to net realisable value is $93 million (2007: $nil). 

The amount of inventories held as security for MKM borrowings is $132 million (2007: $221 million). 

22. PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER CURRENT ASSETS 
$ million 2008 2007

VAT reclaimable  116  103 
Advances paid for goods and services  82  92 
Amounts due from related parties  15  13 
Other  34  21 
Gross value of prepayments and other current assets  247  229 
Provision for impairment of receivables  (9)  (17)
  238  212 

Provision for impairment as at 31 December 2008 includes a provision against the advance paid to Zhezkazganmunai JSC, a related 
party (included within ‘other companies’ – see note 36), amounting to $nil (2007: $10 million) as the advance was written off. 
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23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 
$ million 2008 2007

Trade receivables  267  347 
 Amounts due from related parties  60  31 
 Amounts due from third parties  207  316 
Interest receivable  2  7 
Other receivables  8  12 
Gross value of trade and other receivables  277  366 
Provision for impairment of receivables  (44)  (33)
  233  333 

Provision for impairment as at 31 December 2008 includes a provision on the receivables from JSC Water/Heat Supply, a related party 
(included within ‘companies under trust management’ – see note 36), amounting to $25 million (2007: $18 million). 

The amount of trade receivables held as security for MKM borrowings is $97 million (2007: $162 million). 

24. CURRENT INVESTMENTS 

$ million 
Bank 

deposits 
Assets held
for trading Total

At 1 January 2007  1,187   50  1,237 
Additions  1,358   –  1,358 
Disposals  (2,491)  (51)  (2,542)
Foreign exchange gain  (41)  –  (41)
Net exchange adjustment  44   1  45 
At 31 December 2007  57   –  57 
Additions  103   –  103 
Disposals  (128)  –  (128)
At 31 December 2008  32   –  32 

The bank deposits above are held within Kazakhstan and are invested with major Kazakhstan banks and local branches of international 
financial institutions. 

25. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
$ million 2008 2007

Cash deposits with maturities of less than three months  44  189 
Cash at bank  496  249 
Petty cash  –  1 
  540  439 

Cash deposits within Kazakhstan are held with major Kazakhstan banks and local branches of international financial institutions. Cash 
deposits held outside of Kazakhstan are principally held with Western European and US financial institutions and their triple ‘A’ rated 
managed liquidity funds.  

26. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES 
(a) AAuthorised and allotted share capital 
 Number £ million $ million

Authorised – At 31 December 2008 and 31 December 2007  
Ordinary shares of 20 pence each  750,000,000   150  – 
  
Allotted and called up share capital  
At 1 January 2007  467,474,200   93  173 
Shares issued  2,559,665   1  1 
Purchase of Company’s issued share capital  (9,910,577)  (2)  (4)
At 31 December 2007  460,123,288   92  170 
Purchase of Company’s issued share capital  (5,169,000)  (1)  (2)
Shares issued  80,286,050   16  32 
At 31 December 2008  535,240,338   107  200 

In September 2007, the Company issued 2,559,665 ordinary shares of 20 pence each and paid $12 million in consideration for the 
transfer to it of 227,959,211 units in Kazakhmys LLC by minority shareholders. Following this transaction, the Company’s interest in 
Kazakhmys LLC increased from 99.08% as at 1 January 2007 to 99.73% as at 31 December 2007. 
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26. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES CONTINUED 
Commencing from October 2007, the Company began a share buy-back programme, which concluded in January 2008, whereby the 
Company bought back and cancelled 15,079,577 ordinary shares at a total cost of $391 million including expenses, of which 5,169,000 
were cancelled in 2008 at total cost of $121 million including expenses. 

In July 2008 the Company issued 80,286,050 ordinary shares of 20 pence each to the Government in exchange for 98,607,884 shares in 
ENRC. The share price of the Company as at the date of the share issue was £13.17 per share, and the market value of the shares issued 
was $2,110 million. 

(b) CCapital reserves  

$ million Reserve fund
Net unrealised

gains reserve

Currency
translation

reserve

Capital 
redemption 

reserve 
Hedging

reserve Total

At 1 January 2007  38  –  228  –   –  266 
Unrealised gain on available for sale investments  –  1,595  –  –   –  1,595 
Currency translation differences  –  –  223  –   –  223 
Purchase of Company’s issued share capital  –  –  –  4   –  4 
At 31 December 2007  38  1,595  451  4   –  2,088 
Unrealised gain on available for sale investments  –  1,041  –  –   –  1,041 
Impairment of associate recognised against unrealised 

gain on available for sale investment in equity  –  (2,636)  –  –   –  (2,636)
Share of losses of associate recognised in equity – (2) (1) – (8) (11)
Movement in cash flow hedges  –  –  –  –   1  1 
Currency translation differences  –  –  (36)   –  (36)
Purchase of Company’s issued share capital  –  –  –  2   –  2 
At 31 December 2008  38  (2)  414  6   (7)  449 
 
(i) RReserve fund  
In accordance with legislation of the Republic of Kazakhstan the reserve fund comprises prescribed transfers from retained earnings 
amounting to 15% of Kazakhmys LLC’s charter capital. 

(ii) NNet unrealised gains reserve  
The net unrealised gains reserve is used to record the fair value movements of available for sale investments. 

(iii) FForeign currency translation reserve  
The foreign currency translation reserve is used to record exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial statements  
of subsidiaries whose functional currency is not the US dollar into the Group’s presentation currency. 

(iv) CCapital redemption reserve 
As a result of the share buy-back programme, transfers are made from share capital to the capital redemption reserve based on the 
nominal value of the shares cancelled. 

(v) HHedging reserve 
The hedging reserve is used to record the fair value movements of derivative financial instruments that have been designated as cash 
flow hedges. 

27. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT PLANS 
Commencing from 2007 the Company established a Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP) and a Deferred Share Bonus Plan (DSBP).  
The total expense for the year ended 31 December 2008 arising from these plans was $1.0 million (2007: $0.1 million). 

Both plans are discretionary benefits offered by the Company for the benefit of its employees. The main purpose is to increase the 
interest of the employees in Kazakhmys’ long-term business goals and performance through share ownership. They represent incentives 
for employees’ future performance and commitment to be aligned to the goals of the Group. The shares issued under these plans are 
not potential dilutive ordinary shares as the Company plans to purchase the shares issued to employees in the market. 

(a) LLong Term Incentive Plan 
Under the LTIP, shares are granted to senior management of the Company at nil cost. The vesting of the shares is dependent on the 
total shareholder return (TSR) of the Group as compared to a group of listed comparator companies, as well as a requirement for the 
recipients of awards to remain in employment with the Company over the vesting period. There are no cash settlement alternatives. 

The first awards, granted on 3 December 2007, under the LTIP were made with either a two year vesting period or a three year vesting 
period. Awards over 11,226 shares were granted with a two year vesting period and awards over 37,862 shares were granted with a 
three year vesting period. 

On 7 April 2008, awards over 66,202 shares were granted with a three year vesting period. 

Additional awards are due to be granted to senior management in April 2009 and these will be subject to the same vesting criteria as 
the awards granted on 7 April 2008. 

The fair value of the shares was estimated at the grant date using a Monte Carlo simulation model, taking into account the terms and 
conditions upon which the shares were granted. This model simulates the TSR and compares it against the group of comparator companies. 
It takes into account historic dividends and share price fluctuations to predict the distribution of relative share performance. 

 –  
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The following table shows the movements in the number of shares during the year: 

Number 2008 2007

Outstanding at 1 January 49,088 –
Granted on 3 December 2007 – 2 year vesting period – 11,226
Granted on 3 December 2007 – 3 year vesting period – 37,862
Granted on 7 April 2008 – 3 year vesting period 66,202 –
Outstanding at 31 December 115,290 49,088
Exercisable at 31 December – –

The following table lists the inputs to the model: 

2008 2007 

 

Shares granted 
with a 3 year 

vesting period

Shares granted  
with a 2 year  

vesting period 

Shares granted 
with a 3 year 

vesting period

Number of awards 66,202 11,226 37,862
Fair value at grant date £11.43 £7.326 £7.704
Share price at grant date £16.97 £13.45 £13.45
Exercise price £nil £nil £nil
Expected volatility 44.5% 42.1% 41.7%
Expected weighted average life at 31 December 2008 2.3 years 0.9 years 1.9 years

The award of shares are not affected by the risk-free rate of interest since no investment is required by the recipient, and therefore no 
interest could be earned elsewhere. On vesting of the award, the participants are entitled to cash equal to the value of dividends (excluding 
the dividend tax credit) that would have been paid on those shares between the grant date and the date of vesting. Therefore, expected 
dividend yield does not affect the valuation of the awards and has been set at zero to achieve this effect. Expected volatility is based on 
historic share price movements. 

(b) DDeferred Share Bonus Plan 
On 7 April 2008, awards over 11,403 shares were granted to employees based on an average share price at grant date of £15.95 with  
a two year vesting period. Under the DSBP, the awards were based on the deferred amount of an employee’s 2007 bonus. 

Additional shares under the DSBP are due to be granted to employees in April 2009 based on the deferred amount of an employee’s 
2008 bonus. The number of shares granted to employees will be based on the cash value of the deferred bonus and the average share 
price for a period of time prior to the grant date in April 2009. The shares granted will vest after a period of two years after grant date. 
At 31 December 2008, the cash value of the awards eligible for the DSBP, for which shares will be granted in April 2009, was $0.3 million. 

28. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 
The following tables summarise the components of net benefit expense recognised in the consolidated income statement and amounts 
recognised in the consolidated balance sheet for the respective plans: 

$ million 2008 2007

Kazakhstan (post-retirement benefits)  38  34 
Germany (part-time contracts)  2  3 
Recognised liability for employee benefit obligations  40  37 
 
Kazakhstan 
$ million 2008 2007

Net liability at 1 January  34  29 
Employer’s share of current service cost  1  1 
Net actuarial losses recognised in the period  1  1 
Interest cost on benefit obligation  4  3 
Benefits provided to employees  (2)  (1)
Net exchange adjustment  –  1 
Net liability at 31 December  38  34 
 
Germany 
$ million 2008 2007

Net liability at 1 January  3  5 
Employer’s share of current service cost  –  1 
Benefits provided to employees  (1)  (3)
Net liability at 31 December  2  3 
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28. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS CONTINUED 
(a) KKazakhstan 
Kazakhmys LLC provides post-retirement benefits in Kazakhstan which are unfunded. The actuarial losses on prior period service costs 
which existed as at 31 December 2008 amounted to $15 million (2007: $17 million). A discount rate of 7.5% (2007: 7.5%) has been used 
in calculating the employee benefit liabilities and associated charges, as measured in Kazakhstan tenge. 

The Group continues to pay the non-monetary benefits described in note 8. 

(b) GGermany  
In Germany, MKM has obligations arising from part-time contracts for older employees that have been collectively agreed with the 
employees’ trade union. Non-current investments amounting to $1 million (2007: $2 million) have been set aside to fund MKM’s 
obligations relating to part-time contracts. 

29. PROVISIONS 

$ million 

Site 
restoration 

and clean up
Payments for 

licences
Deferred 

consideration Other Total

At 1 January 2007  28  31  –   –  59 
Business acquisition  1  –  –   –  1 
Arising during the year  10  35  –   –  45 
Utilised  –  (3)  –   –  (3)
Foreign exchange gain  –  (2)  –   –  (2)
Unwinding of discount  3  5  –   –  8 
Net exchange adjustment  2  2  –   –  4 
At 31 December 2007  44  68  –   –  112 
Business acquisition  –  3  169   44  216 
Arising during the year  3  3  –   –  6 
Utilised –  (3)  (5)  –  (8)
Unwinding of discount  1  3  1   –  5 
At 31 December 2008  48  74  165   44  331 
Current  –  6  83   44  133 
Non-current  48  68  82   – 198 
At 31 December 2008  48  74 165   44  331 
Current  3  11  –   –  14 
Non-current  41  57  –   –  98 
At 31 December 2007  44  68  –   –  112 
 
(a) SSite restoration and clean up 
The costs of decommissioning and reclamation of mines within the Group are based on the amounts included in the Group’s contracts 
for subsoil use. The provision represents the discounted values of the estimated costs to decommission and reclaim the mines at the 
dates of depletion of each of the deposits. The present value of the provision has been calculated using a discount rate of 3% (2007: 3%) 
per year. The liability becomes payable at the end of the useful life of each mine which ranges from one to 41 years. Uncertainties in 
estimating these costs include potential changes in regulatory requirements, decommissioning and reclamation alternatives, and the 
levels of discount and inflation rates. 

(b) PPayments for licences for mining assets 
In accordance with its contracts for subsoil uses the Group is liable to repay the costs of geological information provided by the 
Government of Kazakhstan for licensed deposits. The total amount payable by the Group is discounted to its present value using a 
discount rate of 8% (2007: 8%). The uncertainties include estimating the amount of the payments and their timing. The amounts are 
payable prior to 2025. 

(c) PPayments for licences for exploration assets 
In accordance with the terms of the exploration licence, Kazakhmys Petroleum LLP is liable to make payments to the Government for 
geological information and social commitments in Astana and the Aktobe region. The present value of the obligations is estimated  
by applying a discount rate of 12%. 

(d) DDeferred consideration 
Provision for deferred consideration has been made for future payments arising from the acquisition of Kazakhmys Power in May 2008.  
As described in note 49, following termination of the management contract with AES, the total consideration payable arising from the 
acquisition of Kazakhmys Power includes fixed deferred consideration payments of $165 million on a discounted basis (discounted at  
a rate of 10.5%). On a gross basis, $3 million is payable in January 2009, $80 million in April 2009 and $102 million in January 2010. 

(e) OOther 
Other provisions are recorded where the Group has a legal or constructive obligation and a future outflow of resources is considered probable. 
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30. BORROWINGS  

$ million Maturity

Average 
interest

rate during
the year

Currency of
denomination

Current 
$ million 

Non-current
$ million

Total
$ million

31 December 2008  
Pre-export finance facility – US$ LIBOR + 1.25% 2013 3.92%  US dollar  429   1,650  2,079 
Revolving trade finance facility – EURIBOR + 1.45% 2010 4.74%  Euro  69   52  121 
  498   1,702  2,200 
31 December 2007  
Revolving trade finance facility – EURIBOR + 1.45% 2010 5.61%  Euro  –   196  196 
Halyk Bank loan – fixed at 11.67% 2008 11.67%  US dollar  2   –  2 
  2   196  198 

Pre-export finance facility 
On 29 February 2008 Kazakhmys Finance PLC, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, signed a five year pre-export finance facility 
of $2,100 million with a syndicate of banks to be used for general corporate purposes, including the acquisition of the Ekibastuz power 
plant and Maikuben West coal mine and incremental purchases of shares in ENRC. As at 31 December 2008, the facility was fully drawn. 
The loan is secured on the value of copper sales contracts with certain designated customers. Monthly loan repayments will commence 
in March 2009 through to February 2013 following a one year availability period. Arrangement fees with an amortised cost as at  
31 December 2008 of $21 million (gross cost before amortisation of $26 million) have been netted off against these borrowings in 
accordance with IAS 39. Interest is payable on the drawn balance at a rate of US$ LIBOR + 1.25%. Kazakhmys PLC, Kazakhmys LLC and 
Kazakhmys Sales Ltd act as guarantors of the loan. The pre-export finance facility contains change of control clauses which are shown  
on page 67. 

Revolving trade finance facility 
In May 2006 MKM entered into a revolving trade finance facility with a syndicate of banks for a four year loan of up to €230 million to repay 
borrowings from Dresden Bank and intercompany balances due to Kazakhmys LLC, and for general working capital purposes. Interest is 
payable on the drawn balance at a rate of EURIBOR + 1.45%. Monthly loan repayments will commence in June 2009 through to May 2010. 
The loan is secured over the inventories and receivables of MKM. 

Revolving credit facility 
On 26 August 2008 Kazakhmys Finance PLC signed a $200 million revolving credit facility with a group of banks for general corporate 
purposes and to provide standby liquidity. Of the facility, $150 million has been extended to 31 March 2010. At 31 December 2008, the 
facility was undrawn. 

Undrawn facilities 
The Group had the following undrawn committed borrowing facilities in place: 

$ million 2008 2007

Credit lines 302 287

31. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES  
$ million 2008 2007

Trade payables  146  98 
Salaries and related payables  56  40 
Other taxes payable  53  48 
Amounts payable to related parties  10  4 
Payments received in advance  8  13 
Other payables and accrued expenses  33  21 
  306  224 
 



Financial statements continued 
 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued 

116 Kazakhmys Annual Report and Accounts 2008 

32. RECONCILIATION OF PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION TO NET CASH INFLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES  
$ million 2008 2007

Profit before taxation  1,086  2,026 
Interest income  (23)  (94)
Interest expense  66  14 
Depreciation and depletion  346  261 
Amortisation  3  3 
Share of profits from associate  (255)  – 
Impairment losses  400  30 
Unrealised foreign exchange loss  2  45 
Gain on disposal of investments  (5)  (1)
Loss/(gain) on disposal of property, plant and equipment  2  (2)
Operating cash flows before changes in working capital and provisions  1,622  2,282 
Increase in inventories  (4)  (31)
Increase in prepayments and other current assets   (21)  (100)
Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables   91  (46)
Increase in employee benefits  3  3 
Increase in provisions 7  15 
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables  54  (123)
Cash flows from operations before interest, income taxes and dividends from associate  1,752  2,000 

Non-cash transaction 
As stated in note 26(a), in July 2008 the Company issued 80,286,050 ordinary shares of 20 pence each to the Government in exchange for 
98,607,884 shares in ENRC. The share price of the Company as at the date of the share issue was £13.17 per share, and the market value  
of the shares issued was $2,110 million. This represents a non-cash transaction for the purposes of the consolidated cash flow statement. 

33. MOVEMENT IN NET LIQUID FUNDS/(DEBT) 

$ million 

At
1 January

2008
Business

acquisition Cash flow1 

Net
exchange

translation

At
31 December

2008

Cash and cash equivalents  439  –  101   –  540 
Current investments   57  –  (25)  –  32 
Borrowings  (198)  (159)  (1,854)  11  (2,200)
Net liquid funds/(debt)  298  (159)  (1,778)  11  (1,628)
 

$ million 

At
1 January

2007
Business

acquisition Cash flow1

Net 
exchange 

translation 

Other 
non-cash 

movements2

At
31 December

2007

Cash and cash equivalents  786  –  (386)  39   –  439 
Current investments   1,237  –  (1,184)  45   (41)  57 
Borrowings  (277)  (6)  112  –   (27)  (198)
Net liquid funds  1,746  (6)  (1,458)  84   (68)  298 
1 Cash flow includes cash and cash equivalents acquired through business acquisitions. 
2 Other non-cash movements comprise foreign exchange losses/gains incurred by the Company’s entities and recognised in the consolidated income statement. 

34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are liquidity risk, credit risk, interest rate risk, foreign exchange risk and 
commodity price risk. These risks arise from exposures that occur in the normal course of business and are managed by the Group’s 
Treasury department in close cooperation with the Group’s business divisions under oversight of a Treasury Committee, which is chaired 
by the Chief Financial Officer. The responsibilities of the Treasury Committee include the monitoring of financial risks, management of 
the Group’s cash resources, debt funding programmes and capital structure, approval of counterparties and relevant transaction limits, 
and oversight of all significant treasury activities undertaken by the Group. The Treasury department operates as a service centre to the 
business divisions of the Group and not as a profit centre. 

A Group Treasury Policy has been approved by the Board and is periodically updated to reflect developments in the financial markets 
and the financial exposures facing the Group. The Treasury Policy covers specific areas of financial risk management, in particular, 
liquidity risk, credit risk, interest rate risk, foreign currency risk and commodity price risk. The Group’s Treasury Committee and the 
Group’s Internal Audit department monitor compliance with the Treasury Policy on a regular basis. 

The Group’s Treasury department prepares monthly treasury reports for senior management which monitor all major financial exposures and 
treasury activities undertaken by the Group. In addition, a treasury report is prepared for each Board meeting which includes a summary 
of the credit markets and their impact on the implementation of the Group’s strategy, progress on the Group’s financing initiatives and 
the significant financial exposures faced by the Group. 
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The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise borrowings, cash and cash equivalents, current investments and derivatives used for 
risk management purposes. The Group’s borrowings, surplus liquidity and derivative financial instruments are controlled and managed 
centrally by the Group’s Treasury department. Liquidity retained within Kazakhstan is only held for working capital purposes. 

The Group’s accounting policies with regard to financial instruments are detailed in note 3. 

(a) DDerivatives, financial instruments and risk management 
The Group uses derivative financial instruments to manage certain exposures to fluctuations in commodity prices, interest rates and 
exchange rates. The Group’s philosophy is generally not to hedge its core revenue streams. In periods of significant market volatility or 
uncertainty, the Group may use derivative instruments as a means of reducing volatility and any negative impact on its operating cash 
flows. Strict limits on the size and type of any derivative hedge transaction are laid down by the Board and subject to strict internal 
controls. The Group does not hold any speculative financial instruments. 

During 2008, in light of significant market volatility and disruption in the financial sector, the Group entered into a number of interest 
rate swap contracts to convert debt carried at floating rates into debt which is carried at fixed interest rates in order to reduce the 
volatility of finance costs. 

Forward commodity contracts are used, in limited situations, to hedge against copper Quotational Period differences arising on the price 
fixations between purchases of copper cathode by Kazakhmys Sales Ltd from Kazakhmys LLC and sales of copper cathode by Kazakhmys 
Sales Ltd to end customers. MKM uses natural hedging arising on back-to-back purchase and supply contracts to manage its economic 
exposure to changes in the price of copper. In those limited cases where a natural hedge is not possible, MKM uses commodity futures 
to manage its exposure to changes in the price of copper. All commodity hedge contracts are for short-term duration (less than 12 months). 

No foreign exchange hedge transactions were entered into during 2008 or 2007. 

(b) CCategories of financial assets and financial liabilities 
The carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities by categories are as follows: 

$ million Note 2008 2007

Available for sale financial assets 18  –  2,401 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 20,24,25  577  508 
Loans and receivables 23  233  333 
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost1 29,30  (2,483)  (266)
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss2 31  (299)  (226)
1 Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost comprise borrowings and provision for cash payments (payments for licences, deferred consideration and other). 
2 Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss comprise trade and other payables, derivative financial instruments and dividend payable. 

(c) FForeign exchange risk 
The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such exposures arise from sales or purchases by an operating company in currencies other 
than that company’s functional currency. The functional currency of Kazakhmys LLC, Kazakhmys Power, Kazakhmys Gold and Kazakhmys 
Petroleum is the Kazakhstan tenge, with MKM having a Euro functional currency, Kazakhmys Services Ltd having a UK pound functional 
currency, and the Company and the other entities within the Group having a US dollar functional currency. The currencies giving rise  
to this foreign currency risk are primarily the US dollar based revenues, bank deposits, trade receivables and certain trade payables  
of Kazakhmys LLC and Kazakhmys Gold, and the US dollar balances in respect of certain revenues, and trade receivables and payables 
of MKM. The Group generally does not enter into hedging positions in respect of its exposure to foreign currency risk. 

(i) FForeign currency exposure by company profile 
The analysis in the table below of the net monetary assets and liabilities indicates the Group’s exposure to currencies other than the 
functional currency of a company. These exposures represent the transactional exposures that may give rise to net currency gains and 
losses recognised in the income statement. As at 31 December 2008 and 2007, these exposures were as follows: 

$ million US dollar UK sterling Euro KZT Other

2008  
Company  n/a  –  –   –  – 
MKM  23  7  n/a   –  1 
Kazakhmys LLC  1,754  –  (3)  n/a  (3)
Kazakhmys Power  (267)  –  –   n/a  2 
Kazakhmys Gold  6  –  –   n/a  – 
Kazakhmys Petroleum  5  –  –   n/a  – 
Other non-trading or holding companies  n/a  –  –   1  (3)
  1,521  7  (3)  1  (3)
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT CONTINUED 
$ million  US dollar  UK sterling  Euro   KZT  Other 

2007  
Company  n/a  (13)  –   143  – 
MKM  21  9  n/a   –  2 
Kazakhmys LLC  1,507  –  97   n/a  (1)
Kazakhmys Gold  10  –  –   n/a  – 
Kazakhmys Petroleum  4  –  –   n/a  – 
Other non-trading or holding companies  n/a  2,401  –   n/a  – 
  1,542  2,397  97   143 1 

(ii) Foreign currency exposure by balance sheet account profile 
The Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk based on notional amounts is shown below: 

$ million US dollar UK sterling Euro KZT Other

2008  
Trade and other receivables  1,682  7  –   –  1 
Current investments  25  –  –   –  – 
Cash and cash equivalents  141  –  –   1  1 
Provisions for cash payments (44)  –  –   –  – 
Borrowings  (188)  –  –   –  – 
Trade and other payables  (95)  –  (3)  –  (5)
  1,521  7  (3)  1  (3)
 
$ million US dollar UK sterling Euro KZT Other

2007  
Available for sale investments  –  2,401  –   –  – 
Trade and other receivables  1,440  16  90   143  – 
Current investments  50  –  –   –  – 
Cash and cash equivalents  88  –  7   –  – 
Provisions for cash payments  (27)  –  –   –  – 
Borrowings  (2)  –  –   –  – 
Trade and other payables  (7)  (20)  –   –  (1)
  1,542  2,397  97  143  (1)
 
(iii) Foreign currency sensitivity analysis 
A 10 per cent strengthening of the US dollar against the following currencies at 31 December would have increased equity and profit 
after tax by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant. The 
analysis is performed on the same basis for 2007: 

 31 December 2008 31 December 2007
$ million Equity Profit  Equity Profit 

KZT  –  134   –  151 
Euro  –  2   –  13 
UK sterling  –  –   240  – 

A 10 per cent weakening of US dollar against the above currencies at 31 December would have had an equal but opposite effect on the 
above currencies to the amounts shown above, on the basis that all other variables remain constant. 

(d) Commodity price risk 
The Group is exposed to the effect of fluctuations in the price of copper, which is quoted in US dollars on the international markets. The 
Group prepares annual budgets and periodic forecasts including sensitivity analyses in respect of various levels of copper prices in the 
future. The Group is also exposed, to a lesser degree, to the prices of other metals, including zinc, gold and silver, which are products 
produced by the Group as by-products to the copper production process. The Kazakhmys Power business is exposed to the effect of 
fluctuations in electricity tariffs that it is able to charge to customers. 
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In accordance with IFRS 7, the impact of commodity prices has been determined based on the balances of financial assets and  
liabilities at 31 December 2008. This sensitivity does not represent the income statement impact that would be expected from a 
movement in commodity prices over the course of a period of time. A 10 per cent increase/(decrease) of commodity prices would  
have increased/(decreased) profit/(loss) after tax by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular 
costs, remain constant. The analysis is performed on the same basis for 2007: 

 31 December 2008 31 December 2007
$ million Impact on profit Impact on profit

Copper 1 – 
Zinc – – 
Silver – – 
Gold – – 

As explained in note 34(a) above, the Group uses forward commodity contracts to hedge against Quotational Period differences arising on 
price fixations within the UK sales operation. There were no commodity hedge contracts outstanding as at 31 December 2008 (2007: nil). 

(e) IInterest rate risk 
The Group has financial assets and liabilities which are exposed to changes in market interest rates. Changes in interest rates primarily 
impact borrowings by changing their future cash flows (floating rate debt) or their fair value (fixed rate debt) and deposits. The Group’s 
interest rate management policy is to generally borrow and invest at floating rates of interest. In some circumstances, an element of 
fixed rate funding may be considered appropriate. Local market conditions in Kazakhstan dictate that borrowings are generally fixed in 
nature and as such, borrowings in Kazakhstan are generally short term in nature and used for working capital purposes only. A limited 
amount of fixed rate hedging using interest rate swaps may be undertaken during periods where the Group’s exposure to movements  
in short-term interest rates is more significant, or in periods when interest rates are perceived to be below long-term historical levels. 

At 31 December 2008, 64% (2007: 1%) of total debt was at a fixed rate and the balance was at floating rate. The exposure of the Group’s 
financial assets and liabilities to interest rate risk is as follows: 
 

 At 31 December 2008

$ million Floating rate Fixed rate 
Non-interest 

bearing Total

Financial assets  
Non-current investments  1  2   2  5 
Trade and other receivables  –  –   233  233 
Current investments  –  32   –  32 
Cash and cash equivalents  243  246   51  540 
Total financial assets  244  280   286  810 
Financial liabilities  
Provisions for cash payments  –  283   –  283 
Borrowings1  800  1,400   –  2,200 
Trade and other payables  –  –   306  306 
Derivative financial instruments  –  2   –  2 
Dividend payable  –  –   2  2 
Total financial liabilities  800  1,685   308 2,793 
1 Of the floating rate borrowings of $2,200 million, $1,400 million has been hedged using interest rate swap contracts from floating to fixed rate (see below). 

 
 At 31 December 2007

$ million Floating rate Fixed rate 
Non-interest 

bearing Total

Financial assets  
Non-current investments  2  5   5  12 
Trade and other receivables  –  –   333  333 
Current investments  –  57   –  57 
Cash and cash equivalents  248  155   36  439 
Total financial assets  250  217   374  841 
Financial liabilities  
Provisions for cash payments  –  68   –  68 
Borrowings  196  2   –  198 
Trade and other payables  –  –   224  224 
Dividend payable  –  –   2  2 
Total financial liabilities  196  70   226  492 

The interest charged on floating rate financial liabilities is based on the relevant benchmark rate (such as LIBOR). Interest on financial 
instruments classified as fixed rate is fixed until the maturity of the instrument.  
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT CONTINUED 
During 2008, the Group entered into a series of floating to fixed interest rate swap contracts to provide a cash flow hedge against 
fluctuations in interest payments due under the pre-export finance facility. Of the $2,100 million drawn under the facility at 31 December 2008, 
$1,400 million has been fixed using interest rate swaps as set out in the table below. The interest rate swaps were the only cash flow 
hedges entered into by the Group during the year. 

 

Notional 
principal
$ million

Average 
interest rate 

% 
Maturity

date
Fair value
$ million

US dollar interest rate swaps (floating to fixed) 900 1.09 Jun 2009 (2)
US dollar interest rate swaps (floating to fixed) 500 1.10 Dec 2009 –
Total interest rate swaps 1,400 1.09 (2)

In January 2009, the Group took out a further swap for $500 million at an average interest rate of 0.88% which matures on 30 December 2009. 

The fair value of the interest rate swaps is recorded as derivative financial instruments in the consolidated balance sheet, with a 
corresponding amount recognised in equity. 

Considering the net debt position of the Group at 31 December 2008 (2007: net liquid funds position), any increase in interest rates 
would result in a net loss in the consolidated income statement, and any decrease in interest rates would result in a net gain. The effect 
on profit after tax of a 10 per cent movement in US$ LIBOR and EURIBOR rates, based on the year-end borrowings and with all other 
variables held constant, is estimated to be $1.7 million (2007: $0.8 million). 

(f) CCredit risk  
Exposure to credit risk arises as a result of transactions in the Group’s ordinary course of business and is applicable to all financial assets. 
Investments in cash, short-term deposits and derivative financial instruments are with approved counter-party banks and other financial 
institutions in accordance with the Group’s Treasury Policy. Counterparties are assessed prior to, during, and after the conclusion of 
transactions to ensure exposure to credit risk is limited to an acceptable level. The maximum exposure with respect to credit risk is 
represented by the carrying amount of each financial asset on the balance sheet. 

Credit risk relating to trade receivables 
The Group’s major exposure to credit risk is in respect of trade receivables. Given the number and geographical spread of the Group’s 
ultimate customers and the solvency of major trade debtors, credit risk is believed to be limited. The Group regularly monitors its 
exposure to bad debts in order to minimise this exposure. 

Customer credit risk is managed by each division but is subject to Group oversight to ensure that each division’s customer credit risk 
management system operates in a prudent and responsible manner. Credit evaluations are performed for all major customers and credit 
limits are established based on internal or external rating criteria. The credit quality of the Group’s significant customers is monitored on 
an ongoing basis, and receivables that are neither past due nor impaired are considered of good credit quality. 

Letters of credit are obtained where customer credit quality is not considered strong enough for open credit. 

There were no material impairments of trade receivables as at 31 December 2008 or 2007. The solvency of the debtor and their ability 
to repay the receivables were considered in assessing the impairment of such assets. 

Within Kazakhmys Copper, cash is received prior to delivery and transfer of title of the goods for sales to European customers.  
Sales to Chinese customers are made under letters of credit which are obtained prior to delivery and transfer of title of the goods. 

Payment from European and Chinese customers is subject to provisional pricing and then final pricing adjustments. Kazakhmys Copper is 
therefore exposed to the residual final pricing adjustment for each sales transaction although such amounts are not considered material. 

Kazakhmys Power receives cash upfront or has short-payment terms depending on the nature of the customer. 

Kazakhmys Gold division has a single long-standing customer with short-payment terms which is agreed via an annual sales contract. 

MKM has put in place credit insurance for the majority of its sales and credit limits are set by the credit insurance company depending 
on the financial strength and location of each customer. For those sales where credit insurance is not available, short-payment terms  
and regular dialogue with customers ensures credit risk is kept to a minimum. 

As at 31 December 2008, 10 (2007: 9) customers accounted for 34% (2007: 47%) of the trade and other receivables balance of Kazakhmys 
Copper. By 25 March 2009, 98% (5 March 2008: 92%) of year-end balances due from these customers had been received in full. 

As at 31 December 2008, 10 customers accounted for 83% of the trade and other receivables balance of the Kazakhmys Power division. 
By 25 March 2009, 80% of year-end balances due from these customers had been received in full. 

As at 31 December 2008, 10 (2007: 6) customers accounted for 23% (2007: 71%) of the trade and other receivables balance of MKM.  
By 25 March 2009, 84% (5 March 2008: 79%) of year-end balances due from these customers had been received in full. 
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(i) RRisk for trade receivables by geographical regions 
The maximum exposure to credit risk for trade receivables at 31 December by geographic area was: 

$ million 2008 2007

Europe  78  148 
China  77  101 
Kazakhstan  48  47 
Other  30  37 
  233  333 

(ii) IImpairment losses 
The ageing of trade receivables at 31 December was: 

 2008 2007
$ million Gross Impairment Gross Impairment

Not past due  127  –   293  – 
Past due 0-90 days  102  (2)  36  (1)
Past due 91-180 days  6  (2)  4  (1)
Past due 181-270 days  8  (6)  3  (1)
More than 270 days  34  (34)  30  (30)
  277  (44)  366  (33)

The movement in the provision for impairment in respect of trade receivables during the year was as follows: 

$ million 2008 2007

At 1 January  33  29 
Charged to income statement  14  2 
Written off  (3)  (2)
Net exchange adjustment  –  4 
At 31 December  44  33 

(iii) CCredit risk related to financial instruments and cash deposits 
Credit risk relating to the Group’s other financial assets, comprising principally cash and cash equivalents, current investments and 
derivative financial instruments arises from the potential default of counterparties. Credit risk arising from balances with banks and 
financial institutions is managed by the Group’s Treasury Committee in accordance with a Board approved Treasury Policy. Investment  
of cash and deposits are made only with approved counterparties of high credit worthiness and within credit limits assigned to each 
counterparty. These limits are reviewed on a regular basis to take account of developments in financial markets and updated accordingly. 
The limits are set to minimise the concentration of risks and therefore mitigate any financial loss through potential counterparty failure. 

No material exposure is considered to exist by virtue of the possible non-performance of the counterparties to derivative financial instruments. 

The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The maximum exposure to credit risk at 31 December was: 

$ million 2008 2007

Non-current investments  5  12 
Trade and other receivables  233  333 
Current investments  32  57 
Cash and cash equivalents  540  439 
  810  841 
 

(g) LLiquidity risk 
The Group maintains a balance between availability of funding and maximising investment return on its liquid resources through the  
use of liquid cash investments of varying maturities, credit facilities and longer-term debt instruments. Management regularly reviews  
the funding requirements of the Group in selecting appropriate maturities for its liquid cash investments. 

In the event that bank term deposits in Kazakhstan need to be liquidated at short notice in advance of their contracted maturity date,  
the terms of these investments permit their immediate conversion to cash, and in some instances, the forfeiture of interest accrued to 
the date of liquidation. 

The Group’s policy is to centralise debt and surplus cash balances to the maximum extent possible. 

As at 31 December 2008, the Group had undrawn standby credit facilities totalling $200 million. In addition, the MKM revolving trade 
finance facility had unutilised capacity of $23 million available for drawing, if required. 
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT CONTINUED 
Maturity of financial assets and liabilities 
The table below analyses the Group’s financial assets and liabilities which will be settled on a gross basis, into relevant maturity groups 
based on the remaining period at the balance sheet date to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the 
contractual undiscounted cash flows. 

$ million On demand
Less than
3 months

3 to 12
months

1 to 5 
years 

More than
5 years Total

2008  
Provisions for cash payments1  –  (3)  (130)  (129)  (45)  (307)
Borrowings  –  (44)  (454)  (1,702)  –  (2,200)
Trade and other payables  –  (306)  –  –   –  (306)
Derivative financial instruments  –  –  (2)  –   –  (2)
Dividend payable  (2)  –  –  –   –  (2)
  (2)  (353)  (586)  (1,831)  (45)  (2,817)
Non-current investments  –  –  –  5   –  5 
Trade and other receivables  –  233  –  –   –  233 
Current investments  –  –  32  –   –  32 
Cash and cash equivalents  540  –  –  –   –  540 
  540  233  32  5   –  810 
  538  (120)  (554)  (1,826)  (45)  (2,007)
1 Provisions for cash payments are presented on an undiscounted gross basis. 

 

$ million On demand
Less than
3 months

3 to 12
months

1 to 5 
years 

More than
5 years Total

2007  
Provisions for cash payments1  –  –  (11)  (21)  (51)  (83)
Borrowings  –  –  (2)  (196)  –  (198)
Trade and other payables  –  (224)  –  –   –  (224)
Dividend payable  (2)  –  –  –   –  (2)
  (2)  (224)  (13)  (217)  (51)  (507)
Non-current investments  –  –  –  12   –  12 
Trade and other receivables  –  333  –  –   –  333 
Current investments  –  –  57  –   –  57 
Cash and cash equivalents  439  –  –  –   –  439 
  439  333  57  12   –  841 
  437  109  44  (205)  (51)  334 
1 Provisions for cash payments are presented on an undiscounted gross basis. 

(h) FFair value of financial assets and liabilities 
Set out below is a comparison by class of the carrying amounts and fair value of the Group’s financial instruments that are carried in the 
financial statements. 

 2008 2007

$ million 
Carrying 

value Fair value 
Carrying 

value Fair value

Available for sale investments  –  –   2,401  2,401 
Other non-current investments  5  5   12  12 
Trade and other receivables  233  231   333  331 
Current investments  32  32   57  57 
Cash and cash equivalents  540  540   439  439 
Provisions for cash payments  (283)  (283)  (68)  (68)
Borrowings  (2,200)  (2,147)  (198)  (198)
Trade and other payables  (306)  (304)  (224)  (223)
Derivative financial instruments  (2)  (2)  –  – 
Dividend payable  (2)  (2)  (2)  (2)
  (1,983)  (1,930)  2,750  2,749 
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The fair value of the financial assets and liabilities are included at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current 
transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation sale. The following methods and assumptions were used to 
estimate the fair values: 

• cash and cash equivalents, current investments, trade and other receivables, trade and other payables and dividend payable 
approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to the short-term maturities of these instruments; 

• fair value of available for sale financial assets are derived from quoted market prices in active markets; 
• the Group has entered into interest rate swaps with various bank counterparties. The fair value of interest rate swaps are  

estimated by discounting expected future cash flows using current market interest rates and the yield curve over the remaining  
term of the instrument; 

• provisions for cash payments are discounted back to their present value; and 
• the fair value of borrowings is estimated by discounting future cash flows using rates currently available for debt and  

remaining maturities. 

(i) Capital management 
The over-riding objectives of the Group’s capital management policy are to safeguard and support the business as a going concern 
through the commodity cycle and to maintain an optimal capital structure with a view to maximising returns to shareholders and benefits 
to other stakeholders by reducing the Group’s cost of capital. 

As a result of acquisitions made during 2008, the Group has moved into a net debt position of $1,628 million as at 31 December 2008. 
Included within the debt facilities are financial covenants related to maximum borrowing levels (determined by reference to a Net Debt 
to EBITDA ratio), minimum tangible net worth and interest coverage ratios for which compliance certificates are produced. All financial 
covenants were fully complied with during the year and up to the date of approval of the financial statements. There are no covenants 
under negotiation at present. 

In response to market conditions, the Group has implemented a series of cost cutting measures in the operating businesses, including  
a significant reduction in discretionary capital expenditure for 2009. The Directors have also not recommended a final dividend for 2008. 
Advanced negotiations over the sale of a proportion of Ekibastuz GRES-1 are taking place which, if successful, should generate significant 
net proceeds which will be used to reduce the Group’s debt. These measures will assist in strengthening the Group’s capital structure. 

At 31 December 2008, total capital employed (comprised of equity shareholders’ funds, minority interests and borrowings) of the Group 
amounted to $9,708 million, compared to $6,631 million at 31 December 2007. 

(j) Price risk on securities 
The Group holds German securities on behalf of employees in order to fund its obligations arising from part-time contracts for older 
employees (see note 28). These securities amounted to $1 million as at 31 December 2008 (2007: $2 million). The Group is therefore 
exposed to fluctuations in the market price of these securities, although these are not considered to be material. 

35. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES  
(a) Legal claims  
In the ordinary course of business, the Group is subject to legal actions and complaints. The Directors believe that the ultimate liability,  
if any, arising from such actions or complaints will not have a materially adverse effect on the financial condition or results of operations 
of the Group. As of 31 December 2008 and 2007 the Group was not involved in any significant legal proceedings, including arbitration.  

(b) Kazakhstan taxation contingencies  
(i) Inherent uncertainties in interpreting tax legislation  
The Group is subject to uncertainties relating to the determination of its tax liabilities. Kazakhstan tax legislation and practice are in a state  
of continuous development and, therefore, are subject to varying interpretations and changes which may be applied retrospectively. 
Management’s interpretation of tax legislation as applied to the transactions and activities of the Group may not coincide with that of the  
tax authorities. As a result, the tax authorities may challenge transactions and the Group may be assessed for additional taxes, penalties and 
fines which could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s financial position and results of operations.  

(ii) Status of tax audits  
(a) Kazakhmys Copper – transfer pricing 
During 2007, Kazakhmys LLC was subject to a transfer pricing audit for the years 2001 to 2005 and received a tax assessment for 
approximately $21 million, including penalties and interest which was subsequently paid to the tax authorities in August 2007. Based on 
the results of this audit, management determined that the potential tax exposure for the years 2006 and 2007 would be approximately 
$28 million if the same methodology applied by the tax authorities for the years 2001 to 2005 was applied to the years 2006 and 2007. 
Kazakhmys LLC paid this amount to the tax authorities in two instalments in December 2007 and in April 2008. 

In producing the tax audit act arising from the transfer pricing audit for 2001 to 2005, the tax authorities have allowed for a 10% deviation 
from LME market prices, and also assumed that average LME prices for the month preceding the month when the bill of lading was issued 
were relevant for the purposes of transfer pricing rather than the quotation periods stipulated in the contracts that were used in determining 
revenues for accounting purposes. This same criteria has been applied to 2008 export sales and therefore management believes that 
Kazakhmys LLC does not bear the risk of additional tax exposures relating to 2008 export sales. Assuming the approach adopted by the  
tax authorities in future tax audits is consistent with that which has been applied in prior years, no tax provision has been provided for  
by Kazakhmys LLC in relation to transfer pricing on 2008 export sales. 
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35. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES CONTINUED 
(b) Kazakhmys Copper – excess profits tax 
During 2006, Kazakhmys LLC was subject to a corporate tax audit for the years 2003 to 2005. The issuance of the tax audit act following 
this audit implicitly confirmed management’s approach to excess profits tax for the years subject to audit. The cumulative nature of 
excess profits tax calculations may result in a further assessment of excess profits tax for the years already subject to audit if subsequent 
tax audits challenge the methodology adopted by Kazakhmys LLC. However, management believes the excess profits tax methodology 
adopted by Kazakhmys LLC is in compliance with legislation, and interpretations thereof, and has been applied for all years subsequent 
to the period of the tax audit. The Group has fully provided in its financial statements for all potential tax liabilities relating to application 
of excess profits tax. 

The Group is expecting a corporate tax audit to take place in 2009 for the years 2006 to 2008. Since the tax authorities have previously 
agreed the excess profits tax methodology applied by Kazakhmys LLC for earlier periods, as described above, management do not expect  
a challenge from the tax authorities in this area, and in any case, believe that they would be successful in defending any such challenge. 

(c) Kazakhmys Power 
Ekibastuz LLP was the subject of a tax audit for the years 2002 to 2006 with the main issue under discussion with the tax authorities 
surrounding the utilisation of carry-forward tax losses. The courts ruled in favour of the company, but the tax authorities have given 
notice that they intend to appeal against the judgement, with the appeal due to take place in 2009. In addition, Maikuben West LLP  
was the subject of a tax audit for the years 2003 to 2006. The courts ruled in favour of the company, but the tax authorities have given 
notice that they intend to appeal against the judgement, with the appeal due to take place in 2009. 

Management has provided for its view of the potential exposure arising from the tax audits within Kazakhmys Power, including fines and 
penalties, although the tax authorities may be successful in their challenges which could result in higher liabilities than those which have 
been provided. 

(iii) PPeriod for additional tax assessments  
The tax authorities in Kazakhstan are able to raise additional tax assessments for five years after the end of the relevant tax period in 
respect of all taxes, except for excess profits tax. In respect of the excess profits tax they are able to raise additional tax assessments  
for five years after the expiration of the terms of the relevant subsoil contract. 

(iv) PPossible additional tax liabilities  
The Directors believe that the Group is in substantial compliance with the tax laws promulgated in Kazakhstan and any contractual terms 
entered into that relate to tax which affect its operations and that, consequently, no additional material tax liabilities will arise. However, 
due to the reasons set out above, the risk remains that the relevant tax authorities may take a differing position with regard to the 
interpretation of contractual provisions or tax law. 

The resulting effect of this matter is that additional tax liabilities may arise. However, due to the range of uncertainties described above 
in assessing any potential additional tax liabilities, it is not practicable for the Directors to estimate the financial effect in terms of the 
amount of additional tax liabilities, if any, together with any associated penalties and charges for which the Group may be liable. 

(c) GGerman taxation contingencies  
(i) SStatus of tax audits  
In 2007 the German tax authorities finalised a tax audit of MKM for the years 1999 to 2002. The years from 2003 to 2007 remain  
open for inspection. Consequently, the tax figures recorded in the financial statements for these years may be subject to change. 

The Directors believe that the Group is in substantial compliance with the tax laws promulgated in Germany and any contractual  
terms entered into that relate to tax which affect its operations and that, consequently, no additional material tax liabilities will arise. 

(ii) PPayments of future utilised tax losses 
In accordance with the privatisation agreement between the successor body of the former state-controlled shareholder in MKM, BMBG 
Beteiligungs-Management-Gesellschaft Berlin GmbH (BMGB) and Lamitref Holding B.V. (former owner of MKM), dated 18 December 
1995, to the extent that MKM utilised tax losses against taxable income, it was required to make certain agreed upon payments to 
BMGB. The maximum payment that was payable to BMGB was $116 million. However, in 2007, MKM reached agreement with the 
German government, whereby all losses accumulated prior to May 1999 were forfeited with losses after this date being retained by 
MKM. Therefore, no future payments are required be made to BMBG subsequent to this agreement as the losses accumulated prior  
to May 1999 are no longer available to MKM. 

(d) UUK taxation contingencies 
(i) SStatus of tax audits 
In 2008, the UK tax authorities agreed the 2005 tax computation for the Company but the 2006 and 2007 tax computations remain  
open for inspection. Consequently, the tax figures recorded in the financial statements for these years may be subject to change. 

The Directors believe that the Group is in substantial compliance with the tax laws promulgated in the UK and any contractual terms 
entered into that relate to tax which affect its operations and that, consequently, no additional material tax liabilities will arise. 

(ii) TTransfer pricing 
The Directors believe the Group is in substantial compliance with regards to UK transfer pricing legislation as an appropriate profit 
margin has been generated within the UK sales operation since its formation at the time of Listing to cover the transfer of risks and 
rewards from Kazakhstan to the UK. 
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(e) IInsurance  
The insurance industry in Kazakhstan is in a developing state and many forms of insurance protection common in other parts of the world 
are not yet generally available. The Group has purchased a catastrophic insurance programme in the London market to mitigate the effect 
of the loss or damage of certain of its assets located at its facilities and the resultant business interruption although such a programme  
may not provide full cover in the event of a major loss. The Group does not have third party liability coverage in respect of property or 
environmental damage arising from accidents on Group property or relating to Group operations. There is a risk that the loss or destruction 
of certain assets could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s operations and financial position. 

(f) EEnvironmental contingencies  
Environmental regulations in Kazakhstan are continually evolving and new emissions legislation is expected to become effective from 
2012. The outcome of the environmental regulations under proposal or any future environmental legislation cannot be reliably estimated 
at present. As obligations are determined, they will be provided for in accordance with the Group’s accounting policies. The Directors 
believe that there are no significant liabilities under current legislation not accrued for in the Group’s consolidated financial statements, 
however recognise that any future changes in legislation may have a significant impact on the Group’s results. 

The provision that has been made for costs associated with restoration and abandonment of mine sites upon depletion of deposits  
(see note 29), is based upon the estimation of the Group’s specialists. Where events occur that change the level of estimated future 
costs for these activities, the provision will be adjusted accordingly. 

(g) UUse of subsoil and exploration rights 
In Kazakhstan, all subsoil reserves belong to the State, with the Ministry of Energy and Mineral Resources (the ‘Ministry’) granting 
exploration and production rights to third party bodies. Subsoil and exploration rights are not granted in perpetuity, and any renewal 
must be agreed before the expiration of the relevant contract or licence. These rights may be terminated by the Ministry if the Group 
does not satisfy its contractual obligations. The current subsoil rights will expire at varying dates up to 2025. 

(h) OObligations to pension fund beneficiaries 
At 31 December 2007, Kazakhmys LLC owned 69.78% of the ‘Accumulating Pension Fund of Kazakhmys Corporation LLC’ (the ‘Fund’), a 
corporate accumulative pension fund established under the laws of Kazakhstan which is run by RBS Kazakhstan. In April 2008, Kazakhmys 
LLC sold its majority shareholding in the Fund and reduced its shareholding to 0.2%. 

Most of Kazakhmys LLC’s employees and former employees are beneficiaries, and are entitled to an amount comprising the indexed 
value of their contributions. Under Kazakhstan law, the Fund calculates the benefits of its members on an annual basis. Kazakhmys LLC 
does not make any contributions to the Fund on behalf of its employees. 

The Fund’s rules set out that the payment obligation to Fund beneficiaries is based on the nominal value of contributions, indexed  
in accordance with a formula set out in the Fund’s rules. In the event that the assets of the Fund are insufficient to cover the payment 
obligations to the beneficiaries, the voting shareholders of the Fund (including Kazakhmys LLC) are jointly liable for their proportionate 
share of the shortfall. 

The last valuation as at 31 December 2007 showed the Fund’s payment obligations were $191 million, and the fair market value of the 
Fund’s assets amounted to $209 million. 

(i) CCommitments in respect of the acquisition of MKM  
In the context of its acquisition of MKM in December 2004, the Group is committed to invest approximately $43 million in capital 
expenditure by 31 December 2008, inject working capital of $37 million and ensure that MKM employs at least 1,006 employees  
up to 31 December 2006. 

As at 31 December 2008, $55 million (2007: $44 million) had been invested in capital expenditure in MKM since acquisition. The average 
number of employees during the year ended 31 December 2008 was 1,052 (2007: 1,045). Working capital in excess of $37 million has 
been injected into MKM. 

(j) OOther commitments  
The table below sets out the Group’s expenditure commitments in property, plant and equipment as at 31 December 2008 and 2007: 

$ million 2008 2007

Property, plant and equipment  298  93 

The Group has capital expenditure commitments for the purchase of property, plant and equipment as well as commitments under its 
mining subsoil agreements and the petroleum exploration licence. Committed expenditure under these subsoil agreements relates to 
investments in community-related projects, and includes investments in social sphere assets, infrastructure and public utilities. 
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35. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES CONTINUED 
(k) GGuarantee of employee loans  
Kazakhmys LLC’s employees are permitted to enter into loan arrangements with banks on normal commercial terms under which 
Kazakhmys LLC has guaranteed to deduct repayments from employees’ remuneration in accordance with agreed schedules of 
repayment. The total value of this guarantee amounted to $5 million as at 31 December 2008 (2007: $6 million). 

(l) OOperating lease commitments 
At 31 December 2008, the Group had the following total commitments under non-cancellable operating leases: 

$ million 2008 2007

Within one year  1  2 
After one year but not more than five years  5  8 
More than five years  10  16 
  16  26 

36. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES 
(a) TTransactions with related parties  
Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties of the Company, have been eliminated on consolidation 
and are not disclosed in this note. Details of transactions between the Group and other related parties are disclosed below. 

The following table provides the total amount of transactions which have been entered into with related parties for the relevant  
financial period:  

$ million 

Sales to
related
parties

Purchases 
from related 

parties 

Amounts
owed by

related
parties

Amounts
owed to
related
parties

Companies related to Chairman  
2007  –  806   –  – 
Companies under trust management1  
2008  14  11   37  1 
2007  7  7   12  1 
Other companies1  
2008  4  48   13  9 
2007  2  31   4  3 
1 A provision of $25 million (2007: $28 million) has been set against the balance. 

 
(i) GGovernment 
On 24 July 2008, the Company issued 80,286,050 ordinary shares of 20 pence each to the Government, thereby making the 
Government a 15% shareholder of the Company and a related party with effect from this date. 

Throughout the normal course of business, the Group conducts transactions with entities controlled by the Government. The principal 
activities relate to the payment of electricity transmission fees, use of railway infrastructure and payments to tax authorities. Transactions 
between the Group and Government departments and agencies are considered to be related party transactions unless they meet all  
of the following criteria: 

• they were done in the ordinary course of business of the Government department and/or company; 
• there is no choice of suppliers; and 
• they have terms and conditions (including prices, privileges, credit terms, regulations, etc) that are consistently applied to all entities, 

public or private. 
The Group did not have any non-arm’s length or privileged transactions with entities controlled by the Government. 

The Government’s share of the interim dividend paid by the Company on 24 October 2008 was $11 million. 

(ii) OOption agreement with Chairman 
Following approval of the transaction from the independent shareholders on 19 October 2007, and receipt of regulatory approval from 
the Government, the Group exercised the call option over Vladimir Kim’s interest in Eurasia Natural Resources Corporation PLC (ENRC) 
for a total consideration of $806 million on 26 October 2007. This represented 100% of the initial investment of $751 million plus a 10% 
margin (reflecting the risk of the initial investment) and the actual financing and transaction costs incurred by Vladimir Kim less any 
dividends paid to him as a result of holding the stake. 
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(iii) EENRC 
The Group received a dividend of $38 million from ENRC, the associated undertaking, in November 2008. 

(iv) CCompanies under trust management agreements  
The Group operates a number of companies under trust management agreements with local and state authorities. The activities include 
heating distribution systems, road maintenance and aviation services. The purpose of these agreements is to provide public and social 
services without any material financial benefit for the Group. Transactions between the Group and these companies are conducted on  
an arm’s length basis. 

(v) OOther companies 
Transactions with other companies primarily relate to the provision of goods and services, on an arm’s length basis, with companies 
whose boards include members of senior management from the Group’s subsidiaries. 

(b) TTerms and conditions of transactions with related parties  
Prices for related party transactions are determined by the parties on an ongoing basis depending on the nature of the transaction.  

37. COMPANY NON-CURRENT INVESTMENTS  
$ million 2008 2007

Cost 
At 1 January  2,819  1,151 
Additions  2,350  1,589 
Acquisition of ENRC shares via share exchange  2,110  – 
Capitalised issuance costs  10  – 
Purchase of minority shareholders’ interest in Kazakhmys LLC  –  79 
At 31 December  7,289  2,819 
Provision for impairment 
At 1 January  –  – 
Charged to the income statement  991  – 
At 31 December  991  – 
Net book value  6,298  2,819 
 
(i) KKazakhmys LLC 
During the year, a Group reorganisation took place such that the Company’s investment in Kazakhmys LLC was transferred to an 
intermediate holding company. As at 31 December 2008, Kazakhmys LLC is indirectly held by the Company whose beneficial interest  
is 99.73% (2007: 99.73%). 

At 31 December 2007, the Company directly held KZT34,725 million in the charter capital of Kazakhmys LLC, being 99.73% of Kazakhmys 
LLC’s equity. In September 2007, the Company issued 2,559,665 ordinary shares of 20 pence each and paid $12 million in consideration for 
the transfer to it of 227,959,211 units in Kazakhmys LLC by minority shareholders. As a result of this, the Company’s interest in Kazakhmys 
LLC increased from 99.08% as at 1 January 2007 to 99.73% as at 31 December 2007. 

(ii) EENRC 
On 24 July 2008 the Company issued 80,286,050 ordinary shares of 20 pence each to the Government in exchange for 98,607,884 shares in 
ENRC (7.66% of ENRC’s issued share capital) which it received on 28 July 2008. The share price of the Company as at the date of the share 
issue was £13.17 per share, and the market value of the shares issued was $2,120 million, including issue costs of $10 million. 

At 31 December 2008, the carrying value of the Company’s investment in ENRC was $1,129 million reflecting the recoverable amount of 
the 7.66% interest in ENRC held at the Company level. This reflects an impairment loss of $991 million being charged to the Company’s 
income statement. The impairment arises due to the different IFRS accounting treatment at the Company level of the 7.66% interest in 
ENRC which is recorded as an investment at cost, compared to the Group’s equity accounting treatment. The recoverable amount used 
in assessing the impairment charge is based on a value in use methodology, using a discounted cash flow model. The future cash flows 
are discounted using a pre-tax discount rate of 13%. 

(iii) OOther investments 
Balances within additions reflect investments in intermediate holding companies through which the Group’s entities are held in MKM, 
Kazakhmys Power, Kazakhmys Gold, Kazakhmys Petroleum and associated capitalised acquisition costs. The Company acquired these 
investments in intermediate holding companies through share for share exchanges. 

38. COMPANY INVENTORIES 
$ million 2008 2007

Finished goods – 16
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39. COMPANY TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 
$ million 2008 2007

Dividends receivable from Kazakhmys LLC (net of withholding tax)   –  143 
Trade receivables  –  104 
Amounts due from related parties  22  2 
Other receivables  –  2 
  22  251 
 

40. COMPANY DEFERRED TAXATION 
Unrecognised deferred tax asset 
The payment of dividends from Kazakhmys LLC to the Company has created excess foreign tax credits of $63 million (2007: $55 million) 
which have arisen due to the higher effective tax rate in Kazakhstan compared to the UK as well as withholding taxes payable on 
dividends remitted from Kazakhstan to the UK. These excess foreign tax credits do not expire. During 2008, the Company utilised  
excess foreign tax credits of $38 million (2007: $nil) in respect of dividends received from ENRC PLC. 

41. COMPANY CAPITAL RESERVES 

$ million 
Capital 
reserve 

Capital
redemption

reserve Total

At 1 January 2007  779   –  779 
Purchase of Company’s issued share capital  –   4  4 
At 31 December 2007  779   4  783 
Purchase of Company’s issued share capital  –   2  2 
At 31 December 2008  779   6  785 
 
(i) CCapital reserve 
The capital reserve is a non-distributable reserve created when the shares issued pursuant to the share exchange agreements prior to 
the Company’s listing were recorded at fair value. To the extent the Company receives dividends from Kazakhmys LLC’s profits created 
in the period prior to the share exchange, the capital reserve is realised through a transfer to distributable retained earnings.  

(ii) CCapital redemption reserve 
As a result of the share buy-back programme, transfers are made from share capital to the capital redemption reserve based on the 
nominal value of the shares cancelled. 

42. COMPANY INTERCOMPANY BORROWINGS 
At 31 December 2008, intercompany borrowings of the Company include an amount of $2,046 million due to Kazakhmys Finance PLC, the 
Group’s financing company, which was advanced to the Company for the acquisition of the Kazakhmys Power business and incremental 
shares in ENRC. This amount is non-interest bearing and is repayable on demand. Intercompany borrowings of the Company also includes 
an amount of $1,500 million due to Kazakhmys Sales Ltd, the Group’s UK sales operations, which was put in place following the novation  
of the previous loan payable to Kazakhmys LLC. This amount is non-interest bearing and is repayable on demand. 

43. COMPANY TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 
$ million 2008 2007

Payables to related parties  60  118 
Interest payable to related parties  –  6 
Trade receivables received in advance  –  9 
Other payables and accrued expenses  3  20 
  63  153 

44. COMPANY MOVEMENT IN NET LIQUID FUNDS/(DEBT) 

$ million 

At
1 January

2008 Cash flow 
Non-cash 

movements1

At
31 December

2008

Cash and cash equivalents  134  3   –  137 
Intercompany borrowings  (1,265)  (2,427)  146  (3,546)
Net debt  (1,131)  (2,424)  146  (3,409)
 

$ million 

At 
1 January 

2007 Cash flow

At
31 December

2007

Cash and cash equivalents  429   (295)  134 
Intercompany borrowings  –   (1,265)  (1,265)
Net liquid funds/(debt)  429   (1,560)  (1,131)
1 Non-cash movements comprise $208 million of dividends receivable from Kazakhmys LLC that were offset against the loan payable to Kazakhmys LLC less  

$62 million of capitalised interest. 
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45. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
The UK sales function was transferred to Kazakhmys Sales Ltd, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, on 1 January 2008 so  
the financial risks borne by the Company have significantly reduced during the year. The Company has a limited exposure to foreign 
currency, credit and interest rate risks and these are shown below. The Company has no exposure to commodity, liquidity or price risks. 

(a) FForeign currency risk  
The Company has transactional currency exposures. Such exposures arise from transactions in currencies other than the Company’s 
functional currency which is the US dollar. Prior to the Group reorganisation in which the Company’s interest in Kazakhmys LLC was 
transferred to an intermediate holding company, the primary currency giving rise to this foreign currency risk was the Kazakhstan  
tenge as a result of dividends receivable from Kazakhmys LLC within other operating income. The Company is also exposed, to a  
lesser degree, to corporate costs (included within trade and other receivables and trade and other payables) which are primarily 
denominated in UK sterling. The Company generally does not enter into hedging positions in respect of its exposure to foreign  
currency risk. 

(i) FForeign currency and balance sheet account profile 
Following the transfer of the UK sales function to Kazakhmys Sales Ltd on 1 January 2008, the Company does not have any significant 
foreign currency risk. The Company’s exposure to foreign currency risk for 2007 based on notional amounts is shown below: 

$ million   UK sterling KZT

2007  
Trade and other receivables    –  143 
Trade and other payables   (13)  – 
   (13)  143 

(ii) SSensitivity analysis 
A 10 per cent strengthening of the US dollar against the following currencies at 31 December 2007 would have increased/(decreased) 
profit after tax by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant: 

 2007
$ million Profit /(loss)

KZT  14 
UK sterling  (1)

(b) CCredit risk  
The UK sales function was transferred to Kazakhmys Sales Ltd, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, on 1 January 2008 and 
therefore the Company no longer has any significant credit risk with regards to customers from that date. Any remaining credit risk  
for the Company relates to cash and cash equivalents. 

(i) EExposure to credit risk 
The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The maximum exposure to credit risk at 31 December was: 

$ million 2008 2007

Trade and other receivables  22  251 
Cash and cash equivalents  137  134 
  159  385 

(ii) RRisk for trade receivables by geographical regions 
The maximum exposure to credit risk for trade receivables at 31 December by geographic area was: 

$ million 2008 2007

Europe  22  7 
China  –  97 
Kazakhstan  –  147 
  22  251 
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45. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT CONTINUED 
(c) IInterest rate risk  
The Company has limited balances subject to interest rate risk. The exposure of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities to interest rate 
risk is as follows: 

At 31 December 2008

$ million Floating rate Fixed rate 
Non-interest 

bearing Total

Financial assets  
Trade and other receivables  –  –   22  22 
Cash and cash equivalents  137  –   –  137 
Total financial assets  137  –   22  159 
Financial liabilities  
Trade and other payables  –  –   (63)  (63)
Intercompany borrowings  –  –   (3,546)  (3,546)
Total financial liabilities  –  –   (3,609)  (3,609)
 
 

At 31 December 2007

$ million Floating rate Fixed rate 
Non-interest 

bearing Total

Financial assets  
Trade and other receivables  –  –   251  251 
Cash and cash equivalents  134  –   –  134 
Total financial assets  134  –   251  385 
Financial liabilities  
Trade and other payables  –  –   153  153 
Intercompany borrowings  1,265  –   –  1,265 
Total financial liabilities  1,265  –   153  1,418 

All the Company’s interest-bearing monetary assets and liabilities are denominated in US dollars and have a maturity of less than one year. 

(d) FFair value of financial assets and liabilities 
Set out below is a comparison by class of the carrying amounts and fair value of the Group’s financial instruments that are carried in the 
financial statements: 

  2008  2007
 
$ million 

Carrying 
value

 
Fair value 

Carrying 
value Fair value

Trade and other receivables  22  22   251  251 
Cash and cash equivalents  137  137   134  134 
Intercompany borrowings  (3,546)  (3,546)  (1,265)  (1,265)
Trade and other payables  (63)  (63)  (153)  (152)
  (3,450)  (3,450)  (1,033)  (1,032)

The fair value of the financial assets and liabilities are included at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current 
transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation sale. Cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables, 
trade and other payables and intercompany borrowings approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to the short-term maturities 
of these instruments. 

(e) CCapital management 
The over-riding objectives of the Company’s capital management policy are to safeguard and support the business as a going concern 
through the commodity cycle and to maintain an optimal capital structure with a view to maximising returns to shareholders and benefits 
to other stakeholders by reducing the Company’s cost of capital. 
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46. COMPANY RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES 
(a) TTransactions with related parties  
The following table provides the total amount of transactions which have been entered into with related parties for the relevant  
financial period.  

$ million 

Sales to
related
parties

Purchases 
from related 

parties 

Amounts
owed by

related
parties

Amounts
owed to
related
parties

Kazakhmys Corporation LLC  
2008 3 – 2 –
2007 5 3,111 147 1,389
Kazakhmys Finance PLC  
2008 – – – 2,046
Kazakhmys Sales Limited  
2008 – – 20 1,550
Other Group companies1  
2008 – – – 10
Companies related to Chairman (see note 36)  
2007 – 806 – –
1 Includes Kazakhmys Services Limited and Kazakhmys Holding B.V. 

As explained in note 36, the Government became a related party on 24 July 2008. There were no related party transactions between the 
Company and the Government following this date other than payment of the Government’s share of the interim dividend on 24 October 
2008 of $11 million. 

The Company received dividends of $150 million from Kazakhmys Sales Limited and $94 million from Kazakmys Eurasia B.V. during the 
year. In addition, the Company received a dividend of $12 million from ENRC, the Group’s associated undertaking, in November 2008. 

(b) TTerms and conditions of transactions with related parties  
Prices for related party transactions are determined by the parties on an ongoing basis depending on the nature of the transaction. 

47. SUBSIDIARIES 
The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and the principal subsidiaries listed in the 
following table: 

 
Principal

activity
Operating 

division
Country of 

incorporation 

Equity
interest at

31 December
2008

%

Equity
interest at

31 December
2007

%

Kazakhmys Corporation LLC Mining and processing copper Kazakhmys Copper Kazakhstan  99.71 99.7
MKM Mansfelder Kupfer 

und Messing GmbH Copper processing MKM Germany  100.01 100.01

Ekibastuz GRES-1 LLP Electric power generation Kazakhmys Power Kazakhstan  100.01 –
Maikuben-West LLP Coal mining Kazakhmys Power Kazakhstan 100.01 –
Dank LLP Mining and processing gold Kazakhmys Gold Kazakhstan 100.01 100.01

Charaltyn JSC 
 

Exploration, mining
and processing gold Kazakhmys Gold Kazakhstan 100.01 100.01

Andas Altyn LLP Mining and processing gold Kazakhmys Gold Kazakhstan 100.01 100.01

CA Minerals LLP Silver exploration Kazakhmys Gold Tajikistan 100.01 100.01

Kazakhmys Gold Kyrgyzstan LLP Gold exploration Kazakhmys Gold Kyrgyzstan 100.01 100.01

Kazakhmys Petroleum LLP Oil and gas exploration Kazakhmys Petroleum Kazakhstan 100.01 100.01

Kazakhmys Sales Limited Sales and logistics Kazakhmys Copper United Kingdom 100.0 100.0
Kazakhmys Finance PLC Group financing N/A United Kingdom 100.0 –
1 Indirectly held by the Company. 
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48. COMMITMENTS AND GUARANTEES 
(a) OOperating lease commitments 
The Company has the following total commitments under non-cancellable operating leases: 

$ million 2008 2007

Within one year – 2 
After one year but not more than five years – 8 
More than five years – 16 
 – 26 

The operating lease commitment relates to the Company’s head office in London. During the year the lease on the premises was 
assigned to Kazakhmys Services Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company. 

(b) GGuarantees 
The Company is the guarantor for the following: 

• as explained in note 30, the Company, together with Kazakhmys LLC and Kazakhmys Sales Limited, is a guarantor of the $2,100 million 
pre-export finance debt facility; 

• as explained in note 34(e), Kazakhmys Finance PLC, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, has taken out interest rate swaps to 
hedge against interest rate changes arising on the pre-export finance debt facility. The Company is a guarantor for the interest rate 
swap contracts, and 

• the operating lease on the Company’s head office in London. 

49. EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE 
(a) CCompletion of the AES management contract at Ekibastuz GRES-1 and Maikuben West coal mine  
On 20 March 2009, the Group announced that it has agreed the early completion of the management contract with AES, so that 
management of the Ekibastuz GRES-1 power plant and Maikuben West coal mine will transfer to the Group. The early completion 
agreement includes an earnout of $80 million for the 2008 financial year payable in April 2009, and a single reduced payment of  
$102 million to be paid in January 2010. 

(b) RRevolving credit facility 
On 30 March 2009, Kazakhmys Finance PLC signed an agreement with a syndicate of banks to extend $150 million of the unsecured 
revolving credit facility (see note 30) to 31 March 2010. 



Financial Statem
ents

 

Consolidated five year summary 

www.kazakhmys.com 133 

  
$ million (unless otherwise stated) 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004

Results  
Revenues  5,151  5,256  5,047   2,598  1,260 
Profit before taxation, finance items and negative goodwill  1,151  2,048  2,072   843  579 
Profit before taxation  1,086  2,026  2,168   848  665 
Profit attributable to equity shareholders  909  1,416  1,400   539  430 
Assets employed  
Non-current assets  8,777  5,498  1,993   1,771  1,702 
Current assets  1,903  1,856  3,127   1,510  851 
Non-current liabilities  (2,008)  (516)  (658)  (290)  (376)
Long-term provisions  (198)  (98)  (57)  (45)  (44)
Current liabilities  (977)  (307)  (513)  (320)  (319)
Net assets  7,497  6,433  3,892   2,626  1,814 
Financed by  
Equity  7,477  6,419  3,860   2,600  1,767 
Minority interests 20  14  32   26  47 
  7,497  6,433  3,892   2,626  1,814 
Key statistics  
EBITDA  1,500  2,312  2,297   1,062  735 
EBITDA excluding special items  2,056  2,336  2,308   1,074  791 
Underlying Profit  1,112  1,409  1,403   550  376 
Free Cash Flow  715  895  1,327   450  405 
Return on Capital Employed (%)  18.8  38.4  60.5   36.7  32.9 
EPS – basic and diluted ($)  1.85  3.04  2.99   1.29  1.06 
EPS based on Underlying Profit ($)  2.27  3.02  3.00   1.31  0.93 
Dividends per share (US cents)  41.4  89.3  48.8   40.0  13.0 
Net cash cost of copper after by-product credits excluding purchased 

concentrate (USc/lb)  116  33  9   34  27 
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT PRODUCTION AND SALES FIGURES 
kt (unless otherwise stated) 2008 2007

Kazakhmys Copper 
Ore mined  35,675  33,967 
Copper content in ore mined (%)  1.26  1.22 
Copper cathode production: 
 From own concentrate  340  341 
 From purchased concentrate  38  39 
Total copper cathodes produced (excluding tolling)  378  380 
Tolling  –  1 
Total copper cathodes produced (including tolling)  378  381 
Total copper cathodes and copper rods sold  385  386 
MKM 
Wire sales  153  155 
Flat sales  74  66 
Tubes and bars sales  46  44 
Total MKM sales  273  265 
Kazakhmys Gold1 
Ore extraction  2,014  1,206 
Gold ore grade (g/t)  1.50  1.52 
Total gold doré produced (koz)  55.7  32.5 
Total gold doré sold (koz)  55.2  34.1 
Kazakhmys Power2 

Electricity power generation sales (GWh)  5,774  n/a 
1 Kazakhmys Gold was acquired on 5 July 2007. 
2 Kazakhmys Power was acquired on 29 May 2008. 
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2. KAZAKHMYS COPPER 
(a) Metal mining1 

 Ore mined Copper Zinc  Gold Silver

 
2008

kt
2007 

kt 
2008

%
2007

%
2008

%
2007

%
2008 

g/t 
2007 

g/t 
2008

g/t
2007

g/t

Zhezkazgan Complex    
North 3,746 2,375  0.76 0.65 – – – – 10.08 8.25 
South 3,311 5,220  0.64 0.69 – – – – 14.46 16.86 
Stepnoy 2,940 2,849  0.82 0.80 – – – – 8.79 11.81 
East 5,188 5,615  0.78 0.82 – – – – 17.95 16.82 
West 2,252 2,054  0.51 0.37 – – – – 15.15 11.11 
Annensky 3,407 3,360  0.87 1.03 – – – – 18.35 21.86 
Zhomart 3,280 2,882  1.39 1.27 – – – – 8.44 8.15 
Total Zhezkazgan 
Complex 24,124 24,355  0.84 0.82 – – – – 13.63 14.59 
Balkhash Complex    
Kounrad 874 403  0.29 0.30 – – – –  0.71 0.86 
Shatyrkul 371 351  2.48 2.05 – – 0.44  0.30  2.21 1.71 
Sayak I and Sayak III 1,753 1,372  1.10 1.02 – – 0.38  0.34  5.34 5.22 
Total Balkhash 
Complex 2,998 2,126  1.03 1.05 – – 0.39 0.33 3.60 3.82 
East Region    
Orlovsky 1,528 1,231  4.99 5.24 4.51 4.60 0.98  0.59  59.35 55.90 
Belousovsky 211 163  1.02 0.85 1.77 2.87 0.35  0.46  33.73 47.89 
Irtyshsky 481 390  1.41 1.39 3.58 3.24 0.37  0.37  54.63 53.66 
Nikolayevsky 574 532  1.60 1.75 3.71 3.07 0.34  0.71  36.22 38.60 
Yubileyno-
Snegirikhinsky 538 429  3.15 3.31 3.15 3.27 0.54  0.70  37.70 49.23 
Artemyevsky 1,548 1,395  1.68 1.65 5.09 5.19 1.12  1.28  102.06 95.99 
Total East Region 4,880 4,140  2.82 2.85 4.24 4.27 0.81  0.82  66.22 65.97 
Karaganda Region    
Abyz 436 – 1.70 – 3.19 – 3.78  –  41.90 – 
Akbastau 2,363 40  2.50 3.91 0.63 2.84 0.75  1.80  23.51 33.43 
Nurkazgan 575 1,842  0.65 1.11 – – 0.39  0.32  2.38 2.77 
Kosmurun 299 1,464  2.73 3.55 3.93 2.77 2.09  2.46  43.55 36.72 
Total Karaganda 
Region 3,673 3,346  2.13 2.21 1.31 2.77 1.16  1.27  24.02 17.99 
 35,675 33,967  1.26 1.22 3.10 3.87 0.85  0.90 21.05 20.52 
1 Totals only relate to producing mines. 

(b) Coal mining 
Coal mined Waste stripped Strip ratio

2008
kt

2007
kt

2008
kbcm

2007 
kbcm 

2008
bcm:t

2007
bcm:t

Molodezhny  6,704  6,650  12,796  11,730   1.91  1.76 
Kuu-Chekinsky  801  850  4,401  3,854   5.49  4.53 
Total Kazakhmys Copper  7,505  7,500  17,197  15,584   2.29  2.08 
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(c) Copper processing 
Copper concentrate 

produced 
Copper in 

concentrate
2008

kt
2007 

kt 
2008

%
2007

%

Zhezkazgan Complex  
Zhezkazgan No.1  202  195   37.7  39.4 
Zhezkazgan No.2  191  173   38.1  39.0 
Satpayev  101  123   27.0  27.8 
Total Zhezkazgan Complex  494  491   35.7  36.4 
Balkhash Complex  
Balkhash  267  188   14.5  17.3 
Total Balkhash Complex  267  188   14.5  17.3 
East Region  
Orlovsky  343  284   20.2  20.9 
Belousovsky  24  18   15.8  16.4 
Irtyshsky  33  29   16.9  15.3 
Nikolayevsky  184  175   17.5  16.7 
Total East Region  584  506   19.0  18.9 
Karaganda Region  
Karagaily (Abyz)  10  –   7.3  – 
Karagaily (Akbastau)  165  3   15.1  14.1 
Karagaily (Kosmurun)  26  229   10.4  14.4 
Nurkazgan (Akbastau)  23  –   20.1  – 
Nurkazgan (Nurkazgan)  29  –   18.8  – 
Total Karaganda Region  253  232   15.2  14.4 
Own copper concentrate processed by third party  25  29   26.9  26.4 
Total Kazakhmys Copper (own concentrate)  1,623  1,446   22.8  24.1 
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(d) Zinc and precious metals processing 

 
Zinc concentrate 

produced
Zinc in 

concentrate Silver1 Gold1

 
2008

kt
2007

kt
2008

%
2007

%
2008 

g/t 
2007 

g/t 
2008

g/t
2007

g/t

Zhezkazgan Complex   
Zhezkazgan No.1  –  –  –  –  490.3   677.0   –  – 
Zhezkazgan No.2  –  –  –  –  670.8   660.6   –  – 
Satpayev  –  –  –  –  596.8   600.7   –  – 
Total Zhezkazgan Complex  –  –  –  –  581.9   652.1   –  – 
Balkhash Complex   
Balkhash  –  –  –  –  41.5   56.5   2.6  3.6 
Total Balkhash Complex  –  –  –  –  41.5   56.5   2.6  3.6 
East Region   
Orlovsky  109  91  44.9  45.1  113.4   103.8   1.4  1.2 
Belousovsky  10  10  36.9  40.4  186.0   220.2   2.6  3.1 
Irtyshsky  24  17  40.7  35.9  626.6   561.2   2.6  2.4 
Nikolayevsky  86  84  38.6  41.8  200.8   200.7   2.6  2.7 
Artemyevsky (KazZinc)  80  86  51.7  52.8 2,395.7³  2,523.0³ 22.3³ 14.1³ 
Total East Region  309  288 41.8² 42.7²  172.4²  295.2² 1.9² 2.5² 
Karaganda Region   
Karagaily  2  3  24.3  29.5  106.0   96.1   3.2  4.0 
Nurkazgan  –  –  –  –  84.3   –   4.7  – 
Total Karaganda Region  24  34  24.34  29.54  101.5   96.14  3.5  4.04

1 Grade in grammes per tonne of copper concentrate. 
2 Production only from own concentrators within East Region. 
3 Includes gold and silver content in gravity concentrate toll processed by KazZinc from Artemyevsky ore. 
4 Production only from Karagaily concentrator in Karaganda Region. 
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(e) Copper cathodes production 
Concentrate smelted2 Copper in concentrate Copper cathodes
2008

kt
2007

kt
2008

%
2007 

% 
2008

kt
2007

kt

Zhezkazgan Complex  
Own concentrate  563  569  31.5  33.7   180  183 
Purchased concentrate  3  7  38.6  33.8   1  4 
Other1  157  70  5.0  1.1   –  1 
Total Zhezkazgan Complex  723  646  25.8  30.2   181  188 
Balkhash Complex  
Own concentrate  1,051  931  18.0  18.2   160  156 
Purchased concentrate  112  163  27.4  26.7   37  35 
Other1  56  82  2.3  2.8   –  1 
Total Balkhash Complex  1,219  1,176  18.2  18.3   197  192 
Total Kazakhmys Copper (excluding tolling)  1,942  1,822  21.0  22.5   378  380 
Tolling  –  1  –  66.2   –  1 
Total Kazakhmys Copper (including tolling)  1,942  1,823  21.0  22.6   378  381 
1 Includes materials (slag, scrap, etc) and ore used directly in smelting process reprocessed at both the Zhezkazgan and Balkhash Complexes. 
2 Total concentrate input into the smelting process. 

(f) Copper rod and acid production 
Copper rod Acid production

2008
kt

2007 
kt 

2008
kt

2007
kt

Total Kazakhmys Copper (Zhezkazgan Complex)  48  36   528  149 

(g) Zinc metal production 
Zinc concentrate smelted Zinc in concentrate Zinc metal

2008
kt

2007
kt

2008
%

2007 
% 

2008
kt

2007
kt

Total Kazakhmys Copper (Balkhash Complex)  151  137  40.0  43.8   48  45 

(h) Precious metal production 
Silver Gold

2008
koz

2007 
koz 

2008
koz

2007
koz

Kazakhmys Copper  16,710  18,985   124  113 
Tolling  6  10   5  24 
Total Kazakhmys Copper (including tolling)  16,716  18,995   129  137 

(i) Other production 
 2008 2007

Electricity power generation (GWh)  5,910  6,409 
Heating power (KGcal)  4,512  4,343 
Enamel wire (t)  989  843 
Lead dust (t)  10,084  8,773 

(j) Sales 
2008 2007

kt1 $ million kt1 $ million

Copper cathode  338  2,272   351 2,516 
Copper rod   47  314   35 251 
Total copper sales  385  2,586   386 2,767 
Zinc metal in concentrate   98  61   89 201 
Zinc metal  49  88   38 124 
Silver (koz)   17,140  251   19,323 256 
Gold (koz)   124  109   116 80 
1 Kilotonnes (unless otherwise stated). 
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(k) Average realised prices 
 2008 2007

Copper ($/t)  6,714  7,175 
Zinc ($/t)  1,787  3,237 
Silver ($/oz)  14.66  13.27 
Gold ($/oz)  878  695 

3. MKM – PRODUCTION AND SALES 
2008 2007

Production
kt

Sales 
kt 

Production
kt

Sales
kt

Wire rod  110  110   117  115 
Drawn wire  43  43   40  40 
Total wire  153  153   157  155 
Pre-rolled  4  4   2  2 
Sheets  18  19   15  15 
Strips  52  51   49  49 
Total flat  74  74   66  66 
Tubes  19  19   19  19 
Bars  27  27   25  25 
Total tubes and bars  46  46   44  44 
Total MKM  273  273   267  265 

4. KAZAKHMYS GOLD – PRODUCTION AND SALES 

 2008 
July – December1

2007 

Ore extraction (kt)  2,014   1,206 
Gold ore grade (g/t)  1.50   1.52 
Gold precipitation (koz)  56.9   32.7 
Gold doré production (koz)  55.7   32.5 
Silver production (koz)  41.9   20.7 
Gold doré sales (koz)  55.2   34.1 
1 Kazakhmys Gold was acquired on 5 July 2007. 

5. KAZAKHMYS POWER – PRODUCTION AND SALES 

 
June – December1

2008 

Power 
Electricity power generation (GWh)  6,126 
Electricity power sales from own generation (GWh)  5,774 
Realised tariff prices (KZT/kWh)  2.42 
Coal 
Coal production (kt)  2,170 
1 Kazakhmys Power was acquired on 29 May 2008. 
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RESERVES AND RESOURCES ESTIMATION METHODS 
Kazakhmys Copper 
The Republic of Kazakhstan has incorporated by law the classification system and estimation methods for reserves and resources 
established by the Former Soviet Union (FSU) and later revised in 1981. In practice, this means that the statements of reserves and 
resources developed by Kazakhmys LLC and the mining plans to which they relate must be submitted for approval to the corresponding 
committees of the Ministry of Energy and Mineral Resources for which adherence to the standardised national system of reserves and 
resources estimation is mandatory. 

As part of the exploitation licence for each mineral deposit, a set of Conditions for Estimation of Reserves (‘Conditions’) were prepared 
by the corresponding national design institute and were approved within the national (formerly USSR) State Plan. The Conditions apply  
a well-defined process of classifying the specific deposit into one of five major deposit categories, subject to which, the principles for 
exploration and classification of reserves and resources have been established. The Conditions for each deposit specify the method of 
computation of reserve blocks, the minimum thickness for exploitation of the ore body and cut-off grades, plus special considerations 
which may apply where the conditions for mineral extraction are exceptional or present difficulties. 

Reserves and resources have been estimated by Kazakhmys LLC according to the FSU ‘Classification and Estimation Methods for Reserves 
and Resources.’ It is apparent that there is now more scope than before for flexibility and discussion with state authorities with respect to ore 
reserve estimation methods. This has been reflected in the continuing steps taken by Kazakhmys LLC to prepare the records and reserves 
development plans for the Zhezkazgan mines as computer-aided-design (CAD) files and to use these as the basis for revised estimation of 
reserves volumes and to support improved estimation of ore grades. IMC recognises this as an important step to achieve verifiable and 
internally consistent estimates.  

IMC has reviewed the reserves and resources statements of Kazakhmys LLC and has restated the reserves and resources in accordance 
with the criteria required to meet JORC standards. As a general rule, in situ tonnages quoted as balance reserves under the national 
system, and which meet criteria for categories of confidence and which can be considered to have the potential for future economic 
extraction, are assessed as resources. The Kazakhmys LLC internal reporting system derives from these resources a category designated 
as commercial reserves, on which production planning is based, estimated only from “active” resources to which modifying factors for 
losses and dilution are applied; these estimates form the basis for the process of restatement of reserves in accordance with JORC 
compliant criteria. All reserves quoted in the following tables are discounted for ore losses and dilution. Resources are not discounted 
for losses and dilution and are inclusive of reserves. All figures in reserves and resources are in metric tonnes and are dated  
31 December 2008. 

Kazakhmys Gold  
Following international convention, the Kazakhmys Gold resources reported in this document are in situ estimates, while the reserves 
make due allowance for mining recovery and dilution, based on actual operational experience in 2008 or assumptions made in feasibility 
studies. Resources are inclusive of reserves.  

Kazakhmys Power 
Kazakhmys PLC purchased the Maikuben West coal mine in May 2008 and the mine was visited by IMC geologist and mining engineers 
in order to determine the available reserves and resources. The IMC personnel had previously visited this mine several times in the past 
for audit purposes. The resources and reserves were calculated on the basis of maximum ash content of 40% and minimum coal seam 
thickness of 2m with a specific gravity of 1.3 and a maximum dirt parting of 1m, which are excluded from the calculations. The dilution 
and losses are 2.7% and 2.1% respectively with an average stripping ratio of 4:1.  
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KAZAKHMYS COPPER 
Summary of metal reserves 

  
Reserves1 

kt 
Copper 

% 
Zinc 
% 

Gold2 
g/t 

Silver2 
g/t 

Lead 
% 

Region  2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007

Zhezkazgan Complex Proved 226,602 97,893 0.74 0.74 – – – – 11.78 – – –
 Probable 260,609 326,459 0.94 0.89 – – – – 12.41 – – –
 Total 487,211 424,352 0.85 0.86 – – – – 12.00 12.33 – –
Balkhash Complex Proved 507,536 511,957 0.50 0.50 – – 0.10 – 3.26 – – –
 Probable 1,492,720 1,485,828 0.38 0.37 – – 0.03 0.01 1.13 0.07 – –
 Total 2,000,256 1,997,785 0.41 0.40 – – 0.06 0.06 1.62 1.66 – –
East Region Proved 19,917 16,721 2.45 3.15 5.15 4.65 0.94 – 77.27 – 1.25 0.95
 Probable 61,230 45,132 2.61 3.04 4.22 4.42 0.75 – 55.24 – 1.02 1.05
 Total 81,147 61,853 2.58 3.07 4.44 4.49 0.79 0.88 62.91 59.04 1.10 1.02
Karaganda Region Proved 79,190 73,454 0.92 1.08 0.10 0.02 0.30 0.35 1.06 2.35 – –
 Probable 177,464 167,800 0.92 1.02 0.27 0.21 0.44 0.50 3.95 4.49 – –
 Total 256,654 241,254 0.92 1.04 0.22 0.15 0.40 0.45 3.07 3.84 – –
Total Kazakhmys 
Copper Proved 833,245 700,025 0.65 0.66 0.13 0.11 0.11 0.04 7.14 0.25 0.03 0.02
 Probable 1,992,023 2,025,219 0.57 0.57 0.15 0.12 0.09 0.05 4.61 0.42 0.03 0.02
 Total 2,825,268 2,725,244 0.59 0.59 0.15 0.12 0.10 0.10 5.30 4.82 0.03 0.02
Analysed as:     
Operating mines Proved 384,007 250,787 0.82 0.93 0.29 0.31 0.11 0.11 11.28 0.70 0.06 0.06
 Probable 641,178 674,374 1.04 1.02 0.48 0.36 0.20 0.15 12.02 1.26 0.10 0.06
 Total 1,025,185 925,161 0.96 0.99 0.41 0.35 0.18 0.19 11.58 10.85 0.09 0.06
Development 
projects3 Proved 449,238 449,238 0.51 0.51 – – 0.11 – 3.59 – – –
 Probable 1,350,845 1,350,845 0.35 0.35 – – 0.03 – 1.10 – – –
 Total 1,800,083 1,800,083 0.38 0.38 – – 0.05 0.05 1.72 1.72 – –
1 Includes discounts for ore loss and dilution. Reserves = Resources – Ore Loss + Dilution. 
2 Silver and gold values for the Zhezkazgan Complex, Balkhash Complex and East Region for 2007 are not available by blocks, only at the borehole level and have 

been averaged over each operation by Kazakhmys LLC. 
3 Development projects relate to Aktogay, Boschekul, Aidarlay and Zhaisan. Mine extensions are included within the original ore body as part of operating mines. 
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Summary of metal resources 

  
Resources1 

kt 
Copper 

% 
Zinc 
% 

Gold2 
g/t 

Silver2 
g/t 

Lead 
% 

Region  2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007

Zhezkazgan Complex Measured 255,909 129,001 0.84 0.86 – – – – – – – –
 Indicated 367,567 524,318 1.04 0.95 – – – – – – – –
 Total 623,476 653,319 0.96 0.93 – – – – 14.00 13.54 – –
  Inferred 43,067 42,866 1.26 1.26 – – – – – – – –
Balkhash Complex Measured 482,819 486,730 0.54 0.54 – – – – – – – –
 Indicated 1,427,347 1,424,519 0.43 0.43 – – – 0.01 – 0.13 – –
 Total 1,910,166 1,911,249 0.46 0.46 – – 0.10 0.06 2.00 1.84 – –
  Inferred 1,539,200 – 0.40 – – – – – 1.00 – – –
East Region Measured 18,473 15,783 2.83 3.55 5.77 5.20 1.06 1.03 85.22 60.28 1.43 1.06
 Indicated 53,507 61,447 3.17 2.89 5.03 5.20 0.91 0.84 68.87 69.56 1.26 1.33
 Total 71,980 77,230 3.08 3.02 5.22 5.20 0.95 0.93 73.07 72.61 1.30 1.28
  Inferred 11,340 11,340 1.13 1.13 3.71 3.72 0.40 0.39 58.70 58.64 0.65 0.69
Karaganda Region Measured 70,412 70,924 1.15 1.16 0.10 0.03 0.40 0.39 1.07 2.56 – –
 Indicated 162,549 165,000 1.11 1.12 0.35 0.28 0.57 0.61 4.89 5.42 – –
 Total 232,961 235,924 1.12 1.14 0.27 0.20 0.55 0.54 3.76 4.56 – –
  Inferred 9,136 9,136 1.03 1.03 0.78 0.70 1.20 1.19 11.08 11.07 – –
Total Kazakhmys 
Copper Measured 827,613 702,438 0.74 0.73 0.14 0.12 0.12 0.06 8.20 1.61 0.03 0.02
 Indicated 2,010,970 2,175,284 0.67 0.68 0.16 0.17 0.10 0.08 5.64 2.46 0.03 0.04
 Total 2,838,583 2,877,722 0.69 0.69 0.15 0.16 0.11 0.11 6.39 6.62 0.03 0.03
  Inferred 1,602,743 63,342 0.43 1.20 0.03 0.77 0.02 0.24 2.32 12.09 0.00 0.12
Analysed as:                  
Operating mines Measured 402,199 277,024 0.94 1.00 0.28 0.30 0.12 0.15 12.73 4.08 0.07 0.05
 Indicated 731,760 896,074 1.18 1.11 0.44 0.41 0.23 0.19 13.42 5.97 0.09 0.10
 Total 1,133,959 1,173,098 1.09 1.08 0.39 0.39 0.20 0.19 13.18 13.52 0.08 0.07
  Inferred 63,543 63,342 1.23 1.20 0.77 0.77 0.24 0.24 23.90 12.09 0.12 0.12
Development  
projects3 Measured 425,414 425,414 0.56 0.56 – – 0.12 – 3.91 3.91 – –
 Indicated 1,279,210 1,279,210 0.38 0.38 – – 0.04 – 1.19 1.19 – –
 Total 1,704,624 1,704,624 0.42 0.42 – – 0.06 0.06 1.87 1.87 1.87 –
  Inferred 1,539,200 – 0.40 – – – 0.01 – 1.43 1.48 – –
1 Resources include undiscounted reserves. No ore loss or dilution has been included. 
2 Silver and gold values for the Zhezkazgan Complex, Balkhash Complex and East Region for 2007 are not available by blocks, only at the borehole level and have 

been averaged over each operation by Kazakhmys LLC. 
3 Development projects relate to Aktogay, Boschekul, Aidarlay and Zhaisan. Mine extensions are included within the original ore body as part of operating mines. 

The total proven and probable reserves of Kazakhmys Copper have increased during 2008 to a total of 2,825 MT, as compared with 
2,725 MT at 31 December 2007. This increase in total proven and probable reserves amounts to 100 MT. The draw down of reserves 
due to production during 2008 was 35.7 MT.  

The total measured and indicated resources of Kazakhmys Copper have decreased during 2008 to a total of 2,839 MT, as compared 
with 2,878 MT at 31 December 2007. This decrease in total measured and indicated resources amounts to 39 MT. The calculated  
draw down of resources due to production during 2008 was 36.4 MT. 

Inferred resources at Kazakhmys Copper increased during the year from 63 MT to 1,603 MT at 31 December 2008. This increase is 
largely due to the acquisition during 2008 of two new deposits at Aidarlay and Zhaisan within the Balkhash Complex. The resource 
estimations for these deposits have not been verified by IMC and hence the Soviet era resource figures are included in the least 
confident resource category. 
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KAZAKHMYS GOLD 
Summary of metal reserves 

  
Reserves1 

kt 
Gold 
g/t 

Silver 
g/t 

Copper 
% 

Gold equivalent2 

Moz 
   2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007

Operating mines3 Proved 1,231 2,252 1.28 1.56 3.49 3.68 0.17 0.15 0.06 0.13
 Probable 1,997 2,898 1.44 1.49 0.90 0.78 0.04 0.03 0.10 0.14
 Total 3,228 5,150 1.38 1.52 1.89 2.05 0.09 0.08 0.16 0.28
Development projects4 Proved – – – – – – – – – –
 Probable 7,982 – 1.42 – 8.26 – 0.89 – 0.74 –
 Total 7,982 – 1.42 – 8.26 – 0.89 – 0.74 –
Total Kazakhmys Gold Proved 1,231 2,252 1.28 1.56 3.49 3.68 0.17 0.15 0.06 0.13
 Probable 9,980 2,898 1.43 1.49 6.79 0.78 0.72 0.03 0.84 0.14
 Total 11,211 5,150 1.41 1.52 6.43 2.05 0.66 0.08 0.90 0.28
1 Includes discounts for ore loss and dilution. Reserves = Resources – Ore Loss + Dilution. 
2 Gold equivalent ounces have been calculated based on the following prices: copper $3,804 (2007: $2,756) per tonne, gold $785 (2007: $561) per ounce and silver 

$11.40 (2007: $10.20) per ounce. 
3 Operating mines consist of the Mizek, Mukur and Zhaima mines. 
4 Development projects relate to Mizek Sulphide, Akjilga and Bozymchak. 
 

Summary of metal resources 

  
Resources1 

kt 
Gold 
g/t 

Silver 
g/t 

Copper 
% 

Gold equivalent2 

Moz 
   2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007

Operating mines3  Measured  4,876 5,369 2.43 2.29 4.88 4.56 0.65 0.53 0.55 0.41
 Indicated 6,660 6,896 2.40 2.28 3.97 3.34 0.58 0.49 0.71 0.53
 Total 11,536 12,265 2.42 2.29 4.35 3.88 0.61 0.50 1.26 0.95
 Inferred 2,508 2,379 2.53 2.45 4.05 3.61 0.61 0.56 0.28 0.26
Development projects4 Measured  – – – – – – – – – –
 Indicated 12,076 13,625 1.64 1.62 8.18 7.73 0.90 0.87 1.21 1.35
 Total 12,076 13,625 1.64 1.62 8.18 7.73 0.90 0.87 1.21 1.35
 Inferred 12,853 10,740 1.49 1.59 23.13 26.23 0.82 0.79 1.27 1.12
Kazakhmys Gold Measured  4,876 5,369 2.43 2.29 4.88 4.56 0.65 0.53 0.55 0.41
 Indicated 18,736 20,521 1.91 1.84 6.68 6.26 0.79 0.74 1.93 1.89
 Total 23,612 25,890 2.02 1.94 6.31 5.90 0.76 0.69 2.47 2.30
 Inferred 15,361 13,119 1.66 1.75 20.02 22.13 0.79 0.74 1.55 1.38
1 Resources include undiscounted reserves. No ore loss or dilution has been included. 
2 Gold equivalent ounces have been calculated based on the following prices: copper $3,804 (2007: $2,756) per tonne, gold $785 (2007: $561) per ounce and silver 

$11.40 (2007: $10.20) per ounce. 
3 Operating mines consist of the Mizek, Mukur and Zhaima mines. 
4 Development projects relate to Mizek Sulphide, Akjilga and Bozymchak. 

The decrease in proved reserves is largely attributable to production from Mizek, while the much greater increase in Probable reserves  
is mainly due to the inclusion of reserves from Bozymchak that had been previously classified as resources. This follows the completion 
of a positive feasibility study on the project. The slight changes in Indicated and Inferred resources are largely attributable to changes  
in categories at Bozymchak following a new resource estimate, and production from Mukur. 
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COAL RESERVES 

  
Reserves1 

MT 
Ash ad2 

kcal/kg 
CV ncvar3 

g/t 
Sulphur 

% 
   2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007

Kazakhmys Copper4 Proved 302.2 309.2 – – – – – –
 Probable 99.9 99.9 – – – – – –
 Total 402.1 409.1 46.7 46.7 3,784 3,785 0.5 0.5
Kazakhmys Power5 Proved 107.8 – 23-34 – 3,510-4,150 – 0.4-0.6 –
 Probable 73.0 – 23-34 – 3,510-4,150 – 0.4-0.6 –
 Total 180.8 – 23-34 – 3,510-4,150 – 0.4-0.6 –
Total Proved 410.0 309.2   

 Probable 172.9 99.9   
 Total 582.9 409.1   

1 Includes coal loss and increase in ash content. 
2 ad – refers to air dried. 
3 ncvar – refers to net calorific value as received. 
4 Consists of the Molodezhny and Kuu-Chekinsky coal mines which are part of the Karaganda Region. 
5 Consists of the Maikuben West coal mine. 
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REVISION OF RESERVES AND RESOURCES STATEMENT TO 31 DECEMBER 2008 
IMC Group Consulting Ltd (IMC) has undertaken a review of the reserves and resources estimates prepared by Kazakhmys PLC  
(the ‘Company’), as the basis for the preparation of a statement of reserves and resources as at 31 December 2008.  

Following the acquisitions of the Maikuben West coal mine by the Company in 2008 as well as Kazakhmys Gold (formerly known as 
Eurasia Gold) in 2007, IMC have included statements of reserves and resources in this report. In the interests of clarity, these recently 
acquired assets have been referred to as the Kazakhmys Power and Kazakhmys Gold assets respectively. Two additional deposits within 
Kazakhmys Copper (Aidarlay and Zhaisan), were also acquired in 2008, however, the resource estimations for these deposits have not 
been verified by IMC and hence the Soviet era resource figures are included in the least confident resource category. 

The Statement of Reserves and Resources is restated in accordance with the criteria of the “Australasian Code for Reporting Mineral 
Resources and Ore Reserves” (2004), published by the Joint Ore Reserves Committee of the Australasian Institute of Mining and 
Metallurgy and collaborating institutions (the ‘JORC Code’). 

IMC is satisfied, from the review undertaken, that the recently revised estimates of reserves and resources prepared by the Company  
are in accordance with the reserve classification system required by law in the Republic of Kazakhstan and that, correspondingly, the 
estimates have a consistent basis for expressing the degree of confidence for stating quantities of exploitable ore at specific grades  
of metal content. On the basis of the estimates supplied by the Company, IMC has applied the same criteria as expressed in the Competent 
Person’s Report at the time of Listing for preparation of the restatement of reserves and resources as at 31 December 2008, in 
accordance with the reporting criteria of the JORC code. 

In the previous statement of resources and reserves prepared by IMC as at 31 December 2007, for the mature copper mining operations the 
policy was introduced that the category of measured resource, and proven reserves, will be restricted to that ore which has been exposed or 
is in the process of development within the rolling three-year forward operations plan as formally reported to the State Reserves Committee. 
This policy has again been adopted for the present statement for Kazakhmys Copper operations as at 31 December 2008. 

 

 

John S Warwick  
BSC (Hons) FIMMM, C ENG, EUR ING 
Director, IMC Group Consulting Limited 
11 February 2009 

IMC Group Consulting Limited 
Icon Office Building 
Lake View Drive 
Sherwood Park 
Nottingham NG15 0DT 
United Kingdom 
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Shareholder Information

Annual General Meeting
The AGM of the Company will be held at 12.15pm on 15 May 2009
at The Lincoln Centre, 18 Lincoln’s Inn Fields, London WC2A 3ED,
United Kingdom. The Notice of Meeting and the Form of Proxy
are enclosed with this Annual Report.

Electronic shareholder communications
At the 2008 AGM, the Company passed a resolution allowing
the Kazakhmys website to be used as the primary means of
communication with its shareholders, provided that the
shareholder has agreed (generally or specifically), or is deemed
to have agreed, that communications may be sent or supplied in
that manner and the shareholder has not revoked that agreement,
and provided the shareholder is sent a notification of the presence
of that document or information on the Company’s website.

A consultation document was sent to shareholders in October
2008 enabling them to choose either to receive shareholder
documentation by website communication by providing an email
address, or continue to receive shareholder documentation
in hard copy by returning the personalised card.

If the completed card was not returned, shareholders were
deemed in accordance with the Companies Act 2006, to have
agreed to receive shareholder documentation via the Kazakhmys
website. These shareholders, and those who positively elected for
website communication will be sent a notification of availability
of a document on the Kazakhmys website. A shareholder who
receives a notification is entitled to request, free of charge,
a hard copy of any such document at any time. Shareholders can
also revoke their consent to receive electronic communication
at any time by contacting the Company’s registrar, Computershare.

Electronic voting
All shareholders can submit proxies for the AGM electronically
by logging on to Computershare’s website at
www.eproxyappointment.com.

Website
A wide range of information on Kazakhmys is available at
www.kazakhmys.com including details of activities, share price
information, financial results and access to shareholder
documents, such as the Annual Report.

Registrar
For information about proxy voting, dividends and to report
changes in personal details, shareholders should contact the
Company’s registrar:

Computershare Investor Services PLC
The Pavilions
Bridgwater Road
Bristol BS99 7NH
United Kingdom

Tel: +44 (0)870 707 1100
Fax: +44 (0)870 703 6101
Email: web.queries@computershare.co.uk

Kazakhstan shareholder enquiries
Any queries from Kazakhstan shareholders may be addressed to:

Kamal Uteshev
Kazakhmys Services Limited
Almaty Branch Office
69-A, Samal 2
Almaty 050059
Republic of Kazakhstan

Tel: +7 727 2663317

Dividends
As noted in the Chairman’s Statement on page 8, the Board
does not recommend the payment of a final dividend. The total
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2008 therefore
comprises the interim dividend of 14.0 US cents per share paid on
24 October 2008.

Currency option and dividend mandate
The Company declares dividends in US dollars. If you wish to
receive future dividends in UK pounds sterling, you should contact
the Company’s registrar, Computershare, to request a Currency
Election Form.

Computershare can also arrange for your future dividends to be
paid directly into your UK bank account. To take advantage of this
facility, you should contact Computershare to request a Dividend
Mandate Form. This arrangement is only available in respect of
dividends paid in UK pounds sterling.

Shareholder Information
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Half-yearly results
As disclosed in last year’s Annual Report, the Directors have taken
advantage of the changes to the Listing Rules of the Financial
Services Authority removing the requirement to issue a hard copy
of the half-yearly results to shareholders. The half-yearly results will
still be issued in the form of a press release and will continue to
be available on the Company’s website.

Company Secretary
Robert Welch
Tel: +44 (0)20 7901 7800
Email: robert.welch@kazakhmys.com

Registered office
Kazakhmys PLC
6th Floor
Cardinal Place
100 Victoria Street
London SW1E 5JL
United Kingdom

Tel: +44 (0)20 7901 7800

Registered number: 5180783

Joint corporate brokers
JPMorgan Cazenove Limited
20 Moorgate
London EC2R 6DA
United Kingdom

Citigroup Global Markets Limited
33 Canada Square
London E14 5LB
United Kingdom

Auditors
Ernst & Young LLP
1 More London Place
London SE1 2AF
United Kingdom

Shareholder interests at 31 December 2008
Number of shareholders: 2,092
Number of shares in issue: 535,240,338

No. of % of total % of ordinary
By size of holding accounts accounts share capital

1,000 and under 983 46.99 0.08
1,001 to 5,000 407 19.46 0.19
5,001 to 10,000 144 6.88 0.20
10,001 to 100,000 333 15.92 2.24
Over 100,000 225 10.75 97.29

Total 2,092 100.00 100.00

No. of % of total % of ordinary
By category of shareholder accounts accounts share capital

Private shareholders 700 33.46 0.45
Banks/nominees 1,346 64.34 81.13
Pension funds 3 0.14 0.02
Investment/unit trusts 1 0.05 0.00
Insurance companies 3 0.14 0.00
Corporate holders 39 1.87 18.40

Total 2,092 100.00 100.00

Events calendar

Q1 Interim Management Statement April 2009
Annual General Meeting 15 May 2009
Half-yearly results announced August 2009
Q3 Interim Management Statement October 2009
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Shareholder Information

Glossary
bcm:t
Bank cubic metres excavated to recover one metric tonne of coal

Board or Board of Directors
The Board of Directors of the Company

Capital employed
The aggregate of equity attributable to shareholders, minority
interests and borrowings

Cash cost of copper after by-product credits
The total of cash operating costs excluding purchased concentrate less
by-product revenues, divided by the volume of copper cathodes sold

CO2

Carbon dioxide

Combined Code
The Combined Code on Corporate Governance issued by the
Financial Reporting Council

Committee or Committees
All or any of the Audit, Group Health, Safety and Environment,
Nomination or Remuneration Committees depending on the context
in which the reference is used

Company or Kazakhmys
Kazakhmys PLC

CREST
An electronic means of settling share transactions and registering
investors on a company’s register of members

Directors
The Directors of the Company

dollar or $
United States dollars, the currency of the United States of America

EBITDA
Earnings before interest, taxation, depreciation, depletion
and amortisation

ENRC or ENRC PLC
Eurasian Natural Resources Corporation PLC

EPS
Earnings per share

EPS based on Underlying Profit
Profit before special items, and their resulting taxation and minority
interest impact, divided by the weighted average number of ordinary
shares in issue during the period

EPT
Excess profits tax

EURIBOR
European Inter Bank Offer Rate

Euro or €
Euro, the currency of the European Union

Free Cash Flow
Net cash flow from operating activities less sustaining capital
expenditure on tangible and intangible assets

FTSE 100
Financial Times Stock Exchange top 100 companies

g/t
Grammes per metric tonne

Government
The Government of the Republic of Kazakhstan

the Group
Kazakhmys PLC and its subsidiary companies

GHSE Committee
Group Health, Safety and Environment Committee

Group EBITDA
Earnings before interest, taxation, depreciation, depletion
and amortisation, as adjusted for special items in subsidiaries,
and including the share of EBITDA of the associate

GVA
Gross value added, which is calculated as turnover less the input
cost of copper cathode

GW
Gigawatt, a unit of power equal to one billion watts

GWh
Gigawatt-hour, one gigawatt-hour represents one hour of electricity
consumed at a constant rate of one gigawatt

IAS
International Accounting Standards

IASB
International Accounting Standards Board

IFRIC
International Financial Reporting Interpretation Committee

IFRS
International Financial Reporting Standards

IRR
Internal Rate of Return

ISO 14001
An environmental management systems standard published
by the International Standards Organisation

ISO 9001
A quality systems standard published by the International
Standards Organisation

JORC
Joint Ore Reserves Committee

Kazakhmys LLC or Kazakhmys Corporation LLC
Kazakhmys Corporation LLC, the Group’s principal operating
subsidiary in Kazakhstan

Kazakhmys Copper
A business segment of the Group, which includes the processing
and sale of copper and other metals

Kazakhmys Gold
A business segment of the Group, which includes the activities
of the acquired Eurasia Gold Inc.

Kazakhmys Petroleum
A business segment of the Group, which includes the activities of
the acquired Kazakhmys Petroleum LLP (formerly Dostan-Temir LLP)

Kazakhmys Power
A business segment of the Group, which includes the acquired
businesses of the Ekibastuz GRES-1 coal-fired power plant and
Maikuben West coal mine

Kazakhstan
The Republic of Kazakhstan

kbcm
Thousand bank cubic metres

KEGOC
Kazakhstan Electricity Grid Operating Company

kg
kilogramme

KGcal
Thousand Gigacalories, units of heat energy

koz
Thousand ounces



kt
Thousand metric tonnes

km
kilometres

km2

Square kilometres

KPI
Key performance indicator

kW
kilowatt, a unit of power equal to one thousand watts

kWh
kilowatt hour

lb
pound, unit of weight

LBMA
London Bullion Market Association

LIBOR
London Inter Bank Offer Rate

Listing or IPO
The listing of the Company’s ordinary shares on the London Stock
Exchange on 12 October 2005

LME
London Metal Exchange

LOM or life of mine
The remaining life of the mine, in years, calculated by deducting
the scheduled production rates (i.e. the rate at which material will
be removed from the mine to the current defined reserves)

LSE
London Stock Exchange

Managed businesses
Represents the Kazakhmys Copper, Kazakhmys Power, Kazakhmys
Gold, Kazakhmys Petroleum, MKM and corporate divisions

megalitre
Thousand cubic metres

MKM
MKM Mansfelder Kupfer und Messing GmbH, the Group’s operating
subsidiary in the Federal Republic of Germany and a business
segment of the Group

Moz
Million ounces

MT
Million metric tonnes

MW
Megawatt, a unit of power equivalent to one million watts

NEBOSH
National Examination Board in Occupational Safety and Health

NOX

Nitrogen oxides

OHSAS 18001
Occupational health and safety assessment series (specifications
for occupational health and safety management systems)

Ounce or oz
A troy ounce, which equates to 31.1035 grammes

PXF
Pre-export finance debt facility

Quotational Period
Period over which an average price is calculated to price
commodity sales

RMB
Renminbi, the currency used in China

ROCE
Return on Capital Employed, defined as profit before taxation
and finance items, excluding special items, as a percentage of
the average of opening and closing capital employed

Russian rouble
The currency of the Russian Federation

$/t or $/tonne
US dollars per metric tonne

Segmental EBITDA
Earnings before interest, taxation, depreciation, depletion
and amortisation from the Group’s managed businesses

SO2

Sulphur dioxide

Special items
Those items which are non-recurring or variable in nature and which
do not impact the underlying trading performance of the business.
Special items are set out in note 5(a) to the financial statements

t
metric tonnes

tenge or KZT
The official currency of the Republic of Kazakhstan

UK
United Kingdom

Underlying Profit
Profit for the year after adding back items which are non-recurring
or variable in nature and which do not impact the underlying trading
performance of the business and their resultant tax and minority
interest effects

USc/lb
US cents per pound

Cautionary comment concerning forward-looking statements

This Annual Report includes forward-looking statements with respect to the business, strategy and plans of Kazakhmys and its current goals, assumptions and expectations
relating to its future financial condition, performance and results.

By their nature, forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks, assumptions, uncertainties and other factors which may cause actual results, performance
or achievements of Kazakhmys to be materially different from any future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements.

Shareholders are cautioned not to place undue reliance on the forward-looking statements. Except as required by the Listing Rules and applicable law, Kazakhmys does not
undertake any obligation to update or change any forward-looking statements to reflect events occurring after the date of this Annual Report.

Designed and published by Black Sun Plc Tel: +44 (0)20 7736 0011. Printed by Beacon Press.

This Report is printed on Hello Silk. This paper is produced from Elemental Chlorine Free (ECF) pulp that is fully recyclable and is a mixed sources paper from well
managed forests and controlled sources certified by FSCTM under cert no. SGS-COC-0620, www.fsc.org. Hello is manufactured within a mill that is certified to ISO 14001
and EMAS environmental management standards.



Kazakhmys PLC
6th Floor
Cardinal Place
100 Victoria Street
London
SW1E 5JL
United Kingdom

Telephone
+44 (0)20 7901 7800

Facsimile
+44 (0)20 7901 7859

www.kazakhmys.com


	Cover
	p01-03
	p04-05
	p06-08
	p09_13
	p14-21
	p22_25
	p26_33
	p34-37
	p38-47
	p48-51
	p52-53
	p54-59
	p60-65
	p66-70
	p71-145
	p146_148

